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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained herein and certain statements contained in future filings by the Company with the SEC may not be based on historical facts and are
“Forward-Looking Statements” within the meaning of Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Form 10-K may be forward-looking statements. Statements regarding
our future results of operations and financial position, business strategy and plans and objectives of management for future operations, including, among others,
statements regarding expected new franchisees, brands, store openings and future capital expenditures are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can

o anticipates,” “could,” “intends,

identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,
“contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions.
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targets,” “projects,’

>

Forward-looking statements are subject to significant business, economic and competitive risks, uncertainties and contingencies including, but not limited to, the
impact of the current novel coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19"), many of which are difficult to predict and beyond our control, which could cause our actual
results to differ materially from the results expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements. These and other risks, uncertainties and contingencies are
described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including under “Item 1A. Risk Factors”, and the other reports that we file with the SEC from time to time.

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Form 10-K. Except as may be required by law, the Company does not undertake, and
specifically disclaims any obligation, to publicly release the results of any revisions that may be made to any Forward-Looking Statements to reflect the
occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events or circumstances after the date of such statements.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements of FAT Brands Inc. and the notes thereto included elsewhere in

» e >

this filing. References in this filing to “the Company,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to FAT Brands Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise.




PART 1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Business Overview

FAT Brands Inc., formed in March 2017 as a wholly owned subsidiary of Fog Cutter Capital Group, Inc. (“FCCG”), is a leading multi-brand restaurant
franchising company that develops, markets, and acquires predominantly fast casual restaurant concepts around the world. On October 20, 2017, we completed an
initial public offering and issued additional shares of common stock representing 20 percent of our ownership (the “Offering”). As of December 29, 2019, FCCG
continues to control a significant voting majority of the Company.

As a franchisor, we generally do not own or operate restaurant locations, but rather generate revenue by charging franchisees an initial franchise fee as
well as ongoing royalties. This asset light franchisor model provides the opportunity for strong profit margins and an attractive free cash flow profile while
minimizing restaurant operating company risk, such as long-term real estate commitments or capital investments. Our scalable management platform enables us to
add new stores and restaurant concepts to our portfolio with minimal incremental corporate overhead cost, while taking advantage of significant corporate
overhead synergies. The acquisition of additional brands and restaurant concepts as well as expansion of our existing brands are key elements of our growth
strategy.

As of December 29, 2019, we were the owner and franchisor of the following restaurant brands:

Fatburger. Founded in Los Angeles, California in 1947, Fatburger (The Last Great Hamburger Stand) has, throughout its history, maintained its
reputation as an iconic, all-American, Hollywood favorite hamburger restaurant serving a variety of freshly made-to-order, customizable, big, juicy, and tasty
Fatburgers, Turkeyburgers, Chicken Sandwiches, Impossible™ Burgers, Veggieburgers, French fries, onion rings, soft-drinks and milkshakes. With a legacy
spanning over 70 years, Fatburger’s dedication to superior quality inspires robust loyalty amongst its customer base and has long appealed to American cultural
and social leaders. We have counted many celebrities and athletes as past franchisees and customers, and we believe this prestige has been a principal driver of the
brand’s strong growth. Fatburger offers a premier dining experience, demonstrating the same dedication to serving gourmet, homemade, custom-built burgers as it
has since 1947. As of December 29, 2019, there were 163 franchised and sub-franchised Fatburger locations across eight states and 18 countries.

Buffalo’s Cafe. Established in Roswell, Georgia in 1985, Buffalo’s Cafe (Where Everyone is Family) is a family-themed casual dining concept known
for its chicken wings and 13 distinctive homemade wing sauces, burgers, wraps, steaks, salads and other classic American cuisine. Featuring a full bar and table
service, Buffalo’s Cafe offers a distinctive dining experience affording friends and family the flexibility to share an intimate dinner together or to casually watch
sporting events while enjoying extensive menu offerings. Beginning in 2011, Buffalo’s Express was developed and launched as a fast-casual, smaller footprint
variant of Buffalo’s Cafe offering a limited version of the full menu with an emphasis on chicken wings, wraps and salads. Current Buffalo’s Express outlets are
co-branded with Fatburger locations, providing our franchisees with complementary concepts that share kitchen space and result in a higher average unit volume
(compared to stand-alone Fatburger locations). As of December 29, 2019, there were 17 franchised Buffalo’s Cafe and 87 co-branded Fatburger / Buffalo’s
Express locations globally.

Ponderosa & Bonanza Steakhouse. Ponderosa Steakhouse, founded in 1965, and Bonanza Steakhouse, founded in 1963 (collectively, “Ponderosa”),
offer the quintessential American steakhouse experience, for which there is strong and growing demand in international markets, particularly in Asia and the
Middle East. Ponderosa and Bonanza Steakhouses offer guests a high-quality buffet and broad array of great tasting, affordably priced steak, chicken and seafood
entrées. Buffets at Ponderosa and Bonanza Steakhouses feature a large variety of all you can eat salads, soups, appetizers, vegetables, breads, hot main courses and
desserts. An additional variation of the brand, Bonanza Steak & BBQ, offers a full-service steakhouse with fresh farm-to-table salad bar and a menu showcase of
USDA flame-grilled steaks and house-smoked BBQ, with contemporized interpretations of traditional American classics. As of December 29, 2019, there were 76
Ponderosa and 13 Bonanza restaurants operating under franchise and sub-franchise agreements in 16 states and five countries.
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Hurricane Grill & Wings. Founded in Fort Pierce, Florida in 1995, Hurricane Grill & Wings is a tropical beach themed casual dining restaurant known
for its fresh, jumbo, chicken wings, 35 signature sauces, burgers, bowls, tacos, salads and sides. Featuring a full bar and table service, Hurricane Grill & Wings’
laid-back, casual, atmosphere affords family and friends the flexibility to enjoy dining experiences together regardless of the occasion. The acquisition of
Hurricane Grill & Wings has been complementary to FAT Brands existing portfolio chicken wing brands, Buffalo’s Cafe and Buffalo’s Express. The Company
acquired the Hurricane brand on July 3, 2018 and began consolidating Hurricane’s financial results effective with that date. As of December 29, 2019, there were
51 franchised Hurricane Grill & Wings and 2 franchised Hurricane BTWs (Hurricane’s fast-casual burgers, tacos & wings concept), across eight states.

Yalla Mediterranean. Founded in 2014, Yalla Mediterranean is a Los Angeles-based restaurant chain specializing in authentic, healthful, Mediterranean
cuisine with an environmentally conscience and focus on sustainability. The word “yalla” which means “let’s go” is embraced in every aspect of Yalla
Mediterranean’s culture and is a key component of our concept. Yalla Mediterranean offers a healthful Mediterranean menu of wraps, plates, and bowls in a fast-
casual setting, with cuisine prepared fresh daily using, GMO-free, local ingredients for a menu that includes vegetarian, vegan, gluten-free and dairy-free options
accommodating customers with a wide variety of dietary needs and preferences. The brand demonstrates its commitment to the environment by using responsibly
sourced proteins and utensils, bowls and serving trays made from compostable materials. Each of Yalla’s seven locations across California also feature on-tap
selections of craft beers and fine wines. The Company completed the Yalla Mediterranean transaction on December 3, 2018 and began consolidating Yalla
Mediterranean’s financial results effective that date. As of December 29, 2019, we have converted two Yalla restaurants into franchised operations. We intend to
sell the remaining existing Yalla locations to franchisees and expand the business through additional franchising.

Elevation Burger. Established in Northern Virginia in 2002, Elevation Burger is a fast-casual burger, fries, and shakes chain that provides its customers
with healthier, “elevated” food options. Serving grass-fed beef, organic chicken, and French fries cooked using a proprietary olive oil-based frying method,
Elevation maintains environmentally-friendly operating practices including responsible sourcing of ingredients, robust recycling programs intended to reduce
carbon footprint, and store décor constructed of eco-friendly materials. The acquisition of Elevation Burger in June 2019 aligns with our corporate mission of
providing fresh, authentic and tasty products to the customers of our franchisees and complements our existing burger brand, Fatburger. The Company acquired the
Elevation Burger brand on June 19, 2019 and began consolidating Elevation Burger’s financial results effective with that date. As of December 29, 2019, there
were 45 franchised Elevation Burger locations across nine states and four countries.

Beyond our current brand portfolio, we intend to acquire other restaurant franchise concepts that will allow us to offer additional food categories and
expand our geographic footprint. In evaluating potential acquisitions, we specifically seek concepts with the following characteristics:

established, widely recognized brands;

steady cash flows;

track records of long-term, sustainable operating performance;

good relationships with franchisees;

sustainable operating performance;

geographic diversification; and

growth potential, both geographically and through co-branding initiatives across our portfolio.

Leveraging our scalable management platform, we expect to achieve cost synergies post-acquisition by reducing the corporate overhead of the acquired
company — most notably in the legal, accounting and finance functions. We also plan to grow the top line revenues of newly acquired brands through support from
our management and systems platform, including public relations, marketing and advertising, supply chain assistance, site selection analysis, staff training and
operational oversight and support.

Our franchisee base consisted of 195 franchisees as of December 29, 2019. Of these franchisees, 159 operate in North America and 46 own multiple
restaurant locations. System wide, our franchisees operated 374 restaurants as of December 29, 2019 (304 of which were located in North America), with store

level sales in excess of $390 million in 2019. As of December 29, 2019, we had a pipeline of over 200 new units which remain to be completed.
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The FAT Brands Difference — Fresh. Authentic. Tasty.

Our name represents the values that we embrace as a company and the food that we provide to customers — Fresh. Authentic. Tasty (which we refer to as
“FAT”). The success of our franchisor model is tied to consistent delivery by our restaurant operators of freshly prepared, made-to-order food that our customers
desire. With the input of our customers and franchisees, we continually strive to keep a fresh perspective on our brands by enhancing our existing menu offerings
and introducing appealing new menu items. When enhancing our offerings, we ensure that any changes are consistent with the core identity and attributes of our
brands, although we do not intend to adapt our brands to be all things to all people. In conjunction with our restaurant operators (which means the individuals who
manage and/or own our franchised restaurants), we are committed to delivering authentic, consistent brand experiences that have strong brand identity with
customers. Ultimately, we understand that we are only as good as the last meal served, and we are dedicated to having our franchisees consistently deliver tasty,
high-quality food and positive guest experiences in their restaurants.

In pursuing acquisitions and entering new restaurant brands, we are committed to instilling our FAT Brands values into new restaurant concepts. As our
restaurant portfolio continues to grow, we believe that both our franchisees and diners will recognize and value this ongoing commitment as they enjoy a wider
concept offering.

Competitive Strengths
We believe that our competitive strengths include:

o  Management Platform Built for Growth. We have developed a robust and comprehensive management and systems platform designed to support the
expansion of our existing brands while enabling the accretive and efficient acquisition and integration of additional restaurant concepts. We dedicate
our considerable resources and industry knowledge to promote the success of our franchisees, offering them multiple support services such as public
relations, marketing and advertising, supply chain assistance, site selection analysis, staff training and operational oversight and support.
Furthermore, our platform is scalable and adaptable, allowing us to incorporate new concepts into the FAT Brands family with minimal incremental
corporate costs. We intend to grow our existing brands as well as make strategic and opportunistic acquisitions that complement our existing
portfolio of concepts providing an entrance into targeted restaurant segments. We believe that our platform is a key differentiator in pursuing this
strategy.

®  Asset Light Business Model Driving High Free Cash Flow Conversion. We maintain an asset light business model requiring minimal capital
expenditures by franchising our restaurant concepts to our owner / operators. The multi-brand franchisor model also enables us to efficiently scale the
number of restaurant locations with very limited incremental corporate overhead and minimal exposure to store-level risk, such as long-term real
estate commitments and increases in employee wage costs. Our multi-brand approach also gives us the organizational depth to provide a host of
services to our franchisees, which we believe enhances their financial and operational performance. As a result, new store growth and accelerating
financial performance of the FAT Brands network drive increases in our franchise fee and royalty revenue streams while expanding profit and free
cash flow margins.

o  Strong Brands Aligned with FAT Brands Vision. We have an enviable track record of delivering Fresh, Authentic, and Tasty meals across our
franchise system. Our Fatburger and Buffalo’s concepts have built distinctive brand identities within their respective segments, providing made-to-
order, high-quality food at competitive prices. The Ponderosa and Bonanza brands deliver an authentic American steakhouse experience with which
customers identify. Hurricane Grill & Wings offer customers fresh, jumbo chicken wings with an assortment of sauces and rubs in a casual dining
atmosphere. Yalla Mediterranean offers a healthful Mediterranean menu of wraps, plates, and bowls in a fast-casual setting. Our newest acquisition,
Elevation Burger, was the first organic burger chain, serving premium grass-fed beef patties and heart-healthy olive oil fries in a family and eco-
friendly environment. Maintaining alignment with the FAT Brands vision across an expanding platform, we believe that our concepts will appeal to a
broad base of domestic and global consumers.




®  FExperienced and Diverse Global Franchisee Network. We have a new restaurant pipeline of over 200 locations across our brands. The acquisition of
additional restaurant franchisors will also increase the number of restaurants operated by our existing franchisee network. Additionally, our franchise
development team has built an attractive pipeline of new potential franchisees, with many experienced restaurant operators and new entrepreneurs
eager to join the FAT Brands family.

o  Ability to Cross-Sell Existing Franchisees Concepts from the FAT Brands Portfolio. Our ability to easily, and efficiently, cross-sell our existing
franchisees new brands from our FAT Brands portfolio affords us the ability to grow more quickly and satisfy our existing franchisees’ demands to
expand their organizations. By having the ability to offer our franchisees a variety of concepts (i.e., a fast-casual better-burger concept, a fast-casual
chicken wing concept, a casual dining concept, a healthful Mediterranean menu concept and steakhouse concepts) from the FAT Brands portfolio,
our existing franchisees are able to acquire the rights to, and develop, their respective markets with a well-rounded portfolio of FAT Brands concept
offerings affording them the ability to strategically satisfy their respective market demands by developing our various concepts where opportunities
are available.

o  Seasoned and Passionate Management Team. Our management team and employees are critical to our success. Our senior leadership team has more
than 200 years of combined experience in the restaurant industry, and many have been a part of our team since the acquisition of the Fatburger brand
in 2003. We believe that our management team has the track record and vision to leverage the FAT Brands platform to achieve significant future
growth. In addition, through their holdings in FCCG, our senior executives own a significant equity interest in the company, ensuring long-term
commitment and alignment with our public shareholders. Our management team is complemented by an accomplished Board of Directors.

Growth Strategy
The principal elements of our growth strategy include:

e  Opportunistically Acquire New Brands. Our management platform was developed to cost-effectively and seamlessly scale with new restaurant
concept acquisitions. Our recent acquisitions of the Hurricane Grill & Wings, Yalla Mediterranean and Elevation Burger brands are a continuation of
this growth strategy. We have identified food categories that appeal to a broad international base of customers, targeting the burgers, chicken, pizza,
steak, coffee, sandwich and dessert segments for future growth. We have developed a strong and actionable pipeline of potential acquisition
opportunities to achieve our objectives. We seek concepts with established, widely recognized brands; steady cash flows; track records of long-term,
good relationships with franchisees; sustainable operating performance; geographic diversification; and growth potential, both geographically and
through co-branding initiatives across our portfolio. We approach acquisitions from a value perspective, targeting modest multiples of franchise-level
cash flow valuations to ensure that acquisitions are immediately accretive to our earnings prior to anticipated synergies.

o  Optimize Capital Structure to Enable Profitable Growth through Acquisitions. While we believe our existing business can be funded through cash
generated from current operations, we intend to finance future acquisitions of restaurant brands through the issuance of debt and equity financing
placed with investors and issued directly to sellers of restaurant brands. We are actively pursuing various financing alternatives, with the goal of
reducing and optimizing our all-in cost of capital and providing us with the means to pursue larger and more profitable acquisitions.
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Accelerate Same-Store Sales Growth. Same-store sales growth reflects the change in year-over-year sales for the comparable store base, which we
define as the number of stores open for at least one full fiscal year. To optimize restaurant performance, we have embraced a multi-faceted same-
store sales growth strategy. We utilize customer feedback and closely analyze sales data to introduce, test and perfect existing and new menu items.
In addition, we regularly utilize public relations and experiential marketing, which we leverage via social media and targeted digital advertising to
expand the reach of our brands and to drive traffic to our stores. Furthermore, we have embraced emerging technology to develop our own brand-
specific mobile applications, allowing guests to find restaurants, order online, earn rewards and join our e-marketing providers. We have also
partnered with third-party delivery service providers, including UberEATS, Grub Hub, Amazon Restaurants and Postmates, which provide online and
app-based delivery services and constitute a new sales channel for our existing locations. Finally, many of our franchisees are pursuing a robust
capital expenditure program to remodel legacy restaurants and to opportunistically co-brand them with our Buffalo’s Express and / or Fat Bar
concepts (serving beer, wine, spirits and cocktails).

Drive Store Growth through Co-Branding, Virtual Restaurants, and Cloud Kitchens. We franchise co-branded Fatburger / Buffalo’s Express
locations, giving franchisees the flexibility of offering multiple concepts, while sharing kitchen space, resulting in a higher average check (compared
to stand-alone Fatburger locations). Franchisees benefit by serving a broader customer base, and we estimate that co-branding results in a 20%-30%
increase in average unit volume compared to stand-alone locations with minimal incremental cost to franchisees. Our acquisition strategy reinforces
the importance of co-branding, as we expect to offer each of the complementary brands that we acquire to our existing franchisees on a co-branded
basis.

In addition to driving growth through co-branding opportunities, we are leveraging the current industry trend of virtual restaurants, whereby one (or
more) of our brands serves its food out of the kitchen of another brand for online delivery only, and cloud kitchens, whereby restaurants open without
a customer-facing store-front solely for the purpose of servicing delivery or virtual kitchens. Virtual restaurants and cloud kitchens allow us to
introduce our brands in geographic areas where previously unknown such as introducing selected menu items from Hurricane Grill & Wings to the
southern California market through the preparation in and delivery from Fatburger franchised restaurants via a program with UberEats.

Extend Brands into New Segments. We have a strong track record of extending our brands into new segments, and we believe that we have a
significant opportunity to capture new markets by strategically adapting our concepts while reinforcing the brand identity. In addition to dramatically
expanding the traditional Buffalo’s Cafe customer base through Fatburger / Buffalo’s Express co-branding, we have also begun evaluating
opportunities to leverage the Buffalo’s brand by promoting Buffalo’s Express on a stand-alone basis. Furthermore, we have also begun the roll-out of
Fat Bars (serving beer, wine, spirits and cocktails), which we are opportunistically introducing to select existing Fatburger locations on a modular
basis. Similarly, we plan to create smaller-scale, fast casual Ponderosa and Bonanza concepts, to drive new store growth, particularly internationally.

Continue Expanding FAT Brands Internationally. We have a significant global presence, with international franchised stores in Qatar, Canada,
United Kingdom, Philippines, Malaysia, Tunisia, Singapore, Panama, Saudi Arabia, Pakistan, Kuwait, United Arab Emirates, Iraq, China, Indonesia,
Japan, Egypt, Taiwan, Bahrain, India, and Puerto Rico. We believe that the appeal of our Fresh, Authentic, and Tasty concepts is global, and we are
targeting further penetration of Middle Eastern and Asian markets, particularly through leveraging the Fatburger and Elevation brands.

Enhance Footprint in Existing Markets through Current Franchisee Networks. We had 195 franchisees who collectively operated more than 370
restaurants as of December 29, 2019. As noted, our existing and new franchisees have made new store commitments of over 200 locations across our
brands, and we anticipate that our new and existing franchisees will open more than 30 new stores annually for at least the next four years. Beyond
these existing commitments, we have found that many of our franchisees have grown their businesses over time, increasing the number of stores
operated in their organizations and expanding their concept offerings across the FAT Brands portfolio of concepts.




e  Attract New Franchisees in Existing and Unpenetrated Markets. In addition to the large pipeline of new store commitments from current franchisees,
we believe the existing markets for Fatburger, Buffalo’s Cafe, Buffalo’s Express, Ponderosa, Bonanza, Hurricane, Yalla and Elevation Burger
locations are far from saturated and can support a significant increase in units. Furthermore, new franchisee relationships represent the optimal way
for our brands to penetrate geographic markets where we do not currently operate. In many cases, prospective franchisees have experience in and
knowledge of markets where we are not currently active, facilitating a smoother brand introduction than we or our existing franchisees could achieve
independently. We generate franchisee leads through various channels, including franchisee referrals, traditional and non-traditional franchise
brokers and broker networks, franchise development advertising, and franchise trade shows and conventions.

Franchise Program — FAT Brands

General. We utilize a franchise development strategy as our primary method for new store growth by leveraging the interest of our existing franchisees
and those potential franchisees with an entrepreneurial spirit looking to launch their own business. We have a rigorous franchisee qualification and selection
process to ensure that each franchisee meets our strict brand standards.

Fatburger Franchise Agreements. For Fatburger locations, the current franchise agreement provides for an initial franchise fee of $50,000 per store
(565,000 per store internationally) and a royalty fee of 2% to 6% of net sales on a 15-year term. For 2019, the average royalty rate was 4.7%. In addition, the
franchisee must also pay an advertising fee of approximately 3% of net sales on local marketing and approximately 1% of net sales on international marketing.

Buffalo’s Franchise Agreements. For Buffalo’s Cafe and Buffalo’s Express locations, the current franchise agreement provides for an initial franchise
fee of $50,000 per store and a royalty fee of 2.5% to 6% of gross sales on a 15-year term. For 2019, the average royalty rate was 3.8%. In addition, the Buffalo’s
Cafe franchisee agrees to pay an advertising fee of 2% of net sales on local marketing and 2% of net sales to the Buffalo’s Cafe advertising fund. For Buffalo’s
Express locations, the franchisee pays approximately 1% of net sales on local store marketing and approximately 3% of net sales to the Buffalo’s Express
advertising fund.

Ponderosa / Bonanza Franchise Agreements. For Ponderosa locations, the current franchise agreement provides for an initial franchise fee of $40,000
per store and a royalty fee of 0.75% to 4% of net sales on a 15-year term. For 2019, the average royalty rate was 2.7%. In addition, currently franchisees are paying
approximately 0.5% of net sales to a pooled advertising fund. For Bonanza locations, the current franchise agreement provides for an initial franchise fee of
$40,000 per store and a royalty fee of 0.75% to 4% of net sales on a 15-year term. For 2019, the average royalty rate was 2.2% In addition, currently franchisees
are paying approximately 0.5% of net sales to a pooled advertising fund.

Hurricane Franchise Agreements. For Hurricane locations, the current franchise agreement provides for an initial franchise fee of $50,000 per store and
a royalty fee of 6% of net sales on a 15-year term. For 2019, the average royalty rate was 4.2%. In addition, the franchisee must also pay an advertising fee of 2%
of net sales to a pooled advertising fund.

Yalla Mediterranean Franchise Agreements. For franchised Yalla locations, the current franchise agreement provides for an initial franchise fee of
$50,000 per store and a royalty fee of 6% of net sales on a 15-year term. For 2019, the average royalty rate was 6%. In addition, the franchisee must also pay an
advertising fee of 2% of net sales to a pooled advertising fund.

Elevation Burger Franchise Agreements. For franchised Elevation locations, the current franchise agreement provides for an initial franchise fee of
$50,000 per store and a royalty fee of 6% of net sales on a 15-year term. For 2019, the average royalty rate was 5.6%. In addition, the franchisee must also pay an
advertising fee of 1.5% of net sales to a pooled advertising fund.

Development Agreements. We use development agreements to facilitate the planned expansion of Fatburger and Buffalo’s restaurants through single and
multiple unit development. During 2019, many of our new Fatburger openings occurred as a result of existing development agreements. In addition, through our
acquisition of Hurricane and Elevation, we acquired certain development agreements. Each development agreement gives a developer the exclusive right to
construct, own and operate stores within a defined area. In exchange, the franchisee agrees to open a minimum number of stores in the area in a prescribed time
period. Franchisees that enter into development agreements are required to pay a fee, which is credited against franchise fees due when the store is opened in the
future. Franchisees may forfeit such fees and lose their rights to future development if they do not maintain the required schedule of openings.
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Franchisee Support — FAT Brands
Marketing

Our Fresh, Authentic and Tasty values are the anchor that inspires our marketing efforts. Our resolve to maintain our premium positioning, derived from
the FAT Brands’ values, is reinforced by our management platform, capital light business model, experienced and diverse global franchisee network and seasoned
and passionate management team. Although our marketing and advertising programs are concept-specific, we believe that our patrons appreciate the value of their
experiences visiting our establishments and, thus, the core of our marketing strategy is to engage and dialogue with customers at our restaurant locations as well as
through social media.

Our Fresh, Authentic and Tasty values are an invitation for our guests to align with FAT Brands’ commitment to consistently deliver freshly prepared,
made-to-order food that customers desire. We are dedicated to keeping a fresh perspective on our concepts, perfecting our existing menu offerings as well as

introducing appealing new items. We ensure that any changes are consistent with the core identity of our brands, and we will not adapt our brands to be all things
to all people.

Our marketing initiatives include a robust mix of local community marketing, in-store campaigns, product placements, partnerships, promotions, social
media, influencer marketing, traditional media and word of mouth advertising. Corresponding with the evolutionary shift in how customers receive content and
engage with media and brands today, we have also dramatically increased our focus on mobile, social, and digital advertising to leverage the content we generate
from public relations and experiential marketing in order to better connect with customers, sharing information about new menu offerings, promotions, new store
openings and other relevant FAT Brands information. Currently, across our brands, we have over 17,500 Twitter followers, 75,000 Instagram followers and over
1,000,000 Facebook likes. We communicate with customers in creative and organic ways that fortify our connections with them and increase brand awareness.

Site Selection and Development.

Our franchisees work alongside our franchise development department during the search, review, leasing and development process for a new restaurant
location. Typically, it takes between 60 and 90 days from the time we sign an agreement with a franchisee until that franchisee signs a lease. When selecting a
location, our team assists franchisees in seeking locations with the following site characteristics:

®  Average Daily Traffic: 35,000+ people
Access: Easy, distinguishable, and preferably with signaled entry and intersection; two-to-three curb cuts to center and entry from two streets

Activity Generators: Going home traffic side, easily accessible for lunchtime traffic (pedestrian and automobile), high-frequency specialty retail and
storefront urban corridors with convenient parking

e Lease Terms: Five-year minimum with four five-year options; fixed rates preferred
Visibility: Site and signage must be highly visible from street and/or traffic generators, ideally visible from at least 500 feet in two directions
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Supply Chain Assistance

FAT Brands has always been committed to seeking out and working with best-in-class suppliers and distribution networks on behalf of our franchisees.
Our Fresh, Authentic and Tasty vision guides us in how we source and develop our ingredients, always looking for the best ways to provide top quality food that is
as competitively priced as possible for our franchisees and their customers. We utilize a third-party purchasing and consulting company that provides distribution,
rebate collection, product negotiations, audits and sourcing services focusing on negotiating distributor, vendor and manufacturer contracts, thereby ensuring that
our brands receive meaningful buying power for our franchisees. Our Supply Chain team has developed a reliable supply chain and continues to focus on
identifying additional back-ups to avoid any possible interruption of service and product globally for our franchisees. We have a regional strategy for ground beef
supply to ensure that our franchisees are always serving a proprietary blend of freshly ground and never frozen beef in their stores in the continental United States
for Fatburger, while our Elevation Burger franchisees utilize another supplier that provides the organic, grass-fed beef associated with that brand. Internationally,
we utilize the same strategy market-by-market in each country in which our franchisees operate. Domestically, our franchisees utilize the same, Southern
California based, beef supplier for all of the U.S. Fatburger locations. Similarly, our franchisees utilize the same, South East United States based, beef supplier for
Buffalo’s Cafe. Ponderosa and Bonanza Steakhouses franchisees utilize contracted beef suppliers as do those of our Hurricane brand. Internationally, we have a
select group of beef suppliers providing product to our franchisees market-by-market for each brand. We utilize the same procurement strategies on behalf of our
franchisees for the poultry, produce, and Mediterranean offerings.

Domestically, FAT Brands has distribution agreements with broadline national distributors as well as regional providers. Internationally, our franchisees
have distribution agreements with different providers market-by-market. We utilize distribution centers operated by our distributors. Our broadline national
distributors are the main purchasing link in the United States among many of our suppliers, and distribute most of our dry, refrigerated and frozen goods, non-
alcoholic beverages, paper goods and cleaning supplies. Internationally, distributors are also used to provide the majority of products to our franchisees.

Food Safety and Quality Assurance. Food safety is a top priority of FAT Brands. As such, we maintain rigorous safety standards for our menu offerings.
We have carefully selected preferred suppliers that adhere to our safety standards, and our franchisees are required to source their ingredients from these approved
suppliers. Furthermore, our commitment to food safety is strengthened through the direct relationship between our Supply Chain and Field Consultant Assistance
teams.

Management Information Systems. FAT Brands restaurants utilize a variety of back-office, computerized and manual, point-of-sale systems and tools,
which we believe are scalable to support our growth plans. We utilize these systems following a multi-faceted approach to monitor restaurants operational
performance, food safety, quality control, customer feedback and profitability.

The point-of-sale systems are designed specifically for the restaurant industry and we use many customized features to evaluate and increase operational
performance, provide data analysis, marketing promotional tracking, guest and table management, high-speed credit card and gift card processing, daily transaction
data, daily sales information, product mix, average transaction size, order modes, revenue centers and other key business intelligence data. Utilizing these point-of-
sale systems back-end, web-based, enterprise level, software solution dashboards, our home office and Franchise Operations Consultant Support staff are provided
with real-time access to detailed business data which allows for our home office and Franchise Operations Consultant Support staff to closely, and remotely,
monitor stores performance and assist in providing focused and timely support to our franchisees. Furthermore, these systems supply sales, bank deposit and
variance data to our accounting department on a daily basis, and we use this data to generate daily sales information and weekly consolidated reports regarding
sales and other key measures for each restaurant with final reports following the end of each period.

In addition to utilizing these point-of-sale systems, FAT Brands utilizes systems which provide detailed, real-time (and historical) operational data for all
locations, allowing our management team to track product inventories, equipment temperatures, repair and maintenance schedules, intra-shift team
communications, consistency in following standard operating procedures and tracking of tasks. FAT Brands also utilizes a web-based employee scheduling
software program providing franchisees, and their management teams, increased flexibility and awareness of scheduling needs allowing them to efficiently, and
appropriately, manage their labor costs and store staffing requirements/needs. Lastly, FAT Brands utilizes a proprietary customer feedback system allowing
customers to provide feedback in real-time to our entire management team, franchisees and store managers.
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Field Consultant Assistance.

In conjunction with utilizing the FAT Brands Management Information Systems, FAT Brands has a team of dedicated Franchise Operations Consultant
Support staff who oversee designated market areas and specific subsets of restaurants. Our Franchise Operations Consultant Support staff work in the field daily
with franchisees, and their management teams, to ensure that the integrity of all FAT Brands concepts are upheld and that franchisees are utilizing the tools and
systems FAT Brands requires in order to optimize and accelerate franchisee profitability. FAT Brands Franchise Operations Consultant Support staff
responsibilities include (but are not limited to):

Conducting announced and un-announced store visits and evaluations

Continuous training and re-training of new and existing franchise operations

Conducting quarterly workshops for franchisees and their management teams

Development and collection of monthly profit and loss statements for each store

Store set-up, training, oversight and support for pre- and post- new store openings

Training, oversight and implementation of in-store marketing initiatives

Inspections of equipment, temperatures, food-handling procedures, customer service, products in store, cleanliness, and team member attitude

Training, Pre-Opening Assistance and Opening Support

FAT Brands offers Executive level and Operational level training programs to its franchisees, pre-opening assistance and opening assistance. Once open,
FAT Brands constantly provides ongoing operational and marketing support to our franchisees by assisting their management teams in effectively operating their
restaurants and increasing their stores financial profitability.

Competition

As a franchisor, our most important direct customers are our franchisees, who own and operate FAT Brands restaurants. Our competitors for franchisees
include well-established national, regional or local franchisors with franchises in the geographies or restaurant segments in which we operate or in which we intend
to operate.

Our franchisees compete in the fast casual and casual dining segments of the restaurant industry, a highly competitive industry in terms of price, service,
location, and food quality. The restaurant industry is often affected by changes in consumer trends, economic conditions, demographics, traffic patterns, and
concern about the nutritional content of fast casual foods. Furthermore, there are many well-established competitors with substantially greater financial resources,
including a number of national, regional, and local fast casual, casual dining, and convenience stores. The restaurant industry also has few barriers to entry and new
competitors may emerge at any time.

Food Safety

Food safety is a top priority. As such, we maintain rigorous safety standards for each menu item. We have carefully selected preferred food suppliers that
adhere to our safety standards, and our franchisees are required to source their ingredients from these approved suppliers.

Seasonality

Our franchisees have not historically experienced significant seasonal variability in their financial performance.
Intellectual Property

We own, domestically and internationally, valuable intellectual property including trademarks, service marks, trade secrets and other proprietary
information related to our restaurant and corporate brands. This intellectual property includes logos and trademarks which are of material importance to our
business. Depending on the jurisdiction, trademarks and service marks generally are valid as long as they are used and/or registered. We seek to actively protect
and defend our intellectual property from infringement and misuse.

Employees

As of December 29, 2019, our company, including our subsidiaries, employed approximately 58 people. We believe that we have good relations with our
employees.
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Government Regulation

U.S. Operations. Our U.S. operations are subject to various federal, state and local laws affecting our business, primarily laws and regulations concerning
the franchisor/franchisee relationship, marketing, food labeling, sanitation and safety. Each of our franchised restaurants in the U.S. must comply with licensing
and regulation by a number of governmental authorities, which include health, sanitation, safety, fire and zoning agencies in the state and/or municipality in which
the restaurant is located. To date, we have not been materially adversely affected by such licensing and regulation or by any difficulty, delay or failure to obtain
required licenses or approvals.

International Operations. Our restaurants outside the U.S. are subject to national and local laws and regulations which are similar to those affecting U.S.
restaurants. The restaurants outside the U.S. are also subject to tariffs and regulations on imported commodities and equipment and laws regulating foreign
investment, as well as anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws.

See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of risks relating to federal, state, local and international regulation of our business.
Our Corporate Information
FAT Brands Inc. was formed as a Delaware corporation on March 21, 2017. Our corporate headquarters are located at 9720 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 500,

Beverly Hills, California 90212. Our main telephone number is (310) 319-1850. Our principal Internet website address is www.fatbrands.com. The information on
our website is not incorporated by reference into, or a part of, this Annual Report.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections
13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
We are subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and file or furnish reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. The public
may read and copy any materials filed by us with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549, and may
obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports,
proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. The contents of these websites are
not incorporated into this Annual Report. Further, our references to the URLs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only. We also make
the documents listed above available without charge through the Investor Relations Section of our website at www.fatbrands.com.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Except for the historical information contained herein or incorporated by reference, this report and the information incorporated by reference contain
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. These statements include projections about our accounting and finances, plans and objectives for
the future, future operating and economic performance and other statements regarding future performance. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance or events. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in this report. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences
include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the following section, as well as those discussed in Part II, Item 7 entitled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere throughout this report and in any documents incorporated in this report by reference.

You should consider carefully the following risk factors and in the other information included or incorporated in this report. If any of the following risks,
either alone or taken together, or other risks not presently known to us or that we currently believe to not be significant, develop into actual events, then our
business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects could be materially adversely affected. If that happens, the market price of our common stock
could decline, and stockholders may lose all or part of their investment.
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Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

The novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak has disrupted and is expected to continue to disrupt our business, which could continue to materially affect our
operations, financial condition and results of operations for an extended period of time.

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (COVID-19) as a pandemic, which continues to spread
throughout the United States and other countries. As a result, Company franchisees have temporarily closed some retail locations, reduced or modified store
operating hours, adopted a “to-go” only operating model, or a combination these actions. These actions have reduced consumer traffic, all resulting in a negative
impact to Company revenues. In addition, the COVID-19 pandemic may make it more difficult for our franchisees to staff restaurants and, in more severe cases,
may cause a temporary inability to obtain supplies, increase commodity costs or cause full and partial closures of our affected restaurants for a prolonged period of
time.

Our franchisees have temporarily shifted to a “to-go” only operating model at the majority of our Fatburger, Hurricane Grill & Wings, Buffalo’s Caf¢,
and Elevation Burger restaurants in the United States, suspending sit-down dining and serving our guests through take-out, drive-thru and delivery. In addition,
most of our Ponderosa, Bonanza, and Yalla stores have implemented temporary closures or modified hours. COVID-19 and the economic downturn caused by the
pandemic may also materially adversely affect our ability to implement our growth plans, including closures of existing stores if our franchisees cannot continue
operating, delays in opening new stores, and delays or inability to finance acquisitions of additional brands and restaurant concepts.

Furthermore, the fear of contracting viruses could cause employees or guests to avoid gathering in public places, which has had, and could further have,
longer-term adverse effects on our restaurant guest traffic or the ability to adequately staff restaurants. We could also be adversely affected if government
authorities impose longer-term restrictions on public gatherings such as reductions in restaurant capacity, operations of restaurants or mandatory closures. Even if
such measures are not implemented and the COVID-19 virus does not spread significantly, the perceived risk of infection or health risk may adversely affect our
business, liquidity, financial condition and results of operations.

While the disruption to our business from the COVID-19 pandemic is currently expected to be temporary, there is a great deal of uncertainty around the
severity and duration of the disruption, and also the longer-term effects on our business and economic growth and consumer demand in the U.S. and worldwide.
The effects of COVID-19 may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, liquidity and ability to service our existing debt, particularly if these
effects continue in place for a significant amount of time.

Health concerns arising from outbreaks of diseases, other than COVID-19, may have an adverse effect on our business.

In addition to the risks to our business of COVID-19 discussed above, our business could be materially and adversely affected by the outbreak of other
widespread health epidemics or pandemics. The occurrence of such an outbreak of an epidemic illness, other than COVID-19, or other adverse public health
developments could materially disrupt our business and operations. Such events could also significantly impact our industry and cause a temporary closure of
restaurants, which would severely disrupt our operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, viruses other than COVID-19 may be transmitted through human contact, and the risk of contracting viruses could cause employees or
guests to avoid gathering in public places, which could adversely affect restaurant guest traffic or the ability to adequately staff franchised restaurants. We could
also be adversely affected if jurisdictions in which our franchisees’ restaurants operate impose mandatory closures, seek voluntary closures or impose restrictions
on operations of restaurants. Even if such measures are not implemented and a virus or other disease, other than COVID-19, does not spread significantly, the
perceived risk of infection or health risk may affect our business.

Our operating and financial results and growth strategies are closely tied to the success of our franchisees.

Our restaurants are operated by our franchisees, which makes us dependent on the financial success and cooperation of our franchisees. We have limited
control over how our franchisees’ businesses are run, and the inability of franchisees to operate successfully could adversely affect our operating and financial
results through decreased royalty payments. If our franchisees incur too much debt, if their operating expenses or commodity prices increase or if economic or
sales trends deteriorate such that they are unable to operate profitably or repay existing debt, it could result in their financial distress, including insolvency or
bankruptcy. If a significant franchisee or a significant number of our franchisees become financially distressed, our operating and financial results could be
impacted through reduced or delayed royalty payments. Our success also depends on the willingness and ability of our franchisees to implement major initiatives,
which may include financial investment. Our franchisees may be unable to successfully implement strategies that we believe are necessary for their further growth,
which in turn may harm the growth prospects and financial condition of the company. Additionally, the failure of our franchisees to focus on the fundamentals of
restaurant operations, such as quality service and cleanliness (even if such failures do not rise to the level of breaching the related franchise documents), could have
a negative impact on our business.

Our franchisees could take actions that could harm our business and may not accurately report sales.

Our franchisees are contractually obligated to operate their restaurants in accordance with the operations, safety, and health standards set forth in our
agreements with them and applicable laws. However, although we will attempt to properly train and support all our franchisees, they are independent third parties
whom we do not control. The franchisees own, operate, and oversee the daily operations of their restaurants, and their employees are not our employees.
Accordingly, their actions are outside of our control. Although we have developed criteria to evaluate and screen prospective franchisees, we cannot be certain that
our franchisees will have the business acumen or financial resources necessary to operate successful franchises at their approved locations, and state franchise laws
may limit our ability to terminate or not renew these franchise agreements. Moreover, despite our training, support and monitoring, franchisees may not
successfully operate restaurants in a manner consistent with our standards and requirements or may not hire and adequately train qualified managers and other
restaurant personnel. The failure of our franchisees to operate their franchises in accordance with our standards or applicable law, actions taken by their employees
or a negative publicity event at one of our franchised restaurants or involving one of our franchisees could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, our
brands, our ability to attract prospective franchisees, our company-owned restaurants, and our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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Franchisees typically use a point of sale, or POS, cash register system to record all sales transactions at the restaurant. We require franchisees to use a
specific brand or model of hardware or software components for their restaurant system. Currently, franchisees report sales manually and electronically, but we do
not have the ability to verify all sales data electronically by accessing their POS cash register systems. We have the right under our franchise agreement to audit
franchisees to verify sales information provided to us, and we have the ability to indirectly verify sales based on purchasing information. However, franchisees may
underreport sales, which would reduce royalty income otherwise payable to us and adversely affect our operating and financial results.

If we fail to identify, recruit and contract with a sufficient number of qualified franchisees, our ability to open new franchised restaurants and increase our
revenues could be materially adversely affected.

The opening of additional franchised restaurants depends, in part, upon the availability of prospective franchisees who meet our criteria. Most of our
franchisees open and operate multiple restaurants, and our growth strategy requires us to identify, recruit and contract with a significant number of new franchisees
each year. We may not be able to identify, recruit or contract with suitable franchisees in our target markets on a timely basis or at all. In addition, our franchisees
may not have access to the financial or management resources that they need to open the restaurants contemplated by their agreements with us, or they may elect to
cease restaurant development for other reasons. If we are unable to recruit suitable franchisees or if franchisees are unable or unwilling to open new restaurants as
planned, our growth may be slower than anticipated, which could materially adversely affect our ability to increase our revenues and materially adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we fail to open new domestic and international franchisee-owned restaurants on a timely basis, our ability to increase our revenues could be materially
adversely affected.

A significant component of our growth strategy includes the opening of new domestic and international franchised restaurants. Our franchisees face many
challenges associated with opening new restaurants, including:

e identification and availability of suitable restaurant locations with the appropriate size; visibility; traffic patterns; local residential neighborhood,
retail and business attractions; and infrastructure that will drive high levels of customer traffic and sales per restaurant;

e competition with other restaurants and retail concepts for potential restaurant sites and anticipated commercial, residential and infrastructure
development near new or potential restaurants;

e ability to negotiate acceptable lease arrangements;

e availability of financing and ability to negotiate acceptable financing terms;
e recruiting, hiring and training of qualified personnel;

e construction and development cost management;

e completing their construction activities on a timely basis;

e obtaining all necessary governmental licenses, permits and approvals and complying with local, state and federal laws and regulations to open,
construct or remodel and operate our franchised restaurants;
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e unforeseen engineering or environmental problems with the leased premises;
e avoiding the impact of adverse weather during the construction period; and
e other unanticipated increases in costs, delays or cost overruns.

As a result of these challenges, our franchisees may not be able to open new restaurants as quickly as planned or at all. Our franchisees have experienced,
and expect to continue to experience, delays in restaurant openings from time to time and have abandoned plans to open restaurants in various markets on occasion.
Any delays or failures to open new restaurants by our franchisees could materially and adversely affect our growth strategy and our results of operations.

Our growth strategy includes pursuing opportunistic acquisitions of additional brands, and we may not find suitable acquisition candidates or successfully
operate or integrate any brands that we may acquire.

As part of our growth strategy, we intend to opportunistically acquire new brands and restaurant concepts. Although we believe that opportunities for
future acquisitions may be available from time to time, competition for acquisition candidates may exist or increase in the future. Consequently, there may be
fewer acquisition opportunities available to us as well as higher acquisition prices. There can be no assurance that we will be able to identify, acquire, manage or
successfully integrate additional brands or restaurant concepts without substantial costs, delays or operational or financial problems.

The difficulties of integration include coordinating and consolidating geographically separated systems and facilities, integrating the management and
personnel of the acquired brands, maintaining employee morale and retaining key employees, implementing our management information systems and financial
accounting and reporting systems, establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and implementing operational procedures and
disciplines to control costs and increase profitability.

In the event we are able to acquire additional brands or restaurant concepts, the integration and operation of such acquisitions may place significant
demands on our management, which could adversely affect our ability to manage our existing restaurants. In addition, we may be required to obtain additional
financing to fund future acquisitions, but there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional financing on acceptable terms or at all.

We may not achieve our target development goals and the addition of new franchised restaurants may not be profitable.

Our growth strategy depends in part on our ability to add franchisees and our franchisees’ ability to increase our net restaurant count in domestic and
international markets. The successful development and retention of new restaurants depends in large part on our ability to attract franchisee investment
commitments and the ability of our franchisees to open new restaurants and operate these restaurants profitably. We cannot guarantee that we or our current or
future franchisees will be able to achieve our expansion goals or that new restaurants will be operated profitably. Further, there is no assurance that any new
restaurant will produce operating results similar to those of our franchisees’ existing restaurants.

Expansion into target markets could also be affected by our franchisees’ ability to obtain financing to construct and open new restaurants. If it becomes
more difficult or more expensive for our franchisees to obtain financing to develop new restaurants, the expected growth rate of our system could slow, and our

future revenues and operating cash flows could be adversely impacted.
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Opening new franchise restaurants in existing markets and aggressive development could cannibalize existing sales and may negatively affect sales at existing
franchised restaurants.

We intend to continue opening new franchised restaurants in our existing markets as a core part of our growth strategy. Expansion in existing markets
may be affected by local economic and market conditions. Further, the customer target area of our franchisees’ restaurants varies by location, depending on a
number of factors, including population density, other local retail and business attractions, area demographics and geography. As a result, the opening of a new
restaurant in or near markets in which our franchisees’ restaurants already exist could adversely affect the sales of these existing franchised restaurants. Our
franchisees may selectively open new restaurants in and around areas of existing franchised restaurants. Sales cannibalization between restaurants may become
significant in the future as we continue to expand our operations and could affect sales growth, which could, in turn, materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations. There can be no assurance that sales cannibalization will not occur or become more significant in the future as we
increase our presence in existing markets.

The number of new franchised restaurants that actually open in the future may differ materially from the number of signed commitments from potential new
franchisees.

The number of new franchised restaurants that actually open in the future may differ materially from the number of signed commitments from potential
new franchisees. Historically, a portion of our commitments sold have not ultimately opened as new franchised restaurants. The historic conversion rate of signed
commitments to new franchised locations may not be indicative of the conversion rates we will experience in the future and the total number of new franchised
restaurants actually opened in the future may differ materially from the number of signed commitments disclosed at any point in time.

Termination of development agreements with certain franchisees could adversely impact our revenues.

We enter into development agreements with certain franchisees that plan to open multiple restaurants in a designated area. These franchisees are granted
certain rights with respect to specified territories, and at their discretion, these franchisees may open more restaurants than specified in their agreements. The
termination of development agreements with a franchisee or a lack of expansion by these franchisees could result in the delay of the development of franchised
restaurants, discontinuation or an interruption in the operation of one of our brands in a particular market or markets. We may not be able to find another operator
to resume development activities in such market or markets. While termination of development agreements may result in a short-term recognition of forfeited
deposits as revenue, any such development delay, discontinuation or interruption would result in a delay in, or loss of, long-term royalty income to us by way of
reduced sales and could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our brands may be limited or diluted through franchisee and third-party activity.

Although we monitor and regulate franchisee activities under the terms of our franchise agreements, franchisees or other third parties may refer to or
make statements about our brands that do not make proper use of our trademarks or required designations, that improperly alter trademarks or branding, or that are
critical of our brands or place our brands in a context that may tarnish our reputation. This may result in dilution of, or harm to, our intellectual property or the
value of our brands. Franchisee noncompliance with the terms and conditions of our franchise agreements may reduce the overall goodwill of our brands, whether
through the failure to meet health and safety standards, engage in quality control or maintain product consistency, or through the participation in improper or
objectionable business practices. Moreover, unauthorized third parties may use our intellectual property to trade on the goodwill of our brands, resulting in
consumer confusion or dilution. Any reduction of our brands’ goodwill, consumer confusion, or dilution is likely to impact sales, and could materially and
adversely impact our business and results of operations.

Our success depends substantially on our corporate reputation and on the value and perception of our brands.

Our success depends in large part upon our and our franchisees’ ability to maintain and enhance the value of our brands and our customers’ loyalty to our
brands. Brand value is based in part on consumer perceptions on a variety of subjective qualities. Business incidents, whether isolated or recurring, and whether
originating from us, franchisees, competitors, suppliers or distributors, can significantly reduce brand value and consumer trust, particularly if the incidents receive
considerable publicity or result in litigation. For example, our brands could be damaged by claims or perceptions about the quality or safety of our products or the
quality or reputation of our suppliers, distributors or franchisees, regardless of whether such claims or perceptions are true. Similarly, entities in our supply chain
may engage in conduct, including alleged human rights abuses or environmental wrongdoing, and any such conduct could damage our or our brands’ reputations.
Any such incidents (even if resulting from actions of a competitor or franchisee) could cause a decline directly or indirectly in consumer confidence in, or the
perception of, our brands and/or our products and reduce consumer demand for our products, which would likely result in lower revenues and profits. Additionally,
our corporate reputation could suffer from a real or perceived failure of corporate governance or misconduct by a company officer, or an employee or
representative of us or a franchisee.
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Our success depends in part upon successful advertising and marketing campaigns and franchisee support of such advertising and marketing campaigns.

We believe our brands are critical to our business. We expend resources in our marketing efforts using a variety of media, including social media. We
expect to continue to conduct brand awareness programs and customer initiatives to attract and retain customers. Additionally, some of our competitors have
greater financial resources, which enable them to spend significantly more on marketing and advertising than us. Should our competitors increase spending on
marketing and advertising, or should our advertising and promotions be less effective than our competitors, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected.

The support of our franchisees is critical for the success of our advertising and marketing campaigns we seek to undertake, and the successful execution of
these campaigns will depend on our ability to maintain alignment with our franchisees. Our franchisees are required to spend approximately 1%-3% of net sales
directly on local advertising or contribute to a local fund managed by franchisees in certain market areas to fund the purchase of advertising media. Our franchisees
are also required to contribute a percentage of their net sales to a national fund to support the development of new products, brand development and national
marketing programs. In addition, we, our franchisees and other third parties have contributed additional advertising funds in the past. While we maintain control
over advertising and marketing materials and can mandate certain strategic initiatives pursuant to our franchise agreements, we need the active support of our
franchisees if the implementation of these initiatives is to be successful. Additional advertising funds are not contractually required, and we, our franchisees and
other third parties may choose to discontinue contributing additional funds in the future. Any significant decreases in our advertising and marketing funds or
financial support for advertising activities could significantly curtail our marketing efforts, which may in turn materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Failure to recognize, respond to and effectively manage the accelerated impact of social media could adversely impact our business.

In recent years, there has been a marked increase in the use of social media platforms, including blogs, chat platforms, social media websites, and other
forms of Internet based communications which allow individuals access to a broad audience of consumers and other interested persons. The rising popularity of
social media and other consumer-oriented technologies has increased the speed and accessibility of information dissemination. Many social media platforms
immediately publish the content their subscribers and participants post, often without filters or checks on accuracy of the content posted. Information posted on
such platforms at any time may be adverse to our interests and/or may be inaccurate. The dissemination of information via social media could harm our business,
reputation, financial condition, and results of operations, regardless of the information’s accuracy. The damage may be immediate without affording us an
opportunity for redress or correction.

In addition, social media is frequently used to communicate with our customers and the public in general. Failure by us to use social media effectively or
appropriately, particularly as compared to our brands’ respective competitors, could lead to a decline in brand value, customer visits and revenue. Other risks
associated with the use of social media include improper disclosure of proprietary information, negative comments about our brands, exposure of personally
identifiable information, fraud, hoaxes or malicious dissemination of false information. The inappropriate use of social media by our customers or employees could
increase our costs, lead to litigation or result in negative publicity that could damage our reputation and adversely affect our results of operations.
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Negative publicity relating to one of our franchised restaurants could reduce sales at some or all of our other franchised restaurants.

Our success is dependent in part upon our ability to maintain and enhance the value of our brands, consumers’ connection to our brands and positive
relationships with our franchisees. We may, from time to time, be faced with negative publicity relating to food quality, public health concerns, restaurant facilities,
customer complaints or litigation alleging illness or injury, health inspection scores, integrity of our franchisees or their suppliers’ food processing, employee
relationships or other matters, regardless of whether the allegations are valid or whether we are held to be responsible. The negative impact of adverse publicity
relating to one franchised restaurant may extend far beyond that restaurant or franchisee involved to affect some or all of our other franchised restaurants. The risk
of negative publicity is particularly great with respect to our franchised restaurants because we are limited in the manner in which we can manage and control a
franchisee’s messaging, especially on a real-time basis. The considerable expansion in the use of social media over recent years can further amplify any negative
publicity that could be generated by such incidents. A similar risk exists with respect to unrelated food service businesses, if consumers associate those businesses
with our own operations. Additionally, employee claims against us based on, among other things, wage and hour violations, discrimination, harassment or
wrongful termination may also create negative publicity that could adversely affect us and divert our financial and management resources that would otherwise be
used to benefit the future performance of our operations. A significant increase in the number of these claims or an increase in the number of successful claims
would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Consumer demand for our products and our brands’ value could
diminish significantly if any such incidents or other matters create negative publicity or otherwise erode consumer confidence in us or our products, which would
likely result in lower sales and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to protect our service marks or other intellectual property could harm our business.

We regard our Fatburger®, Buffalo’s Cafe®, Ponderosa®, Bonanza®, Hurricane®, and Yalla Mediterranean® service marks, and other service marks
and trademarks related to our franchise restaurant businesses, as having significant value and being important to our marketing efforts. We rely on a combination of
protections provided by contracts, copyrights, patents, trademarks, service marks and other common law rights, such as trade secret and unfair competition laws, to
protect our franchised restaurants and services from infringement. We have registered certain trademarks and service marks in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions.
However, from time to time we become aware of names and marks identical or confusingly similar to our service marks being used by other persons. Although our
policy is to oppose any such infringement, further or unknown unauthorized uses or other misappropriation of our trademarks or service marks could diminish the
value of our brands and adversely affect our business. In addition, effective intellectual property protection may not be available in every country in which our
franchisees have, or intend to open or franchise, a restaurant. There can be no assurance that these protections will be adequate and defending or enforcing our
service marks and other intellectual property could result in the expenditure of significant resources. We may also face claims of infringement that could interfere
with the use of the proprietary knowhow, concepts, recipes, or trade secrets used in our business. Defending against such claims may be costly, and we may be
prohibited from using such proprietary information in the future or forced to pay damages, royalties, or other fees for using such proprietary information, any of
which could negatively affect our business, reputation, financial condition, and results of operations.

If our franchisees are unable to protect their customers’ credit card data and other personal information, our franchisees could be exposed to data loss,
litigation, and liability, and our reputation could be significantly harmed.

Privacy protection is increasingly demanding, and the use of electronic payment methods and collection of other personal information expose our
franchisees to increased risk of privacy and/or security breaches as well as other risks. The majority of our franchisees’ restaurant sales are by credit or debit cards.
In connection with credit or debit card transactions in-restaurant, our franchisees collect and transmit confidential information by way of secure private retail
networks. Additionally, our franchisees collect and store personal information from individuals, including their customers and employees.
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Although our franchisees are required to use secure private networks to transmit confidential information and debit card sales, their security measures and
those of technology vendors may not effectively prohibit others from obtaining improper access to this information. The techniques used to obtain unauthorized
access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently and are often difficult to detect for long periods of time, which may cause a breach to go
undetected for an extensive period of time. Advances in computer and software capabilities, new tools, and other developments may increase the risk of such a
breach. Further, the systems currently used for transmission and approval of electronic payment transactions, and the technology utilized in electronic payment
themselves, all of which can put electronic payment at risk, are determined and controlled by the payment card industry, not by us, through enforcement of
compliance with the Payment Card Industry-Data Security Standards. Our franchisees must abide by the Payment Card Industry-Data Security Standards, as
modified from time to time, in order to accept electronic payment transactions. Furthermore, the payment card industry is requiring vendors to become compatible
with smart chip technology for payment cards, referred to as EMV-Compliant, or else bear full responsibility for certain fraud losses, referred to as the EMV
Liability Shift, which could adversely affect our business. To become EMV-Compliant, merchants must utilize EMV-Compliant payment card terminals at the
point of sale and also obtain a variety of certifications. The EMV Liability Shift became effective on October 1, 2015.

If a person is able to circumvent our franchisees’ security measures or those of third parties, he or she could destroy or steal valuable information or
disrupt our operations. Our franchisees may become subject to claims for purportedly fraudulent transactions arising out of the actual or alleged theft of credit or
debit card information, and our franchisees may also be subject to lawsuits or other proceedings relating to these types of incidents. Any such claim or proceeding
could cause our franchisees to incur significant unplanned expenses, which could have an adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows. Further, adverse publicity resulting from these allegations could significantly harm our reputation and may have a material adverse effect on us and our
franchisees’ business.

We and our franchisees rely on computer systems to process transactions and manage our business, and a disruption or a failure of such systems or technology
could harm our ability to effectively manage our business.

Network and information technology systems are integral to our business. We utilize various computer systems, including our franchisee reporting
system, by which our franchisees report their weekly sales and pay their corresponding royalty fees and required advertising fund contributions. When sales are
reported by a franchisee, a withdrawal for the authorized amount is initiated from the franchisee’s bank on a set date each week based on gross sales during the
week ended the prior Sunday. This system is critical to our ability to accurately track sales and compute royalties and advertising fund contributions and receive
timely payments due from our franchisees. Our operations depend upon our ability to protect our computer equipment and systems against damage from physical
theft, fire, power loss, telecommunications failure or other catastrophic events, as well as from internal and external security breaches, viruses, worms and other
disruptive problems. Any damage or failure of our computer systems or network infrastructure that causes an interruption in our operations could have a material
adverse effect on our business and subject us to litigation or actions by regulatory authorities. Despite the implementation of protective measures, our systems are
subject to damage and/or interruption as a result of power outages, computer and network failures, computer viruses and other disruptive software, security
breaches, catastrophic events, and improper usage by employees. Such events could result in a material disruption in operations, a need for a costly repair, upgrade
or replacement of systems, or a decrease in, or in the collection of, royalties and advertising fund contributions paid to us by our franchisees. To the extent that any
disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary
information, we could incur liability which could materially affect our results of operations. It is also critical that we establish and maintain certain licensing and
software agreements for the software we use in our day-to-day operations. A failure to procure or maintain these licenses could have a material adverse effect on
our business operations.

Failure in our information technology and storage systems could significantly disrupt the operation of our business.

Our ability to execute our business plan and maintain operations depends on the continued and uninterrupted performance of our information technology
(“IT”) systems. IT systems are vulnerable to risks and damages from a variety of sources, including telecommunications or network failures, malicious human acts
and natural disasters. Moreover, despite network security and back-up measures, some of our and our vendors’ servers are potentially vulnerable to physical or
electronic break-ins, including cyber-attacks, computer viruses and similar disruptive problems. These events could lead to the unauthorized access, disclosure and
use of non-public information. The techniques used by criminal elements to attack computer systems are sophisticated, change frequently and may originate from
less regulated and remote areas of the world. As a result, we may not be able to address these techniques proactively or implement adequate preventative measures.
If our computer systems are compromised, we could be subject to fines, damages, litigation and enforcement actions, and we could lose trade secrets, the
occurrence of which could harm our business. Despite precautionary measures to prevent unanticipated problems that could affect our IT systems, sustained or
repeated system failures that interrupt our ability to generate and maintain data could adversely affect our ability to operate our business.
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We may engage in litigation with our franchisees.

Although we believe we generally enjoy a positive working relationship with the vast majority of our franchisees, the nature of the franchisor-franchisee
relationship may give rise to litigation with our franchisees. In the ordinary course of business, we are the subject of complaints or litigation from franchisees,
usually related to alleged breaches of contract or wrongful termination under the franchise arrangements. We may also engage in future litigation with franchisees
to enforce the terms of our franchise agreements and compliance with our brand standards as determined necessary to protect our brands, the consistency of our
products and the guest experience. We may also engage in future litigation with franchisees to enforce our contractual indemnification rights if we are brought into
a matter involving a third party due to the franchisee’s alleged acts or omissions. In addition, we may be subject to claims by our franchisees relating to our
franchise disclosure document, including claims based on financial information contained in our franchise disclosure document. Engaging in such litigation may be
costly and time-consuming and may distract management and materially adversely affect our relationships with franchisees and our ability to attract new
franchisees. Any negative outcome of these or any other claims could materially adversely affect our results of operations as well as our ability to expand our
franchise system and may damage our reputation and brands. Furthermore, existing and future franchise-related legislation could subject us to additional litigation
risk in the event we terminate or fail to renew a franchise relationship.

The retail food industry in which we operate is highly competitive.

The retail food industry in which we operate is highly competitive with respect to price and quality of food products, new product development,
advertising levels and promotional initiatives, customer service, reputation, restaurant location, and attractiveness and maintenance of properties. If consumer or
dietary preferences change, if our marketing efforts are unsuccessful, or if our franchisees’ restaurants are unable to compete successfully with other retail food
outlets in new and existing markets, our business could be adversely affected. We also face growing competition as a result of convergence in grocery,
convenience, deli and restaurant services, including the offering by the grocery industry of convenient meals, including pizzas and entrees with side dishes.
Competition from delivery aggregators and other food delivery services has also increased in recent years, particularly in urbanized areas. Increased competition
could have an adverse effect on our sales, profitability or development plans, which could harm our financial condition and operating results.

Shortages or interruptions in the availability and delivery of food and other supplies may increase costs or reduce revenues.

The food products sold by our franchisees are sourced from a variety of domestic and international suppliers. We, along with our franchisees, are also
dependent upon third parties to make frequent deliveries of food products and supplies that meet our specifications at competitive prices. Shortages or interruptions
in the supply of food items and other supplies to our franchisees’ restaurants could adversely affect the availability, quality and cost of items we use and the
operations of our franchisees’ restaurants. Such shortages or disruptions could be caused by inclement weather, natural disasters, increased demand, problems in
production or distribution, restrictions on imports or exports, the inability of vendors to obtain credit, political instability in the countries in which suppliers and
distributors are located, the financial instability of suppliers and distributors, suppliers’ or distributors’ failure to meet our standards, product quality issues,
inflation, the price of gasoline, other factors relating to the suppliers and distributors and the countries in which they are located, food safety warnings or advisories
or the prospect of such pronouncements, the cancellation of supply or distribution agreements or an inability to renew such arrangements or to find replacements
on commercially reasonable terms, or other conditions beyond our control or the control of our franchisees.

A shortage or interruption in the availability of certain food products or supplies could increase costs and limit the availability of products critical to our
franchisees’ restaurant operations, which in turn could lead to restaurant closures and/or a decrease in sales and therefore a reduction in royalty fees to us. In
addition, failure by a key supplier or distributor to our franchisees to meet its service requirements could lead to a disruption of service or supply until a new
supplier or distributor is engaged, and any disruption could have an adverse effect on our franchisees and therefore our business. See “Business—Supply Chain.”
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An increase in ingredient costs may have an adverse impact on our and our franchisees’ profit margins.

Our franchisees’ restaurants depend on reliable sources of large quantities of raw materials such as protein (including beef and poultry), cheese, oil, flour
and vegetables (including potatoes and lettuce). Raw materials purchased for use in our franchisees’ restaurants are subject to price volatility caused by any
fluctuation in aggregate supply and demand, or other external conditions, such as weather conditions or natural events or disasters that affect expected harvests of
such raw materials. As a result, the historical prices of raw materials used in the operation of our franchisees’ restaurants have fluctuated. We cannot assure you
that we or our franchisees will continue to be able to purchase raw materials at a reasonable cost, or that costs of raw materials will remain stable in the future. In
addition, a significant increase in gasoline prices could result in the imposition of fuel surcharges by our distributors.

Because our franchisees provide competitively priced food, they may not have the ability to pass through to their customers the full amount of any
commodity price increases. If we and our franchisees are unable to manage the cost of raw materials or to increase the prices of products proportionately, it may
have an adverse impact on our and our franchisees’ profit margins and their ability to remain in business, which would adversely affect our results of operations.

Food safety and foodborne illness concerns may have an adverse effect on our business.

Foodborne illnesses, such as E. coli, hepatitis A, trichinosis and salmonella, occur or may occur within our system from time to time. In addition, food
safety issues such as food tampering, contamination and adulteration occur or may occur within our system from time to time. Any report or publicity linking one
of our franchisee’s restaurants, or linking our competitors or our industry generally, to instances of foodborne illness or food safety issues could adversely affect
our brands and reputations as well as our revenues and profits, and possibly lead to product liability claims, litigation and damages. If a customer of one of our
franchisees’ restaurants becomes ill as a result of food safety issues, restaurants in our system may be temporarily closed, which would decrease our revenues. In
addition, instances or allegations of foodborne illness or food safety issues, real or perceived, involving our franchised restaurants, restaurants of competitors, or
suppliers or distributors (regardless of whether we use or have used those suppliers or distributors), or otherwise involving the types of food served at our
franchisees’ restaurants, could result in negative publicity that could adversely affect our revenues or the sales of our franchisees. Additionally, allegations of
foodborne illness or food safety issues could result in litigation involving us and our franchisees. The occurrence of foodborne illnesses or food safety issues could
also adversely affect the price and availability of affected ingredients, which could result in disruptions in our supply chain and/or lower margins for us and our
franchisees.

New information or attitudes regarding diet and health could result in changes in regulations and consumer consumption habits that could adversely affect
our results of operations.

Government regulation and consumer eating habits may impact our business as a result of changes in attitudes regarding diet and health or new
information regarding the health effects of consuming certain menu offerings. These changes have resulted in, and may continue to result in, laws and regulations
requiring us to disclose the nutritional content of our food offerings, and they have resulted, and may continue to result in, laws and regulations affecting
permissible ingredients and menu offerings. For example, a number of states, counties and cities have enacted menu labeling laws requiring multi-unit restaurant
operators to disclose to consumers certain nutritional information or have enacted legislation restricting the use of certain types of ingredients in restaurants. These
requirements may be different or inconsistent with requirements under the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (which we refer to as the
“PPACA”), which establishes a uniform, federal requirement for certain restaurants to post nutritional information on their menus. Specifically, the PPACA
requires chain restaurants with 20 or more locations operating under the same name and offering substantially the same menus to publish the total number of
calories of standard menu items on menus and menu boards, along with a statement that puts this calorie information in the context of a total daily calorie intake.
These inconsistencies could be challenging for us to comply with in an efficient manner. The PPACA also requires covered restaurants to provide to consumers,
upon request, a written summary of detailed nutritional information for each standard menu item, and to provide a statement on menus and menu boards about the
availability of this information upon request. An unfavorable report on, or reaction to, our menu ingredients, the size of our portions or the nutritional content of
our menu items could negatively influence the demand for our products and materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Compliance with current and future laws and regulations regarding the ingredients and nutritional content of our menu items may be costly and time-
consuming. Additionally, if consumer health regulations or consumer eating habits change significantly, we may be required to modify or discontinue certain menu
items, and we may experience higher costs associated with the implementation of those changes. We cannot evaluate the impact of the new nutrition labeling
requirements under the PPACA until final regulations are promulgated. The risks and costs associated with nutritional disclosures on our menus could also impact
our operations, particularly given differences among applicable legal requirements and practices within the restaurant industry with respect to testing and
disclosure, ordinary variations in food preparation among our own restaurants, and the need to rely on the accuracy and completeness of nutritional information
obtained from third-party suppliers.

Our business may be adversely impacted by changes in consumer discretionary spending, general economic conditions, or consumer behavior.

Purchases at our franchisees’ restaurants are generally discretionary for consumers and, therefore, our results of operations are susceptible to economic
slowdowns and recessions. Our results of operations are dependent upon discretionary spending by consumers of our franchisees’ restaurants, which may be
affected by general economic conditions globally or in one or more of the markets we serve. Some of the factors that impact discretionary consumer spending
include unemployment rates, fluctuations in the level of disposable income, the price of gasoline, stock market performance, changes in the level of consumer
confidence, and long-term changes in consumer behavior related to social distancing behaviors resulting from COVID-19. These and other macroeconomic factors
could have an adverse effect on sales at our franchisees’ restaurants, which could lead to an adverse effect on our profitability or development plans and harm our
financial condition and operating results.

Our expansion into international markets exposes us to a number of risks that may differ in each country where we have franchised restaurants.

We currently have franchised restaurants in the United States, including Puerto Rico, Qatar, Canada, United Kingdom, Philippines, Malaysia, Tunisia,
Singapore, Panama, Saudi Arabia, Pakistan, Kuwait, United Arab Emirates, Iraq, China, Indonesia, Japan, Egypt, Taiwan, Bahrain, and India, and plan to continue
to grow internationally. Expansion in international markets may be affected by local economic and market as well as geopolitical conditions. Therefore, as we
expand internationally, our franchisees may not experience the operating margins we expect, and our results of operations and growth may be materially and
adversely affected. Our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected if global markets in which our franchised restaurants compete are
affected by changes in political, economic or other factors. These factors, over which neither our franchisees nor we have control, may include:

e recessionary or expansive trends in international markets;

e changing labor conditions and difficulties in staffing and managing our foreign operations;

e increases in the taxes we pay and other changes in applicable tax laws;

e legal and regulatory changes, and the burdens and costs of our compliance with a variety of foreign laws;

e changes in inflation rates;

e changes in exchange rates and the imposition of restrictions on currency conversion or the transfer of funds;
e difficulty in protecting our brand, reputation and intellectual property;

e (difficulty in collecting our royalties and longer payment cycles;
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e  expropriation of private enterprises;
® increases in anti-American sentiment and the identification of our brands as American brands;
e political and economic instability; and
e other external factors.
Our international operations subject us to risks that could negatively affect our business.

A significant portion of our franchised restaurants are operated in countries and territories outside of the United States, including in emerging markets,
and we intend to continue expansion of our international operations. As a result, our business is increasingly exposed to risks inherent in international operations.
These risks, which can vary substantially by country, include political instability, corruption and social and ethnic unrest, as well as changes in economic
conditions (including consumer spending, unemployment levels and wage and commodity inflation), the regulatory environment, income and non-income based
tax rates and laws, foreign exchange control regimes, consumer preferences and the laws and policies that govern foreign investment in countries where our
franchised restaurants are operated. In addition, our franchisees do business in jurisdictions that may be subject to trade or economic sanction regimes. Any failure
to comply with such sanction regimes or other similar laws or regulations could result in the assessment of damages, the imposition of penalties, suspension of
business licenses, or a cessation of operations at our franchisees’ businesses, as well as damage to our and our brands’ images and reputations, all of which could
harm our profitability.

Foreign currency risks and foreign exchange controls could adversely affect our financial results.

Our results of operations and the value of our foreign assets are affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which may adversely affect reported
earnings. More specifically, an increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies could have an adverse effect on our reported earnings. Our
Canadian franchisees pay us franchise fees as a percentage of sales denominated in Canadian dollars, which are then converted to U.S. dollars at the prevailing
exchange rate. This exposes us to risk of an increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar. There can be no assurance as to the future effect
of any changes in currency exchange rates on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

We depend on key executive management.

We depend on the leadership and experience of our relatively small number of key executive management personnel, in particular our Chief Executive
Officer, Andrew Wiederhorn. The loss of the services of any of our executive management members could have a material adverse effect on our business and
prospects, as we may not be able to find suitable individuals to replace such personnel on a timely basis or without incurring increased costs, or at all. We do not
maintain key man life insurance policies on any of our executive officers. We believe that our future success will depend on our continued ability to attract and
retain highly skilled and qualified personnel. There is a high level of competition for experienced, successful personnel in our industry. Our inability to meet our
executive staffing requirements in the future could impair our growth and harm our business.

Labor shortages or difficulty finding qualified employees could slow our growth, harm our business and reduce our profitability.

Restaurant operations are highly service oriented, and our success depends in part upon our franchisees’ ability to attract, retain and motivate a sufficient
number of qualified employees, including restaurant managers and other crew members. The market for qualified employees in our industry is very competitive.
Any future inability to recruit and retain qualified individuals may delay the planned openings of new restaurants by our franchisees and could adversely impact
our existing franchised restaurants. Any such delays, material increases in employee turnover rate in existing franchised restaurants or widespread employee
dissatisfaction could have a material adverse effect on our and our franchisees’ business and results of operations.
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In addition, strikes, work slowdowns or other job actions may become more common in the United States. Although none of the employees employed by
our franchisees are represented by a labor union or are covered by a collective bargaining agreement, in the event of a strike, work slowdown or other labor unrest,
the ability to adequately staff our restaurants could be impaired, which could result in reduced revenue and customer claims, and may distract our management
from focusing on our business and strategic priorities.

Changes in labor and other operating costs could adversely affect our results of operations.

An increase in the costs of employee wages, benefits and insurance (including workers’ compensation, general liability, property and health) could result
from government imposition of higher minimum wages or from general economic or competitive conditions. In addition, competition for qualified employees
could compel our franchisees to pay higher wages to attract or retain key crew members, which could result in higher labor costs and decreased profitability. Any
increase in labor expenses, as well as increases in general operating costs such as rent and energy, could adversely affect our franchisees’ profit margins, their sales
volumes and their ability to remain in business, which would adversely affect our results of operations.

A broader standard for determining joint employer status may adversely affect our business operations and increase our liabilities resulting from actions by
our franchisees.

In 2015, the National Labor Relations Board (which we refer to as the “NLRB”) adopted a new and broader standard for determining when two or more
otherwise unrelated employers may be found to be a joint employer of the same employees under the National Labor Relations Act. In addition, the general
counsel’s office of the NLRB has issued complaints naming McDonald’s Corporation as a joint employer of workers at its franchisees for alleged violations of the
U.S. Fair Labor Standards Act. In June 2017, the U.S. Department of Labor announced the rescission of these guidelines. However, there can be no assurance that
future changes in law, regulation or policy will cause us or our franchisees to be liable or held responsible for unfair labor practices, violations of wage and hour
laws, or other violations or require our franchises to conduct collective bargaining negotiations regarding employees of our franchisees. Further, there is no
assurance that we or our franchisees will not receive similar complaints as McDonald’s Corporation in the future, which could result in legal proceedings based on
the actions of our franchisees. In such events, our operating expenses may increase as a result of required modifications to our business practices, increased
litigation, governmental investigations or proceedings, administrative enforcement actions, fines and civil liability.

We could be party to litigation that could adversely affect us by increasing our expenses, diverting management attention or subjecting us to significant
monetary damages and other remedies.

We may become involved in legal proceedings involving consumer, employment, real estate related, tort, intellectual property, breach of contract,
securities, derivative and other litigation. Plaintiffs in these types of lawsuits often seek recovery of very large or indeterminate amounts, and the magnitude of the
potential loss relating to such lawsuits may not be accurately estimated. Regardless of whether any such claims have merit, or whether we are ultimately held liable
or settle, such litigation may be expensive to defend and may divert resources and management attention away from our operations and negatively impact reported
earnings. With respect to insured claims, a judgment for monetary damages in excess of any insurance coverage could adversely affect our financial condition or
results of operations. Any adverse publicity resulting from these allegations may also adversely affect our reputation, which in turn could adversely affect our
results of operations.

In addition, the restaurant industry around the world has been subject to claims that relate to the nutritional content of food products, as well as claims that
the menus and practices of restaurant chains have led to customer health issues, including weight gain and other adverse effects. These concerns could lead to an
increase in the regulation of the content or marketing of our products. We may also be subject to such claims in the future and, even if we are not, publicity about
these matters (particularly directed at the quick service and fast casual segments of the retail food industry) may harm our reputation and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We have been named as a party to purported class action and shareholder derivative lawsuits and we may be named in additional litigation, all of which could
require significant management time and attention and result in significant legal expenses. An unfavorable outcome in one or more of these lawsuits could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

On June 7, 2018, August 2, 2018 and August 24, 2018, separate, but similar, complaints were filed against the Company, Andrew Wiederhorn, Ron Roe,
Fog Cutter Capital Group, Inc., Tripoint Global Equities, LLC and members of the Company’s board of directors, alleging that the defendants are responsible for
false and misleading statements and omitted material facts in connection with our initial public offering, which resulted in declines in the price of our common
stock. The plaintiffs stated that they intend to certify the complaint as a class action and are seeking compensatory damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

The Company and other defendants dispute the allegations of the lawsuits and intend to vigorously defend against the claims. Regardless of the merits, the
expense of defending such litigation may have a substantial impact if our insurance carrier fails to cover the cost of the litigation, and the time required to defend
the actions could divert management’s attention from the day-to-day operations of our business, which could adversely affect our business and results of
operations. In addition, an unfavorable outcome in such litigation in an amount which is not covered by our insurance carrier could have a material adverse effect
on our business and results of operations.

Changes in, or noncompliance with, governmental regulations may adversely affect our business operations, growth prospects or financial condition.

We and our franchisees are subject to numerous laws and regulations around the world. These laws change regularly and are increasingly complex. For
example, we and our franchisees are subject to:

e Government orders regarding the response to health and other public safety concerns such as the various restrictions on business operations
relating to the COVID-19 pandemic being experienced in 2020.

e The Americans with Disabilities Act in the U.S. and similar state laws that give civil rights protections to individuals with disabilities in the
context of employment, public accommodations and other areas.

e The U.S. Fair Labor Standards Act, which governs matters such as minimum wages, overtime and other working conditions, as well as family
leave mandates and a variety of similar state laws that govern these and other employment law matters.

e Laws and regulations in government mandated health care benefits such as the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act.

e Laws and regulations relating to nutritional content, nutritional labeling, product safety, product marketing and menu labeling.
e Laws relating to state and local licensing.

e Laws relating to the relationship between franchisors and franchisees.

e Laws and regulations relating to health, sanitation, food, workplace safety, child labor, including laws prohibiting the use of certain “hazardous
equipment” by employees younger than the age of 18 years of age, and fire safety and prevention.

e Laws and regulations relating to union organizing rights and activities.

e [aws relating to information security, privacy, cashless payments, and consumer protection.
e Laws relating to currency conversion or exchange.

e [aws relating to international trade and sanctions.
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e Tax laws and regulations.

e Antibribery and anticorruption laws.

e Environmental laws and regulations.

e Federal and state immigration laws and regulations in the U.S.

Compliance with new or existing laws and regulations could impact our operations. The compliance costs associated with these laws and regulations
could be substantial. Any failure or alleged failure to comply with these laws or regulations by our franchisees or indirectly by us could adversely affect our
reputation, international expansion efforts, growth prospects and financial results or result in, among other things, litigation, revocation of required licenses,
internal investigations, governmental investigations or proceedings, administrative enforcement actions, fines and civil and criminal liability. Publicity relating to
any such noncompliance could also harm our reputation and adversely affect our revenues.

Failure to comply with antibribery or anticorruption laws could adversely affect our business operations.

The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other similar applicable laws prohibiting bribery of government officials and other corrupt practices are the
subject of increasing emphasis and enforcement around the world. Although we have implemented policies and procedures designed to promote compliance with
these laws, there can be no assurance that our employees, contractors, agents, franchisees or other third parties will not take actions in violation of our policies or
applicable law, particularly as we expand our operations in emerging markets and elsewhere. Any such violations or suspected violations could subject us to civil
or criminal penalties, including substantial fines and significant investigation costs, and could also materially damage our reputation, brands, international
expansion efforts and growth prospects, business and operating results. Publicity relating to any noncompliance or alleged noncompliance could also harm our
reputation and adversely affect our revenues and results of operations.

Tax matters, including changes in tax rates, disagreements with taxing authorities and imposition of new taxes could impact our results of operations and
financial condition.

We are subject to income taxes as well as non-income-based taxes, such as payroll, sales, use, value added, net worth, property, withholding and franchise
taxes in both the U.S. and various foreign jurisdictions. We are also subject to regular reviews, examinations and audits by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service
(which we refer to as the “IRS”) and other taxing authorities with respect to such income and non-income-based taxes inside and outside of the U.S. If the IRS or
another taxing authority disagrees with our tax positions, we could face additional tax liabilities, including interest and penalties. Payment of such additional
amounts upon final settlement or adjudication of any disputes could have a material impact on our results of operations and financial position.

In addition, we are directly and indirectly affected by new tax legislation and regulation and the interpretation of tax laws and regulations worldwide.
Changes in legislation, regulation or interpretation of existing laws and regulations in the U.S. and other jurisdictions where we are subject to taxation could
increase our taxes and have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

Conflict or terrorism could negatively affect our business.

We cannot predict the effects of actual or threatened armed conflicts or terrorist attacks, efforts to combat terrorism, military action against any foreign

state or group located in a foreign state or heightened security requirements on local, regional, national or international economies or consumer confidence. Such

events could negatively affect our business, including by reducing customer traffic or the availability of commodities.
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Risks Related to Our Company and Our Organizational Structure

We are included in FCCG’s consolidated group for federal income tax purposes and, as a result, may be liable for any shortfall in FCCG’s federal income tax
payments

For so long as FCCG continues to own at least 80% of the total voting power and value of our capital stock, we will be included in FCCG’s consolidated
group for federal income tax purposes. By virtue of its controlling ownership and the Tax Sharing Agreement that we have with FCCG, FCCG effectively controls
all of our tax decisions. Moreover, notwithstanding the Tax Sharing Agreement, federal tax law provides that each member of a consolidated group is jointly and
severally liable for the group’s entire federal income tax obligation. Thus, to the extent FCCG or other members of the group fail to make any federal income tax
payments required of them by law, we are liable for the shortfall. Similar principles generally apply for income tax purposes in some state, local and foreign
jurisdictions.

We are controlled by FCCG, whose interests may differ from those of our public stockholders.

FCCG controls approximately 80% of the combined voting power of our Common Stock and will, for the foreseeable future, have significant influence
over corporate management and affairs and be able to control virtually all matters requiring stockholder approval. FCCG is able to, subject to applicable law, elect
a majority of the members of our Board of Directors and control actions to be taken by us, including amendments to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and
approval of significant corporate transactions, including mergers and sales of substantially all of our assets. It is possible that the interests of FCCG may in some
circumstances conflict with our interests and the interests of our other stockholders. For example, FCCG may have different tax positions from us, especially in
light of the Tax Sharing Agreement, that could influence its decisions regarding whether and when to dispose of assets, whether and when to incur new or
refinance existing indebtedness. In addition, the determination of future tax reporting positions, the structuring of future transactions and the handling of any future
challenges by any taxing authority to our tax reporting positions may take into consideration FCCG’s tax or other considerations, which may differ from the
considerations of us or our other stockholders.

Our anti-takeover provisions could prevent or delay a change in control of our company, even if such change in control would be beneficial to our
stockholders.

Provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws as well as provisions of Delaware law could discourage, delay or prevent a
merger, acquisition or other change in control of our company, even if such change in control would be beneficial to our stockholders. These provisions include:

e net operating loss protective provisions, which require that any person wishing to become a “5% shareholder” (as defined in our certificate of
incorporation) must first obtain a waiver from our board of directors, and any person that is already a “5% shareholder” of ours cannot make any

additional purchases of our stock without a waiver from our board of directors;

e authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that could be issued by our Board of Directors to increase the number of outstanding shares
and thwart a takeover attempt;

e limiting the ability of stockholders to call special meetings or amend our bylaws;
e providing for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms;
e requiring all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders; and

e  establishing advance notice and duration of ownership requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters
that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for minority stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and cause
us to take other corporate actions they desire. In addition, because our Board of Directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these

provisions could in turn affect any attempt by our stockholders to replace current members of our management team.

28




In addition, the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the DGCL, to which we are subject, prohibits us, except under specified circumstances, from
engaging in any mergers, significant sales of stock or assets or business combinations with any stockholder or group of stockholders who owns at least 15% of our
common stock.

We may issue shares of preferred stock in the future, which could make it difficult for another company to acquire us or could otherwise adversely affect
holders of our Common Stock, which could depress the price of our Common Stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue one or more series of preferred stock. Our board of directors has the authority
to determine the preferences, limitations and relative rights of the shares of preferred stock and to fix the number of shares constituting any series and the
designation of such series, without any further vote or action by our stockholders. We may authorize or issue shares of preferred stock with voting, liquidation,
dividend and other rights superior to the rights of our Common Stock. To date we have authorized and issued shares of Series A Preferred Stock and Series A-1
Preferred Stock, which have liquidation and dividend rights superior to the rights of our Common Stock. The potential issuance of preferred stock may also delay
or prevent a change in control of us, discourage bids for our Common Stock at a premium to the market price, and materially and adversely affect the market price
and the voting and other rights of the holders of our Common Stock.

The provision of our certificate of incorporation requiring exclusive venue in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware for certain types of lawsuits may
have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought
on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, (iii)
any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or the bylaws or (iv)
any action asserting a claim against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine will have to be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware.
Although we believe this provision benefits us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies,
the provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers.

A limited public trading market may cause volatility in the price of our Common Stock.

There can be no assurance that our Common Stock will continue to be quoted on NASDAQ or that a meaningful, consistent and liquid trading market will
develop. As a result, our stockholders may not be able to sell or liquidate their holdings in a timely manner or at the then-prevailing trading price of our Common
Stock. In addition, sales of substantial amounts of our Common Stock, or the perception that such sales might occur, could adversely affect prevailing market
prices of our common stock and our stock price may decline substantially in a short time and our stockholders could suffer losses or be unable to liquidate their
holdings.

If our operating and financial performance in any given period does not meet the guidance that we provide to the public, our stock price may decline.

We may provide public guidance on our expected operating and financial results for future periods. Any such guidance will be comprised of forward-
looking statements subject to the risks and uncertainties described in our public filings and public statements. Our actual results may not always be in line with or
exceed any guidance we have provided, especially in times of economic uncertainty. If our operating or financial results for a particular period do not meet any
guidance we provide or the expectations of investment analysts or if we reduce our guidance for future periods, the market price of our Common Stock may
decline as well.
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Our ability to pay regular dividends to our stockholders is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and may be limited by our holding company
structure and applicable provisions of Delaware law.

While we have paid cash and stock dividends to holders of our Common Stock during fiscal 2018 and 2019, our board of directors may, in its sole
discretion, decrease the amount or frequency of cash or stock dividends or discontinue the payment of dividends entirely. In addition, as a holding company, we
will be dependent upon the ability of our operating subsidiaries to generate earnings and cash flows and distribute them to us so that we may pay cash dividends to
our stockholders. Our ability to pay cash dividends will be subject to our consolidated operating results, cash requirements and financial condition, the applicable
provisions of Delaware law which may limit the amount of funds available for distribution to our stockholders, our compliance with covenants and financial ratios
related to existing or future indebtedness, and our other agreements with third parties. In addition, each of the companies in the corporate chain must manage its
assets, liabilities and working capital in order to meet all of its cash obligations, including the payment of dividends or distributions.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters, including our principal administrative, sales and marketing, customer support, and research and development operations, are
located in Beverly Hills, California, where we currently lease and occupy, pursuant to a lease, 2,915 square feet of space that expires on February 29, 2024 and
6,137 square feet of space that expires on September 30, 2025. Pursuant to the same lease, we will commence leasing an additional 6,161 square feet in mid-2020
that will expire on September 30, 2025.

Our administrative and culinary operations for Bonanza and Ponderosa are located in Plano, Texas, where we currently lease and occupy 1,775 square
feet of space pursuant to a lease that expires on March 31, 2021. As part of the acquisition of Elevation Burger, the Company assumed a lease of 5,057 square feet
of space in Falls Church, Virginia that expires on December 31, 2020. The Company subleases approximately 2,500 square feet of this lease to an unrelated third

party.

As part of the Yalla transaction in December 2018, the Company assumed seven leases for properties in California being operated as Yalla Mediterranean
restaurants but it is not a guarantor of the leases of the Yalla restaurants. As of December 29, 2019, two of the locations had been sold to franchisees and five of the
leases continue to be consolidated in the Company’s financial statements.

We believe that all our existing facilities are in good operating condition and adequate to meet our current and foreseeable needs.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Eric Rojany, et al. v. FAT Brands Inc., et al., Superior Court of California for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC708539, and Daniel Alden, et al. v.
FAT Brands Inc., et al., Superior Court of California for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC716017.

On June 7, 2018, FAT Brands, Inc., Andrew Wiederhorn, Ron Roe, James Neuhauser, Edward H. Rensi, Marc L. Holtzman, Squire Junger, Silvia Kessel, Jeff
Lotman, Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc., and Tripoint Global Equities, LLC (collectively, the “Original Defendants™) were named as defendants in a putative
securities class action lawsuit entitled Rojany v. FAT Brands, Inc., Case No. BC708539 (the “Rojany Case”), in the Superior Court of the State of California,

County of Los Angeles. On July 31, 2018, the Rojany Case was designated as complex, pursuant to Rule 3.400 of the California Rules of Court, and assigned the
matter to the Complex Litigation Program. On August 2, 2018, the Original Defendants were named defendants in a second putative class action lawsuit, Alden v.
FAT Brands, Case No. BC716017 (the “Alden Case”), filed in the same court. On September 17, 2018, the Rojany and Alden Cases were consolidated under the

Rojany Case number. On October 10, 2018, plaintiffs Eric Rojany, Daniel Alden, Christopher Hazelton-Harrington and Byron Marin (“Plaintiffs”) filed a First
Amended Consolidated Complaint against FAT Brands, Inc., Andrew Wiederhorn, Ron Roe, James Neuhauser, Edward H. Rensi, Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc.,
and Tripoint Global Equities, LLC (collectively, “Defendants”), thereby removing Marc L. Holtzman, Squire Junger, Silvia Kessel and Jeff Lotman as defendants.
On November 13, 2018, Defendants filed a Demurrer to First Amended Consolidated Complaint. On January 25, 2019, the Court sustained Defendants’ Demurrer
to First Amended Consolidated Complaint with Leave to Amend in Part. Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Consolidated Complaint on February 25, 2019. On
March 27, 2019, Defendants filed a Demurrer to the Second Amended Consolidated Complaint. On July 31, 2019, the Court sustained Defendants’ Demurrer to the
Second Amended Complaint in Part, narrowing the scope of the case. Defendants filed their Answer to the Second Amended Consolidated Complaint on
November 12, 2019. On January 29, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Class Certification. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification is fully briefed, and the
hearing on Plaintiffs” Motion for Class Certification is set for April 23, 2020. Defendants dispute Plaintiffs’ allegations and will continue to vigorously defend
themselves in this litigation.
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Adam Vignola, et al. v. FAT Brands Inc., et al., United States District Court for the Central District of California, Case No. 2:18-cv-07469.

On August 24, 2018, the Original Defendants were named as defendants in a putative securities class action lawsuit entitled Vignola v. FAT Brands, Inc., Case No.
2:18-cv-07469-PSG-PLA, in the United States District Court for the Central District of California. On October 23, 2018, Charles Jordan and David Kovacs
(collectively, “Lead Plaintiffs”) moved to be appointed lead plaintiffs, and the Court granted Lead Plaintiffs’ motion on November 16, 2018. On January 15, 2019,
Lead Plaintiffs filed a First Amended Class Action Complaint against the Original Defendants. The allegations and claims for relief asserted in Vignola are
substantively identical to those asserted in the Rojany Case. Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss First Amended Class Action Complaint, or, in the Alternative,
to Stay the Action In Favor of a Prior Pending Action. On June 14, 2019, the Court denied Defendants’ motion to stay but granted Defendants’ motion to dismiss
the First Amended Class Action Complaint, with Leave to Amend. Lead Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Class Action Complaint on August 5, 2019. On
September 9, 2019, Defendants’ filed a Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended Class Action Complaint. On December 17, 2019, the Court granted Defendants’
Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended Class Action Complaint in Part, Without Leave to Amend. The allegations remaining in Vignola are substantively
identical to those remaining in the Rojany Case. Defendants filed their Answer to the Second Amended Class Action Complaint on January 14, 2020. On
December 27, 2019, Lead Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Class Certification. By order entered March 16, 2020, the Court denied Lead Plaintiffs’ Motion for Class
Certification. By order entered April 1, 2020, the Court set various deadlines for the case, including a fact discovery cut-off of December 29, 2020, expert
discovery cut-off of February 23, 2021 and trial date of March 30, 2021. Defendants dispute Lead Plaintiffs’ allegations and will continue to vigorously defend
themselves in this litigation.

The Company is obligated to indemnify its officers and directors to the extent permitted by applicable law in connection with the above actions, and has insurance
for such individuals, to the extent of the limits of the applicable insurance policies and subject to potential reservations of rights. The Company is also obligated to
indemnify Tripoint Global Equities, LLC under certain conditions relating to the Rojany and Vignola matters. These proceedings are ongoing and the Company is

unable to predict the ultimate outcome of these matters. There can be no assurance that the defendants will be successful in defending against these actions.

The Company is involved in other claims and legal proceedings from time-to-time that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company does not believe that
the ultimate resolution of these actions will have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART 11

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Trading Market and Historical Prices

Beginning October 23, 2017, our common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”), was quoted on the NASDAQ Capital Market under
the ticker symbol “FAT”.

As of April 13, 2020, there were 22 shareholders of record for our Common Stock. The number of record holders does not include persons who held
shares of our Common Stock in nominee or “street name” accounts through brokers.

The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for our common stock as quoted on the NASDAQ as applicable, for the fiscal years ended
December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, as adjusted for the February 28, 2019 stock dividend.

2019 High Low
First quarter $ 6335 § 4.406
Second quarter $ 5710  $ 3.860
Third quarter $ 5690 $ 3.510
Fourth quarter $ 6210 $ 4.337
2018 High Low
First quarter $ 11450 $ 6.650
Second quarter $ 8.079 $ 5.540
Third quarter $ 9.679 $ 6.085
Fourth quarter $ 8900 $ 4.607

Dividends

On February 7, 2019, we declared a stock dividend equal to 2.13% on our common stock, representing the number of shares equal to $0.12 per share of
common stock based on the closing price as of February 6, 2019. The stock dividend was paid on February 28, 2019 to stockholders of record as of the close of
business on February 19, 2019. We issued 245,376 shares of common stock at a per share price of $5.64 in satisfaction of the stock dividend. No fractional shares
were issued, instead we paid stockholders cash-in-lieu of shares. (See Note 18 in the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements). Unless otherwise
noted, the common stock share and share price information presented in this Form 10-K for periods prior to February 28, 2019 have been adjusted retrospectively
to reflect the impact of the stock dividend.

During the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018, we declared the following cash dividends on common stock, unadjusted for the February 28, 2019 stock
dividend:

Dividend per Amount of
Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Share Dividend
February 8, 2018 March 30, 2018 April 16,2018 $ 0.12 $ 1,200,000
June 27,2018 July 6, 2018 July 16, 2018 $ 0.12 1,351,517
October 8, 2018 October 18, 2018 October 31, 2018 $ 0.12 1,362,362
$ 3,913,879

The declaration and payment of future dividends will be at the sole discretion of the board of directors and may be discontinued at any time. In
determining the amount of any future dividends, the board of directors will take into account: (i) our consolidated financial results, available cash, future cash
requirements and capital requirements, (ii) any contractual, legal, tax or regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends to stockholders, (iii) general economic
and business conditions, and (iv) any other factors that the board of directors may deem relevant. The ability to pay dividends may also be restricted by the terms of
any future credit agreement or any future debt or preferred equity securities of the Company or its subsidiaries.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The 2017 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is a comprehensive incentive compensation plan under which the Company can grant equity-based
and other incentive awards to officers, employees and directors of, and consultants and advisers to, FAT Brands Inc. and its subsidiaries. The purpose of the Plan is
to help attract, motivate and retain qualified personnel and thereby enhance stockholder value. The Plan provides a maximum of 1,021,250 shares available for
grant, adjusted for the impact of the February 28, 2019 stock dividend. Unexercised options which lapse or are forfeited become available for grant.

As of December 29, 2019, under the Plan, we have granted options to purchase 778,328 shares of common stock to employees and 45,954 shares of
common stock to non-employee consultants, adjusted for the February 28, 2019 stock dividend. As of December 29, 2019, options granted to employees to
purchase 101,801 shares of common stock were cancelled, adjusted for the February 28, 2019 stock dividend. Each grant is subject to a three-year vesting
requirement, with one-third of the options vesting each year.

The information presented in the table below is as of December 29, 2019, adjusted for the impact of the February 28, 2019 stock dividend.

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities to future issuance under
be issued Weighted-average equity compensation
upon exercise of exercise price of plans (excluding
outstanding options, outstanding options, securities reflected in
Plan category warrants and rights warrants and rights column (a))
(a) (®) (c)

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 722,481 $ 8.45 298,769
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders - - -
Total 722,481 $ 8.45 298,769

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We do not have a program in place to repurchase our own securities and as of December 29, 2019, we have not repurchased any of our equity securities.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

In addition to those sales of unregistered securities we previously disclosed on reports that we filed with the SEC, we issued the following securities in
transactions that were not registered under the Securities Act and were not previously disclosed on reports we filed with the SEC during the year ended December
29,2019:

e On November 14, 2019, each of our non-employee board members elected to receive newly issued common stock in lieu of cash payments of director
fees. The combined amount of the director fees payable was $90,000 and the shares were issued at a price of $5.49 per share, which represents the closing

price of our stock on November 14, 2019. As a result, we issued 16,392 shares of our common stock to satisfy the director fees payable.
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The issuances of the securities referenced above were exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities
Act and Rule 506 promulgated under Regulation D under the Securities Act as transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. Each of the purchasers
acquired the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (COVID-19) as a pandemic, which continues to spread
throughout the United States and other countries. As a result, Company franchisees have temporarily closed some retail locations, reduced or modified store
operating hours, adopted a “to-go” only operating model, or a combination these actions. These actions have reduced consumer traffic, all resulting in a negative
impact to Company revenues. While the disruption to our business from the COVID-19 pandemic is currently expected to be temporary, there is a great deal of
uncertainty around the severity and duration of the disruption, and also the longer-term effects on our business and economic growth and consumer demand in the
U.S. and worldwide. The effects of COVID-19 may materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, liquidity and ability to service our existing debt,
particularly if these effects continue in place for a significant amount of time. As additional information becomes available regarding the potential impact and the
duration of the negative financial effects of the current pandemic, the Company may determine that an impairment adjustment to the recorded value of trademarks,
goodwill and other intangible assets may be necessary.

Executive Overview
Business overview

FAT Brands Inc., formed in March 2017 as a wholly owned subsidiary of Fog Cutter Capital Group, Inc. (“FCCG”), is a leading multi-brand restaurant
franchising company that develops, markets, and acquires predominantly fast casual restaurant concepts around the world. On October 20, 2017, we completed an
initial public offering and issued additional shares of common stock representing 20 percent of our ownership (the “Offering”). As of December 29, 2019, FCCG
continues to control a significant voting majority of the Company.

As a franchisor, we generally do not own or operate restaurant locations, but rather generate revenue by charging franchisees an initial franchise fee as
well as ongoing royalties. This asset light franchisor model provides the opportunity for strong profit margins and an attractive free cash flow profile while
minimizing restaurant operating company risk, such as long-term real estate commitments or capital investments. Our scalable management platform enables us to
add new stores and restaurant concepts to our portfolio with minimal incremental corporate overhead cost, while taking advantage of significant corporate
overhead synergies. The acquisition of additional brands and restaurant concepts as well as expansion of our existing brands are key elements of our growth
strategy.

As of December 29, 2019, the Company owns eight restaurant brands: Fatburger, Buffalo’s Cafe, Buffalo’s Express, Hurricane Grill & Wings, Ponderosa
and Bonanza Steakhouses, Elevation Burger and Yalla Mediterranean, that have over 370 locations open.

Operating segments

With minor exceptions, our operations are comprised exclusively of franchising a growing portfolio of restaurant brands. Our growth strategy is centered
on expanding the footprint of existing brands and acquiring new brands through a centralized management organization which provides substantially all executive
leadership, marketing, training and accounting services. While there are variations in the brands, the nature of our business is fairly consistent across our portfolio.
Consequently, our management assesses the progress of our operations as a whole, rather than by brand or location, which has become more significant as the
number of brands has increased.

Our chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”) is our Chief Executive Officer. Our CODM reviews financial performance and allocates resources at an
overall level on a recurring basis. Therefore, management has determined that the Company has one operating and reportable segment.

Results of Operations

We operate on a 52-week or 53-week fiscal year ending on the last Sunday of the calendar year. In a 52-week fiscal year, each quarter contains 13 weeks
of operations. In a 53-week fiscal year, each of the first, second and third quarters includes 13 weeks of operations and the fourth quarter includes 14 weeks of
operations, which may cause our revenue, expenses and other results of operations to be higher due to an additional week of operations. The 2019 and 2018 fiscal

years were each 52-week years.
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Results of Operations of FAT Brands Inc.

The following table summarize key components of our consolidated results of operations for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30,
2018. Certain account balances from the prior period have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation.

(In thousands)
For the Fiscal Years Ended

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018
Consolidated statement of operations data:
Revenues
Royalties $ 14,895 $ 12,097
Franchise fees 3,433 2,136
Store opening fees - 352
Advertising fees 4,111 3,182
Management fees and other income 66 67
Total revenues 22,505 17,834
Costs and expenses
General and administrative expenses 11,472 10,349
Advertising expenses 4,111 3,182
Refranchising loss 219 67
Total costs and expenses 15,802 13,598
Income from operations 6,703 4,236
Other expense, net (7,211) (6,309)
Loss before income tax expense (benefit) (508) (2,073)
Income tax expense (benefit) 510 (275)
Net loss $ (1,018) $ (1,798)

Net Loss - Net loss for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 totaled $1,018,000 consisting of revenues of $22,505,000 less costs and expenses of
$15,802,000, other expense of $7,211,000 and provision for income tax of $510,000. Net loss for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018 totaled $1,798,000
consisting of revenues of $18,367,000 less costs and expenses of $14,131,000, other expense of $6,309,000 and income tax benefit of $275,000.

Revenues - Revenues consist of royalties, franchise fees, advertising fees and management fees and other income. We earned revenues of $22,505,000 for
the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 compared to $17,834,000 for the year ended December 30, 2018. The increase of $4,671,000 (26%) was primarily the
result of an increase in royalties of $2,798,000, an increase in franchise and store opening fees of $945,000 and an increase in advertising revenue of $929,000.
These increases were primarily generated as a result of the acquisition of Elevation Burger in 2019 and the full year operating results of Hurricane in 2019
compared to the partial year results following its acquisition in 2018.
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Costs and Expenses — Costs and expenses consist primarily of general and administrative costs, advertising expense and refranchising losses. Our costs
and expenses increased from $13,598,000 in the 2018 fiscal year to $15,802,000 in the comparable period of 2019.

For the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, our general and administrative expenses totaled $11,472,000, compared to $10,349,000 for the fiscal year
ended December 30, 2018. The 2019 expenses included compensation costs of $6,263,000; professional fees of $1,993,000; public company related costs of
$1,219,000 and other expenses of $1,997,000. The $523,000 increase in our general and administrative costs during 2019 was primarily the result of increases in
compensation expenses and professional fees. Compensation increased $379,000 (6%) during 2019 and professional fees increased $464,000, (36%).

During the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, our refranchising efforts resulted in a net loss of $219,000, compared to a net loss of $67,000 during
2018. The refranchising loss consisted of gains on the sale of six restaurant locations to new franchisees in the amount of $1,795,000, plus net food sales of
$5,697,000 less restaurant operating expenses of $7,711,000.

Advertising expenses totaled $4,111,000 during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, compared with $3,182,000 during the prior year period,
representing an increase of $929,000 (29%). These expenses vary in relation to the advertising revenue recognized. The increase in 2019 is largely the result of the
acquisition of Elevation Burger in 2019 and the full year operating results of Hurricane in 2019 compared to the partial year results following its acquisition in
2018.

Other Expense, net — Other expense, net for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 totaled $7,211,000 and consisted primarily of net interest expense of
$6,530,000. Other expense for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018 totaled $6,309,000 and consisted primarily of net interest expense of $4,770,000. An
increase in total average debt outstanding and the costs related to refinancing resulted in the higher interest expense.

Provision for income taxes — We recorded a provision for income taxes of $501,000 for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 and an income tax
benefit of $275,000 for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018. These tax results were based on a net loss before taxes of $508,000 for 2019 compared to net loss
before taxes of $2,073,000 for 2018. Non-deductible expenses, such as accrued and paid dividends on preferred stock, contributed to the higher tax expense for
2019 as a percentage of pre-tax loss.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity is a measurement of our ability to meet potential cash requirements, including ongoing commitments to repay borrowings, fund business
operations, acquisitions, and expansion of franchised restaurant locations and for other general business purposes. In addition to our cash on hand, our primary
sources of funds for liquidity during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 consisted of cash provided by our operations.

We are involved in a world-wide expansion of franchise locations, which will require significant liquidity, primarily from our franchisees. If real estate
locations of sufficient quality cannot be located and either leased or purchased, the timing of restaurant openings may be delayed. Additionally, if we or our
franchisees cannot obtain capital sufficient to fund this expansion, the timing of restaurant openings may be delayed.

We also plan to acquire additional restaurant concepts. These acquisitions typically require capital investments in excess of our normal cash on hand. We
would expect that future acquisitions will necessitate financing with additional debt or equity transactions. If we are unable to obtain acceptable financing, our
ability to acquire additional restaurant concepts may be negatively impacted.

As of December 29, 2019, we had cash of $25,000. Subsequent to December 29, 2019, on March 6, 2020, the Company completed a whole business
securitization (the “Securitization”) through the creation of a bankruptcy-remote issuing entity, FAT Brands Royalty I, LLC (“FAT Royalty”) in which FAT
Royalty issued new notes pursuant to an asset-backed securitization (the “Securitization Notes”) and indenture (the “Indenture”). Net proceeds from the issuance of
the Securitization Notes were $37,314,000, which consists of the combined face amount of $40,000,000, net of discounts of $246,000 and debt offering costs of
$2,440,000 (See “Liquidity” in Note 1. Organization and Relationship in the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements). A portion of the proceeds
from the Securitization was used to repay the remaining $26,771,000 in outstanding balance under the Loan and Security Agreement. The remaining proceeds from
the Securitization will be used for working capital. We expect that the working capital from the Securitization combined with receipts collected from the limited
operations of our franchisees due to COVID-19 and the disciplined management of the Company’s operating expenses will be sufficient to meet our current
liquidity needs.
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Comparison of Cash Flows

2018:

Our cash balance was $25,000 as of December 29, 2019, compared to $653,000 as of December 30, 2018.

The following table summarize key components of our audited consolidated cash flows for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30,

(In thousands)
For the Fiscal Years Ended

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 3,071 $ 1,837
Net cash used in investing activities (10,490) (14,485)
Net cash provided by financing activities 6,791 13,269
(Decrease) increase in cash flows $ 628) $ 621

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased $1,234,000 in 2019 compared to 2018. There were variations in the components of the cash from

operations between the two periods. Our net loss in 2019 was $1,018,000 compared to a net loss in 2018 of $1,798,000. The adjustments to reconcile these net
losses to net cash provided were $4,089,000 compared to $3,635,000 in 2018. The primary components of the adjustments included:

A positive adjustment to cash due to an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $3,771,000 compared to $2,226,000 in 2018;

A positive adjustment to cash due to accretion expense related to each of the following: (i) the term loan, (ii) the preferred shares, and (iii) the acquisition
purchase price payables totaling $2,505,000 compared to $624,000 in 2018;

A positive adjustment to cash due to an increase in dividends payable on preferred stock of $1,431,000 compared to $619,000 in 2018;

A negative adjustment to cash due to a decrease in deferred income of $2,364,000 compared to $1,659,000 in 2018.

A negative adjustment to cash due to the recorded gain on sale of refranchised restaurants in 2019 in the amount of $1,795,000 with no comparable
activity in 2018.

A negative adjustment to cash due to a decrease in accrued interest payable of $982,000 compared to an increase of $2,232,000 in 2018.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $3,995,000 in 2019 compared to 2018 based primarily on the $5,263,000 difference in the amount of

the cash portion of the purchase price of Elevation Burger in 2019 compared to the Hurricane and Yalla acquisitions in 2018. We also received cash proceeds from
the sale of refranchised restaurants of $2,340,000 in 2019, with no comparable activity in 2018. These reductions in incremental cash used for investment purposes
were partially offset by an increase in advances to affiliates in the amount of $3,711,000 during 2019 over the 2018 levels.

Financing Activities

Net cash from financing activities decreased by $6,478,000 in 2019 compared to 2018. Our repayments of borrowings were $5,873,000 higher in 2019

than in 2018. Our proceeds from the issuance of preferred stock was $6,877,000 lower during 2019 than in the prior year. These decreases in proceeds were
partially offset during 2019 by an increase in proceeds from borrowings of $5,956,000 over new borrowings in 2018.
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Dividends

On February 7, 2019, our Board of Directors declared a stock dividend equal to 2.13% on its common stock, representing the number of shares equal to
$0.12 per share of common stock based on the closing price as of February 6, 2019. The stock dividend was paid on February 28, 2019 to stockholders of record as
of the close of business on February 19, 2019. The Company issued 245,376 shares of common stock at a per share price of $5.64 in satisfaction of the stock
dividend. No fractional shares were issued, instead the Company paid stockholders cash totaling $1,670 for fractional interests based on the market value of the
common stock on the record date.

During 2018, our Board of Directors declared three cash dividends of $0.12 per share of common stock (unadjusted for the February 28, 2019 stock
dividend), each payable on April 16, 2018, July 16, 2018 and October 31, 2018.

On each dividend payment date below, FCCG elected to reinvest all, or a significant portion of, its dividend from its common shares of the Company at
the closing market price of the shares on the payment date. As a result, the Company issued the following number of shares of common stock to FCCG:

e On April 16, 2018, the Company issued 156,864 shares of common stock to FCCG at a price of $6.12 per share in satisfaction of $960,000 dividend

payable.

e On July 16, 2018, the Company issued 161,117 shares of common stock to FCCG at a price of $5.96 per share in satisfaction of $960,000 dividend
payable.

e  On October 31, 2018, the Company issued 180,635 shares of common stock to FCCG at a price of $6.18 per share in satisfaction of the $1,116,091
dividend payable.

The declaration and payment of future dividends, as well as the amount thereof, are subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors. The amount and
size of any future dividends will depend upon our future results of operations, financial condition, capital levels, cash requirements and other factors. There can be
no assurance that we will declare and pay dividends in future periods.

Loan and Security Agreement

On January 29, 2019, the Company as borrower, and its subsidiaries and affiliates as guarantors, entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan
and Security Agreement”) with The Lion Fund, L.P. and The Lion Fund II, L.P. (“Lion”). Pursuant to the Loan and Security Agreement, we borrowed $20.0
million from Lion, and utilized the proceeds to repay the existing $16.0 million term loan from FB Lending, LLC plus accrued interest and fees, and to provide
additional general working capital to the Company.

The obligation under the Loan and Security Agreement was to mature on June 30, 2020. Interest on the term loan accrued at an annual fixed rate of 20.0%
and was payable quarterly. We were allowed to prepay all or a portion of the outstanding principal and accrued unpaid interest under the Loan and Security
Agreement at any time upon prior notice to Lion without penalty, other than a make-whole provision providing for a minimum of six months’ interest.

In connection with the Loan and Security Agreement, we issued to Lion a warrant to purchase up to 1,167,404 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at
$0.01 per share (the “Lion Warrant”), exercisable only if the amounts outstanding under the Loan and Security Agreement were not repaid in full by June 30, 2020.

As security for its obligations under the Loan Agreement, we granted a lien on substantially all our assets to Lion. In addition, certain of our subsidiaries
and affiliates entered into a Guaranty (the “Guaranty”) in favor of Lion, pursuant to which they guaranteed our obligations under the Loan and Security Agreement

and granted as security for their guaranty obligations a lien on substantially all of their assets.
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The Loan and Security Agreement contained customary affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that limit or restricted our ability to,
among other things, incur other indebtedness, grant liens, merge or consolidate, dispose of assets, pay dividends or make distributions, in each case subject to
customary exceptions. The Loan and Security Agreement also included customary events of default that included, among other things, non-payment, inaccuracy of
representations and warranties, covenant breaches, events that result in a material adverse effect (as defined in the Loan and Security Agreement), cross default to
other material indebtedness, bankruptcy, insolvency and material judgments. The occurrence and continuance of an event of default could have resulted in the
acceleration of our obligations under the Loan and Security Agreement and an increase in the interest rate by 5.0% per annum.

On June 19, 2019, we amended our existing loan facility with Lion. We entered into a First Amendment to the Loan and Security Agreement (the “First
Amendment”), which amended the Loan and Security Agreement originally dated January 29, 2019. Pursuant to the First Amendment, we increased our
borrowings by $3,500,000 in order to fund the Elevation Buyer Note in connection with the acquisition of Elevation, acquire other assets and pay fees and
expenses of the transactions. The First Amendment also added the acquired Elevation-related entities as guarantors and loan parties.

We agreed to pay Lion an extension fee of $500,000 in the form of an increase in the principal amount loaned under the Loan and Security Agreement,
and on July 24, 2019 entered into a second amendment to the Loan Agreement (the “Second Amendment”) to reflect this increase. Under the Second Amendment,
the parties also agreed to amend the Loan and Security Agreement to provide for a late fee of $400,000 payable if we failed to make any quarterly interest
payments by the fifth business day after the end of each fiscal quarter beginning in the third quarter of 2019.

On March 9, 2020, we repaid the Loan and Security Agreement in full and the Lion Warrant was cancelled.

Capital Expenditures

As of December 29, 2019, we do not have any material commitments for capital expenditures.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Franchise Fees: The franchise arrangement is documented in the form of a franchise agreement. The franchise arrangement requires us to perform
various activities to support the brand that do not directly transfer goods and services to the franchisee, but instead represent a single performance obligation, which
is the transfer of the franchise license. The services provided by us are highly interrelated with the franchise license and are considered a single performance
obligation. Franchise fee revenue from the sale of individual franchises is recognized over the term of the individual franchise agreement. Unamortized non-
refundable deposits collected in relation to the sale of franchises are recorded as deferred franchise fees.

The franchise fee may be adjusted at management’s discretion or in a situation involving store transfers. Deposits are non-refundable upon acceptance of
the franchise application. In the event a franchisee does not comply with their development timeline for opening franchise stores, the franchise rights may be
terminated, and franchise fee revenue is recognized for non-refundable deposits.

Store opening fees — Prior to September 29, 2019, the Company recognized store opening fees in the amount of $35,000 to $60,000 from the up-front fees
collected from franchisees upon store opening. The amount of the fee was dependent on brand and location (domestic versus international stores). The remaining
balance of the up-front fees were then amortized as franchise fees over the life of the franchise agreement. If the fees collected were less than the respective store
opening fee amounts, the full up-front fees were recognized at store opening. The store opening fees were based on out-of-pocket costs to the Company for each
store opening and are primarily comprised of labor expenses associated with training, store design, and supply chain setup. International fees recognized were
higher due to the additional cost of travel.

During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company performed a study of other public company restaurant franchisors’ application of ASC 606 and
determined that a preferred, alternative industry application exists in which the store opening fee portion of the franchise fees is amortized over the life of the
franchise agreement rather than at milestones of standalone performance obligations in the franchise agreements. In order to provide financial reporting consistent
with other franchise industry peers, the Company applied this preferred, alternative application of ASC 606 during the fourth quarter of 2019 on a prospective
basis. As a result of the adoption of this preferred accounting treatment under ASC 606, the Company discontinued the recognition of store opening fees upon store
opening and began accounting for the entire up-front deposit received from franchisees as described above in Franchise Fees. A cumulative adjustment to store
opening fees and franchise fees was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2019 for store opening fees recognized during the first three quarters of 2019. (See
“Immaterial Adjustments Related to Prior Periods”, in Note 2 of the accompanying audited financial statements.)
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Royalties: In addition to franchise fee revenue, we collect a royalty calculated as a percentage of net sales from our franchisees. Royalties range from
0.75% to 6% and are recognized as revenue when the related sales are made by the franchisees. Royalties collected in advance of sales are classified as deferred
income until earned.

Advertising: We require advertising payments based on a percent of net sales from franchisees. We also receive, from time to time, payments from
vendors that are to be used for advertising. Advertising funds collected are required to be spent for specific advertising purposes. Advertising revenue and
associated expense is recorded on the audited consolidated statement of operations. Assets and liabilities associated with the related advertising fees are reflected in
the Company’s audited consolidated balance sheets.

Goodwill and other intangible assets: Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives, such as trademarks, are not amortized but are reviewed
for impairment annually, or more frequently if indicators arise. No impairment has been identified as of December 29, 2019.

Assets classified as held for sale — Assets are classified as held for sale when we commit to a plan to sell the asset, the asset is available for immediate sale
in its present condition and an active program to locate a buyer at a reasonable price has been initiated. The sale of these assets is generally expected to be
completed within one year. The combined assets are valued at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value, net of costs to sell and included as current assets on
the Company’s audited consolidated balance sheet. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated. However, interest attributable to the liabilities associated
with assets classified as held for sale and other expenses continue to be recorded as expenses in the Company’s audited consolidated statement of operations.

Income taxes: We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on the differences between financial reporting and tax reporting bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that are
expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, the timing and amount of
which are uncertain.

We utilize a two-step approach to recognize and measure uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by
determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon tax authority examination, including
resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being
realized upon the ultimate settlement.

Share-based compensation: We have a stock option plan which provides for options to purchase shares of our common stock. For grants to employees
and directors, we recognize an expense for the value of options granted at their fair value at the date of grant over the vesting period in which the options are
earned. Cancellations or forfeitures are accounted for as they occur. Fair values are estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. For grants to non-
employees for services, we revalue the options each reporting period while the services are being performed. The adjusted value of the options is recognized as an
expense over the service period. See Note 16 in our audited consolidated financial statements for more details on our share-based compensation.

Use of estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported periods. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment
Accounting. The amendments in this update expand the scope of Topic 718 to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from
nonemployees. Prior to this update, Topic 718 applied only to share-based transactions to employees. Consistent with the accounting requirements for employee
share-based payment awards, nonemployee share-based payment awards within the scope of Topic 718 are measured at grant-date fair value of the equity
instruments that an entity is obligated to issue when the good has been delivered or the service has been rendered and any other conditions necessary to earn the
right to benefit from the instruments have been satisfied. The Company adopted ASU 2018-07 as of December 31, 2018. The adoption of this accounting standard
did not have a material effect on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements.

In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-09, Codification Improvements. This ASU makes amendments to multiple codification Topics. The transition
and effective date guidance are based on the facts and circumstances of each amendment. Some of the amendments in this ASU do not require transition guidance
and will be effective upon issuance of this ASU. The Company adopted ASU 2018-09 as of December 31, 2018. The adoption of this guidance did not have a
material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, and disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), requiring a lessee to recognize on the balance sheet the assets and liabilities for the
rights and obligations created by those leases with a lease term of more than twelve months. Leases will continue to be classified as either financing or operating,
with classification affecting the recognition, measurement and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease. This ASU is effective for interim and
annual period beginning after December 15, 2018 and requires a modified retrospective approach to adoption for lessees related to capital and operating leases
existing at, or entered into after, the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. The adoption of
this standard as of December 31, 2018 resulted in the Company recording Right of Use Assets and Lease Liabilities on its audited consolidated financial statements
in the amount of $4,313,000 and $4,225,000, respectively. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant effect on the amount of lease expense
recognized by the Company.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure Requirements
for Fair Value Measurement.” This ASU adds, modifies and removes several disclosure requirements relative to the three levels of inputs used to measure fair
value in accordance with Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurement.” This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim
periods within that fiscal year. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the effect that this ASU will have on its financial position, results
of operations, and disclosures.

The FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Sofiware (Subtopic 350-40). The new guidance reduces complexity
for the accounting for costs of implementing a cloud computing service arrangement and aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in
a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and
hosting arrangements that include an internal use software license). For public companies, the amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. Implementation should be applied either retrospectively or
prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption. The effects of this standard on the Company’s financial position, results of operations
or cash flows are not expected to be material.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 29, 2019, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not required for smaller reporting companies.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
See Item 15 of Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

41




ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On June 3, 2019, Hutchinson and Bloodgood LLP (“Hutchinson”) the independent registered public accounting firm of FAT Brands Inc. (the
“Company”) resigned as the Company’s independent auditor, effective as of such date. Hutchinson indicated to the Company that it intended to cease most audit
and review work for publicly traded companies.

The Company confirms that the reports of Hutchinson for the fiscal years ended December 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, did not contain any adverse
opinion or disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principle. During the years ended December 30,
2018, and December 31, 2017, and up through the date of resignation, there were (i) no disagreements (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation
S-K and the related instructions) between the Company and Hutchinson on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or
auditing scope or procedure, that, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Hutchinson, would have caused Hutchinson to make reference to the subject matter of the
disagreement in connection with its reports on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for such years or periods, and (ii) no “reportable events” (as that
term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K). In connection with Hutchinson’s notice of resignation, the Company, as it is required to do, provided
Hutchinson with a copy of the above disclosures on Form 8-K and requested that Hutchinson provide the Company with a letter addressed to the SEC stating
whether or not Hutchinson agrees with the disclosures. A copy of Hutchinson’s letter, dated June 7, 2019, is filed as Exhibit 16.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-
K filed on June 7, 2019 with the SEC.

On June 6, 2019, upon the recommendation of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors of the Company engaged Squar
Milner LLP (“Squar Milner”) to serve as its independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019. During the two fiscal
years ended December 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, and the subsequent interim period through the date of this filing, neither the Company nor anyone on its
behalf consulted with Squar Milner regarding any of the matters or events set forth in Item 304(a)(2)(i) and (ii) of Regulation S-K.

The Company authorized Hutchinson to respond fully to the inquiries of Squar Milner and did not place any limitations on either Hutchinson or Squar
Milner concerning any inquiry of any matter related to the Company’s financial reporting.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), means controls and other procedures of a company
that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons
performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no
matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
have concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
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Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Exchange Act.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting also includes those policies and procedures that:

(a) Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;

(b) Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and

() Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting using the criteria established in
Internal Control Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on our
assessment and those criteria, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as
of December 29, 2019.

Because we are an Emerging Growth Company, we are not required to include an attestation report by our independent registered public accounting firm
regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in this annual report as of December 29, 2019.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-
15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 29, 2019 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On April 24, 2020, the Company entered into an Intercompany Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Intercompany Agreement”) with Fog Cutter Capital
Group, Inc. (“FCCG”), which is the 81.5% parent of the Company. The Company had previously extended credit to FCCG pursuant to a certain Intercompany
Promissory Note (the “Original Note™), dated October 20, 2017, with an initial principal balance of $11,906,000. Subsequent to the issuance of the Original Note,
the Company and certain of its direct and indirect subsidiaries made additional intercompany advances in the aggregate amount of $10,523,000. Pursuant to the
Intercompany Agreement, the revolving credit facility bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum, has a five-year term with no prepayment penalties, and has a
maximum capacity of $35,000,000. All additional borrowings under the Intercompany Agreement are subject to the approval of the Company’s Board of Directors,
in advance, on a quarterly basis and may be subject to other conditions as set forth by the Company. The initial balance under the Intercompany Agreement totaled
$21,067,000, which reflects the balance of the Original Note, borrowings subsequent to the Original Note, accrued and unpaid interest income, and other
adjustments through December 29, 2019.

The foregoing summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete copy of the Intercompany Agreement,
which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.11 and incorporated herein by this reference.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Directors

Below is a list of the names and ages, as of December 29, 2019 of our directors and executive officers (the “named executive officers”), and a description
of the business experience of each of them.

Name Age Position
Andrew A. Wiederhorn 53 President and Chief Executive Officer, Director
Rebecca D. Hershinger 46 Chief Financial Officer

Donald J. Berchtold 74 Executive Vice President and Chief Concept Officer
Ron Roe 42 Senior Vice President of Finance

Edward H. Rensi 75 Chairman of the Board of Directors

Marc L. Holtzman 59 Director

Squire Junger 69 Director

Silvia Kessel 74 Director

Jeff Lotman 58 Director

James Neuhauser 60 Director

Executive Officers and Directors

Andrew A. Wiederhorn has served as a director and President and Chief Executive Officer of FAT Brands Inc. since its formation. Mr. Wiederhorn has
served as the Chairman of the board of directors and Chief Executive Officer of Fatburger North America, Inc. since 2006 and Buffalo’s Franchise Concepts, Inc.
since 2011. He also served as the Chairman of the board of directors and Chief Executive Officer of Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc. since its formation in 1997. Mr.
Wiederhorn previously founded and served as the Chairman of the board of directors and Chief Executive Officer of Wilshire Financial Services Group Inc. and
Wilshire Credit Corporation. Mr. Wiederhorn received his B.S. degree in Business Administration from the University of Southern California in 1987, with an
emphasis in Finance and Entrepreneurship. He previously served on the board of directors of Fabricated Metals, Inc., The Boy Scouts of America Cascade Pacific
Council, The Boys and Girls Aid Society of Oregon, University of Southern California Associates, Citizens Crime Commission of Oregon, and Economic
Development Council for the City of Beverly Hills Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Wiederhorn was featured as the Fatburger CEO on the CBS television program
“Undercover Boss” in 2013. Mr. Wiederhorn was selected to our Board of Directors because of his role in our founding and long career in hospitality, and because
he possesses particular knowledge and experience in strategic planning and leadership of complex organizations and hospitality businesses.

Rebecca D. Hershinger has served as our Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary since August 16, 2018. Ms. Hershinger previously served as the
Chief Financial Officer of Genius Brands International, Inc., a publicly traded global children’s media company that creates and licenses animated entertainment
content, from April 2016 to April 2018. She also served as the Chief Financial Officer of Genius from October 2014 through June 2015 after consulting with the
company beginning in March 2014. In 2012, she founded CFO Advisory Services Inc., an accounting and business advisory services firm, headquartered in Park
City, UT. From 2008 through 2012, Ms. Hershinger was Chief Financial Officer and Vice President, Finance & Corporate Development for SpectrumDNA, Inc., a
publicly traded, but currently inactive, social media marketing and application development company that had been located in Park City, UT. Ms. Hershinger was
an independent financial consultant in San Francisco between 2007 and 2008. Ms. Hershinger was employed by Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer, Inc. in Los Angeles,
California from 1999 to 2005, holding various positions ultimately rising to the level of Vice President, Finance & Corporate Development. Between 1995 and
1998, Ms. Hershinger worked as an analyst for JP Morgan Chase & Co. in Los Angeles and New York. Ms. Hershinger received her Bachelor of Science in
Business Administration from Georgetown University, McDonough School of Business, in Washington, D.C. and a Masters in Business Administration from The
Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania. She also completed studies at the International Finance & Comparative Business Policy Program at Oxford
University, Oxford England.
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Donald J. Berchtold currently serves as our Executive Vice President and Chief Concept Officer. Prior to February 20, 2018, Mr. Berchtold served as the
President and Chief Operating Officer of Fatburger North America. Mr. Berchtold has also served as the President and Chief Operating Officer of FCCG since
2006 and in various other positions at FCCG prior to 2006. From 1991 to 1999, Mr. Berchtold served as Senior Vice President of Wilshire Financial Services
Group Inc. and its sister company Wilshire Credit Corporation. Prior to 1990, Mr. Berchtold was the owner-operator of his own business that included a dinner
house, catering company and other food service concepts, and was active in the Restaurants of Oregon Association. Mr. Berchtold holds a BSC degree in Finance
and Marketing from the University of Santa Clara.

Ron Roe currently serves as our Senior Vice President of Finance. Prior to August 16, 2018, Mr. Roe served as our Chief Financial Officer since 2009 and
served as our Vice President of Finance from 2007 to 2009. Prior to 2007, Mr. Roe was an acquisitions associate for FCCG. He began his career as an investment
banking analyst with Piper Jaffray. Mr. Roe attended UC Berkeley, where he earned a Bachelor of Arts in Economics.

Edward H. Rensi has served on the board of directors of FAT Brands Inc. since its formation and became Chairman of the Board on October 20, 2017.
Mr. Rensi is the retired president and chief executive officer of McDonald’s USA. Prior to his retirement in 1997, Mr. Rensi devoted his entire professional career
to McDonald’s, joining the company in 1966 as a “grill man” and part-time manager trainee in Columbus, Ohio. He was promoted to restaurant manager within a
year, and went on to hold nearly every position in the restaurant and field offices, including franchise service positions in Columbus, Ohio and Washington, D.C.
In 1972, he was named Philadelphia district manager, and later became regional manager and regional vice president. In 1978, he transferred from the field to the
company’s home office in Oak Brook, Illinois, as vice president of Operations and Training, where he was responsible for personnel and product development. In
1980, he became executive vice president and chief operations officer, and was appointed senior executive vice president in 1982. Mr. Rensi was promoted to
president and chief operating office of McDonald’s USA in 1984. In 1991, he was named chief executive officer. As president and chief executive officer, his
responsibilities included overseeing all domestic company-owned and franchisee operations, in addition to providing direction relative to sales, profits, operations
and service standards, customer satisfaction, product development, personnel, and training. Mr. Rensi was directly responsible for management of McDonald’s
USA, which consisted of eight geographic zones and 40 regional offices. During his 13-year term as president, McDonald’s experienced phenomenal growth. U.S.
sales doubled to more than $16 billion, the number of the U.S. restaurants grew from nearly 6,600 to more than 12,000, and the number of U.S. franchisees grew
from 1,600 to more than 2,700. Since his retirement, Mr. Rensi has held consulting positions. From January 2014 to July 2015, Mr. Rensi served as director and
interim CEO of Famous Dave’s of America, Inc. Mr. Rensi received his B.S. in Business Education from Ohio State University in Columbus, Ohio. Mr. Rensi was
selected to our Board of Directors because of his long career in hospitality and restaurant franchising, and because he possesses particular knowledge and
experience in strategic planning and leadership of complex organizations and hospitality businesses.

Marc L. Holtzman became a member of the board of directors of FAT Brands Inc. on October 20, 2017. Mr. Holtzman currently serves as the Chairman
of The Bank of Kigali, Rwanda’s largest financial institution and the Chairman of CBZ Holdings, Zimbabwe’s largest financial institution, and is a director of
TeleTech (NASDAQ: TTEC), the world’s leading provider of analytics-driven technology-enabled services. Following a successful transformation and sale in July
2017 of Kazkommertsbank (LSE: KKB:LI), Kazakhstan’s largest bank, Mr. Holtzman stepped down as Chief Executive Officer, having joined as Chairman in
March 2015. He previously served as Chairman of Meridian Capital HK, a Hong Kong private equity firm. From 2012 through 2015, he served on the Board of
Directors of FTI Consulting, Inc., (NYSE:FCN) a global financial and strategic consulting firm, and Sistema, Russia’s largest listed private company (London
Stock Exchange). Between 2008 and 2012, Mr. Holtzman served as the executive vice chairman of Barclays Capital. From 2006 to 2008, he served as vice
chairman of the investment banking division of ABN AMRO Bank. Between 1989 and 1998, Mr. Holtzman lived and worked in Eastern Europe and Russia, as co-
founder and president of MeesPierson EurAmerica (a firm acquired by ABN AMRO) and as senior adviser to Salomon Brothers. Mr. Holtzman serves as a director
of Sistema JSFC, (LONDON:SSA;GDR), a Russian listed investment company. Between 2003 and 2005, Mr. Holtzman was President of the University of
Denver; and between 1999 and 2003 he served in the Cabinet of Governor Bill Owens as Colorado’s First Secretary of Technology. Mr. Holtzman holds a B.A.
degree in Economics from Lehigh University. Mr. Holtzman was selected to our Board of Directors because he brings financial experience and possesses particular
knowledge and experience in strategic planning and leadership of complex organizations.
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Squire Junger became a member of the board of directors of FAT Brands Inc. on October 20, 2017. Mr. Junger is a co-founder and a managing member
of Insight Consulting LLC, a management consulting firm based in the Los Angeles area, providing advice in mergers and acquisitions, corporate divestitures,
business integration diagnostics, real estate investment, acquisition, development and construction and litigation support services. Prior to co-founding Insight in
2003 he was a partner at Arthur Andersen LLP, which he joined in 1972. Mr. Junger co-developed and managed the west coast Transaction Advisory Services
practice at Andersen, providing comprehensive merger and acquisition consulting services to both financial and strategic buyers and sellers. Mr. Junger is a
certified public accountant in California and received Bachelor of Science and M.B.A. degrees from Cornell University. Mr. Junger was selected to our Board of
Directors because he brings substantial expertise in financial and strategic planning, mergers and acquisitions, and leadership of complex organizations.

Silvia Kessel became a member of the board of directors of FAT Brands Inc. on October 20, 2017. Ms. Kessel is Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer of Metromedia Company. Metromedia Company is a management and investment company founded by the late John W. Kluge, which
manages and invests in a variety of industries, including medical research, restaurants and outdoor visual displays. Ms. Kessel has served in various executive
positions at Metromedia Company and affiliated companies since 1984. Ms. Kessel has previously served as a director of LDDS Communications Inc. (and its
successor) (1993-1996), Orion Pictures (1993-1997), AboveNet/Metromedia Fiber Network (1997-2001), Big City Radio (1997-2002), and Liquid Audio (1998-
2002), and served on the Board of Governors and Competition Committee of Major League Soccer (1996-2001). Ms. Kessel attended the University of Miami and
received an MBA in Finance from Columbia University. From 1981 to 1988, Ms. Kessel taught Finance at Pace University. Ms. Kessel was selected to our Board
of Directors because she brings substantial expertise in finance, financial and strategic planning, complex transactions and leadership of complex organizations.

Jeff Lotman became a member of the board of directors of FAT Brands Inc. on October 20, 2017. Mr. Lotman is the Chief Executive Officer of Global
Icons, LLC, a company which he founded in 1998. Global Icons is a premier brand licensing agency specializing in the development and extension of corporate
brands and trademarks. Prior to launching Global Icons, Mr. Lotman was Chief Operating Officer for Keystone Foods, a multi-billion dollar manufacturing
company that developed and supplied food products for companies such as McDonald’s and Kraft. Mr. Lotman guided the international expansion of Keystone
Foods and established manufacturing and distribution operations in over a dozen countries. Mr. Lotman has been a featured guest speaker at many leading industry
events, including Entertainment Marketing Conference, Young Presidents’ Organization, SPLICE, Licensing Show, Restaurant Industry Conference, LA
Roadshow, UCLA and others. He has also been profiled numerous times, including in The New York Times, The Los Angeles Times, The Wall St. Journal,
CNBC, and FOX. He is a distinguished member of the Licensing Industry Merchandisers’ Association (LIMA) and the Licensing Executives Society (LES). Mr.
Lotman received a B.A. degree in Business and Marketing from Curry College. Mr. Lotman was selected to our board of directors because he brings substantial
expertise in retail marketing, branding and licensing opportunities for consumer brands.

On February 4, 2020, Mr. Lotman resigned from the Board of Directors of the Company. Mr. Lotman informed the Company that he resigned for
personal reasons and to pursue other business opportunities, and not as a result of a disagreement with any Company operations, policies or practices.

James Neuhauser has served on the board of directors of FAT Brands Inc. since its formation. Mr. Neuhauser is a Senior Managing Director in the Private
Capital Markets Group of Stifel Nicolas & Company. Mr. Neuhauser is also the Managing Member of Turtlerock Capital, LLC, a company that finances and
invests in real estate development projects. He previously worked for FBR & Co. for more than 24 years, including positions as Chief Investment Officer, Head of
Investment Banking and Head of the Real Estate and Financial Services groups in Investment Banking through October 2016. He also served as Head of FBR’s
Commitment Committee and was a member of the firm’s Executive Committee. Prior to joining FBR, Mr. Neuhauser was a Senior Vice President of Trident
Financial Corporation for seven years, where he specialized in managing stock offerings for mutual to stock conversions of thrift institutions. Before joining
Trident, he worked in commercial banking with the Bank of New England. Mr. Neuhauser is a CFA charter holder and a member of the Society of Financial
Analysts. He received a Bachelor of Arts from Brown University and an M.B.A. from the University of Michigan. Mr. Neuhauser was selected to our Board of
Directors because he brings substantial expertise in financial and strategic planning, investment banking complex financial transactions, mergers and acquisitions,
and leadership of complex organizations.
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Family Relationships
Donald J. Berchtold is the former father-in-law of our Chief Executive Officer, Andrew A. Wiederhorn.
Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports

Based solely on a review of Forms 3, 4 and 5 and amendments thereto furnished to us for the year ended December 29, 2019, our directors, officers, or
beneficial owners of more than 10% of our common stock timely furnished reports on all Forms 3, 4 and 5, except that (i) Marc L. Holtzman filed two late Form
4s, one with one transaction and one with two transactions; (ii) Squire Junger filed three late Form 4s, one with one transaction and two with two transactions; (iii)
Silvia Kessel filed two late Form 4s, one with one transaction and one with two transactions, (iv) Jeff Lotman filed three late Form 4s, two with one transaction and
one with two transactions; (v)James Neuhauser filed 2 late Form 4s, one with one transaction and one with two transactions; (vi) Ed Rensi filed three late Form 4s
two with one transaction and one with two transactions; and Andy Wiederhorn filed one late Form 4 with two transactions.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a written code of business ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. We have posted a current copy of the code under the Corporate
Governance section of our website at https:/ir.fatbrands.com. In addition, we intend to post on our website all disclosures that are required by law or the NASDAQ
listing standards concerning any amendments to, or waivers from, any provision of the code.

Board Committees

During 2019, our Board of Directors held four meetings. Each director attended at least 75% of the aggregate number of meetings of the board of
directors and meetings of the committees of the board of directors on which he or she serves, except Jeff Lotman who attended 60% of the meetings of the board of
directors and meetings of committees of the board of directors on which he serves.

The following table sets forth the three standing committees of our Board and the members of each committee and the number of meetings held by our
Board of Directors and the committees during 2019:

Nominating
and Corporate
Audit Compensation Governance
Director Board Committee Committee Committee
Edward H. Rensi Chair - X Chair
James Neuhauser X Chair X -
Marc L. Holtzman X - Chair X
Squire Junger X X - -
Silvia Kessel X X - -
Jeff Lotman X - - X
Andrew A. Wiederhorn X - - -
Meetings in 2019: 4 6 1 1

To assist it in carrying out its duties, the Board of Directors has delegated certain authority to an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a
Nominating and Governance Committee, the functions of which are described below.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for, among other matters:

appointing, compensating, retaining, evaluating, terminating and overseeing our independent registered public accounting firm;

discussing with our independent registered public accounting firm their independence from management;

reviewing with our independent registered public accounting firm the scope and results of their audit;

approving all audit and permissible non-audit services to be performed by our independent registered public accounting firm;

overseeing the financial reporting process and discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm the interim and
annual financial statements that we file with the SEC;

reviewing and monitoring our accounting principles, accounting policies, financial and accounting controls and compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; and

establishing procedures for the confidential anonymous submission of concerns regarding questionable accounting, internal controls or auditing
matters.

Our Audit Committee is comprised of Mr. Junger, Ms. Kessel and Mr. Neuhauser, with Mr. Neuhauser serving as the chair. Our board of directors has
affirmatively determined that each member of the Audit Committee meets the definition of “independent director” for purposes of serving on an audit committee
under Rule 10A-3 and NASDAQ rules. In addition, our board of directors has determined that both Ms. Kessel and Mr. Neuhauser qualify as an “audit committee
financial expert,” as such term is defined in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K.

The Board of Directors adopted a charter for the Audit Committee on October 19, 2017. A copy of the Audit Committee charter is available in the
Corporate Governance section of our website at https:/ir.fatbrands.com. The Audit Committee reviews and reassesses the adequacy of the charter on an annual

basis.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee is comprised of Mr. Rensi, Mr. Neuhauser and Mr. Holtzman, with Mr. Holtzman serving as the chair. Our Compensation
Committee’s main functions are assisting our Board of Directors in discharging its responsibilities relating to the compensation of outside directors, the Chief
Executive Officer and other executive officers, as well as administering any stock incentive plans we may adopt.

The Compensation Committee’s responsibilities include the following:

reviewing and recommending to our board of directors the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and other executive officers and the outside
directors;

conducting a performance review of our Chief Executive Officer;

administering the Company’s incentive-compensation plans and equity-based plans as in effect or as adopted from time to time by the Board of
Directors;

approving any new equity compensation plan or material change to an existing plan where stockholder approval has not been obtained,;

reviewing our compensation policies; and

if required, preparing the report of the Compensation Committee for inclusion in our annual proxy statement.

The Board of Directors has adopted a charter for the Compensation Committee on October 19, 2017. A copy of the Compensation Committee charter is
available in the Corporate Governance section of our website at https://ir.fatbrands.com. The Compensation Committee reviews and reassesses the adequacy of the
charter on an annual basis.
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Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Our Nominating and Corporate Governance committee is comprised of Mr. Holtzman, Mr. Lotman and Mr. Rensi, with Mr. Rensi serving as the chair.
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee’s responsibilities include:

identify qualified individuals to serve as members of the Company’s board of directors;

review the qualifications and performance of incumbent directors;

review and consider candidates who may be suggested by any director or executive officer or by any stockholder of the Company;
review considerations relating to board composition, including size of the board, term, and the criteria for membership on the board;

The Board of Directors has adopted a charter for the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee on October 19, 2017. A copy of the
Compensation Committee charter is available in the Corporate Governance section of our website at https:/ir.fatbrands.com. The Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee reviews and reassesses the adequacy of the charter on an annual basis.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Nonqualified
Name and Option Non-Equity Deferred
Principal Fiscal Stock Awards  Incentive Plan ~ Compensation All Other
Position Year Salary(1) Bonus Awards 2) Compensation Earnings Compensation Total

Andrew A. Wiederhorn 2019  $400,000 $ - $ - $13,863 $ - 3 - 3 - $413,863
Chief Executive Officer 2018  $400,000 $ - 3 - $19962 $ - 3 -3 - $419,962
Rebecca D. Hershinger 2019 $256,731 $21,635 $ - $12,230 $ - 3 - 3 - $290,596
Chief Financial Officer (3) 2018 $105,769 $10,417 § - $ 4124 § - 8 - 8 - $120310
Donald J. Berchtold, 2019  $400,000 $ - 3 - $13863 $ - 8 - 8 - $413,863
EVP — Chief Concept Officer 2018  $400,000 $ - 3 - $19962 $ - 8 - 8 - $419,962
Ron Roe, 2019  $300,000 $ - 3 - $13863 $ - 8 - 8 - $313,863
Senior Vice President of
Finance (4) 2018  $300,000 $ - 3 - $19962 § - 8 - 8 - $319,962
Explanatory Notes:

(1) Reflects the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes for salary paid or accrued on behalf of the named executives for the fiscal
years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018.

(2) Reflects the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, in
accordance with ASC 718 of awards pursuant to the Stock Option Plan. Assumptions used in the calculation of this amount for fiscal year ended December 29,
2019 are included in footnote 16 to the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, included in Part IV of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. During 2018, Mr. Wiederhorn, Mr. Roe, and Mr. Berchtold were each granted options to purchase 15,318 shares of common
stock with an aggregate grant date fair value of $8,329, respectively. During 2018, Ms. Hershinger was granted options to purchase 40,849 shares of common stock
with an aggregate grant date fair value of $23,692. During 2017, Mr. Wiederhorn, Mr. Roe, and Mr. Berchtold were each granted options to purchase 15,318 shares
of common stock with an aggregate grant date fair value of $35,550, respectively.
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(3) Ms. Hershinger became our Chief Financial Officer effective August 16, 2018.
(4) Mr. Roe served as our Chief Financial Officer until August 15, 2018. He currently serves as our Senior Vice President of Finance.
Executive Employment Agreements
There are no employment agreements between the Company and any of its employees.
OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL 2019 YEAR END

The following table summarizes the outstanding equity award holdings of our named executive officers as of December 29, 2019, as adjusted for the
February 28, 2019 stock dividend.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Equity Equity
Equity Incentive Incentive
Incentive Plan Plan Awards:
Plan Number Awards: Market or
Awards: of Shares Market Number of Payout Value
Number of Number of Number of or Units Value of Unearned of Unearned
Securities Securities Securities of Stock Shares or Shares, Units Shares, Units
Underlying Underlying Underlying That Units of or Other or Other
Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Have Not Stock That Rights That Rights That
Options (#) Options (#) Unearned Exercise Expiration Vested Have Not Have Not Have Not
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Options (#) Price($) Date #) Vested($) Vested(#) Vested($)
Andrew A. 10,212 5,106 - $ 1175 10/19/2027 - - - -
Wiederhorn, Chief Executive
Officer 5,106 10,212 - $ 528 12/10/2028 - - - -
Rebecca D. 8,510 17,021 - $ 783  7/30/2028 - - - -
Hershinger, Chief Financial
Officer 5,106 10,212 - $ 528 12/10/2028 - - - -
Donald J. 10,212 5,106 - 8 1175 10/19/2027 - - - -
Berchtold, EVP — Chief Concept
Officer 5,106 10,212 - $ 528 12/10/2028 - - - -
Ron Roe 10,212 5,106 - $ 1175 10/19/2027 - - - -
Senior Vice President of Finance 5,106 10,212 - $ 528 12/10/2028 - - - -
Explanatory Notes:

Option Exercises and Stock Vested
None of the named executives acquired shares of the Company’s stock through exercise of options during the year ended December 29, 2019.
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The Company uses a combination of cash and stock-based incentive compensation to attract and retain qualified candidates to serve on the board of directors.
In setting director compensation, the Company considers the significant amount of time that our directors expend in fulfilling their duties to the Company as well
as the skill-level required by the Company of members of the board of directors.

Effective October 20, 2017, we pay each non-employee director serving on our Board of Directors $40,000 in annual cash compensation, plus an annual
equity award of 15,000 stock options or SAR’s, subject to adjustments for forward or reverse splits. To the extent that any non-employee director serves on one or
more committees of our Board of Directors, we pay an additional $20,000 in cash compensation annually.

The terms of the equity award described above are set forth in the 2017 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan is a comprehensive incentive
compensation plan under which we can grant equity-based and other incentive awards to officers, employees and directors of, and consultants and advisers to, FAT
Brands and its subsidiaries. The Plan provides for a maximum of 1,021,250 shares available for grant., as adjusted for the impact of the February 28, 2019 stock
dividend. The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.

The non-employee director compensation policy (including the compensation described above) may be amended, modified or terminated by our Board of
Directors at any time in its sole discretion.

The following table sets forth a summary of the compensation we paid or accrued to our non-employee directors during 2019 and 2018:

Change in
Pension
Value and
Fees Nonqualified
Earned Non-Equity Deferred
or Paid Stock Option Incentive Plan Compensation All Other
in Cash Awards Awards Compensation Earnings Compensation Total
Name Year ® ® ®@ ® ® ®) ®)
Edward H. Rensi (2) 2019 $ 60,000 $ — § 14827 § — 3 —  $ — § 74827
2018 $ 60,000 $ — § 19962 § — 3 —  $ — § 79,962
Marc L. Holtzman (2) 2019 $ 60,000 $ — $ 14827 $ — 3 — 3 — $ 74827
2018 $ 60,000 $ — § 19962 § — 3 —  $ — § 79,962
Squire Junger (2) 2019 $ 60,000 $ — $ 14827 § — § — 3 — $ 74827
2018 $ 60,000 $ — § 19962 § — 3 —  $ — § 79,962
Silvia Kessel (2) 2019 $ 60,000 $ — § 14827 $ — 3 —  $ — § 74827
2018 $ 60,000 $ — § 19962 § — 3 —  $ — § 79,962
Jeff Lotman (2) 2019 $ 60,000 $ — § 14827 § — 3 —  $ — § 74827
2018 $ 60,000 $ — § 19962 § — 3 —  $ — § 79,962
James Neuhauser (2) 2019 $ 60,000 $ — $ 14827 $ — 3 — 3 — $ 74827
2018 $ 60,000 $ — § 19962 §$ — 3 —  $ — § 79,962
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Explanatory Notes:

(1) Reflects the dollar amount of awards pursuant to the Plan recognized for financial statement reporting purposes for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2019
and December 30, 2018. Assumptions used in the calculation of this amount for fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 are included in footnote 16 to the
Company’s audited consolidated financial statements, included in Part IV of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K. During 2019, 2018, and 2017, each
director was granted options to purchase 15,306 shares of common stock each year with an aggregate grant date fair value of $5,998, $8,329, and $35,550,
respectively.

(2) Mr. Rensi has served on the Board of Directors of the Company since its formation and became the Chairman of the Board on October 20, 2017. Mr.
Neuhauser has served on the Board of Directors of the Company since its formation. Messrs. Holtzman, Junger, and Lotman and Ms. Kessel have served on
the Board of Directors since October 20, 2017. Mr. Lotman resigned from his position on the Board of Directors on February 4, 2020. As of the date of Mr.
Lotman’s resignation, 30,636 of his unvested options expired, and 15,318 of his vested options will expire on May 4, 2020, unless previously exercised.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS
The following table sets forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our Common Stock as of February 28, 2020:
each person known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our Common Stock;
each of our directors;

each of our named executive officers; and
all of our executive officers and directors as a group.

The number of shares beneficially owned by each stockholder is determined under rules issued by the SEC and includes voting or investment power with
respect to securities. Under these rules, beneficial ownership includes any shares as to which the individual or entity has sole or shared voting power or investment
power. In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by an individual or entity and the percentage ownership of that person, shares of common stock
subject to options, or other rights, including the redemption right described above, held by such person that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable
within 60 days of the effective date of the disclosure, are considered outstanding, although these shares are not considered outstanding for purposes of computing
the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated, the address of all listed stockholders is ¢/o FAT Brands Inc., 9720 Wilshire Blvd., Suite
500, Beverly Hills, California 90212. Each of the stockholders listed has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially owned by the
stockholder unless noted otherwise, subject to community property laws where applicable.

As of February 28, 2020, there were 11,876,659 of our common shares issued and outstanding.

Shares of Common Stock

Beneficially Owned
Name of beneficial owner Number Percentage(3)
5% Stockholders
Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc. 9,698,436(1) 81.5%
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Andrew A. Wiederhorn 28,318(2)(3) *
Rebecca D. Hershinger 13,6164 <
Donald J. Berchtold 15,318(5)(6) *
Ron Roe 15,318(5)(7) &
Marc L. Holtzman 46,338(8) *
Squire Junger 73,074(8)(%) <
Silvia Kessel 44,864(8)(10) *
Edward H. Rensi 44,301(8) g
James Neuhauser 83,232(8) *
All directors and executive officers as a group (ten persons) 364,379(11) 3.0%
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(1) Includes warrants to purchase 19,148 shares of the Company’s common stock.

(2) Includes vested options to purchase 15,318 shares of the Company’s common stock. Does not include unvested options to purchase an additional 15,318
shares of the Company’s common stock. Includes exercisable warrants to purchase 12,000 shares of the Company’s common stock.

(3) Mr. Wiederhorn beneficially owns 30.4% of the outstanding common stock of FCCG and disclaims beneficial ownership of the Company held by FCCG
except to the extent of his pecuniary interest in FCCG.

(4) Includes vested options to purchase 13,616 shares of the Company’s common stock. Does not include unvested options to purchase an additional 27,233
shares of the Company’s common stock.

(5) Includes vested options to purchase 15,318 shares of the Company’s common stock. Does not include unvested options to purchase an additional 15,318
shares of the Company’s common stock.

(6) Mr. Berchtold and his spouse beneficially own 119,135 shares of common stock of FCCG and disclaim beneficial ownership of the Company held by FCCG
except to the extent of their pecuniary interest in FCCG.

(7) Mr. Roe beneficially owns 75,000 shares of common stock of FCCG and disclaims beneficial ownership of the Company held by FCCG except to the extent
of his pecuniary interest in FCCG.

(8) Includes vested options to purchase 15,318 shares of the Company’s common stock. Does not include unvested options to purchase an additional 30,636
shares of the Company’s common stock.

(9) Includes exercisable warrants to purchase 3,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Mr. Junger beneficially owns 25,000 shares of common stock of
FCCG and disclaims beneficial ownership of the Company held by FCCG except to the extent of their pecuniary interest in FCCG. Mr. Junger’s spouse
beneficially owns 1,000 shares of common stock of FCCG and disclaims beneficial ownership of the Company held by FCCG except to the extent of their
pecuniary interest in FCCG.

(10) Includes exercisable warrants to purchase 2,400 shares of the Company’s common stock.

(11) Includes vested options to purchase 136,160 shares of the Company’s common stock and exercisable warrants to purchase 19,800 shares of the Company’s
common stock.

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1%.

On October 3 and October 4, 2019, the Company completed the initial closing of its continuous public offering (the “Series B Preferred Offering”) of up to
$30,000,000 of units (the “Series B Units”) at $25.00 per Series B Unit, with each Series B Unit comprised of one share of 8.25% Series B Cumulative Preferred
Stock (“Series B Preferred Stock™) and 0.60 warrants (the “Series B Warrants™) to purchase common stock at $8.50 per share, exercisable for five years. At the
initial closing of the Preferred Offering, the Company completed the sale of 43,080 Series B Units for gross proceeds of $1,077,000.

In aggregate, certain officers and directors of the Company acquired 33,000 Series B Units for $825,000 comprised of 33,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock
and 19,800 Series B Warrants to purchase 19,800 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at $8.50 per share (See Note 14 of the accompanying audited financial
statements).

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Reportable Related Person Transactions

Since December 31, 2018, the Company has engaged in certain transactions with Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc., which is the 81.5% parent of the
Company. Descriptions of such transactions are included under Notes 12, 13, 14 and 22 to the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company included
under Item 15 of this Form 10-K, which information is incorporated herein by this reference. Other than such transactions, since December 31, 2018, there has not
been, nor is there currently proposed, any transaction or series of similar transactions to which we were or will be a party:

e in which the amount involved exceeds $120,000; and
e in which any director, executive officer, shareholder who beneficially owns 5% or more of our common stock or any member of their immediate
family had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Director Independence

The board has determined that each of the directors, except Mr. Wiederhorn, is independent within the meaning of the applicable rules and regulations of
the SEC and the director independence standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (“NASDAQ”), as currently in effect. Furthermore, the board has determined
that each of the members of each of the committees of the board is “independent” under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and the director

independence standards of NASDAQ applicable to each such committee, as currently in effect.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Squar Milner LLP, Los Angeles, California, currently serves as our independent registered public accounting firm. For the fiscal year ending December
30, 2018, Hutchinson and Bloodgood LLP, Glendale, California, served as our independent registered public accounting firm. The aggregate accounting fees for
the years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018 are as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018
Audit fees $ 244  § 331
Audit related fees $ 55§ 174
Other fees $ 39 § 46

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures. The Audit Committee reviews the independence of our independent registered public accounting
firm on an annual basis and has determined that Squar Milner LLP is independent. In addition, the Audit Committee pre-approves all work and fees that are
performed by our independent registered public accounting firm.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Financial Statements
FAT Brands Inc.

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the fiscal years ended December 29. 2019 and December 30. 2018
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(b)  Exhibits — See Exhibit Index immediately following the signature pages.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of FAT Brands, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of FAT Brands, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 29, 2019, the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows, for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the financial statements). In
our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 29, 2019, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for leases in 2019 due to the adoption of
Accounting Standards Codification 842, Leases.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements
based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged
to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Squar Milner LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.

Los Angeles, California
April 27, 2020




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Stockholders and Board of Directors
FAT Brands Inc.
Beverly Hills, California

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of FAT Brands Inc. (the Company) and subsidiaries as of December 30, 2018, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements (collectively,
the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 30, 2018, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for revenue during the year ended December
30, 2018 due to the adoption of the Accounting Standards Codification 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers.”

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/Hutchinson and Bloodgood LLP

We, or a firm acquired by us in 2012, had continuously served as auditor for the two predecessors of the Company since 2007 and from 2011 to 2018, respectively.

Glendale, California
March 29, 2019
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FAT BRANDS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018
Assets
Current assets
Cash $ 25 $ 653
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $116 and $595, respectively 4,144 1,779
Trade notes receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $37 and $37, respectively 262 65
Assets classified as held for sale 5,128 -
Other current assets 929 1,042
Total current assets 10,488 3,539
Notes receivable — noncurrent, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $86 and $112,
respectively 1,802 212
Due from affiliates 25,967 15,514
Deferred income taxes 2,032 2,236
Operating lease right of use assets 860 -
Goodwill 10,912 10,391
Other intangible assets, net 29,734 23,289
Other assets 755 2,779
Total assets $ 82,550 $ 57,960
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 7,183 $ 4415
Deferred income, current portion 895 1,076
Accrued expenses 6,013 3,705
Accrued advertising 762 369
Accrued interest payable 1,268 2,250
Dividend payable on preferred shares (includes amounts due to related parties of $165 and
$42 as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively) 1,422 391
Liabilities related to assets classified as held for sale 3,325 -
Current portion of operating lease liability 241 -
Current portion of long-term debt 24,502 15,400
Total current liabilities 45,611 27,606
Deferred income — noncurrent 5,247 6,621
Acquisition purchase price payable 4,504 3,497
Preferred shares, net 15,327 14,191
Deferred dividend payable on preferred shares (includes amounts due to related parties of $60
and $39 as of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively) 628 228
Operating lease liability, net of current portion 639 -
Long-term debt, net of current portion 5,216 -
Other liabilities 5 78
Total liabilities 77,172 52,221
Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $.0001 par value; 25,000,000 shares authorized; 11,860,299 and 11,546,589
shares issued and outstanding at December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively 11,414 10,757
Accumulated deficit (6,036) (5,018)
Total stockholders’ equity 5,378 5,739
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 82,550 $ 57,960

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements.
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FAT BRANDS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

For the Fiscal Years Ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018

2019 2018
Revenue
Royalties $ 14,895 $ 12,097
Franchise fees 3,433 2,136
Store opening fees - 352
Advertising fees 4,111 3,182
Other income 66 67
Total revenue 22,505 17,834
Costs and expenses
General and administrative expense 11,472 10,349
Advertising expense 4,111 3,182
Refranchising loss 219 67
Total costs and expenses 15,802 13,598
Income from operations 6,703 4,236
Other expense
Interest expense, net of interest income of $2,128 and $1,125 due from affiliates during the fiscal years
ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively (4,757) (3,816)
Interest expense related to preferred shares (1,773) (954)
Other expense, net (681) (1,539)
Total other expense, net (7,211) (6,309)
Loss before income tax expense (benefit) (508) (2,073)
Income tax expense (benefit) 510 (275)
Net loss $ (1,018) $ (1,798)
Basic and diluted loss per common share $ 0.09) $ (0.16)
Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 11,823,455 10,970,814
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 0.00 $ 0.36

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements.
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FAT BRANDS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(dollars in thousands, except share data)

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 29, 2019

Balance at December 30, 2018
Net loss
Common stock dividend
Cash paid in lieu of fractional shares
Issuance of warrants to purchase common stock
Issuance of warrants to placement agents
Issuance of common stock in lieu of director fees payable
Share-based compensation

Balance at December 29, 2019

Balance at December 31, 2017
Cumulative-effect adjustment from adoption of ASC 606,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Net loss
Cash dividends on common stock
Issuance of common stock in lieu of director fees payable
Issuance of common stock in payment of related party note
Issuance of common stock in lieu of dividends payable to
FCCG
Issuance of warrants to purchase common stock
Stock offering costs
Issuance of warrants to placement agents
Value of common stock beneficial conversion feature of
Series A-1 Preferred Stock
Share-based compensation

Common Stock

Additional
Par paid-in Accumulated
Shares value capital Total Deficit Total

11,546,589 $ 1 § 10,756 § 10,757 $ (5,018) § 5,739
(1,018) (1,018)

245,376 - - - - -
- - 2 ) - 2

- - 21 21 - 21

- - 16 16 - 16

68,334 - 360 360 - 360

- - 262 262 - 262
11,860,299 $ 1 § 11,413 § 11414 $ (6,036) $ 5378

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 30, 2018
Common Stock
Additional
Par paid-in Accumulated
Shares value capital Total Deficit Total

10,000,000 $ 1 $ 2,621 $ 2,622 $ (613) $ 2,009
- - - - (2,607) (2,607)
= - - - (1,798) (1,798)
- - (3,914) (3,914) - (3,914)

68,952 - 510 510 - 510
989,395 - 7,272 7,272 - 7,272
488,242 - 3,036 3,036 - 3,036

- - 774 774 - 774

- - (150) (150) (150)

- - 78 78 - 78

- - 90 90 - 90

- - 439 439 - 439
11,546,589 $ 1 $ 10,756 $ 10,757 $ (5,018) $§ 5739

Balance at December 30, 2018

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements.
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FAT BRANDS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in thousands)

For the Fiscal Years Ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operations:
Deferred income taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation
Change in operating right of use assets
Gain on sale of refranchised restaurants
Accretion of loan fees and interest
Accretion of preferred shares
Accretion of purchase price liability
Provision for bad debts
Change in:

Accounts receivable
Trade notes receivable
Prepaid expenses
Other
Accounts payables and accrued expense
Accrued advertising
Accrued interest payable
Dividend payable on preferred shares
Deferred income

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Change in due from affiliates
Payments made in connection with acquisitions, net
Proceeds from sale of refranchised restaurants
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings and associated warrants, net of issuance costs
Repayments of borrowings
Issuance of preferred shares and associated warrants, net
Change in operating lease liabilities
Dividends paid in cash
Other

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash
Cash at beginning of year
Cash at end of year

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash financing and investing activities:
Dividends reinvested in common stock
Note payable to FCCG converted to common and preferred stock
Director fees converted to common stock

Income taxes payable (receivable) offset against amounts due from affiliates

2019 2018
$ (1,018) $ (1,798)
204 (504)

785 358

262 439

683 i

(1,795) -

1,883 583

65 34

557 7

77 76
(723) (301)

83 58
118 (242)
(169) (20)

3,771 2,226
203 @71)

(982) 2,232

1,431 619
(2,364) (1,659)

4,089 3,635

3,071 1,837
(10,453) (6,742)
(2,332) (7,595)

2,340 ]
(45) (148)
(10,490) (14,485)

23,022 17,066
(16,726) (10,853)

1,107 7,984

(530) .
2) (878)
(80) (50)

6,791 13,269

(628) 621

653 32

$ 25§ 653
$ 5980 $ 2,495
244§ 220

$ -] B 3,036
$ -8 9,272
$ 360 510
$ 51 8 (195)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these audited consolidated financial statements.






NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND RELATIONSHIPS
Organization and Nature of Business

FAT Brands Inc. (the “Company”) was formed on March 21, 2017 as a wholly owned subsidiary of Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc. (“FCCG”). On October 20,
2017, the Company completed an initial public offering and issued additional shares of common stock representing 20 percent of its ownership (the “Offering”).
The Company’s common stock trades on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “FAT.” As of December 29, 2019, FCCG continues to control a significant
voting majority of the Company.

The Company is a multi-brand franchisor specializing in fast casual and casual dining restaurant concepts around the world. As of December 29, 2019, the
Company owns and franchises eight restaurant brands through various wholly owned subsidiaries: Fatburger, Buffalo’s Cafe, Buffalo’s Express, Hurricane Grill &
Wings, Ponderosa Steakhouses, Bonanza Steakhouses, Yalla Mediterranean and Elevation Burger. Combined, these brands have over 370 locations open and more
than 200 under development.

Liquidity

The Company recognized income from operations of $6,703,000 and $4,236,000 during the fiscal years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018,
respectively. Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $3,070,000 and $1,837,000 for the fiscal years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018,
respectively. Despite the profitability of the brands and their operations, the Company recognized net losses of $1,018,000 and $1,798,000 during fiscal years
ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively. These net losses were primarily due to (i) higher net interest expense during 2019 as compared to
the prior year related to higher debt balances related to its Loan and Security Agreement (See Note 11) and (ii) higher net interest expense during 2019 compared
to the prior year related to Series A Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock and Series A-1 Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock being outstanding for a full year
in 2019 compared to a partial year in 2018 (See Note 13).

Subsequent to December 29, 2019, on March 6, 2020, the Company completed a whole business securitization (the “Securitization”) through the creation of a
bankruptcy-remote issuing entity, FAT Brands Royalty I, LLC (“FAT Royalty”) in which FAT Royalty issued new notes pursuant to an asset-backed securitization
(the “Securitization Notes”) and indenture (the “Indenture”). Net proceeds from the issuance of the Securitization Notes were $37,314,000, which consists of the
combined face amount of $40,000,000, net of discounts of $246,000 and debt offering costs of $2,440,000 (See Note 22). A portion of the proceeds from the
Securitization was used to repay the remaining $26,771,000 in outstanding balance under the Loan and Security Agreement. The remaining proceeds from the
Securitization will be used for working capital.

Further, in March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (COVID-19) as a pandemic, which continues to spread
throughout the United States and other countries. As a result, Company franchisees have temporarily closed some retail locations, reduced or modified store
operating hours, adopted a “to-go” only operating model, or a combination of these actions. These actions have reduced consumer traffic, all resulting in a negative
impact to Company revenues. While the disruption is currently expected to be temporary, there is uncertainty around the duration and long-term changes in
consumer behavior related to social distancing resulting from COVID-19 and the ultimate impact on our franchisees.

While the Company expects COVID-19 to negatively impact its business, results of operations, and financial position, the related financial impact cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time. However, the Company believes that the working capital from the Securitization combined with receipts collected from the
limited operations of its franchisees, and disciplined management of the Company’ operating expenses will be sufficient for the twelve months of operations
following the issuance of this Form 10-K.
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

Nature of operations —Each franchising subsidiary licenses the right to use its brand name and provides franchisees with operating procedures and methods of
merchandising. Upon signing a franchise agreement, the franchisor is committed to provide training, some supervision and assistance, and access to operations
manuals. As needed, the franchisor will also provide advice and written materials concerning techniques of managing and operating the restaurants.

The Company operates on a 52-week calendar and its fiscal year ends on the last Sunday of the calendar year. Consistent with the industry practice, the Company
measures its stores’ performance based upon 7-day work weeks. Using the 52-week cycle ensures consistent weekly reporting for operations and ensures that each

week has the same days, since certain days are more profitable than others. The use of this fiscal year means a 53 week is added to the fiscal year every 5 or 6
years. In a 52-week year, all four quarters are comprised of 13 weeks. In a 53-week year, one extra week is added to the fourth quarter. Both 2019 and 2018 were
52-week years.

Principles of consolidation — The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. The accounts
of Hurricane have been included since its acquisition by the Company on July 3, 2018. The accounts of Yalla Mediterranean have been included since its
acquisition on December 3, 2018. The operations of Elevation Burger have been included since its acquisition on June 19, 2019. Intercompany accounts have been
eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements — The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates include the determination of fair values of certain financial instruments for which there is no active
market, the allocation of basis between assets acquired, sold or retained, and valuation allowances for notes receivable and accounts receivable. Estimates and
assumptions also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Financial statement reclassification — Certain account balances from prior periods have been reclassified in these audited consolidated financial statements to
conform to current period classifications.

Credit and Depository Risks — Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and accounts
receivable. Management reviews each of its customer’s financial conditions prior to entry into a franchise or other agreement and believes that it has adequately
provided for any exposure to potential credit losses. As of December 29, 2019, accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts totaled $4,144,000 with
two customers each representing 20% of that amount. As of December 30, 2018, the Company did not have any customer concentrations of accounts receivable,
net of allowance for doubtful account exceeding 10%.

The Company maintains cash deposits in national financial institutions. From time to time the balances for these accounts exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation’s (“FDIC”) insured amount. Balances on interest bearing deposits at banks in the United States are insured by the FDIC up to $250,000 per account.
As of December 29, 2019, the Company had no accounts with a combined uninsured balance. As of December 30, 2018, the Company had three accounts with a
combined uninsured balance of $170,000.

Accounts receivable — Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and are stated net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the existing accounts receivable. The allowance is based on historical
collection data and current franchisee information. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and
the potential for recovery is considered remote.

Trade notes receivable — Trade notes receivable are created when an agreement is reached to settle a delinquent franchisee receivable account and the entire
balance is not immediately paid. Generally, trade notes receivable include personal guarantees from the franchisee. The notes are made for the shortest time frame
negotiable and will generally carry an interest rate of 6% to 7.5%. Reserve amounts on the notes are established based on the likelihood of collection.

Assets classified as held for sale — Assets are classified as held for sale when the Company commits to a plan to sell the asset, the asset is available for immediate
sale in its present condition and an active program to locate a buyer at a reasonable price has been initiated. The sale of these assets is generally expected to be
completed within one year. The combined assets are valued at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value, net of costs to sell and included as current assets on
the Company’s audited consolidated balance sheet. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated. However, interest attributable to the liabilities associated
with assets classified as held for sale and other related expenses are recorded as expenses in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations.
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Goodwill and other intangible assets — Intangible assets are stated at the estimated fair value at the date of acquisition and include goodwill, trademarks, and
franchise agreements. Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives, such as trademarks, are not amortized but are reviewed for impairment annually or
more frequently if indicators arise. All other intangible assets are amortized over their estimated weighted average useful lives, which range from nine to twenty-
five years. Management assesses potential impairments to intangible assets at least annually, or when there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recovered. Judgments regarding the existence of impairment indicators and future cash flows related to
intangible assets are based on operational performance of the acquired businesses, market conditions and other factors.

Income taxes — Effective October 20, 2017, the Company entered into a Tax Sharing Agreement with FCCG that provides that FCCG will, to the extent permitted
by applicable law, file consolidated federal, California and Oregon (and possibly other jurisdictions where revenue is generated, at FCCG’s election) income tax
returns with the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company will pay FCCG the amount that its tax liability would have been had it filed a separate return. As
such, the Company accounts for income taxes as if it filed separately from FCCG.

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the
differences between financial reporting and tax reporting bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to be in
effect when the differences are expected to reverse. Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future earnings, the timing and amount of which are
uncertain.

A two-step approach is utilized to recognize and measure uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the
weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon tax authority examination, including resolution of
related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized
upon the ultimate settlement.

Franchise Fees: The franchise arrangement is documented in the form of a franchise agreement. The franchise arrangement requires the Company to perform
various activities to support the brand that do not directly transfer goods and services to the franchisee, but instead represent a single performance obligation, which
is the transfer of the franchise license. The services provided by the Company are highly interrelated with the franchise license and are considered a single
performance obligation. Franchise fee revenue from the sale of individual franchises is recognized over the term of the individual franchise agreement.
Unamortized non-refundable deposits collected in relation to the sale of franchises are recorded as deferred franchise fees.

The franchise fee may be adjusted at management’s discretion or in a situation involving store transfers. Deposits are non-refundable upon acceptance of the
franchise application. In the event a franchisee does not comply with their development timeline for opening franchise stores, the franchise rights may be
terminated, and franchise fee revenue is recognized for non-refundable deposits.

Store opening fees — Prior to September 29, 2019, the Company recognized store opening fees in the amount of $35,000 to $60,000 from the up-front fees collected
from franchisees upon store opening. The amount of the fee was dependent on brand and location (domestic versus international stores). The remaining balance of
the up-front fees were then amortized as franchise fees over the life of the franchise agreement. If the fees collected were less than the respective store opening fee
amounts, the full up-front fees were recognized at store opening. The store opening fees were based on out-of-pocket costs to the Company for each store opening
and are primarily comprised of labor expenses associated with training, store design, and supply chain setup. International fees recognized were higher due to the
additional cost of travel.

During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company performed a study of other public company restaurant franchisors’ application of ASC 606 and determined that a
preferred, alternative industry application exists in which the store opening fee portion of the franchise fees is amortized over the life of the franchise agreement
rather than at milestones of standalone performance obligations in the franchise agreements. In order to provide financial reporting consistent with other franchise
industry peers, the Company applied this preferred, alternative application of ASC 606 during the fourth quarter of 2019 on a prospective basis. As a result of the
adoption of this preferred accounting treatment under ASC 606, the Company discontinued the recognition of store opening fees upon store opening and began
accounting for the entire up-front deposit received from franchisees as described above in Franchise Fees. A cumulative adjustment to store opening fees and
franchise fees was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2019 for store opening fees recognized during the first three quarters of 2019. (See “Immaterial Adjustments
Related to Prior Periods”, below.)
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Royalties: In addition to franchise fee revenue, we collect a royalty calculated as a percentage of net sales from our franchisees. Royalties range from 0.75% to 6%
and are recognized as revenue when the related sales are made by the franchisees. Royalties collected in advance of sales are classified as deferred income until
earned.

Advertising — The Company requires advertising payments from franchisees based on a percent of net sales. The Company also receives, from time to time,
payments from vendors that are to be used for advertising. Advertising funds collected are required to be spent for specific advertising purposes. Advertising
revenue and associated expense is recorded on the Company’s audited consolidated statement of operations. Assets and liabilities associated with the related
advertising fees are reflected in the Company’s audited consolidated balance sheet.

Share-based compensation — The Company has a stock option plan which provides for options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. Options issued
under the plan may have a variety of terms as determined by the Board of Directors including the option term, the exercise price and the vesting period. Options
granted to employees and directors are valued at the date of grant and recognized as an expense over the vesting period in which the options are earned.
Cancellations or forfeitures are accounted for as they occur. Stock options issued to non-employees as compensation for services are accounted for based upon the
estimated fair value of the stock option. The Company recognizes this expense over the period in which the services are provided. Management utilizes the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of the stock options issued by the Company. See Note 16 for more details on the Company’s share-based
compensation.

Earnings per share — The Company reports basic earnings or loss per share in accordance with FASB ASC 260, “Earnings Per Share”. Basic earnings per share is
computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the effect of dilutive securities during the reporting period. Any potentially dilutive securities that
have an anti-dilutive impact on the per share calculation are excluded. During periods in which the Company reports a net loss, diluted weighted average shares
outstanding are equal to basic weighted average shares outstanding because the effect of all potentially dilutive securities would be anti-dilutive.

The Company declared a stock dividend on February 7, 2019 and issued 245,376 shares of common stock in satisfaction of the stock dividend (See Note 18).
Unless otherwise noted, earnings per share and other share-based information for 2019 and 2018 have been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the impact of the
stock dividend.




Immaterial Adjustments Related to Prior Periods

During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company identified two immaterial potential adjustments to its previously issued financial statements. These potential
adjustments are (1) its assessment of the Series A-1 Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock and (2) its treatment of the store opening component of its franchise
fees under ASC 606.

Based on its assessment of the Series A-1 Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Company determined that an error occurred in the analysis of the rights that
the holders of the Series A-1 Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock have with respect to the conversion of the securities into shares of the Company’s common
stock. In our reassessment, the conversion rights did not represent a beneficial conversion feature as we had initially concluded at the time of issuance.

The Company originally adopted ASC 606 on January 1, 2018. During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company performed a study of other public company
restaurant franchisors’ application of ASC 606 and determined that a preferred, alternative industry application exists in which the store opening fee portion of the
franchise fees is amortized over the life of the franchise agreement rather than at milestones of standalone performance obligations in the franchise agreements. In
order to provide financial reporting consistent with other franchise industry peers, the Company applied this preferred, alternative application of ASC 606 during
the fourth quarter of 2019 on a prospective basis.

In accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 99, Materiality, codified in ASC 250 (“ASC 250”), Presentation of Financial Statements, and SAB
108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Consolidated Statements of Income, Balance Sheets,
Shareholders Equity and Cash Flows, also codified in ASC 250, management assessed the materiality of (1) the error in its treatment of the beneficial conversion
feature related to the Series A-1 Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock and (2) the adoption of the preferential accounting treatment under ASC 606. Based on
such analysis of quantitative and qualitative factors, the Company has determined that neither the error nor the adoption of the preferential accounting treatment
under ASC 606, in aggregate or individually, were material to any of the reporting periods affected, and no amendments to previously filed 10-Q or 10-K reports
with the SEC are required.




Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In June 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2018-07, Compensation — Stock Compensation
(Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting. The amendments in this update expand the scope of Topic 718 to include share-
based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from nonemployees. Prior to this update, Topic 718 applied only to share-based transactions to
employees. Consistent with the accounting requirements for employee share-based payment awards, nonemployee share-based payment awards within the scope of
Topic 718 are measured at grant-date fair value of the equity instruments that an entity is obligated to issue when the good has been delivered or the service has
been rendered and any other conditions necessary to earn the right to benefit from the instruments have been satisfied. The Company adopted ASU 2018-07 as of
December 31, 2018. The adoption of this accounting standard did not have a material effect on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements.

In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-09, Codification Improvements. This ASU makes amendments to multiple codification Topics. The transition and
effective date guidance are based on the facts and circumstances of each amendment. Some of the amendments in this ASU do not require transition guidance and
will be effective upon issuance of this ASU. The Company adopted ASU 2018-09 as of December 31, 2018. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material
effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations, and disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), requiring a lessee to recognize on the balance sheet the assets and liabilities for the rights
and obligations created by those leases with a lease term of more than twelve months. Leases will continue to be classified as either financing or operating, with
classification affecting the recognition, measurement and presentation of expenses and cash flows arising from a lease. This ASU is effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018 and requires a modified retrospective approach to adoption for lessees related to capital and operating leases
existing at, or entered into after, the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available. The Company
adopted ASU 2016-02 using the modified retrospective approach, using a date of initial application of December 31, 2018. The Company also elected the package
of practical expedients permitted under the standard, which allowed the company to carry forward historical lease classifications. The adoption of this standard as
of December 31, 2018 resulted in the Company recording Operating Lease Right of Use Assets and Operating Lease Liabilities on its audited consolidated
financial statements as of that date in the amount of $4,313,000 and $4,225,000, respectively. The adoption of this guidance did not have a significant effect on the
amount of lease expense recognized by the Company.

Adopting the new accounting standard for leases affected various financial statement line items for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019. The following table
provides the affected amounts as reported in these audited consolidated financial statements compared with what they would have been if the previous accounting
guidance had remained in effect.

As of December 29, 2019 (in thousands)

Amounts Under Previous

Amounts As Accounting
Reported Guidance
Audited Consolidated Balance Sheet:

Operating lease right of use assets $ 860 $ -
Operating lease right of use assets classified as held for sale 3216 8
Total operating lease right of use assets $ 4,076 $ -
Operating lease liabilities $ 880 § -
Operating lease liabilities associated with operating lease right of use

assets classified as held for sale 3,326 i
Total operating lease liabilities $ 4206 $ -
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair
Value Measurement.” This ASU adds, modifies and removes several disclosure requirements relative to the three levels of inputs used to measure fair value in
accordance with Topic 820, “Fair Value Measurement.” This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods
within that fiscal year. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the effect that this ASU will have on its financial position, results of
operations, and disclosures.

The FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40). The new guidance reduces complexity for the
accounting for costs of implementing a cloud computing service arrangement and aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a
hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and
hosting arrangements that include an internal use software license). For public companies, the amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. Implementation should be applied either retrospectively or
prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption. The effects of this standard on the Company’s financial position, results of operations
or cash flows are not expected to be material.

The FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes: This standard removes certain exceptions for recognizing deferred taxes for
investments, performing intraperiod allocation and calculating income taxes in interim periods. It also adds guidance in certain areas, including the recognition of
franchise taxes, recognition of deferred taxes for tax goodwill, allocation of taxes to members of a consolidated group, computation of annual effective tax rates
related to enacted changes in tax laws, and minor improvements related to employee stock ownership plans and investments in qualified affordable housing
projects accounted for using the equity method.

For public companies, the amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019,
with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2019-12 on our audited consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

NOTE 3. ACQUISITIONS

Acquisition of Elevation Burger

On June 19, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of EB Franchises, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, and its related companies (collectively,
“Elevation Burger”) for a purchase price of up to $10,050,000. Elevation Burger is the franchisor of Elevation Burger restaurants, with 44 locations in the U.S. and
internationally.

The purchase price consists of $50,000 in cash, a contingent warrant to purchase 46,875 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $8.00 per
share (the “Elevation Warrant”), and the issuance to the Seller of a convertible subordinated promissory note (the “Elevation Note”) with a principal amount of
$7,509,816, bearing interest at 6.0% per year and maturing in July 2026. The Elevation Warrant is only exercisable in the event that the Company merges with
FCCG. The Seller Note is convertible under certain circumstances into shares of the Company’s common stock at $12.00 per share. In connection with the
purchase, the Company also loaned $2,300,000 in cash to the Seller under a subordinated promissory note (the “Elevation Buyer Note™) bearing interest at 6.0%
per year and maturing in August 2026. The balance owing to the Company under the Elevation Buyer Note may be used by the Company to offset amounts owing
to the Seller under the Elevation Note under certain circumstances. In addition, the Seller will be entitled to receive earn-out payments of up to $2,500,000 if
Elevation Burger realizes royalty fee revenue in excess of certain amounts. As of the date of the acquisition, the fair market value of this contingent consideration
totaled $531,000. As of December 29, 2019, the contingent purchase price payable totaled $633,000 which includes the accretion of interest expense at an effective
interest rate of 18%.

The purchase documents contain customary representations and warranties of the Seller and provides that the Seller will, subject to certain limitations, indemnify
the Company against claims and losses incurred or suffered by the Company as a result of, among other things, any inaccuracy of any representation or warranty of
the Seller contained in the purchase documents.




The preliminary assessment of the fair value of the net assets and liabilities acquired by the Company for the acquisition of Elevation Burger was estimated at
$7,193,000. The allocation of the consideration to the preliminary valuation of net tangible and intangible assets acquired is presented in the table below (in
thousands):

Cash $ 10
Other assets 558
Intangible assets 7,140
Goodwill 521
Current liabilities 1)
Deferred franchise fees (758)
Other liabilities (187)
Total net identifiable assets $ 7,193

The assessment of fair value is preliminary and is based on information that was available to management and through the end of the fiscal year. If additional
information becomes available to management related to assets acquired or liabilities assumed subsequent to this preliminary assessment of fair value but not later
than one year after the date of the acquisition, measurement period adjustments will be recorded in the period in which they are determined, as if they had been
completed at the acquisition date.

Yalla Mediterranean Transactions

On December 3, 2018, the Company entered into an Intellectual Property Purchase Agreement and License (the “IP Agreement”), and Master Transaction
Agreement (the “Master Agreement”) with Yalla Mediterranean, LLC (“Yalla Med”), under which the Company agreed to acquire the intellectual property of the
restaurant business of Yalla Mediterranean, LLC (the “Yalla Business”) and to acquire in the future seven restaurants currently owned by Yalla Med. Yalla Med
owns and operates a fast-casual restaurant business under the brand name “Yalla Mediterranean,” specializing in fresh and healthy Mediterranean menu items, with
seven upscale fast casual restaurants located in Northern and Southern California.

The Company, through a subsidiary, acquired the intellectual property used in connection with the Yalla Business pursuant to the IP Agreement. Under the terms
of the IP Agreement, the purchase price for the intellectual property will be paid in the form of an earn-out, calculated as the greater of $1,500,000 or 400% of
Yalla Income, which includes gross franchise royalties as well as other items, as defined in the IP Agreement. The seller can require the Company to pay the
purchase price in up to two installments during the ten-year period following the acquisition. At the time of the acquisition, the purchase price recorded for the
intellectual property was $1,790,000. As of December 29, 2019, the purchase price payable totaled $2,154,000 which includes the accretion of interest expense at
an effective interest rate of 19%.

Additionally, pursuant to the Master Agreement, the Company agreed to acquire the assets, agreements and other properties of each of the seven existing Yalla
Mediterranean restaurants during a marketing period specified in the Master Agreement (the “Marketing Period”). The purchase price will be the greater of
$1,000,000 or the sum of (i) the first $1,750,000 of gross sale proceeds received from the sale of the Yalla Mediterranean restaurants to franchisee/purchasers, plus
(i1) the amount, if any, by which fifty percent (50%) of the net proceeds (after taking into consideration operating income or loss and transaction costs and
expenses) from the sale of the Yalla Mediterranean restaurants exceeds $1,750,000. At the time of the acquisition, the purchase price recorded for the net tangible
assets relating to the seven existing Yalla Mediterranean restaurants was $1,700,000. As of December 29, 2019, the purchase price payable totaled $1,718,000
which includes the accretion of interest expense at an effective interest rate of 5.4%.

The Company also entered into a Management Agreement under which its subsidiary will manage the operations of the seven Yalla Mediterranean restaurants and
market them for sale to franchisees during the Marketing Period. Once a franchisee/purchaser has been identified, Yalla Med will transfer legal ownership of the
specific restaurant to the Company’s subsidiary, which will then transfer the restaurant to the ultimate franchisee/purchaser who will own and operate the location.
During the term of the Management Agreement, the Company’s subsidiary is responsible for operating expenses and has the right to receive operating income from
the restaurants.
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Based on the structure of the transactions outlined in the Master Agreement, the IP Agreement, and the Management Agreement, the Company has accounted for
the transactions as a business combination under ASC 805.

The preliminary allocation of the total consideration recognized of $3,490,000 to the net tangible and intangible assets acquired in the Yalla Business is presented
in the table below (in thousands):

Cash $ 82
Accounts receivable 77
Inventory 95
Other assets 90
Property and equipment 2,521
Intangible assets 1,530
Goodwill 263
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (1,168)
Total net identifiable assets $ 3,490

Acquisition of Hurricane AMT, LLC

On July 3, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of Hurricane AMT, LLC, a Florida limited liability company (“Hurricane”), for a purchase price of
$12,500,000. Hurricane is the franchisor of Hurricane Grill & Wings and Hurricane BTW Restaurants. The purchase price of $12,500,000 was delivered through
the payment of $8,000,000 in cash and the issuance to the Sellers of $4,500,000 of equity units of the Company valued at $10,000 per unit, or a total of 450 units.
Each unit consists of (i) 100 shares of the Company’s newly designated Series A-1 Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock (the “Series A-1 Preferred Stock™) and
(ii) a warrant to purchase 127 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at $7.83 per share (the “Hurricane Warrants™).

The allocation of consideration to the net tangible and intangible assets acquired is presented in the table below (in thousands):

Cash $ 358
Accounts receivable 352
Other assets 883
Intangible assets 11,020
Goodwill 2,772
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (643)
Deferred franchise fees (1,885)
Other liabilities (357)
Total net identifiable assets $ 12,500

NOTE 4. REFRANCHISING

As part of its ongoing franchising efforts, the Company may, from time to time, make opportunistic acquisitions of operating restaurants in order to convert them
to franchise locations or acquire existing franchise locations to resell to another franchisee across all of its brands.

During the first quarter of 2019, the Company met all of the criteria requiring that certain assets used in the operation of certain restaurants be classified as held for

sale. As a result, the following assets have been classified as held for sale on the accompanying audited consolidated balance sheet as of December 29, 2019 (in
thousands):

December 29, 2019

Property, plant and equipment $ 1,912
Operating lease right of use assets 3,216
Total $ 5,128




Operating lease liabilities related to the assets classified as held for sale in the amount of $3,326,000, have been classified as current liabilities on the
accompanying audited consolidated balance sheet as of December 29, 2019.

During the year ended December 29, 2019, the operating restaurants incurred restaurant costs and expenses, net of revenue of $2,014,000, compared to $67,000 in
the prior period. In addition, the refranchising of these opportunistic acquisitions of operating restaurants for conversion to franchise locations and the acquisition
of existing franchise locations to resell to another franchisee resulted in the gains on the six store sales of $1,795,000 during the fiscal year ended December 29,
2019 with no comparable activity in 2018: The following table highlights the results of the Company’s refranchising program during 2019 (in thousands):

Fiscal year ended
December 29, 2019

Restaurant costs and expenses, net of revenue $ (2,014)
Gain on store sales 1,795
Refranchising loss $ (219)

During the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, a franchisee had entered into an agreement with the Company by which it agreed to sell two existing franchised
locations to the Company for its refranchising program. Additionally, during the fiscal year, the Company had completed transactions to sell the two locations to
new owners. Subsequent to December 29, 2019, as a result of COVID-19, the locations acquired from the existing franchisee became unavailable. The Company is
evaluating the impact of the event and determining which existing operating restaurants will be used as a replacement for the new owners (See Note 22).

NOTE 5. NOTES RECEIVABLE
Notes receivable consist of trade notes receivable and the Elevation Buyer Note.

Trade notes receivable are created when a settlement is reached relating to a delinquent franchisee account and the entire balance is not immediately paid. Trade
notes receivable generally include personal guarantees from the franchisee. The notes are made for the shortest time frame negotiable and will generally carry an
interest rate of 6% to 7.5%. Reserve amounts, on the notes, are established based on the likelihood of collection. As of December 29, 2019, these trade notes
receivable totaled $250,000, which was net of reserves of $123,000. As of December 30, 2018, these trade notes receivable totaled $277,000, which was net of
reserves of $149,000.

The Elevation Buyer Note was funded in connection with the purchase of Elevation Burger (See Note 3). The Company loaned $2,300,000 in cash to the Seller
under a subordinated promissory note bearing interest at 6.0% per year and maturing in August 2026. This Note is subordinated in right of payment to all
indebtedness of the Seller arising under any agreement or instrument to which the Seller or any of its affiliates is a party that evidences indebtedness for borrowed
money that is senior in right of payment to the Elevation Buyer Note, whether existing on the effective date of the Elevation Buyer Note or arising thereafter. The
balance owing to the Company under the Elevation Buyer Note may be used by the Company to offset amounts owing to the Seller under the Elevation Note under
certain circumstances. As part of the total consideration for the Elevation acquisition, the Elevation Buyer Note was recorded at a carrying value of $1,903,000,
which was net of a discount of $397,000. As of December 29, 2019, the balance of the Elevation Note was $1,814,000, which was net of a discount of $352,000.
During the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, the Company recognized $114,000 in interest income, with no comparable activity in 2018.
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NOTE 6. GOODWILL

Goodwill consists of the following (in thousands):

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018

Goodwill:

Fatburger $ 529§ 529
Buffalo’s 5,365 5,365
Hurricane 2,772 2,772
Ponderosa 1,462 1,462
Yalla 263 263
Elevation Burger 521 -

Total goodwill $ 10912 §$ 10,391

NOTE 7. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Other intangible assets consist of trademarks and franchise agreements that were classified as identifiable intangible assets at the time of the brands’ acquisition by
the Company or by FCCG prior to FCCG’s contribution of the brands to the Company at the time of the initial public offering (in thousands):

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018

Trademarks:

Fatburger $ 2,135  § 2,135
Buffalo’s 27 27
Hurricane 6,840 6,840
Ponderosa 7,230 7,230
Yalla 1,530 1,530
Elevation Burger 4,690 -

Total trademarks 22,452 17,762

Franchise agreements:

Hurricane — cost 4,180 4,180
Hurricane — accumulated amortization (482) (161)
Ponderosa — cost 1,640 1,640
Ponderosa — accumulated amortization (243) (132)
Elevation Burger — cost 2,450 -
Elevation Burger — accumulated amortization (263) -
Total franchise agreements 7,282 5,527
Total Other Intangible Assets $ 29,734 $ 23,289

The expected future amortization of the Company’s capitalized franchise agreements is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal year:

2020 $ 932
2021 932
2022 932
2023 932
2024 932
Thereafter 2,622
Total $ 7,282

NOTE 8. DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred income is as follows (in thousands):

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018

Deferred franchise fees $ 5417 $ 6,711
Deferred royalties 422 653
Deferred advertising revenue 303 333
Total $ 6,142 $ 7,697




NOTE 9. INCOME TAXES

Effective October 20, 2017, the Company entered into a Tax Sharing Agreement with FCCG that provides that FCCG will, to the extent permitted by applicable
law, file consolidated federal, California and Oregon (and possibly other jurisdictions where revenue is generated, at FCCG’s election) income tax returns with the
Company and its subsidiaries. The Company will pay FCCG the amount that its current tax liability would have been had it filed a separate return. To the extent
the Company’s required payment exceeds its share of the actual combined income tax liability (which may occur, for example, due to the application of FCCG’s
net operating loss carryforwards), the Company will be permitted, in the discretion of a committee of its board of directors comprised solely of directors not
affiliated with or having an interest in FCCG, to pay such excess to FCCG by issuing an equivalent amount of its common stock in lieu of cash, valued at the fair
market value at the time of the payment. An inter-company receivable of approximately $25,967,000 due from FCCG and its affiliates will be applied first to
reduce excess income tax payment obligations to FCCG under the Tax Sharing Agreement.

For financial reporting purposes, the Company has recorded a tax provision calculated as if the Company files its tax returns on a stand-alone basis. The amount
payable to FCCG determined by this calculation of $51,000 was offset against amounts due from FCCG as of December 29, 2019. For the year ended December
30, 2018, the tax calculation resulted in an increase in the amount owed to the Company by FCCG in the amount of $195,000. (See Note 14.)

Deferred taxes reflect the net effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts
used for calculating taxes payable on a stand-alone basis. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018

Deferred tax assets (liabilities)

Deferred income $ 1,353 § 1,779
Reserves and accruals 208 346
Intangibles (614) (532)
Deferred state income tax 1) (72)
Tax credits 244 126
Share-based compensation 192 131
Interest expense - 439
Fixed assets (137) -
Net operating loss carryforwards 894 43
Other (17) (24)
Total $ 2,032 $ 2,236

Components of the income tax expense (benefit) are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended
December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018
Current
Federal $ 29 % (79)
State 34 88
Foreign 244 220
307 229
Deferred
Federal 291 (381)
State (88) (123)
203 (504)
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ 510 $ (275)




Income tax provision related to continuing operations differ from the amounts computed by applying the statutory income tax rate to pretax income as follows (in
thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018
Tax benefit at statutory rate $ 107) S (435)
State and local income taxes (43) 27)
Foreign taxes 244 216
Tax credits (24) (203)
Dividends on preferred stock 372 200
Meals and entertainment 42 6
Other 26 (32)
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ 510 $ (275)

As of December 29, 2019, the Company’s subsidiaries’ annual tax filings for the prior three years are open for audit by Federal and for the prior four years for state
tax agencies. The Company is the beneficiary of indemnification agreements from the prior owners of the subsidiaries for tax liabilities related to periods prior to
its ownership of the subsidiaries. Management evaluated the Company’s overall tax positions and has determined that no provision for uncertain income tax
positions is necessary as of December 29, 2019.

NOTE 10. LEASES

The Company has recorded nine operating leases for corporate offices and for certain restaurant properties that are in the process of being refranchised. The
Company is not a guarantor to the leases for the restaurant locations. The leases have remaining lease terms ranging from four months to 7.5 years. Five of the
leases also have options to extend the term for 5 to 10 years. The Company recognized lease expense of $1,441,000 and $304,000 for the fiscal years ended
December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, respectively. The weighted average remaining lease term of the operating leases (not including optional lease
extensions) at December 29, 2019 was 5.8 years.

Operating lease right of use assets and operating lease liabilities relating to the operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

December 29, December 30,
2019 2018
Right of use assets $ 4,076 $ -
Lease liabilities $ 4206 $ -

The operating lease right of use assets and operating lease liabilities include obligations relating to the optional term extensions available on the five restaurant
leases based on management’s intention to exercise the options. The weighted average discount rate used to calculate the carrying value of the right of use assets
and lease liabilities was 15.9% as this was consistent with our incremental borrowing rate.

The contractual future maturities of the Company’s operating lease liabilities as of December 29, 2019, including anticipated lease extensions, are as follows (in
thousands):

Fiscal year:

2020 $ 1,109
2021 870
2022 898
2023 924
2024 684
Thereafter 4,882
Total lease payments 9,367
Less imputed interest 5,161
Total $ 4,206




Supplemental cash flow information for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 related to leases is as follows (in thousands):

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 1,080
Operating lease right of use assets obtained in exchange for new lease obligations:
Operating lease liabilities $ 856

NOTE 11. DEBT

Senior Secured Redeemable Debentures

On April 27, 2018, the Company established a credit facility with TCA Global Credit Master Fund, LP (“TCA”). The Company entered into a Securities Purchase
Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with TCA, pursuant to which TCA agreed to lend the Company up to $5,000,000 through the purchase of Senior Secured
Redeemable Debentures issued by the Company (the “Debentures”).

A total of $2,000,000 was funded by TCA in connection with the initial closing on April 27, 2018, and the Company issued to TCA an initial Debenture with a face
amount of $2,000,000, maturing on October 27, 2019 and bearing interest at the rate of 15% per annum. The Company had the right to prepay the Debentures, in
whole or in part, at any time prior to maturity without penalty. The Debentures required interest only payments during the first four months, followed by fully
amortizing payments for the balance of the term. The Company paid a commitment fee of 2% of issued Debentures for the facility and agreed to pay an investment
banking fee of $170,000 upon maturity of the Debentures. The Company used the net proceeds for working capital purposes and repayment of other indebtedness.

The amounts borrowed under the Purchase Agreement were guaranteed by the Company’s operating subsidiaries and by FCCG, pursuant to a Guaranty Agreement
in favor of TCA. The Company’s obligations under the Debentures were also secured by a Security Agreement, granting TCA a security interest in substantially all
of its assets. In addition, FCCG’s obligations under the Guaranty Agreement were secured by a pledge in favor of TCA of certain shares of common stock that Fog
Cutter holds in the Company. During the term of the Purchase Agreement, the Company was prohibited from incurring additional indebtedness, with customary
exceptions for ordinary course financing arrangements and subordinated indebtedness.

The entire balance of the Debenture was paid in full on July 3, 2018, and the credit facility was terminated.

The Company recognized interest expense of $62,000 for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018. Additionally, the Company recognized debt offering costs of
$143,000 and the investment banking fee of $170,000.

Term Loan

On July 3, 2018, the Company as borrower, and certain of the Company’s subsidiaries and affiliates as guarantors, entered into a new Loan and Security
Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with FB Lending, LLC (the “Lender”). Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Company borrowed $16.0 million in a term loan
(“Term Loan”) from the Lender. The Company used a portion of the loan proceeds to fund (i) the cash payment of $8.0 million to the members of Hurricane and
closing costs in connection with the acquisition of Hurricane, and (ii) to repay borrowings of $2.0 million plus interest and fees owing under the Company’s
existing loan facility with TCA Global Credit Master Fund, LP. The Company used the remaining proceeds for general working capital purposes.
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In connection with the Loan Agreement, the Company also issued warrants to purchase up to 509,604 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at $7.20 per share
to the Lender (the “Lender Warrant”). Warrants were also issued to certain loan placement agents to purchase 66,691 shares of the Company’s common stock at
$7.20 per share (the “Placement Agent Warrants”) (See Note 17).

As security for its obligations under the Loan Agreement, the Company granted a lien on substantially all of its assets to the Lender. In addition, certain of the
Company’s subsidiaries and affiliates entered into a Guaranty (the “Guaranty”) in favor of the Lender, pursuant to which they guaranteed the obligations of the
Company under the Loan Agreement and granted as security for their guaranty obligations a lien on substantially all of their assets.

On January 29, 2019, the Company refinanced the FB Lending term loan. The payoff amount was $18,095,000 which included principal in the amount of
$16,400,000 and accrued interest and prepayment fees of $1,695,000. During the year ended December 29, 2019, the Company recorded interest expense of
$1,337,000, primarily relating to the charge off of unaccreted debt discount of $349,000 and unamortized debt offering costs of $651,000. The Company
recognized interest expense on the Term Loan of $3,301,000 for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018, which includes $400,000 of extension fees, $1,360,000
of prepayment penalties, $222,000 in accretion expense and $217,000 for amortization of debt offering costs.

The Lender Warrant will remain outstanding until it is exercised or expires (See Note 17).

Loan and Security Agreement

On January 29, 2019, the Company as borrower, and its subsidiaries and affiliates as guarantors, entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan and
Security Agreement”) with The Lion Fund, L.P. and The Lion Fund II, L.P. (“Lion”). Pursuant to the Loan and Security Agreement, the Company borrowed $20.0
million from Lion, and utilized the proceeds to repay the existing $16.0 million term loan from FB Lending, LLC plus accrued interest and fees, and provide
additional general working capital to the Company.

The term loan under the Loan and Security Agreement was due to mature on June 30, 2020. Interest on the term loan accrued at an annual fixed rate of 20.0% and
was payable quarterly. The Company was allowed to prepay all or a portion of the outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest under the Loan and
Security Agreement at any time upon prior notice to Lion without penalty, other than a make-whole provision providing for a minimum of six months’ interest.
The Company was required to prepay all or a portion of the outstanding principal and accrued unpaid interest under the Loan and Security Agreement in
connection with certain dispositions of assets, extraordinary receipts, issuances of additional debt or equity, or a change of control of the Company.

In connection with the Loan and Security Agreement, the Company issued to Lion a warrant to purchase up to 1,167,404 shares of the Company’s Common Stock
at $0.01 per share (the “Lion Warrant”), exercisable only if the amounts outstanding under the Loan and Security Agreement were not repaid in full prior to
October 1, 2019. If the Loan and Security Agreement was repaid in full prior to October 1, 2019, the Lion Warrant would be terminated in its entirety.

As security for its obligations under the Loan Agreement, the Company granted a lien on substantially all of its assets to Lion. In addition, certain of the
Company’s subsidiaries and affiliates entered into a Guaranty (the “Guaranty”) in favor of Lion, pursuant to which they guaranteed the obligations of the Company
under the Loan and Security Agreement and granted as security for their guaranty obligations a lien on substantially all of their assets.

The Loan and Security Agreement contained customary affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that limited or restricted the Company’s ability to,
among other things, incur other indebtedness, grant liens, merge or consolidate, dispose of assets, pay dividends or make distributions, in each case subject to
customary exceptions. The Loan and Security Agreement also included customary events of default that included, among other things, non-payment, inaccuracy of
representations and warranties, covenant breaches, events that result in a material adverse effect (as defined in the Loan and Security Agreement), cross default to
other material indebtedness, bankruptcy, insolvency and material judgments. The occurrence and continuance of an event of default could have resulted in the
acceleration of the Company’s obligations under the Loan and Security Agreement and an increase in the interest rate by 5.0% per annum.
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On the issuance date, the Company evaluated the allocation of the proceeds between the Loan and Security Agreement and the Lion Warrant based on the relative
fair values of each. Since the Lion Warrant only was to become effective if the amounts outstanding under the Loan and Security Agreement were not repaid in full
prior to October 1, 2019, no value was assigned to it as of the grant date. The Company intended to refinance the debt prior to the beginning of the exercise period
of the Lion Warrant.

On June 19, 2019, the Company amended its existing loan facility with Lion. The Company entered into a First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (the
“First Amendment”), which amended the Loan and Security Agreement originally dated January 29, 2019. Pursuant to the First Amendment, the Company
increased its borrowings by $3,500,000 in order to fund the Elevation Buyer Note in connection with the acquisition of Elevation, acquire other assets and pay fees
and expenses of the transactions. The First Amendment also added the acquired Elevation-related entities as guarantors and loan parties.

On July 24, 2019, the Company entered into a first amendment to the Lion Warrant, which extended the date on which the Lion Warrant was initially exercisable
from October 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020, which coincided with the maturity date of the loans made under the Loan Agreement. The Lender Warrant was only
exercisable if the amounts outstanding under the Loan Agreement were not repaid in full prior to the Exercise Date.

The Company agreed to pay the Lenders an extension fee of $500,000 in the form of an increase in the principal amount loaned under the Loan and Security
Agreement, and on July 24, 2019 entered into a second amendment to the Loan Agreement (the “Second Amendment”) to reflect this increase. Under the Second
Amendment, the parties also agreed to amend the Loan and Security Agreement to provide for a late fee of $400,000 payable if the Company failed to make any
quarterly interest payment by the fifth business day after the end of each fiscal quarter.

As of December 29, 2019, the total principal amount due under the Loan and Security Agreement was $24,000,000 and the net carrying value of obligation under
the Loan and Security Agreement was $23,849,000, which is net of unamortized debt offering costs of $151,000.

The Company recognized interest expense on the Loan and Security Agreement of $4,881,000 for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, which includes
$227,000 for amortization of debt offering costs and a $500,000 loan extension fee, with no comparable activity in 2018. The effective interest rate for the facility
under the Loan and Security Agreement during 2019 was 23.9%.

The Company repaid the Loan and Security Agreement in full on March 9, 2020 (See Note 22).
Elevation Note

On June 19, 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of Elevation Burger. A portion of the purchase price included the issuance to the Seller of a convertible
subordinated promissory note (the “Elevation Note”) with a principal amount of $7,509,816, bearing interest at 6.0% per year and maturing in July 2026. The
Elevation Note is convertible under certain circumstances into shares of the Company’s common stock at $12.00 per share. In connection with the valuation of the
acquisition of Elevation Burger, the Elevation Note was recorded on the financial statements of the Company at $6,185,000, which is net of a loan discount of
$1,295,000 and debt offering costs of $30,000. As of December 29, 2019, the carrying value of the Elevation Note was $5,847,000 which is net of the loan
discount of $1,149,000 and debt offering costs of $66,000. The Company recognized interest expense relating to the Elevation Note during the year ended
December 29, 2019 in the amount of $383,000, which included amortization of the loan discount of $146,000 and amortization of $5,000 in debt offering costs,
with no comparable activity is 2018. The effective interest rate for the Elevation Note during 2019 was 12.5%.

The Company is required to make fully amortizing payments of $110,000 per month during the term of the Elevation Note. The Elevation Note is a general
unsecured obligation of Company and is subordinated in right of payment to all indebtedness of the Company arising under any agreement or instrument to which
Company or any of its Affiliates is a party that evidences indebtedness for borrowed money that is senior in right of payment. FCCG has guaranteed payment of
the Elevation Note.
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NOTE 12. NOTE PAYABLE TO FCCG

Effective October 20, 2017, FCCG contributed two of its operating subsidiaries, Fatburger and Buffalo’s, to the Company in exchange for an unsecured promissory
note with a principal balance of $30,000,000, bearing interest at a rate of 10.0% per annum, and maturing in five years (the “Related Party Debt”). The contribution
was consummated pursuant to a Contribution Agreement between the Company and FCCG. Approximately $19,778,000 of the note payable to FCCG was
subsequently repaid, reducing the balance to $10,222,000 at June 26, 2018. On June 27, 2018, the Company entered into the Note Exchange Agreement, as
amended, under which it agreed with FCCG to exchange $9,272,053 of the remaining balance of the Company’s outstanding Related Party Debt for shares of
capital stock of the Company in the following amounts:

e $2,000,000 of the Related Party Debt balance was exchanged for 20,000 shares of Series A Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock of the Company at
$100 per share and warrants to purchase 25,000 of the Company’s common stock with an exercise price of $8.00 per share; and

e A portion of the remaining Related Party Debt balance of $7,272,053 was exchanged for 1,010,420 shares of Common Stock of the Company,
representing an exchange price of $7.20 per share, which was the closing trading price of the Common Stock on June 26, 2018.

Following the exchange, the remaining balance of the Related Party Debt was $950,000. As of December 30, 2018, the Related Party Debt had been repaid in full.
The transactions described above were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) pursuant to the
exemption for transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Rule 506 of Regulation D of the Securities
Act and in reliance on similar exemptions under applicable state laws.

The Company recognized interest expense on the note payable to FCCG of $888,000 for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018.

NOTE 13. PREFERRED STOCK

Series B Cumulative Preferred Stock

On October 3 and October 4, 2019, the Company completed the initial closing of its continuous public offering (the “Series B Preferred Offering”) of up to
$30,000,000 of units (the “Series B Units”) at $25.00 per Series B Unit, with each Series B Unit comprised of one share of 8.25% Series B Cumulative Preferred
Stock (“Series B Preferred Stock™) and 0.60 warrants (the “Series B Warrants™) to purchase common stock at $8.50 per share, exercisable for five years.

The offering includes up to 1,200,000 shares of Series B Preferred Stock and Series B Warrants initially exercisable to purchase up to an aggregate of 720,000
shares of our common stock. The shares of Series B Preferred Stock and Series B Warrants will be issued separately but can only be purchased together in the
Series B Preferred Offering. Each Warrant will be immediately exercisable and will expire on the five-year anniversary of the date of issuance.

The Company will pay cumulative dividends on the Series B Preferred Stock from and including the date of original issuance in the amount of $2.0625 per share
each year, which is equivalent to 8.25% of the $25.00 liquidation preference per share. Dividends on the Series B Preferred Stock will be payable quarterly in
arrears based on the Company’s fiscal quarters.

The Company may not redeem the Series B Preferred Stock before the first anniversary of the initial issuance date. After the first anniversary of the initial issuance
date the Company has the option to redeem the Series B Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, for cash plus any accrued and unpaid dividends to the date of
redemption at the following redemption price per share:

e  After the first anniversary and on or prior to the second anniversary at $27.50 per share
e  After the second anniversary and on or prior to the third anniversary at $26.125 per share

e  After the third anniversary at $25.00 per share
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The Series B Preferred Stock will mature on the five-year anniversary of the initial issuance date or the earlier liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the
Company. Upon maturity, the holders of Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive cash redemption of their shares in an amount equal to $25.00 per share
plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

Holders of Series B Preferred Stock have the option to cause the Company to redeem all or any portion of their Series B Preferred Stock following the first
anniversary of the initial issuance date for cash at the following redemption prices per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends:

After the first anniversary and on or prior to the second anniversary at $22.00 per share

After the second anniversary and on or prior to the third anniversary at $22.50 per share
After the third anniversary and on or prior to the fourth anniversary at $23.00 per share

After the fourth anniversary at $25.00 per share

The rights of holders of Series B Preferred Stock to receive their liquidation preference also will be subject to the proportionate rights of our Series A Fixed Rate
Cumulative Preferred Stock and any other class or series of our capital stock ranking in parity with the Series B Preferred Stock as to liquidation.

As of December 29, 2019, there were 57,140 shares of Series B Preferred Stock outstanding.

The Company classified the Series B Preferred Stock as long-term debt because it contains an unconditional obligation requiring the Company to redeem the
instruments at the maturity date or upon the election of the holders as described above in cash. The associated Series B Warrants have been recorded as additional
paid-in capital. On the issuance date, the Company allocated the proceeds between the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series B Warrants based on the relative fair
values of each. The aggregate values assigned upon issuance of each component were as follows (amounts in thousands, except price per unit):

Series B Series B
Warrants Preferred
(equity Stock (debt
component) component) Total
Series B Preferred Offering:
Gross proceeds $ 21 $ 1,407 $ 1,428
Issuance costs - (360) (360)
Net proceeds $ 21 $ 1,047 $ 1,068
Subscription price per unit $ 037 $ 2463 $ 25.00
Consolidated balance sheet impact at issuance:
Long-term debt, net of debt discount and offering costs $ - 8 1,047 $ 1,047
Additional paid-in capital $ 21 $ - S 21

As of December 29, 2019, the net Series B Preferred Stock balance was $1,071,000 including an unaccreted debt discount of $15,000 and unamortized debt
offering costs of $342,000.

The Company recognized interest expense on the Series B Preferred Stock of $47,000 for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, which includes accretion
expense of the debt discount of $6,000 and amortization of debt offering costs of $17,000.

The effective interest rate for the Series B Preferred Stock for 2019 was 19.8%.
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Series A Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock

On June 8, 2018, the Company filed a Certificate of Designation of Rights and Preferences of Series A Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock (“Series A
Preferred Stock”) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the “Certificate of Designation”), designating a total of 100,000 shares of Series A Preferred
Stock. The Certificate of Designation contains the following terms pertaining to the Series A Preferred Stock:

Dividends — Holders of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive cumulative dividends on the $100.00 per share stated liquidation preference of the
Series A Preferred Stock, in the amount of (i) cash dividends at a rate of 9.9% per year, plus (ii) deferred dividends equal to 4.0% per year, payable on the
Mandatory Redemption Date (defined below).

Voting Rights — As long as any shares of Series A Preferred Stock are outstanding and remain unredeemed, the Company may not, without the majority vote of the
Series A Preferred Stock, (a) alter or change adversely the rights, preferences or voting power given to the Series A Preferred Stock, (b) enter into any merger,
consolidation or share exchange that adversely affects the rights, preferences or voting power of the Series A Preferred Stock, (c) authorize or increase any other
series or class of stock that has rights senior to the Series A Preferred Stock, or (d) waive or amend the dividend restrictions in Sections 3(d) or 3(e) of the
Certificate of Designation. The Series A Preferred Stock will not have any other voting rights, except as may be provided under applicable law.

Liquidation and Redemption - Upon (i) the five-year anniversary of the initial issuance date (June 8, 2023), or (ii) the earlier liquidation, dissolution or winding-up
of the Company (the “Series A Mandatory Redemption Date”), the holders of Series A Preferred Stock will be entitled to cash redemption of their shares in an
amount equal to $100.00 per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

In addition, prior to the Series A Mandatory Redemption Date, the Company may optionally redeem the Series A Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at the
following redemption prices per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends:

(1) On or prior to June 30, 2021: $115.00 per share.
(i) After June 30, 2021 and on or prior to June 30, 2022: $110.00 per share.
(iii) After June 30, 2022: $100.00 per share.

Holders of Series A Preferred Stock may also optionally cause the Company to redeem all or any portion of their shares of Series A Preferred Stock beginning any
time after the two-year anniversary of the initial issuance date for an amount equal to $100.00 per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends, which amount may
be settled in cash or Common Stock of the Company, at the option of the holder. If a holder elects to receive Common Stock, the shares will be issued based on the
20-day volume weighted average price of the Common Stock immediately preceding the date of the holder’s redemption notice.

As of December 29, 2019, there were 100,000 shares of Series A Preferred stock outstanding, issued in the following two transactions:

(1) OnJune 7, 2018, the Company entered into a Subscription Agreement for the issuance and sale (the “Offering”) of 800 units (the “Units”), with each
Unit consisting of (i) 100 shares of the Company’s newly designated Series A Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred
Stock”) and (ii) warrants (the “Series A Warrants™) to purchase 127 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at $7.83 per share. The sales price of
each Unit was $10,000, resulting in gross proceeds to the Company from the initial closing of $8,000,000 and the issuance of 80,000 shares of Series
A Preferred Stock and Series A Warrants to purchase 102,125 shares of common stock (the “Subscription Warrants”).
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(i) On June 27, 2018, the Company entered into a Note Exchange Agreement, as amended, under which it agreed with FCCG to exchange all but
$950,000 of the remaining balance of the Company’s outstanding Promissory Note issued to the FCCG on October 20, 2017, in the original principal
amount of $30,000,000 (the “Note”). At the time, the Note had an estimated outstanding balance of principal plus accrued interest of $10,222,000
(the “Note Balance™). On June 27, 2018, $9,272,053 of the Note Balance was exchanged for shares of capital stock of the Company and warrants in
the following amounts (the “Exchange Shares”):

e §$2,000,000 of the Note Balance was exchanged for 200 Units consisting of 20,000 shares of Series A Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock of
the Company at $100 per share and Series A Warrants to purchase 25,530 of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $7.83 per
share (the “Exchange Warrants™); and

e $7,272,053 of the Note Balance was exchanged for 1,010,420 shares of Common Stock of the Company, representing an exchange price of
$7.20 per share, which was the closing trading price of the Common Stock on June 26, 2018.

The Company classifies the Series A Preferred Stock as long-term debt because it contains an obligation to issue a variable number of common shares for a fixed
monetary amount. As of December 29, 2019, the net Series A Preferred Stock balance was $9,913,000 including an unaccreted debt discount of $76,000 and
unamortized debt offering costs of $11,000.

The Company recognized interest expense on the Series A Preferred Stock of $1,415,000 for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, which includes accretion
expense of $22,000 and $3,000 for the amortization of debt offering costs. For the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018, the Company recognized interest expense
on the Series A Preferred Stock of $785,000 which includes accretion expense of $13,000 and $2,000 for the amortization of debt offering costs.

The effective interest rate for the Series A Preferred Stock for 2019 was 14.3%.

Series A-1 Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock

On July 3, 2018, the Company filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware a Certificate of Designation of Rights and Preferences of Series A-1 Fixed
Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock (the “Series A-1 Certificate of Designation”), designating a total of 200,000 shares of Series A-1 Fixed Rate Cumulative
Preferred Stock (the “Series A-1 Preferred Stock™). As of December 29, 2019, there were 45,000 shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. The
Series A-1 Certificate of Designation contains the following terms pertaining to the Series A-1 Preferred Stock:

Dividends. Holders of Series A-1 Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive cumulative dividends on the $100.00 per share stated liquidation preference of the
Series A-1 Preferred Stock, in the amount of cash dividends at a rate of 6.0% per year.

Voting Rights. As long as any shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock are outstanding and remain unredeemed, the Company may not, without the majority vote of
the Series A-1 Preferred Stock, (a) materially and adversely alter or change the rights, preferences or voting power given to the Series A-1 Preferred Stock, (b)
enter into any merger, consolidation or share exchange that materially and adversely affects the rights, preferences or voting power of the Series A-1 Preferred
Stock, or (c¢) waive or amend the dividend restrictions in Sections 3(d) or 3(e) of the Certificate of Designation. The Series A-1 Preferred Stock will not have any
other voting rights, except as may be provided under applicable law.

Liquidation and Redemption. Upon (i) the five-year anniversary of the initial issuance date (July 3, 2023), or (ii) the earlier liquidation, dissolution or winding-up
of the Company (the “Series A-1 Mandatory Redemption Date”), the holders of Series A-1 Preferred Stock will be entitled to cash redemption of their shares in an
amount equal to $100.00 per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends. In addition, prior to the Mandatory Redemption Date, the Company may optionally
redeem the Series A-1 Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at par plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.
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Holders of Series A-1 Preferred Stock may also optionally cause the Company to redeem all or any portion of their shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock beginning
any time after the two-year anniversary of the initial issuance date for an amount equal to $100.00 per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends, which amount
may be settled in cash or Common Stock of the Company, at the option of the holder. If a holder elects to receive Common Stock, shares will be issued as payment
for redemption at the rate of $11.75 per share of Common Stock.

As of December 29, 2019, there were 45,000 shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock outstanding.

The Company classifies the Series A-1 Preferred Stock as long-term debt because it contains an obligation to issue a variable number of common shares for a fixed
monetary amount.

As of December 29, 2019, the net Series A-1 Preferred Stock balance was $4,343,000 including an unaccreted debt discount of $133,000 and unamortized debt
offering costs of $24,000.

The Company recognized interest expense on the Series A-1 Preferred Stock of $309,000 for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, which included recognized
accretion expense of $32,000 and $7,000 for the amortization of debt offering costs. The Company recognized interest expense on the Series A-1 Preferred Stock
of $135,000 for the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018 which included accretion expense on the Series A-1 Preferred Stock of $15,000 and $4,000 for the
amortization of debt offering costs.

The effective interest rate for the Series A-1 Preferred Stock for 2019 was 7.2%.

The issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock and Series A-1 Preferred Stock was exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”) pursuant to the exemption for transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act
and Rule 506 of Regulation D of the Securities Act and in reliance on similar exemptions under applicable state laws. Each of the investors in the Offering
represented that it is an accredited investor within the meaning of Rule 501(a) of Regulation D and was acquiring the securities for investment only and not with a
view towards, or for resale in connection with, the public sale or distribution thereof. The securities were offered without any general solicitation by the Company
or its representatives.

NOTE 14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company had open accounts with affiliated entities under the common control of FCCG resulting in net amounts due to the Company of $25,967,000 as of
December 29, 2019 compared to $15,514,000 as of December 30, 2018. The receivable from FCCG bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum. During the fiscal
years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, the Company recorded accrued interest income on the balance of the receivable due from FCCG of
$1,528,000 and $825,000, respectively.

The net balance due from affiliates includes a preferred capital investment in Homestyle Dining LLC, a Delaware limited liability corporation (“HSD”) in the
amount of $4.0 million made effective July 5, 2018 (the “Preferred Interest”). FCCG owns all of the common interests in HSD. The holder of the Preferred Interest
is entitled to a 15% priority return on the outstanding balance of the investment (the “Preferred Return”). During the fiscal years ended December 29, 2019 and
December 30, 2018, the Company recorded accrued interest income of $600,000 and $300,000, respectively. Any available cash flows from HSD on a quarterly
basis are to be distributed to pay the accrued Preferred Return and repay the Preferred Interest until fully retired. On or before the five-year anniversary of the
investment, the Preferred Interest is to be fully repaid, together with all previously accrued but unpaid Preferred Return. FCCG has unconditionally guaranteed
repayment of the Preferred Interest in the event HSD fails to do so.

During the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, the Company recorded a payable to FCCG in the amount of $51,000 under the Tax Sharing Agreement, which
was offset against the intercompany receivable. During the fiscal year ended December 30, 2018, the Company recorded a receivable due from FCCG in the
amount of $195,000 relating to the Tax Sharing Agreement. (See Note 9).

Subsequent to December 29, 2019, on April 24, 2020, the Company entered into an Intercompany Revolving Credit Agreement with FCCG (“Intercompany
Agreement”). The Company had previously extended credit to FCCG pursuant to a certain Intercompany Promissory Note (the “Original Note™), dated October 20,
2017, with an initial principal balance of $11,906,000. Subsequent to the issuance of the Original Note, the Company and certain of its direct or indirect
subsidiaries made additional intercompany advances in the aggregate amount of $10,523,000. Pursuant to the Intercompany Agreement, the revolving credit
facility bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum, has a five-year term with no prepayment penalties, and has a maximum capacity of $35,000,000. All additional
borrowings under the Intercompany Agreement are subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, in advance, on a quarterly basis and may be subject to other
conditions as set forth by the Company. The initial balance under the Intercompany Agreement totaled $21,067,000 including the balance of the Original Note,
borrowings subsequent to the Original Note, accrued and unpaid interest income, and other adjustments through December 29, 2019. (See Note 22).
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On October 3 and October 4, 2019, the Company completed the initial closing of its continuous public offering (the “Series B Preferred Offering”) of up to
$30,000,000 of units (the “Series B Units”) at $25.00 per Series B Unit, with each Series B Unit comprised of one share of 8.25% Series B Cumulative Preferred
Stock (“Series B Preferred Stock™) and 0.60 warrants (the “Series B Warrants™) to purchase common stock at $8.50 per share, exercisable for five years. At the
initial closing of the Preferred Offering, the Company completed the sale of 43,080 Series B Units for gross proceeds of $1,077,000. The following reportable
related persons participated in the initial closing of the Company’s Preferred Offering:

e Andrew Wiederhorn, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, acquired 20,000 Series B Units for $500,000 comprised of 20,000 shares of Series B
Preferred Stock and 12,000 Series B Warrants to purchase 12,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at $8.50 per share, and

e Squire Junger, a member of the Company’s Board of Directors, acquired 5,000 Series B Units for $125,000 comprised of 5,000 shares of Series B
Preferred Stock and 3,000 Series B Warrants to purchase 3,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at $8.50 per share.

e In aggregate, Mr. Wiederhorn, Mr. Junger, and other related parties acquired 33,000 Series B Units for $825,000 comprised of 33,000 shares of Series B
Preferred Stock and 19,800 Series B Warrants to purchase 19,800 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at $8.50 per share.

NOTE 15. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

As of December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, the total number of authorized shares of common stock was 25,000,000, and there were 11,860,299 and
11,546,589 (unadjusted for the February 28, 2019 stock dividend) shares of common stock outstanding, respectively.

Below are the changes to the Company’s common stock during the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019:

e On February 7, 2019, the Company declared a stock dividend equal to 2.13% on its common stock, representing the number of shares equal to $0.12 per
share of common stock based on the closing price as of February 6, 2019. The stock dividend was paid on February 28, 2019 to stockholders of record as
of the close of business on February 19, 2019. The Company issued 245,376 shares of common stock at a per share price of $5.64 in satisfaction of the
stock dividend. Unless otherwise noted, the common stock share and share price information presented in these Notes to the Audited Financial Statements
for periods prior to February 28, 2019 have been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the impact of the stock dividend.

e  On February 22, 2019, the Company issued a total of 15,384 shares of common stock at a value of $5.85 per share to the non-employee members of the
board of directors as consideration for accrued directors’ fees.

e On May 21, 2019, the Company issued a total of 19,416 shares of common stock at a value of $4.64 per share to the non-employee members of the board
of directors as consideration for accrued directors’ fees.

e  On September 24, 2019, the Company issued a total of 17,142 shares of common stock at a value of $5.25 per share to the non-employee members of the
board of directors as consideration for accrued directors’ fees.

e  On November 14, 2019, the Company issued a total of 16,392 shares of common stock at a value of $5.49 per share to the non-employee members of the
board of directors as consideration for accrued directors’ fees.

NOTE 16. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Effective September 30, 2017, the Company adopted the 2017 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan is a comprehensive incentive compensation
plan under which the Company can grant equity-based and other incentive awards to officers, employees and directors of, and consultants and advisers to, FAT

Brands Inc. and its subsidiaries. The Plan provides a maximum of 1,021,250 shares available for grant.
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All of the stock options issued by the Company to date have included a vesting period of three years, with one-third of each grant vesting annually. The Company’s
stock option activity for fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 can be summarized as follows:

Weighted Average
Remaining
Weighted Average Contractual Life
Number of Shares Exercise Price (Years)

Stock options outstanding at December 30, 2018 681,633 $ 8.84 8.1
Grants 106,908  $ 5.64 9.7
Forfeited (66,060) $ 7.90 8.7
Expired -3

Stock options outstanding at December 29, 2019 722,481 $ 8.45 8.5
Stock options exercisable at December 29, 2019 328,483 § 9.94 8.1

The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes valuation model to record the stock-based compensation are as follows:

Including Non-Employee

Options
Expected dividend yield 4.00% - 10.43%
Expected volatility 30.23% - 31.73%
Risk-free interest rate 1.52% -2.85%
Expected term (in years) 5.50-5.75

The Company recognized share-based compensation expense in the amount of $262,000 and $439,000, respectively, during the fiscal years ended December 29,
2019 and December 30, 2018. As of December 29, 2019, there remains $150,000 of related share-based compensation expense relating to non-vested grants, which
will be recognized over the remaining vesting period, subject to future forfeitures.

NOTE 17. WARRANTS
From the Offering through December 29, 2019, the Company has issued the following outstanding warrants to purchase shares of its common stock:

e  Warrants issued on October 20, 2017 to purchase 81,700 shares of the Company’s stock granted to the selling agent in the Company’s initial public
offering (the “Common Stock Warrants”). The Common Stock Warrants are exercisable commencing April 20, 2018 through October 20, 2022. The
exercise price for the Common Stock Warrants is $14.69 per share, and the Common Stock Warrants were valued at $124,000 at the date of grant. The
Common Stock Warrants provide that upon exercise, the Company may elect to redeem the Common Stock Warrants in cash by paying the difference
between the applicable exercise price and the then-current fair market value of the common stock.

e  Warrants issued on June 7, 2018 to purchase 102,125 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $7.83 per share (the “Subscription
Warrants”). The Subscription Warrants were issued as part of the Subscription Agreement (see Note 13). The Subscription Warrants were valued at
$87,000 at the date of grant. The Subscription Warrants may be exercised at any time or times beginning on the issue date and ending on the five-year
anniversary of the issue date.
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Warrants issued on June 27, 2018 to purchase 25,530 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $7.83 per share (the “Exchange
Warrants”). The Exchange Warrants were issued as part of the Exchange (See Note 13). The Exchange Warrants were valued at $25,000 at the date of
grant. The Exchange Warrants may be exercised at any time or times beginning on the issue date and ending on the five-year anniversary of the issue
date.

Warrants issued on July 3, 2018 to purchase 57,439 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $7.83 per share (the “Hurricane
Warrants”). The Hurricane Warrants were issued as part of the acquisition of Hurricane. The Hurricane Warrants were valued at $58,000 at the date of
grant. The Hurricane Warrants may be exercised at any time or times beginning on the issue date and ending on the five-year anniversary of the issue
date.

Warrants issued on July 3, 2018 to purchase 509,604 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $7.20 per share (the “Lender
Warrant”). The Lender Warrant was issued as part of the $16 million credit facility with FB Lending, LLC (See Note 11). The Lender Warrant was
valued at $592,000 at the date of grant. The Lender Warrant may be exercised at any time or times beginning on the issue date and ending on the five-year
anniversary of the issue date.

Warrants issued on July 3, 2018 to purchase 66,691 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $7.20 per share (the “Placement Agent
Warrants”). The Placement Agent Warrants were issued to the placement agents of the $16 million credit facility with FB Lending, LLC (See Note 11).
The Placement Agent Warrants were valued at $78,000 at the date of grant. The Placement Agent Warrants may be exercised at any time or times
beginning on the issue date and ending on the five-year anniversary of the issue date.

Warrants issued on January 29, 2019, in connection with the Loan and Security Agreement (See Note 11), to purchase up to 1,167,404 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per share (the “Lion Warrant”), exercisable at any time between July 1, 2020 and January 29,
2024, but only if the amounts outstanding under the Loan and Security Agreement are not repaid in full on or before June 30, 2020. If the Loan and
Security Agreement is repaid in full on or before June 30, 2020, the Lion Warrant will terminate in its entirety. The Lion Warrants were not valued at the
date of grant due to the contingency relating to their exercise. The Lion Warrants were cancelled on March 9, 2020 in connection with the repayment of
the Loan and Security Agreement in full. (See Note 22)

Warrants issued on June 19, 2019, in connection with the acquisition of Elevation Burger (See Note 3), to purchase 46,875 shares of the Company’s
common stock at an exercise price of $8.00 per share (the “Elevation Warrant™), exercisable for a period of five years, but only in the event of a merger of
the Company and FCCG, commencing on the second business day following the potential merger and ending on the five year anniversary thereafter, at
which time the Elevation Warrant shall terminate The Elevation Warrants were not valued at the date of grant due to the contingency relating to their
exercise.

Warrants issued between October 3, 2019 and December 29, 2019, in connection with the sale of Series B Units (See Note 13), to purchase 34,284 shares
of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $8.50 per share (the “Series B Warrants”), exercisable for a period of five years from October 3,
2019. The outstanding Series B Warrants were valued at $21,000 at the date of grant.

The Company’s warrant activity for the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 is as follows:

Weighted Average

Remaining

Weighted Average Contractual

Number of Shares Exercise Price Life (Years)
Warrants outstanding at December 30, 2018 843,089 $ 8.06 3.5
Grants 1,248,563 0.54 5.0
Exercised - - -
Forfeited - - -
Expired 8 - -
Warrants outstanding at December 29, 2019 2,091,652 $ 3.57 4.3
Warrants exercisable at December 29, 2019 877,373 $ 8.08 3.5
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The weighted average fair value of the warrants granted from the Offering through December 29, 2019 and the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes valuation
model are as follows:

Warrants
Expected dividend yield 4.00% - 6.63%
Expected volatility 30.23% - 31.73%
Risk-free interest rate 0.99% - 1.91%
Expected term (in years) 3.80 - 5.00

NOTE 18. DIVIDENDS ON COMMON STOCK

The Company declared a stock dividend on February 7, 2019 equal to 2.13% on its common stock, representing the number of shares equal to $0.12 per share of
common stock based on the closing price as of February 6, 2019. The stock dividend was paid on February 28, 2019 to stockholders of record as of the close of
business on February 19, 2019. The Company issued 245,376 shares of common stock at a per share price of $5.64 in satisfaction of the stock dividend. No
fractional shares were issued, instead the Company paid stockholders cash-in-lieu of shares.

NOTE 19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation

Eric Rojany, et al. v. FAT Brands Inc., et al., Superior Court of California for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC708539, and Daniel Alden, et al. v.
FAT Brands Inc., et al., Superior Court of California for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC716017.

On June 7, 2018, FAT Brands, Inc., Andrew Wiederhorn, Ron Roe, James Neuhauser, Edward H. Rensi, Marc L. Holtzman, Squire Junger, Silvia Kessel, Jeff
Lotman, Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc., and Tripoint Global Equities, LLC (collectively” the “Original Defendants”) were named as defendants in a putative
securities class action lawsuit entitled Rojany v. FAT Brands, Inc., Case No. BC708539 (the “Rojany Case”), in the Superior Court of the State of California,

County of Los Angeles. On July 31, 2018, the Rojany Case was designated as complex, pursuant to Rule 3.400 of the California Rules of Court, and assigned the
matter to the Complex Litigation Program. On August 2, 2018, the Original Defendants were named defendants in a second putative class action lawsuit, Alden v.
FAT Brands, Case No. BC716017 (the “Alden Case”), filed in the same court. On September 17, 2018, the Rojany and Alden Cases were consolidated under the

Rojany Case number. On October 10, 2018, plaintiffs Eric Rojany, Daniel Alden, Christopher Hazelton-Harrington and Byron Marin (“Plaintiffs”) filed a First
Amended Consolidated Complaint against FAT Brands, Inc., Andrew Wiederhorn, Ron Roe, James Neuhauser, Edward H. Rensi, Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc.,
and Tripoint Global Equities, LLC (collectively, “Defendants”), thereby removing Marc L. Holtzman, Squire Junger, Silvia Kessel and Jeff Lotman as defendants.
On November 13, 2018, Defendants filed a Demurrer to First Amended Consolidated Complaint. On January 25, 2019, the Court sustained Defendants’ Demurrer
to First Amended Consolidated Complaint with Leave to Amend in Part. Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Consolidated Complaint on February 25, 2019. On
March 27, 2019, Defendants filed a Demurrer to the Second Amended Consolidated Complaint. On July 31, 2019, the Court sustained Defendants’ Demurrer to the
Second Amended Complaint in Part, narrowing the scope of the case. Defendants filed their Answer to the Second Amended Consolidated Complaint on
November 12, 2019. On January 29, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Class Certification. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification is fully briefed, and the
hearing on Plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification is set for April 23, 2020. Defendants dispute Plaintiffs’ allegations and will continue to vigorously defend
themselves in this litigation.
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Adam Vignola, et al. v. FAT Brands Inc., et al., United States District Court for the Central District of California, Case No. 2:18-cv-07469.

On August 24, 2018, the Original Defendants were named as defendants in a putative securities class action lawsuit entitled Vignola v. FAT Brands, Inc., Case No.
2:18-cv-07469-PSG-PLA, in the United States District Court for the Central District of California. On October 23, 2018, Charles Jordan and David Kovacs
(collectively, “Lead Plaintiffs”) moved to be appointed lead plaintiffs, and the Court granted Lead Plaintiffs’ motion on November 16, 2018. On January 15, 2019,
Lead Plaintiffs filed a First Amended Class Action Complaint against the Original Defendants. The allegations and claims for relief asserted in Vignola are
substantively identical to those asserted in the Rojany Case. Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss First Amended Class Action Complaint, or, in the Alternative, to
Stay the Action In Favor of a Prior Pending Action. On June 14, 2019, the Court denied Defendants’ motion to stay but granted Defendants” motion to dismiss the
First Amended Class Action Complaint, with Leave to Amend. Lead Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Class Action Complaint on August 5, 2019. On September
9, 2019, Defendants’ filed a Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended Class Action Complaint. On December 17, 2019, the Court granted Defendants’ Motion to
Dismiss the Second Amended Class Action Complaint in Part, Without Leave to Amend. The allegations remaining in Vignola are substantively identical to those
remaining in the Rojany Case. Defendants filed their Answer to the Second Amended Class Action Complaint on January 14, 2020. On December 27, 2019, Lead
Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Class Certification. By order entered March 16, 2020, the Court denied Lead Plaintiffs’ Motion for Class Certification. By order
entered April 1, 2020, the Court set various deadlines for the case, including a fact discovery cut-off of December 29, 2020, expert discovery cut-off of February
23,2021 and trial date of March 30, 2021. Defendants dispute Lead Plaintiffs’ allegations and will continue to vigorously defend themselves in this litigation.

The Company is obligated to indemnify its officers and directors to the extent permitted by applicable law in connection with the above actions, and has insurance
for such individuals, to the extent of the limits of the applicable insurance policies and subject to potential reservations of rights. The Company is also obligated to
indemnify Tripoint Global Equities, LLC under certain conditions relating to the Rojany and Vignola matters. These proceedings are ongoing and the Company is
unable to predict the ultimate outcome of these matters. There can be no assurance that the defendants will be successful in defending against these actions.

The Company is involved in other claims and legal proceedings from time-to-time that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company does not believe that
the ultimate resolution of these actions will have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.

Operating Leases

The Company leases corporate headquarters located in Beverly Hills, California comprising 6,137 square feet of space, pursuant to a lease that expires on
September 29, 2025, as well as an additional 2,915 square feet of space pursuant to a lease amendment that expires on February 29, 2024. The Company leases
1,775 square feet of space in Plano, Texas for pursuant to a lease that expires on March 31, 2021. As part of the acquisition of Elevation Burger, the Company
assumed a lease of 5,057 square feet of space in Falls Church, Virginia that expires on December 31, 2020. The Company subleases approximately 2,500 square
feet of this lease to an unrelated third party. The Company is not a guarantor to the leases of the Yalla restaurants that are being refranchised.

The Company believes that all existing facilities are in good operating condition and adequate to meet current and foreseeable needs.

NOTE 20. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND MAJOR FRANCHISEES

Revenues by geographic area are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ended Fiscal Year Ended

December 29, 2019 December 30, 2018
United States $ 18,624 $ 14,023
Other countries 3,881 4,344
Total revenues $ 22,505 $ 18,367
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Revenues are shown based on the geographic location of our licensee restaurants. All our assets are located in the United States.
During the fiscal years ended December 29, 2019 and December 30, 2018, no individual franchisee accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenues.
NOTE 21. OPERATING SEGMENTS

With minor exceptions, the Company’s operations are comprised exclusively of franchising a growing portfolio of restaurant brands. This growth strategy is
centered on expanding the footprint of existing brands and acquiring new brands through a centralized management organization which provides substantially all
executive leadership, marketing, training and accounting services. While there are variations in the brands, the nature of the Company’s business is fairly consistent
across its portfolio. Consequently, management assesses the progress of the Company’s operations as a whole, rather than by brand or location which become more
significant as the number of brands has increased.

As part of its ongoing franchising efforts, the Company will, from time to time, make opportunistic acquisitions of operating restaurants in order to convert them to
franchise locations. During the refranchising period, the Company may operate the restaurants.

The Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM?) is the Chief Executive Officer. The CODM reviews financial performance and allocates resources at an
overall level on a recurring basis. Therefore, management has determined that the Company has one operating and reportable segment.

NOTE 22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Pursuant to FASB ASC 855, Management has evaluated all events and transactions that occurred from December 29, 2019 through the date of issuance of these
audited consolidated financial statements. During this period, the Company did not have any significant subsequent events, except as disclosed below:

COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (COVID-19) as a pandemic, which continues to spread throughout the
United States and other countries. As a result, Company franchisees have temporarily closed some retail locations, reduced or modified store operating hours,
adopted a “to-go” only operating model, or a combination these actions. These actions have reduced consumer traffic, all resulting in a negative impact to
Company revenues. While the disruption is currently expected to be temporary, there is uncertainty around the duration. Therefore, while the Company expects this
matter to negatively impact our business, results of operations, and financial position, the related financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. As
additional information becomes available regarding the potential impact and the duration of the negative financial effects of the current pandemic, the Company
may determine that an impairment adjustment to the recorded value of trademarks, goodwill and other intangible assets may be necessary.

The Securitization described below had the effect of increasing the Company’s cash position and liquidity and is expected to help preserve its financial flexibility
during the period of uncertainty caused by the pandemic.
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Lion Loan and Security Agreement

From January 6, 2020 through February 21, 2020, the Company entered into a series of amendments to the Lion Loan and Security Agreement (the “Third Through
Seventh Amendments”), which granted five successive extensions of the due date for the payment of the quarterly interest payment which was originally due
January 6, 2020 (the “January Quarterly Interest”). The final result of the Third Through Seventh Amendments, extended the due date for the payment of the
January Quarterly Interest payment to March 13, 2020. The Company agreed to pay Lion a total extension fee of $650,000 with the interest payment. Upon
payment of the January Quarterly Interest and the extension fee, Lion agreed to waive other late fees which may accrue relating to the payment and waive any
default or event of default relating to the conversion of EB Franchises, LLC from a Virginia limited liability company to a Delaware limited liability company.

On March 6, 2020, the Company repaid the Lion Loan and Security Agreement in full by making a total payment of approximately $26,771,000. This consisted of
$24,000,000 in principle, approximately $2,120,000 in accrued interest and $651,000 in penalties and fees. As a result of the prepayment, the Lion Warrant was
cancelled in its entirety.

Securitization
On March 6, 2020, the Company completed a whole business securitization (the “Securitization) through the creation of a bankruptcy-remote issuing entity, FAT

Brands Royalty I, LLC (“FAT Royalty”) in which FAT Royalty issued new notes pursuant to an asset-backed securitization (the “Securitization Notes”) and
indenture (the “Indenture”). The new notes consist of the following:

Public Optional Prepayment
Note Rating Seniority Issue Amount Coupon Date Final Maturity Date
A-2 BB Senior $ 20,000,000 6.50% 4/27/2021 4/27/2026
B-2 B Senior Subordinated $ 20,000,000 9.00% 4/27/2021 4/27/2026

Net proceeds from the issuance of the Securitization Notes were $37,314,000, which consists of the combined face amount of $40,000,000, net of discounts of
$246,000 and debt offering costs of $2,440,000. The discount and offering costs will be accreted as additional interest expense over the expected term of the
Securitization Notes.

A portion of the proceeds from the Securitization was used to repay the remaining $26,771,000 in outstanding balance under the Loan and Security Agreement
with Lion. As a result of the prepayment, the Lion Warrant was cancelled in its entirety. The remaining proceeds from the Securitization will be used for working
capital.

While the Securitization Notes are outstanding, scheduled payments of principal and interest are required to be made on a quarterly basis. It is expected that the
Securitization Notes will be repaid prior to the Final Maturity Date, with the anticipated repayment date occurring in January 2023 for the A-2 Notes and October
2023 for the B-2 Notes (the “Anticipated Repayment Dates”). If the Company has not repaid or refinanced the Securitization Notes prior to the applicable
Anticipated Repayment Date, additional interest expense will begin to accrue and all additional proceeds will be trapped for full amortization, as defined in the
related agreements.

The Notes are secured by substantially all of the assets of FAT Royalty, including the equity interests in the FAT Brands Franchising Entities as defined in the
Indenture. The restrictions placed on the Company’s subsidiaries require that the Company’s principal and interest obligations have first priority and amounts are
segregated weekly to ensure appropriate funds are reserved to pay the quarterly principal and interest amounts due. The amount of weekly cash flow that exceeds
the required weekly interest reserve is generally remitted to the Company. Once the required obligations are satisfied, there are no further restrictions, including
payment of dividends, on the cash flows of the subsidiaries.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any jurisdiction. No Notes or any interest or participation
thereof may be reoffered, resold, pledged or otherwise transferred unless such Note meets certain requirements as described in the Indenture.
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The Notes are subject to certain financial and non-financial covenants, including a debt service coverage ratio calculation, as defined in the related agreements. The
covenants, among other things, may limit the ability of certain subsidiaries to declare dividends, make loans or advances or enter into transactions with affiliates. In
the event that certain covenants are not met, the Notes may become partially or fully due and payable on an accelerated schedule. In addition, the Company may
voluntarily prepay, in part or in full, the Notes at any time following the Par Call Date, subject to certain make-whole interest obligations.

Intercompany Agreement

Subsequent to December 29, 2019, on April 24, 2020, the Company entered into an Intercompany Revolving Credit Agreement with FCCG (“Intercompany
Agreement”). The Company had previously extended credit to FCCG pursuant to a certain Intercompany Promissory Note (the “Original Note™), dated October 20,
2017, with an initial principal balance of $11,906,000. Subsequent to the issuance of the Original Note, the Company and certain of its direct or indirect
subsidiaries made additional intercompany advances in the aggregate amount of $10,523,000. Pursuant to the Intercompany Agreement, the revolving credit
facility bears interest at a rate of 10% per annum, has a five-year term with no prepayment penalties, and has a maximum capacity of $35,000,000. All additional
borrowings under the Intercompany Agreement are subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, in advance, on a quarterly basis and may be subject to other
conditions as set forth by the Company. The initial balance under the Intercompany Agreement totaled $21,067,000 including the balance of the Original Note,
borrowings subsequent to the Original Note, accrued and unpaid interest income, and other adjustments through December 29, 2019. (See Note 14).

Refranchising

During the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019, a franchisee had entered into an agreement with the Company by which it agreed to sell two existing franchised
locations to the Company for its refranchising program. Additionally, during the fiscal year, the Company had completed transactions to sell the two locations to
new owners. Subsequent to December 29, 2019, as a result of COVID-19, the locations acquired from the existing franchisee became unavailable. The Company is
evaluating the impact of the event and determining which existing operating restaurants will be used as a replacement for the new owners (See Note 4).
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Allowance for:
Trade notes and accounts receivable

FAT BRANDS INC.
SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 29, 2019

Dollars in thousands

Balance at Charged to
Beginning of Costs and Deductions/ Balance at
Period Expenses Recoveries End of Period
$ 744 $ 102 $ 607 239
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

NOT APPLICABLE.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

FAT BRANDS INC.

By: /s/ Andrew A. Wiederhorn
Andrew A. Wiederhorn
Chief Executive Officer

The undersigned directors and officers of FAT Brands Inc. do hereby constitute and appoint Andrew A. Wiederhorn and Rebecca D. Hershinger, and each
of them, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, as their true and lawful attorneys and agents, to do any and all acts and things in our name and behalf in
our capacities as directors and officers and to execute any and all instruments for us and in our names in the capacities indicated below, which said attorney and
agent, may deem necessary or advisable to enable said corporation to comply with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and any rules, regulations and
requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, in connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including specifically but without limitation,
power and authority to sign for us or any of us in our names in the capacities indicated below, any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments)
hereto, and we do hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorneys and agents, or either of them, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities indicated.

DATE NAME AND TITLE

April 27,2020 /s/ Andrew A. Wiederhorn
Andrew A. Wiederhorn
Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

April 27,2020 /s/ Rebecca D. Hershinger
Rebecca D. Hershinger
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

April 27,2020 /s/ Edward Rensi
Edward Rensi, Chairman of the Board

April 27, 2020 /s/ Marc L. Holtzman
Marc L. Holtzman, Director

April 27,2020 /s/ Squire Junger
Squire Junger, Director

April 27,2020 /s/ Silvia Kessel
Silvia Kessel, Director

April 27,2020 /s/ James Neuhauser
James Neuhauser, Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Incorporated By Reference to Filed
Number Description Form Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company
effective October 19, 2017. 10-Q 3.1 12/04/2017

32 Bylaws of the Company, effective May 21, 2017 1-A 32 09/27/2017

33 Certificate of Demgnatlon of Rights and Preferences of Series A Fixed 3K 31 06/13/2018
Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock

34 Certificate of Demgnatlon of Rights and Preferences of Series A-1 Fixed 3K 31 07/10/2018
Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock

3.5 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Designation of Series A Fixed 3K 31 02/28/2019
Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock

3.6 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Designation of Series A-1
Fixed Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock 8K 3.2 02/28/2019

3.7 Certlﬁca.te of Designation of Rights and Preferences of Series B 3K 31 10/09/2019
Cumulative Preferred Stock

4.1 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. dated October 20, 2017, issued to
Tripoint Global Equities, LLC. 10-Q 4.1 12/04/2017

4.2 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. dated June 7. 2018, issued to Trojan 10-Q 41 08/15/2018
Investments, LLC

43 Warrant to .Purchase Common Stock, dated June 27, 2018, issued to Fog 10-Q 49 08/15/2018
Cutter Capital Group, Inc.

4.4 Form of Warrants to Purchase Common Stock, dated July 3, 2018, issued 8-K 4.1 07/10/2018
to sellers of Hurricane AMT, LLC

4.5 Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. dated July 3. 2018, issued to FB 8-K 4.2 07/10/2018
Lending, LLC

4.6 Base Indenture, dated March 6, 2020, by and between FAT Brands Royalty 8-K 4.1 03/12/2020
L LLC, and UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee and securities intermediary.

4.7 Series 2020-1 Supplement to Base Indenture, dated March 6, 2020, by and 8-K 42 03/12/2020
between FAT Brands Royalty I. LLC. and UMB Bank. N.A., as trustee.

4.8 Description of Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of X
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

' .

10.1 Tax Sharing Agreerpent, dated October 20, 2017, between the Company 10-Q 102 12/04/2017

and Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc.
' ;

10.2 Voting Agreem@t, dated October 20, 2017, between the Company and 10-Q 103 12/04/2017
Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc.

10.3 Form of Indemmﬁcat.lon Agreement dgted October 20, 2017, between the 1A 6.3 09/06/2017
Company and each director and executive officer.

10.4 2017 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan 1-A 6.1 09/27/2017

10.5 Office Lease. dated November 10, 2016, by and among Duesenberg
Investment Company., LLC, Fatburger North America, Inc.. Fog Cutter 1-A 6.2 09/06/2017

Capital Group Inc., and Fatburger Corporation
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EXHIBIT 4.8
DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of April 27, 2020, FAT Brands Inc. registered its common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common Stock”) under Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Description of Common Stock

The following description of our Common Stock is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is subject to and qualified in its entirety by
reference to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation™), Certificates of Designation that designate various series of
preferred stock, and our Bylaws (the “Bylaws”), each of which are filed or incorporated by reference as exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this
Exhibit 4.8 is a part.

Voting Rights. Holders of our Common Stock are entitled to cast one vote per share. Holders of our Common Stock are not entitled to cumulate their
votes in the election of directors. Generally, all matters to be voted on by stockholders must be approved by a majority (or, in the case of election of
directors, by a plurality) of the votes entitled to be cast by all stockholders present in person or represented by proxy, voting together as a single class.
Except as otherwise provided by law, amendments to the Certificate of Incorporation must be approved by a majority or, in some cases, a super-majority
of the combined voting power of all shares entitled to vote, voting together as a single class.

Dividend Rights. Holders of Common Stock share ratably (based on the number of shares of Common Stock held) if and when any dividend is declared
by the board of directors out of funds legally available therefor, subject to any statutory or contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends and to
any restrictions on the payment of dividends imposed by the terms of any outstanding preferred stock.

Liquidation Rights. On our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, each holder of Common Stock will be entitled to a pro rata distribution of any assets
available for distribution to common stockholders.

Other Matters. No shares of Common Stock are subject to redemption or have preemptive rights to purchase additional shares of Common Stock.
Holders of shares of our Common Stock do not have subscription, redemption or conversion rights. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions

applicable to the Common Stock.

Authorized Shares. Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 25,000,000 shares of Common Stock, and up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred
stock, par value $0.0001 per share.

Listing. The Common Stock is listed for trading on The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC.




Exhibit 10.11

INTERCOMPANY REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS INTERCOMPANY REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of April 24, 2020, by and between
FAT Brands Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Lender”), and Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc., a Maryland corporation (“Borrower” and, together with Lender, the
“Parties” and each, a “Party”).

RECITALS
WHEREAS, Lender has previously extended credit to Borrower pursuant to that certain Intercompany Promissory Note, dated October 20, 2017, with an
initial principal balance of $11,906,000 (the “Original Note”), and Lender and certain of its direct or indirect subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries””) have made

additional intercompany advances to Borrower following the date of the Original Note through December 29, 2019 in the aggregate amount of $10,523,000 (the
“Prior Revolving Loans”);

WHEREAS, Borrower has requested that the Prior Revolving Loans be converted into initial balances of borrowings under this Agreement payable to
Lender or the Subsidiaries, as applicable, and that the Lender commit to make additional extensions of credit as provided herein, all on the terms and subject to the

conditions described herein; and

WHEREAS, Lender is willing to convert the Prior Revolving Loans to borrowings under this Agreement, and to extend additional credit to Borrower under
the terms and conditions herein set forth.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and agreements set forth below, and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

1.1 Intercompany Debt.

(a) Starting Balance. As of December 29, 2019, the Original Note, the Prior Revolving Loans, other adjustments, and the aggregate balance of
accrued and unpaid interest thereon (which amounts are reflected on Schedule I as of such date) shall be converted into an initial balance of borrowings under this
Agreement in the aggregate amount of $21,067,000, and additional borrowings that were made during the first fiscal quarter of 2020 (which amounts will be
reflected on Schedule I) shall be added to the initial balance of borrowings under this Agreement (collectively, the “Starting Balance”). The amounts included in
the Starting Balance that are owed directly to Lender on the date hereof shall continue to be due and payable to Lender, and the amounts included in the Starting
Balance that are owed to each Subsidiary on the date hereof shall remain due and payable to such Subsidiary, as applicable.
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(b) Reborrowing. Following the date hereof, Borrower may at any time and from time to time (i) repay to Lender or the applicable Subsidiary,
and (ii) borrow and reborrow solely from Lender, and Lender shall be obligated to lend to Borrower, subject in all cases to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement and other agreements and instruments that may apply to Lender and/or any of the Subsidiaries from time to time, up to a maximum amount of
borrowings outstanding hereunder at any time of $35,000,000. Any such additional borrowings or reborrowings shall be subject to the approval by the Lender’s
board of directors, in advance on a quarterly basis and may be subject to other conditions set forth by the Lender.

(c) Interest. Borrower shall be charged interest on a daily basis for the outstanding balance of borrowings and accrued and unpaid interest under
this Agreement. The interest rate to be paid by Borrower shall be at a rate equal to ten percent (10.0%) per annum, compounded annually, and shall continue to
accrue until paid. Interest shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 days for the actual number of days elapsed.

(d) Schedules. Borrowings and accrued and unpaid interest hereunder shall be evidenced by one or more loan accounts or records maintained by
Lender in the ordinary course of business. Lender shall also attach and update on at least a quarterly basis Schedule I to this Agreement, detailing the balances and
payments made hereunder during each fiscal quarter of Lender.

1.2 Repayment. Borrower may repay at any time any and all outstanding borrowings hereunder without penalty. On the Maturity Date (defined below),
Borrower shall be obligated to repay in full the entire amount of outstanding borrowings hereunder plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon. Repayment of
borrowings hereunder and interest thereon may be made in cash, set off against other obligations owed by Lender to Borrower (including under the Tax Sharing

Agreement, dated October 20, 2017, between the Parties), or such other form as may be agreed by the Parties.

1.3 Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date hereof and shall continue until the five-year anniversary of the date
hereof, unless terminated earlier as provided below or extended by the mutual agreement of the Parties (the “Maturity Date”).

1.4 Termination. Either Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon the occurrence of any of the following events:

(a) A material breach of this Agreement by either Party that is not cured within thirty (30) days after receipt of written notice of such breach
from the other Party;

(b) Lender shall have the right to terminate this Agreement if Borrower or its affiliates own shares representing less than 80% of the voting
power of the outstanding Common Stock of Lender; or

(c) In no way limiting the foregoing, the Parties may terminate this Agreement by mutual consent memorialized in a writing reasonably
satisfactory to both Lender and Borrower.

1.5 Miscellaneous. The terms set forth in Schedule A attached hereto are incorporated by reference herein and shall apply to this Agreement as if fully set
forth herein.

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower and Lender have each caused this Agreement to be executed on the date and year first above written.
FOG CUTTER CAPITAL GROUP INC. (“Borrower”)

By: /s/ Ron Roe

Name: Ron Roe
Title: CFO

FAT BRANDS INC. (“Lender”)

By: /s/ Andrew A. Wiederhorn

Name: Andrew A. Wiederhorn
Title: CEO
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SCHEDULE A (Additional Terms)

The term “Agreement” shall refer to the agreement to which this Schedule A is attached. To the extent that there is any conflict between any provision of
this Schedule and any provision set forth in the body of this Agreement, the provision set forth in the body of this Agreement shall control.

A. Governing Law. The internal laws of the State of California (without reference to its principles of conflicts of law) govern the construction, interpretation
and other matters arising out of, relating to, or in connection with this Agreement, unless expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement.

B. Notices. Each Party giving any notice (a “Notice”) required or permitted under this Agreement will give the Notice in writing and use one of the
following methods of delivery to the Party to be notified, at the address set forth below or another address of which the sending Party has been notified in
accordance with this Schedule: (a) by telephone; or (b) in writing (which includes means of electronic transmission (i.e., “e-mail”) or facsimile
transmission). Any Notice shall be effective: (1) in the case of hand-delivery, when delivered; (2) if given by mail, four days after such Notice is
deposited with the United States Postal Service, with first-class postage prepaid, return receipt requested; (3) in the case of a telephonic Notice, when a
Party is contacted by telephone, if delivery of such telephonic Notice is confirmed no later than the next day on which the Party receiving the notice is
open for business by hand delivery, a facsimile or electronic transmission, or overnight courier delivery of a confirmatory notice (received at or before
noon on such next business day); (4) in the case of a facsimile transmission, when sent to the applicable Party’s facsimile machine’s telephone number if
the Party sending such Notice receives confirmation of the delivery thereof from its own facsimile machine; (5) in the case of electronic transmission,
when actually received; and (6) if given by any other means (including by overnight courier), when actually received. Until further notice, as provided
above, addresses for Notices shall be:

If to Borrower: Fog Cutter Capital Group Inc.
9720 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500
Beverly Hills, CA 90212
Attn: Chief Financial Officer

If to Lender: FAT Brands Inc.
9720 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500
Beverly Hills, CA 90212
Attn: Chief Financial Officer




Binding Effect and Assignment. This Agreement binds and benefits the Parties and their respective successors and assigns. No Party may assign any of its
rights or delegate any of its obligations under this Agreement without the written consent of Lender and Borrower, which consent may be withheld in
such Party’s sole and absolute discretion, and any assignment or attempted assignment in violation of the foregoing will be null and void.
Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, Lender may assign this Agreement in connection with (a) a merger transaction in which Lender is not the
surviving entity or (b) the sale of all or substantially all of its assets.

Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall
remain in full force.

Counterparts. The Parties may execute this Agreement in multiple counterparts, each of which constitutes an original as against the Party that signed it,
and all of which together constitute one agreement. The signatures of the Parties need not appear on the same counterpart. The delivery of signed
counterparts by facsimile or e-mail transmission that includes a copy of the sending Party’s signature is as effective as signing and delivering the
counterpart in person.

Certain Expenses. Each Party will be responsible its own respective costs, fees and expenses relating to this Agreement and the transactions hereunder.

Amendment. The Parties may amend this Agreement only by a written agreement signed by each of the Parties that identifies itself as an amendment to
this Agreement.

Waiver. No course of dealing and no delay or failure of any Party in exercising any right, power, remedy or privilege under this Agreement shall affect
any other or future exercise thereof or operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof or any abandonment or discontinuance of
steps to enforce such a right, power, remedy or privilege preclude any further exercise thereof or of any other right, power, remedy or privilege. The rights
and remedies of the Parties under this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies which they would otherwise have. Any
waiver, permission, consent or approval of any kind or character on the part of any Party of any breach or default under this Agreement or any such
waiver of any provision or condition of this Agreement must be in writing and shall be effective only to the extent specifically set forth in such writing.

Authority. Each Party represents to the other that (a) it has the corporate or other requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this
Agreement, (b) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or other action, (c) it has
duly and validly executed and delivered this Agreement, and (d) this Agreement is a legal, valid and binding obligation, enforceable against it in
accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights
generally and general equity principles.




Construction of Agreement.

(a) Any reference in this Agreement to the singular includes the plural where appropriate.

(b) Any captions, titles and headings, and any table of contents, included in this Agreement are for convenience only, and do not affect this
Agreement’s construction or interpretation.

(c) Language used in this Agreement is and shall be deemed language mutually chosen by the Parties hereto to express their mutual intent and no
rule of strict construction shall be applied against any Party.

(d) This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Parties hereto and the Lender’s Subsidiaries, and does not, and is not intended to, confer any
rights or remedies in favor of any other Person, including any creditor or stockholder of any Party.

29

(e) The words “including,” “includes,” or “include” are to be read as listing non-exclusive examples of the matters referred to, whether or not
words such as “without limitation” or “but not limited to” are used in each instance.

(f) Where this Agreement states that a Party “will” or “shall” perform in some manner or otherwise act or omit to act, it means that the Party is
legally obligated to do so in accordance with this Agreement.

(g) Unless otherwise expressly specified, all references in this Agreement to “dollars” or “$”” means United States Dollars.
Damages. IN NO EVENT WILL ANY PARTY BE LIABLE TO ANY OTHER PARTY FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT,
COLLATERAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO LOST PROFITS OR BUSINESS
INTERRUPTION DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED BASED UPON ANY THEORY OF LIABILITY.
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Fiscal Quarter

SCHEDULE I

QUARTERLY LOAN BALANCES AND PAYMENTS

Loans (net of repayment and
offsets) Made During Fiscal
Quarter

Interest Accrued During Fiscal
Quarter

Outstanding Balance at End of
Fiscal Quarter

Q42019
Q12020
Q22020
Q32020
Q4 2020
Q12021
Q22021
Q32021
Q42021
Q1 2022
Q22022
Q32022
Q42022
Q12023
Q22023
Q32023
Q42023

R R R A A R R R ARl Rl

R R R R AR i R A A AR AR -l AR

1
~
]

R R R R ARl R R AR R

21,067,000.00




AMENDED AND RESTATED OFFICE LEASE

9720 WILSHIRE

DUESENBERG INVESTMENT COMPANY, LLC,

a California limited liability company,
as Landlord,
and
FAT BRANDS INC.,
a Delaware corporation,

as Tenant.
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9720 WILSHIRE BOULEVARD
A NDED AND ATED OFFICE LEAS

This Amended and Restated Office Lease (the "Lease"), dated as of the date set forth in
Section | of the Summary of Basic Lease Information (the "Sammary"), below, is made by and
between DUESENBERG INVESTMENT COMPANY, LLC, a California limited liability
company ("Landlord”), and FAT BRANDS INC., a Delaware corporation ("Tenant"},

SUM Y BASIC LEASE INF N
13 [Date: November 18, 2019

i

Premises

2.1 Building: That certain office building located at 9720
Wilshire Boulevard, Beverly Hills, CA
G0212.

22 Premisces: 15213 peniable square feet of space
{the "Premises") consisting of (i) 2,915
rentable square feet of space, commonly
known as Swite 210 (the "Suwite 210
Premises”), located on the second (2% floor
of the Building, {1i) 6,137 rentable square feet
of space, commonly known as Suite 500
{the "Suite 500 Premises"), comprising the
entirety of the rentable aren, including the
restrooms, on the fifth (5" foor of the
Building {the Suite 210 Premises and the
Suile 500 Premises are collectively, the
"Original Premises"), and (iii) 6,161
rentable square feet of space, commonly
known as Suvite 500 (the "Additional
Premises"), comprising the entirely of the
rentable area, including the restrooms. on the
eighth (8") floor of the Building, all as further
set forth in Exhibit A 1o this Lense.

23 Project: See Section 1.1.2 of this Lease.

BRI, DAWILA, TP WILSI R E PO LY AR
BOWIAEBIT ¥ 11 ST chirh [We Birarwde, nz. |




3. Lesse Term
(Article 2).

i1 Length of Term:

32 Lease Conunencement Date:

LTS R o B
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The length of the teom of Tenant's lease of the
Suite 210 Premises, the Suite 500 Prenuses
and the Additional Premises shall eech have
separate terms as set forth below, and each
term, as applicable, is @ "Lease Term".

The Leasc Term with respect to the Saite 210
Premises shall commence on the Orginal
Premizes Commencement Date and shall
expire (unless earlier terminated pursuant (o
this Lease) on the Suite 210 Premiscs
Expiratiom Date {defined in Section 3 3 of this
Summary) (the "Suite 210 Lease Term").

The Lease Term with respect to the Suite 500
Premises shall commence on the Original
Premizes Commencement Date and shall
expire (unless earlier terminated prusuant to
this Lease) on the Suite 500/Additional
P'remises Expiration Drate (defined in Section
3.3 of this Summary) (the "Suite 300 Lease
Term").

The Lease Term with respect o the
Additional Premises shall commence on the
Addiional Premises Commencement Date
and shall expire (unless earlier temminated
pursuanl to this Lesse) on the Suile
500/ Additional Premiscs Expiration Date (the
"Additional Premises Lease Term").

Tenaut's lease of the Original Premises and
the Additional Premises shall commence
separately, as set forth below and esch date,
as applicable, is a "Lease Commencement
Date”,

With respect to the Onginal Premises, the
Lease Commencemend Date shall be the date
referenced in Section | above (the "Original
Premises Commencement Date"),

With respect to the Addifional Premises, the
Lease Commencement Date shall be the date

N WHSHIRHBOULFVARD
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33  Lease Expiration Date:

4, BaseRent (Article 3):

4.1 Amount Due:

Suite 210 Premises
Period During Annual
Lease Term Base Rent

Criginal Premises
Commencement Date -
February 29, 2020

March 1, 2020 -
February 28, 2021

March 1, 2021 -
Fehruary 28, 2022

March 1, 2022 -
February 28, 2023

March 1, 2023 -
February 29, 2024

CITRIER L
LiLP L2 T ek R R B T

NIA

5204544 2%

$211,712.72

$219,123.72

§226,793.04

that is sixty (60) days following the date
{the "Delivery Date"™) that Landlord delivers
the Additional Premises to Tenani (the
"Additional Premises Commencement
Date").

The Prenmses shall expire separately, as sel
forth below and each date, as applicable, s &
"Lease Expiration Date",

With respect to the Suite 210 Premises,
February 28, 2024 (also referred to herein as
the "Suire 210 Premises Expiration Dare™),

With respect to the Suite 500 Premiscs and
the Additional Premises, Seplember 30, 2025
(also referred to herein as the "Suite

500/ Additional Premises Expiration
Date™).

Monthly
Monthly Rental Rate
Installment per Rentable
of Base Rent Square Fool
$16,469.75 $£5.65
F17.046 19" 15 85"
£17.642.81** §6.05*
$18.260.3] $6.26%
18899 42 F6.48¢
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*The calculations of the Monthly Rental Rate per Rentable Square Foot of the Suite 210
Premises set forth sbove are approximate calculations based on a three and one-half percent
(3.5%) ncrease per annum, rounded 1o the nearest one-hundredth of a dollar, and are provided
for convemence only. The Monthly Base Rent and Annual Base Rent amounts set forth above
shall control,

*58ubject to the terms set forth in Section 3.2 below, the Base Rent for the Suite 210 Premuses
attributable to March, 2020 and March, 2021 shall be abuated.

: 4
Momthly
Moenthly Rental Rate
Period During Annusl Installment per Rentable
Leage Term Base Rent of Base Square Fool
Original Premises
Commencement Date —
Apnl 30, 2020 N/A §26,184.84 £4.78%2
May 1, 2020 —
Apnl 30, 2021 £497.097.00 §41,424.75%= §6.75
May 1, 202] -
Apnl 30, 2022 §516,980.88 §43,081.74 §71.02%
May 1, 2022 -
Apnl 30, 2023 $537,660.12 §44.805.01 §7.30%
May 1, 2023 -
April 30, 2024 $550,166.52 £46,597.21 $7.59¢
May |, 2024 —
April 30, 2025 $581,333.20 §4%.461.10 $7.00%
May 1, 2025 -
September 30, 2025 N/A §50,399.54 5B.21*

*The calculations of the Monthly Rental Rate per Rentable Square Foot of the Suite 500
Premises sel forth above are approximate caleulations based on a four percent (4%) increase per
annum, reunded o the nearest one-hundredth of s dollar, and are provided lor convendence only.
The Maonthly Base Rent and Anmual Base Rent amounts set forth above shall conirol.

*#Subject to the terms set forth in Section 3.2 below, fifty percent (50%) of the Base Rent for
the Suite 500 Premises atiributable to June 2020 through November 2020 shall be abated.

*#**Hased on the prior rentable square footage of 5.478.
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sditionsl Premi

Period Dunng Lease Term

Additional Premises
Commencement Date —

April 30, 2021

May 1, 2021 -
April 30, 2022

May 1, 2022 -
April 30, 2023

May 1, 2023 —
April 30, 2024

May 1, 2024 —
April 36, 2025

May 1, 2025 —

September 30, 2025

Annual
Base Reni

MNiA

$530,536.08

$551,757.48

$573.827.76

§596, 780,88

NiA

Muonthly

Maonthly Rental Rate

Installment per Rentable

of Base Rent Square Foot
$42.510.90%* $6.90
$44.211.34 §7.18¢
$45979.79 $7.46%
$47 81898 $7.76*
$49.731.74 $8.07*
§81,721.01 §8.30%

*The calculations of the Monthly Rental Rate per Rentable Square Fool of the Additional
Premises set forth above are approximate calculations based on a four percent (4%) increase per
annum. rounded 1o the nearest one-hundredth of a dollar, and are provided for convenience omly.
The Monthly Base Rent and Annual Base Rent amounts set forth above shall control.

**Subject (o the terms set forth in Section 3.2 below, ifty percent (50%) of the Base Rent for
the Additional Premises atributable to the second (2°%) through seventh (7%) full calendar
months of the Additional Fremises Loease Term shall be abated,

4.2  Reni Paymeni Address:
5. Base Year
(Article 4):
5.1 Operating Base Year
(Section 4.2.1):
B4 A

WRNEI-DO PRI T -1 5 ey

-5.

Duesenberg [nvesiment Company, LLC
/o Topa Property Group, Ine.

1800 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 650
Los Angeles, California 90067

Calendar year 2019 with respect Lo the Suite

210 Premises.

GT20 WILSHSEE ROUILEY ARD
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5.2 Tax Base Year
{Section 4.2.1):

Tenant's Share
(Article 4):

Permined Use
{Article 5):

Security Depasit
{Article 21):

Parking Pass Ratio
(Article 28):

Bt A DAL
bR B eh IETRE SR B T

Calendar year 2020 with respeet to the Sutte
500 Premises and the Additional Premises.

Calendar vear 2019 with respect to the Suite
210 Premises.

Calendar year 2020 with respect io the Suiie
500 Premises and the Additional Premises.

5.97% with respect (o the Suite 210 Premises,
12.2730% with respect to the Suite 500
Premiges and 12.3210% with respect to the
Additional Premises.

Gieneral office use only, consistent with the
character of the Building as a first-class office
building,

£119,08].53,

A total of (i)nine (9) unreserved parking
passes with respect to the Swite 210 Premises,
(ii} eighteen (18) unreserved parking passes
with respect {0 the Suite 500 Premises, of
which Tenant shall have the obligation to reat
from Landlord twelve (12) of such unreserved
parking passes (the "Suite 300 Must-Take
Passes™), and (i) cighteen (18) unreserved
parking passes with respect to the Additional
Premises, of which Tenant shall have the
obligation to rent from Landlord twelve (12} of
such unreserved parking passes  (the
"Additional Premises Must-Take Passes”),
all subject to the terms of Aricle 28 of this
Lease.
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1. Address of Tenant
(Section 29.18): Fal Brands Inc.
§720 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500
Beverly Hills, California 90212
Attention: Andrew A, Wiederhom

1. Adidress of Landlord Disesenberg Investment Company, LLC
(Section 29.18): /o Topa Property Group, Inc.
18(M Avemue of the Stars, Suite 650
Los Angeles, California 90067
Attention: Property Manager

with a copy to:

Duesenberg Investment Company, LLC
c'o Topa Property (roup, Inc.

1800 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 630
Los Angeles, California 90067
Attention: President

and;

Allen Matkins Leck Gamble Mallory &
Matsis LLP

1901 Avenae of the Stars, Suite 1800
Los Angeles, Cahformia 20067
Attention: John M. Tipten, Esq.

12.  Brokers
(Secoon 29.24): Farst Property Realty Corporation (for Tenant)

and

CBRE, Inc. (for Landlord)

13, Tenant Improvement Allowance

Exhibit B): $184,470.00 (1.e., $15.00 per rentable square
foot of the Suite 500 Premises and the
Additional Premises).
14,  Refurbishment Allowance $20.150.00 (i.e., $10.00 per rentable square
(Section &6 below): foot of the Suite 210 Premises),
LS LR BN Y T WILSIEEE BOULEVARR
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A Landlord and Tenant entered into thal certam ¥Tee Lease dated November 10,
2016 [the "Original Prior Lease"), as amended by that certain First Amendment to Office Lease
dated as of February 5, 2019 (the "First Amendment”, and together with the Original Prior Lease,
the "Prior Lease") whereby Landlord leases o Tenant and Tensni leases from Landlord the
Onginal Premises.

B. Landlord and Tenant desire to extend the term of Tenant's lease of the Suite 500
Premises, wo expand the Original Premises o include the Additional Premises and 1o enter into a
new lease to conselidate the agreements governing Tenant's lease of each of the Original Premises
(inchuding Tenant's lease of the Suite 210 Premises durmg the Suite 210 Lease Term) and the
Additional Fremises, and therefore, desire 1o enter into this Lease. Accordingly, effective as of
the Onginal Premises Commencement Date, (i) this Lease shall amend and restate the Prior Lease
in ils entirety, (ii) this Lease shall therealler supersede the Prior Lease, except in connection with
those certain obligations of Landlord and Tenant under the Prior Lease which (a) specifically
survive the expiration or earlier termimation of the Prior Lease (including, without hmitation, the
payment by Tenant of all amounts owed by Tenant under the Prior Lease, provided thai any
overpayment of rent or other amount by Tenant under (he Prior Lease, it applicable, shall be
applied to rent next due under this Lease), end/or (b) pertain to any period prior to the Original
Premises Commencement Date, and (1ii) all references i this Lease to the "Premises” shall be
desmed to include both the Original Premises and the Additional Premises, unless sxpressly
provided otherwise in this Lease.
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ARTICLE 1

1.1.1 The Premises. Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases
from Landlord the premises set forth in Section 2.2 of the Summmary (the "Premises”). The outline
of the Premises is set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto and the Premises has approximately the
number of rentable square feer as set forth in Section 2.2 of the Summary. The parties hereto agree
that the lease of the Premises is upon and subject to the terms, covenants and conditions herein set
forth, and Tenant covenants as a materal part of the consideration for this Lease to keep and
perform cach and all of such terms, covenants and comditions by it 10 be kept and performed and
that this Lease is made upon the condition of such performance. The parties hereto herehy
acknowledge that the purpose of Exhibit A 1s to show the approximate location of the Premises in
the Building (as that term is defined in Section 1.1.2, below) only, and such Exhibit is not meant
lo constitule sn agreement, representalion or waranty as to the construction of the Premises, the
precise area therenf or the speeific location of the Common Areas (as that term is defined in Section
1.1.3, below) or the elements thereof or of the accessways to the Premises or the Project (as that
term is defined in Section 1.1.2, below). Except as specifically set forth in the Tenant Work Letter
attached hereto as Exhibit B (the "Tenant Work Letter”) and subject to Landlord's obligations
set forth in Article 7 of this Lease with respeet to the condition and repair of the Base Building (as
delined in Section 8.2 below), (1) Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that Tenanl has been
occupying the Original Premises pursuant to the terms of the Prior Lease. Tenant is fully aware of
the condition of the Original Premises and Tenant shall continue to be m occupancy of and accept
the Original Premises, the Building and the Project in their "AS-18" condition as of the Original
Premises Commencement Date and Landlord shall not be obligated to (a) provide or pay for any
improvement work or services related to the improvement of the Original Premises, or (k) deliver
the Original Premises to Tenant, and (ii) Landlord shall not be obligated to provide or pay for any
improvement work o services related to the improvement of the Additional Fremises, and Tenant
shall avcept the Additional Premises in ils "as-is" condition ss of the Delivery Date. Tenant also
acknowledges that neither Landlord nor any agent of Landlord has made any representation or
warranty regarding the condition of the Premises, the Building or the Project or with respect 1o the
suitability of any of the foregoing for the conduct of Tenant's business. The taking of possession
of the Additional Premises by Tenant shatl conclusively establish that the Additional Premises and
the Building were at such time in good and sanitary order, condition and repair, subject (o
Landlord's obligations set forth in Article 7 of this Lease with respect (o the condition and repair
of the Base Building.

1.1.2  The Building and The Project. The Premises are a part of the building set
forth in Section 2.1 of the Summary (the "Building”). The term "Project,” as used in this Lease,
shall mean (1) the Building and the Common Arcas, (it} the land {(which 1s improved with
|landscaping, parking facilitics and other improvements) upon which the Building and the Common
Areas are located, and (i) at Landlord's reasonable discretion, any additional real property, areas,
land, tuildings or other improvements added therewo outside of the Project, provided that such
addition shall not decrease the rghts and/or increase the obligations of Tenant hereunder.
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1.1.3 Common_Areas. Tenant shall have the non-exclusive nght to use in
common with other tenants in the Project, and subject 1o the rules and regulations referred 10 in
Anticle § of this Lease, those portions of the Project which are provided, from time (o time, for use
in common by Landlord, Tenant and any other tenants of the Project, including, without limitation,
common plaza areas, parking areas or [acilines, walkways, drveways, courtyards, cormidors,
lobbies, hallways, stairwells, elevators and common restrooms (such areas, together with such
other portions of the Project designated by Landlord, in its discretion, including cermin areas
designated for the exclusive use of certain tenants, or to be shared by Landlord and certain tenants,
are collectively referred to herein as the "Common Areas”). The Common Areas shall consist of
the "Froject Common Areas” and the "Building Comman Areas.” The term "Project Common
Areas,” as used in this Lease, shall mean the portion of the Project designated as such by Landlord.
The term "Buoilding Common Areas," ns used in this Lease, shall mean the portions of the
Common Areas located withm the Bulding designated &s such by Landlord, The manner in which
the Commaon Areas are mainfained and operated shall be at the reasonable discretion of Landlord
and the use thersof shall be subject to such reasonable rules, regulations and restrictions as
Landlord may make from time to time. Landlord reserves the right 1o close temporerily, make
alterations or additions io, or change the location of elements of the Project and the Common
Areas; provided that Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to conduct such work in
a manner designed to mimimize any disruptions to Tenant's business operations or access to the
Premises,

15 S la are Feet of Prem d . For purposes of this Lease,

the "rentable square feet”" of the Premises shall be deemed 1o be as set forth in Section 2.2 of the
Summary, Landlord and Tenant hereby acknowledge and agree that the Base Rent sel forth in
Section 4 of the Summary was calculated pursuant to the measurements of the Building and the
Premises as set forth in Sections 2.1 and 2.2 of the Summary, and that such measurements shall
not be subject to any re-measurement or recalculation during the initial applicable Lease Term,

ARTICLE 2
LEASE TERM: OPTION TERM

2.1  InGemeral The terms and provisions of this Lease shall be effective as of the date
of this Lease. The term of this Lease (the "Lease Term”) shall be as set forth in Section 3.1 of the
Summeary, shall commence on the dates sed [orth in Section 3.2 of the Summary with respect to
each of the Original Premises and Additional Premises, and shall terminate on the dates set forth
in Section 3.3 of the Summary unless this Lease is sooner terminated as hereinafier provided,
Tenant hereby acknowledges that the Additional Premises are cumrently ocoupied by another (enant
of the Building. 1f Landlord is unable for any reasom to deliver possession of the Additional
Premises 10 Tenant on any specific date, then Landlord shall not be subject to any liability for its
failure to do so, and such fGilure shall nod affect the vahdity of this Leaze or the obligations of
Tenant hereunder. At any time during the applicable Lense Term, Landlord may deliver to Tenant
a notice in the form as set forih in Exhibit C, attached herelo, as a confirmation only of ithe
mformation set forth therein, which Tenant shall either (i) execute and return, or (i) ohject in
writing 1o Landlord, in either event within five (5) days of receipt thereof. If Tenant objects to
Landlord's notice as provided in the preceding sentence, then Landlord and Tenant agree to work
together in good faith to resolve any dispute regarding the information contaned in such notice.

BEGATA WA, 730 WILSHISE DOULEVARD
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2.2 Option Term.

221 Option Right. Landlord hereby grants to the Tenant originally named in
this Lease (the "Original Tenant") and any Permiticd Transferes Assignee (as defined in Section
14.8 below) one (1] option to extend the initial Lease Term (which for purposes of this Section
1.2, shall be respect 1o the Suite 300 Premises and the Additional Premises only (collectively, the
"Option Premises"), it being acknowledgesl that Tenant shall have no right (o renew or extend the
Suite 210 Premises) for a period of five (5) years (the "Option Term"), which option shall be
exercisable only by written notice delivered by Tenant to Landlord as provided below, provided
that, as of the date of delivery of such notice, Tenant is not in monetary or material non-monetary
defaull (beyond applicable notice and cure periods) under this Lease, and has not previously been
in menetary or matenal non-monetary default (beyond applicable notice und cure periods) under
this Lease more than once in the prior iwenty-four (24) month period. Upon the proper exercise
af tha option to extend, and provided that, at Landlord's option, as of the end of the initial Lease
Term, Tenant is not in default ender this Lease, and Tenant has not previously been in default
under this Lease more than onece in the prior twenty-four (24) month period, the Lease Term, as if
applies 1 the entire Option Premises, shall be extended for a period of five (5) years. The rights
contaimed in thiz Section 2.2 shall be personal to the Original Tenant and any Permitied Transleree
Assignes and may only be exercised by the Original Tenant or Permitted Transferee Assignee (and
not any other assignee, or any sublessee or other transferes of Tenant's interest in this Lease) if the
Original Tenant or any Permitted Transferce Assignee occupies at least seventy-five percent (75%)
of the Option Premises.

222 Option Rent. The annual rent payable by Tenant during the Option Term
(the "Option Rent™) shall be equal to the Fair Market Rent (as defined below) for the Option
Premises as of the commencement date of the Option Term. The "Fair Market Rent” shall be
equal i the annial rent (including additional reat and considering any "base year" or "expense
stop" applicable thereto), taking into account all escalations, &t which, as of the commencement of
the Option Term, tenants are leasing non-sublease, non-encumbered, non-equity, non-expansion
space comparable in size, location and quality to the Option Premises for a term comparable to the
Cption Term, in an arm's-length iransaction, which comparable space is located in the Project or
in the Comparable Buildings (as defined hereinbelow) and which comparable immsactions
(collectively, the "Contparable Transactions") are entered into within the six (6) month period
immediately preceding Landlord's delivery of the Option Rent Notice (as defined in Section 2.2.3
below) taking inio consideration anly the followng concessions (the "Concessions"): (a] rental
abatement concessions, if any, being granted such tenants in connection with such comparable
space; and (b) tenant improvements or allewances provided or 1o be provided for such comparable
space, taking into account, and deducting the value of, the existing improvements in the Option
Premises, such value to be based upon the age, condition, design, quality of finishes and layout of
the improvements and the extent to which the same can be utilized by Tenant based upon the fact
that the precise tenant improvements existing in the Option Premises are specifically suitable to
Tenant; and {c) other reagonable monetary concessions being wranted such tenanis in connection
with such comparable space: provided, however, that in calculating the Option Rent, no
consideration shall be given to (i) the fact that Landlord is or is not required to pay a real estate
brokenige commission in connection with Tenant's exercise of i3 right 1o lease the Option
Premises during the Option Term or in connection with the Comparable Transactions or the fact
that landlords are or are not paying real estate brokerage commissions in connection with such
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Comparable Transactions, and (i) any period of rental abatement, i any, granted to enants in
Comparable Transactions in connection with the design, permitting and construction of tenant
improvernents nosuch comparable spaces. The Fair Maket Rent shall additionally include a
determination as to whether, and if 50 to what extent, Tenant must provide Landlord with financial
security, such as a letter of credit or guaranty, for Tenant's rent obligations in connection with
Tenant's lease of the Option Premises during the Option Term. Soch determination shall be made
by reviewing the extent of financial security then generally being imposed in Comparable
Transactions from tenants of comparable financial condition and credit history to the then existing
financial condition and credit history of Tenant (with appropriate adjustments to account for
differences in the then-existing financial conditon of Tenant and such other tenants). If in
determuining the Option Rent a tenant improvement allowance is granted under ftem (b) above,
Landlord may, at Landlord's sole option, slect any or a portion of the following: (A) o grant some
or all of the Concessions (o Tenant in the form as described above (1.e., as free rent or as an
improvement allowance), and (B} to adjust the rental rate compement of the Option Rent to be an
effeetive rental rate which takes into consideration the total dollar value of the Concessions (in
which case the Concessions evidenced in the effective rental rate shall not be pranted to Tenant).
For purposes of this Lease, the term "Comparable Bulldings" shall mean first class office
buildings comparable to the building in size, amenities, services, age, quality of construction and
exterior appearance, which office buildings are located within the "Beverly Hillz Triangle"
submarket in Beverly Hills, California.

223 Exercise of Option{s). The option contained in this Section 2.2 shall ke
exercised by Tenant, if at all, omly in the following manner. (i) Tenant shall deliver written notice
1o Landlord not more than fourtzen (14) months nor less than rwelve (12) months prior to the
expiration of the initial Lease Term, stating that Tenant is interested in exercising its oplion
{"Tenant's Interest Notice™); (ii) Landlord, after receipt of Tenant's Interest Notice, shall deliver
nolice (the "Option Rent Motiee") o0 Tensnt not less than eleven (11) months prior to the
expiration of the initial Lease T'erm or the First Option Term, as the case may be, setting forth the
Option Rent; and (1) if Tenant wishes 1o exercise such option, Tenant shall, on or before the
carlier of (A) the date occurning ten (10) months prior to the expiration of the initial Lease Term,
and (B) the date occurring thirty (30) days after Tenant's receipt of the Option Rent MNotice,
exercise the option by delivering written notice thereof to Landlord, and wpon, and concurrent
with, such exercise, Tenant may, at its option, ohject to the Option Rent contained in the Option
Rent Notice, in which case the parties shall follow the procedure, and the Option Rent shall be
detenmined, as set forth in Section 2.2.4 below. Time is of the essence with respeet (o the delivery
of Tenant's Interest Motice and Tenant's exercise of the option (including any objection to the
Option Rent set forth in the Option Rent Notice) set forth in this Section 2.2,

224 Determination of Option Rest In the evenl Tenant timely and
appropriately objects to the Option Rent set forth in the Option Rent Notice, then Landlord and

Tenant shall attempi fo agree upon the Option Rent nsing their best good-faith efforts, 1f Landlord
and Tenant fail to reach agreement within fifteen (15) davs following Tenant's objection o the
Option Rent, (the "Outside Agreememt Date"), then esch perty shall make a separatc
determination of the Option Rent within fifteen (1 5) days following the Outside Agrecment Date,
and such delerminations shall be submitted to arbitration in accordance with Sections 2.2.4.1
through 2.2.4.7 below,
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2.2.4.1 Landlord and Tenant shall each appoint one (1) arbitrator who shall
by profession be a real estate broker who shall have been active over the five (3) vear period ending
on the date of such appoiniment in the leasing of office space in the Comparable Buildings. The
determination of the arbitrators shall be limited solely to the issue arca of whether Landlord's or
Tenant's submitted Option Rent is the closest to the actusl Option Rent as determined by the
arbitralors, taking into account the requirements of Section 2.2.2 of this Lease. Each such
arbitrator shall be appointed within fifteen (15) days after the Outside Agreement Date.

2.2.4.2 The two (2) arbitrators se appomited shall within ten (10) days of the
date of the appointment of the last appointed arbitrator agree upon and appoint a third (3™
arhitraior who shall be qualified under the same criteria set forth hereinabove fior qualification of
the initial two (2) arbitrators,

2243 The three (3) arbitralors shall withm thirty (30) days of the
appointment of the third (3™) arbitrator reach a decision as to whether the parties shall use
Landlerd's or Tenant's submitted Option Rent, and shall notify Landlord and Tenant thereal.

2.2.4.4 The decision of the majority of the three (3) arbitrators shall be
binding upon Landlord and Tenant.

2.2451f either Landlord or Tenant fails 10 appoinl an arbitrator within
fifteen {15) days afler the Quiside Agreement Date, the arbitrator appointed by one of them shall
reach adecizion, nonfy Landiord and Tensnt thereof, and such arbatrator’s decision shall be binding
upon Landlord and Tenant.

2.2.4.6 If the two (2) arbitrators fail to agree upon and appeint a third (3™)
arbitrator, or both parties fail w appoint an arbitrator, then the appointment of the third (3)
arbitrator or any arbitrator shall be dismissed and the matier o be decided shall be forthwith
submitted to arbitration under the provisions of JAMS, but subject to the mstruction set forth in
this Section 2.2.4,

2.2.4.7 The cost of the artration shall be pand by Landlord and Tenant
equally,

ARTICLE 3

BASE RENT

3.1 Im General. Tenant shall pay, without prior notice or demand, 1o Landlord or
Landlord's agent ai the address set forth in Section 4.2 of the Suinmary, or, at Landlerd’s option,
at such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in writing, by & check or wire
transfer for currency which, at the time of payment, is legal tender for private or public debts in
the United States of America, base rent ("Base Rent") as set forth in Section 4 of the Summary,
payable in equal monthly installments as set forth in Section 4 of the Summary in advance on or
before the first day of each and every calendar month during the epplicable Lease Term, without
any setoft or deduction whatsoever. The Base Rent for the first full calendar month of the Lease
Term with respect to the Additional Premises shall be paid at the time of Tenant's execution of
this Lease Ifany Rent payment date (including the applicable Lease Commencement Date) falls

1A B LA ’ VAT WITSIEKE BOLLEV AR
W BT L5 T el 13- Fan Unarals s !




on a day of the month other than the frst day of sech month or if any peyment of Rent 15 [or a
period which is shorter than one month, the Rent for any fractional month shall accrue on a daily
basis [or the period from the date such payment is due 1o the end of such calendar month or 1o the
end of the applicable Lease Term al a rate per day which s equal (o 173635 of the applicable anmaal
Rent. All other payments or adjustments required 1o be made under the terms of thiz Lease that
require proration on a time basis shall be prorated on the same basis.

32 Abated Base Rent. Subject o the terms of this Section 3.2, during (such periods
of time are each & "Base Rent Ahatement Period") (1) the calendar months of March 2020 and
March 2021, Tenant's obligation to pay Base Renl otherwise due for the Suite 210 Premises shall
be fully abated, (i1} the calendar months of June 2020 through November 2020, Tenant’s obligation
to pay Base Rent otherwise due for the Suite 500 Premises shall be abated by fifty percent (50%),
and (ii1) the second (2") through seventh (7") full calendar months of the Additional Fremises
Lease Term, Tenant's obligation to pay Base Rent otherwise due for the Additional Premzses shall
be abated by fifly percent (30%). Such nights to abate Base Rent shall be refarred 1o herein as the
"Base Rent Abatement”. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that during such Base Rent Abatement
Period, such Basc Rent Abatement shell have no effect on the caleulation of any future increascs
in Base Rent payable by Tenant pursuant to the terms of this Lesse, which mcreases shall be
calcolated without regard to such Base Rent Abatement. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the
foregoing Base Rent Abatement has been granted 1o Tenant as additional consideration for entenng
into this Lease, and for agrecing to pay the Base Rent and perform the terms and conditions
otherwise required under this Lease. 1f Tenand shall be in monetary or material non-monetary
defaull under this Lesse, and shall fail to cure such monetary or material non-monetary default
within the notice and cure period, if any, permitted for cure pursuant to this Lease or if this Lease
is terminated for any reason other than Landlord's breach of this Lease, casualty or condemnation,
then, in addition to any remedies Lindlord may have under this Lesse, Landlord, at its option, may
elect any or all of the following remedies: (i) Tenant's right (o receive the Base Rent Abatement
under this paragraph shall automatically be desmed terminated and of no further force or effeet, or
{ii) the unexpired portion of the Base Rent Abatement Period as of such defsult or termination
shall be moved 10 the end of the applicable Lease Term, and Tenant shall inmediately be obligated
to begin paying Base Rent at the full amounts of the monthly installments therefor set forth above,
The foregoing Base Rent Abalement right set forth in this Section 3.2 shall be personal to the
Original Tenant, and shall only apply to the Original Tenant {and not any assignee, or any sublessee
ar other transferee of the Origingl Tenant's interest in this Lease).

ARTICLE 4
ADIMTIONAL RENT

4.1 General Terms. in addition to paying the Base Remt specified i Article 3 of this
Lease, Tenant shall pay Tenant's Share (as that term s defined in Section 4 2 7 of this Leasze) of
(i) the annual Operating Expenses (as that term is defined in Section 4,2.5 of this Lease) that are
in excess of the amount of Operating Expenses applicable to the Operating Buse Year (as that term
is defined in Section 4.2.1, below), and (ii) the annual Tax Expenses (as that term is defined in
Section 4.2.6 of this Lease) that are in excess of the amount of Tax Expenses applicable to the Tax
Base Year (as that term is defined in Section 4.2.2 of this Leasa); provided, however, that in no
event shall any decrease in Direct Expenses for any Expense Year below Direct Expenses for the
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Base Year enlitle Tenanl 1o any decrease n Base Rent or any credit against sums due under this
Lease. Such payments by Tenant, together with any and all other amounts payable by Tenant to
Landloed pursuant o the terms of this Lease, are hercinafter collectively referred o as the
"Additional Reat", and the Base Rent and the Additional Rent are herein collectively referred to
as "Rent." All amounts due under this Article 4 as Additional Rent shall be payable for the same
perinds and in the same manner as the Base Rent. Without limitation on other obligations of
Tenant which survive the expiration of the appliceble Lease Term, the obligations of Tenant to
pay the Additional Rent provided for in this Article 4 shall survive the expiration of the applicable
Lenge Term,

42 i 3 Rent. As used in this Article

i 5 0f K erims Helating 1[4
4, the following terms shall have the meanings hereinafler set

) Ei

forth:

4.2.1 "Operating Base Year" shall mean the period ser forth in Section 5.1 of the
Summary.

422 "Tax Base Year" shall mean the period set forth in Section 5.2 of the
Summary.

4.2.3 "Direct Expenses” shall mean "Operating Expenses” and "Tux Expenses.”

4.2.4 “Expense Year" shall mean each calendar year in which any portion of the
applicable Lease Term falls, through and including the calendar ysar in which the applicable Lease
Term expires, provided that Landlord, upon notice to Tenant, may change the Expense Year from
time to time o @y other twelve (12) consecutive month period, and, in the event of any such
change, Tenant's Share of Direct Expenses shall be equitably adjusied for any Expense Year
mvolved in any such change.

4.2.5 "Operating Expenses” shall mean all expenses, costs mnd amounts of every
kind and nature which Landlord pays or accrues during any Expense Year because of or in
conneciion with the ownership, management, maintenance, securily, repair, replacement (subject
io exclusions as expressly provided below), restoration or aperation of the Projeet, or any portion
thereof, all as determined in accordance with sound real estate management and accounting
principles, consistently applied. Withowt limiting the generality of the foregoing, Operating
Expenses shall specifically include any and all of the following: (i) the coat of supplying all
utilities, the cost of cperating, repairing, maintaining, and renovating the utility, telephone,
mechanical, sanitary, storm drainage, and elevator systems, and the cost of maintenance and
service conlracts in connection therewith; (i) the cost of licenses, cenificates, permits and
mspections and the ecost of contesting eny govermmental enacbments which may affect Operiting
Expenses, and the costs incurred in connection with a transportation system management program
or similar program; (iit) the cost of all insurance camed by Landlord or the property manager of
Landlord in connection with the Project; (iv]) the cost of landscaping, relamping, and all supplies,
tools, equipment and materials used in the operation, repair and maintenance of the Project, or any
poriion thereof, (v} costs incuimed in connection with the parking areas servicing the Project; (vi)
fees and other costs, including managemeni fees, consulling fees, legal fees and accounting fees,
of all contractors and consultants in connection with the management, operation, maintenance and
repair of the Project; (vii) payments under any equipment rental agrecments and the fzir rental
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value of any amenity spece serving (he tenants of the Project and any mansgement office space
and the cost of fumishings in such amenity space and management office space; (viii) wapes,
salaries and other compensation and benefits, including taxes levied thereon, of all persons
engaged in the operation, maintenance and security of the Project; (ix) payments or costs under
any emsement, license, operaling agreement, declaration, restrictive covenant, or instrument
pertaining to the sharing of costs by the Project, including, without limitation, any covenanis,
conditions and restrictions affecting the Project, reciprocal casement agreements affecting the
Project, and any agreements with transit agencies affecting the Project; (x) operation, repair,
maintenance and replacement of ell systems and equipment and components thereof of the Project;
i) the cost of janitorial, alarmm, security and other services, replacement of wall and floor
eoverings, ceiling tiles and fixtures in commeon arcas, maintenance and replacement of curbs and
walkways, repair to roofs and re<mofing; (x1i) amortization (including interest on the unsmortized
cast) over such period of time as Landlord shall reasonably determine of the cost of acquiring or
the rental expense ol personal properiy used in the maintenance, operation and repair of the Project,
or any portion thereof; (xiii) the cost of capital improvements or other costs imcumed in connection
with the Project (A) which are mtended 10 effect economies in the operation or maintenance of the
Project, or any portion thereof, (B) that are required to comply with governmentally mandated
comservation programs, (C) which are replacements or modifications of nonstruciural items located
in the Common Areas required 1o keep the Common Areas in good order or condition, or (1)) that
are required under any Applicable Laws (as that 12rm is defined in Article 24 below), except for
capital repairs. replacements or other capital improvements to remedy a condition existing prior to
the commencement date of the Prior Lease which an applicable governmental authority, if it had
knowledge of such condition prior 1o the commencement date of the Prior Lease and il such
comdition was not subject to a venance or a grandfathered/ grandmothered eode waiver excephon,
would have then required to be remedied pursuant to then-current Applicable Laws, in their form
existing as of the commencement date of the Prior Lease; provided, however, that any such
permitied capital expenditure shall be amortized with interest (al the Interest Rate {as defined in
Article 25 below)) over ressonable useful life as Landlord shall reasonably determine in
accordance with sound real estale management and accounting principles, consistently applied;
(xiv) costs, fees, charges or assessments imposed by, or resulting from any mandate imposad on
Landlord by, any federal, state or local government for fire and police protection, trash remaval,
community services, or other services which do not constitte Tax Expenses; (xv) the cost of
tenant relation programs reascnably sstoblished by Landlord; and (xvi] cosls in commection with
Other Improvements in accordance with Section 29,35 below. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for
purpeses of this Lease, Operafing Expenses shall not, however, include:

(a})  costs, including legal fees. space planners’ fees, advertising and
promotional expenses (excepl as otherwise sel forth above), and brokerage fees incurred in
connection with the onginal construction or development, or oniginal or future leasing of the
Project, and costs, including penmit, license and inspection costs, incurred with respect to the
installation of wnant improvements made for new tenants initally oscupying space in the Project
after the Lense Commencement Dale or incurred in renovaling or otherwise improving, decorating,
painting or redecorating vacant space for tenamts or other ocoupants of the Project (excluding,
however, such costs relating to any Common Areas);

(b)  except as set forth in items (xii), (xif), and (xiv) above,
depreciation, interest and principal paymenis on morigages and olher debt costs, if any, penaltics
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and interest, costs of capital repairs and alterations, and costs of capital improvements and
equipment,

(c) costs for which the Landlord is reimbursed by any tenant or
occupant of the Project or by insurance by its carrier or any lenant's carrier or by anyone else, and
utility costs for which any tenant directly contracts with the local public service company;

(d}  any bad debt loss, rent loss, or reserves for bad debts or rent loss;

(e} costs associated with the operation of the business of the parmership
of entity which constitutes the Landlord, as the same are distinguished from the costs of operation
of the Project (which shall specifically include, but not be limited to, accounting cosis associated
with the operation of the Project). Costs associated with the operation of the busingss of the
parmership or entity which constitutes the Landlord include costs of partnership accounting and
legal matters, costs of defending any lawsuits with any mortgagee (except as the actions of the
Tenani may be in issuc), costs of selling, symdicating, financing, morlgaging or hypothecating any
of the Landlord’s interest in the Project, and cosls incwred in connection with any disputes
between Landlord and its employees, between Landlord and Project management. or hetween
Landlord and other tenants or occupants;

() the wages and benefits of any employee who does not devote
substartially all of his or her employed time o the Project unless such wages and benefits are
prorated to reflect time spent on operating and managimg the Project vis-a-vis time spent on matters
unrelated to operating and managing the Project; provided, that in no event shall Operating
Expenses for purposes of this Lease include wages and/or benefus attribuable to personnel above
the level of Project manager or Project engineer (however, personnel performing accounting work
in connection with the operation and management of the Project shall not be excluded, imespective
of their rank or position);

() mmounl padd as grownd rental for the Project by the Landlord:

(h}  except for a Project management fee, overhead and profit increment
paid 1o the Landlord of to subsidiaries or affiliates of the Landlord for services in the Project o the
extent the same exceeds the costs of such services rendered by gualified, first-class unaffiliated
third parties on a competitive basis;

(i) any compensation paid do clerks, attendants or other persons in
commercial concessions operated by the Landlord (other than with respect to the parking
facilities), provided that any compensation paid to any concierge at the Project shall be includable

as an Operating Expensc;

1l rentals and other related expenses incurred in leasing  air
conditisning systems, elevators or other equipment which if purchased the cost of which would be
excluded from Operating Expenses as a capital cost, except equipment not affixed to the Project
which is used in providing janitorial or similar services and, further excepting from this exclusion
such equipment rented or leased 1o remedy or ameliorate an emergency condition in the Project;
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k) all items and services for which Tenant or any other tenant in the
Project reimburses Landlord or which Landlord provides selectively to one or more tenants {other
than Tenant) without reimbursemant;

(I any costs expressly excluded from Operating Expenses elsewhere in
this Lease;

{m)  rent for any ofTice space oceupied by Project management personnel
to the extent the size or rental rate of such office space exceeds the size or fair market rental value
of office space occupied by management personnel of the comparable buildings in the vicinity of
the Building, with adjustment where appropriate for the size of the applicable project;

(m) costs arismg from the gross negligenve or willlul misconduct of
Landbord or its agents, employees, vendors, contractors, or providers of materials or services;

(o)  costs incurred to comply with Applicable Laws relating to the
removil of hazardous material (ss defined under Applicable Laws) which was in existence in the
Building or on the Project prior o the commencement date of the Prior Lease, and was of such a
nature that a federal, State or mumcipal governmental authonty, if o kad then had knowledge of
the presence of such hazardous material, in the state, and under the conditions that if then existed
in the Building or on the Project, would have then required the removal of such hazardous material
orothier remedial or containment sction with respect thereto; and costs incwrred w remove, remedy,
contain, or treal hazardous matenal, which hazardous materizl is brought into the Building or onto
the Project after the date hereaf by Landlord or any other tenant of the I'roject and = of such a
nature, ai that time, that a foderal, State or mumicipal governmental authority, if it had then had
knowledge of the presence of such hazardous material, in the state, and under the conditions, that
it then exists m the Building or on the Project. would have then required the removal of such
hazarious material or other remedial or containment action with respect thereto;

(p) costs thar are reimbursed out of mnsurance, wamanty or
condemnation proceeds, or which are reimbursed by Tenant or other tenants other than pursusnt
o an expense escalation clause (except that any deductible amount under any insurance policy
shall be ineluded within Operating Expenses);

(g)  costs direcily incurted as a part of the original construction of the
Building or in connection with a major change in the Building, such as edding or deleting floors;

(£} advertising expenditures;

() any gifts provided to any entity whatsoever, including, but not
limited to, Tenant, other tenants, employees, vendors, contractors, prospective lenants and agents;

() costs, including peemil, license and inspection costs, incured with
respect to the installation of other tenants' or oceupants’ improvements made for lenants or other
occupants in the Building or incurred in renovating or otherwise improving, decorating, painting
or redecorating vacant space for tenants or other occupants in the Building:
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{u) overhead and profit increment paid to Landlord or to subsidiaries or
affiliates of Landlord for goods and/or services in the Building to the extent the same execeeds the
costs of such by unaffiliated third parties on a competitive basis:

(v) any eosls or expenses (including fnes, interest, penalties and legal
fees) arising out of Landlord's failure to timely pay Operating Expenses or Taxes;

(w)  cosis of correcting structural or other latent construction defects in
the initial design and construction of the Building;

{x}) fees payable by Landlord for management of the Project in excess
of three percent (3.0%) of Landlord's gross rental revenues; and

{v)  any sbove Building siandard cleaning, including, but nol limiled to
construction cleanup.

If Landlord is not furnishing any particular work or service (the cost of which, if performed
by Landlord, would be mcluded in Operating Expenses) to a tengnt who has undertaken to perform
such work or service in lieu of the performance thereof by Landlord, Operating Expenses shall be
deemed to be increased by an amount equal to the additional Operating Expenses which would
reasonably have been incumed duning such period by Landlord of it had at ils own expense
fumnished such work or service to such tenant. If the Project is not at least ninewy-five percent
{95%) necupied during all or & portion of the Operating Base Y ear or any Expense Y ear, Landlord
may elect to make an appropriate adjustment 1o the components of Operating Expenses for such
year todetermine the amount of Operating Expenses that would have been incurred had the Project
heen nmety-five percent (95%) oceupied; and the amount so determined shall be deemed 10 have
been the amount of Operating Expenses for such year. Operaling Expenses [or the Operating Base
Year shall not include markel-wide cost increases due to extraordinary circumstances, including,
but not limitesd to, evemts of Force Majeure (as that term = defined in Section 29.16, helow),
hoyeotts, strikes, conservation surcharges, embargoes or shortages, or amortized costs relating o
capital improverments. [n noe evenl shall the componenis of Direct Expenses for any Expense Year
related o Project insurance, security or utility costs be less than the components of Direct Expenses
related 10 Project insurance, security or utility costs, respectively, in the Operating Base Year

Landlord shall (i} not charge items to Operaling Expenses that are otherwise also charged
separalely to others, and (i) Landlord shall not collect Opemting Expenses from Tenant and all
other lenants‘oceupants in the Building in an amount in exeess of what Landlord incurred for the
items included in Operating Expenses; provided that the foregoing shall not exchade inclusion of
management fees and other fees and expenses caloulated as a percentape of Operating Expenses.

426 Taxes.

4.2.6.]1 "T'ax Expenses” shall mean all federal, state, county, or local
governmental or municipal taxes, fees, charges or other impositions of every kind and nature,
whether generl, special, ordinary or extraordinary, (including, without mitation, real estaie taxes,
general and special assessments, ransit taxes, leaschold taxes or texes based wpon the receipt of
rent, including gross receipts or sales taxes applicable to the receipt of rent. unless required to he
paid by Tenani, personal property taxes imposed upon the fixtures, machinery, squipment.
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apparatus, systems and compment, appurtenances, fumiture and other personal property used m
connection with the Project, or any portion thereof), which shall be paid or accrued during any
Expease Year (without regard to any differem fiscal yvear used by such povernmental or mumicipal
autharity) because of or in connection with the ownership, leasing and operation of the Project, or
amy portion thereof.

42.6.2 Tax Expenses shall include, without limitation: (1) Any tax on the
rent, right to vent or other income from the Project, or any portion thereof, or as against the business
of lessing the Project, or any portion thereol; (i) Any assessment, tax, fee, levy or charge in
addition to, or in substitution, partially or totally. of any assessmem, tax, fee, levy or charge
previously included within the definition of real property tax, it being acknowledged by Tenant
and Lundlord that Proposition 13 was adopled by the voters of the State of Californis in the June
1978 election {"Proposition 13") and thal assessments, taxes, fees, levies and charges may be
imposed by governmental agencies for such services as fire protection, street, sidewalk and road
mainienance, refuse removal and for other governmental services formerly provided without
chargs to property owners or occupants, and, in further recognition of the decrease in the level and
quality of governmental services and amenities as a result of Proposition 13, Tax Expenses shall
also melude any governmental or privale assessments or the Project’'s contnbution owards a
govemmental or private cost-sharing agreement for the purpose of augmenting or improving the
quality of services and amenities nommally provided by povemmental agencies; (iii) Any
assessment, lax, fee, levy, or charge allocable (o or measured by the ares of the Premises or the
Rent payoble hercunder, including, without limutation, any business or gross income tax or excize
tax with respect o the receipt of such rent, or upon or wilh respect to the possession, leasing,
operating, management, maintenance, alteration, repair, use or occupancy by Tenant of the
Premises, or any portion thereof; and (1v) Any assessment, tax. fee, levy or charge, upon this
trunsection or any docuinent 1o which Tenanol is & party, creating or translening an interesl or an
estate in the Premises. All assessments of Tax Expenses which may be paid in installments shall
he paid by Landlord in the maximum number of installments permitted by Applicable Law and
included in Tax Expenses in the year in which the assessment is actually paid; provided, however,
that Landlord shall be obligated to continve such practice only for so long as, and to the extent
that, such practice is consistent with the prevailing practice in Comparable Buildings.

4.2.6.3 Any actual, reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including,
without limitation, reasonable aftorneys' and consultants' fees) incurred in atternpling to protest,
reduce or minimize Tax Expenses shall be included in Tax Expenses in the Expense Year such
cxpenses are paid. Refunds of Tax Expenses shall be credited against Tax Expenses and refonded
o ‘Tenant regardless of when received, based on the Expense Year (o which the refund is
applicable, provided that in no event shall the amount to be refunded to Tenant for any such
Expense Year exceed the total smount paid by Tenant as Additional Rent under this Article 4 for
such Expensc Year, If Tax Expenses for any period during the applicable Lease Tem or any
extensiom thereof are increased afler payment thereol for any reasen, includmg, without limitation,
error or reassessment by applicable governmental or municipal authorities, Tenant shall pay
Landlord upon demand Tenant's Share of any such increased Tax Expenses included by Landlord
a5 Tax Expenses pursuant (o the terms of this Lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
comtamed in thiz Section 4.2.6 (except az set forth in Section 4.2.6.1. sbove), there shall be
excluded from Tax Expenses (i) all excess profils taxes, franchise taxes, gift taxes, capital stock
taxes, inheritance and succession taxes, estate taxes, federal and state income taxes, and other taxes
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to the extent applicable to Landlord's general or net income (25 opposed 1o rents, receipls or income
atiributable to operations at the Project), (i) any items included as Operating Expenses, and (iii)
any items paid by Tenant under Section 4.5 of this Lease.

4.2.7 "Tenant's Share" shall mes:n the percentage sel forth in Section 6 of the
Summuary. Tenant's Share was calculated by multiplying the number of reniable square feet of the
Premises by 100 and dividing the produet by the total rentable square feet in the Building. In the
aven! gither the Premises and‘or the Building is expanded or reduced, Tenant's Share shall be
appropnately adjusted, and, as w the Expense Year in which such change oocurs, Tenant's Share
for such year shall be determined on the basis of the number of days during such Expensc Year
that each such Tenant's Share was in effect.

4.3  Cost Pools. Landlord shall have the right. from time to time, to equitably allocate
some ¢r all of the Direct Expenses for the Project among different portions or occupants of the
Project (the "Cost Pools"), in Landlord's reasonable diseretion. Such Cost Pools may include, but
shall not be limited to, the office space tenants and the retail space tenants of the Project. The
Direct Expenses within each such Cost Pool shall be allocated and charged o the tenants within
such Cost Pool in an equitable manner.

44 Calculation and Payment of Additional Rent. If for any Fxpense Year ending
ar commencing within the applicable Lease Term, Tenant's Share of Operating Expenses and Tax
Expenses for such Expense Year exceeds Tenant's Share of Operating Expenses and Tax Expenses
applicable to the Operating Base Year and Tax Base Year, respectively, then Tenant shall pay o
Landiord, in the manner set forth in Section 4.4, 1, below, and a3 Additional Rent, #n amount equal
io the excess (the "Excess”).

4.4.1 ate 0 Direct k ant. Landlord
shall endeavor o give to 'I erumi on or hefﬂ-ﬁ: !he Ida'l day nf .-'\pnl fnllnwmg 1he nnd of each
Expense Year, a statement (the "Statement™) which shall state the Operating Expenses and Tax
Expenses incurred or acerued for such preceding Expense Year, and which shall indicate the
amount of the Excess. Upon receipt of the Statement for each Expense Year commencing or
ending during the applicable Lease Term, if an Excess i3 present, Tenant shall pay, with its next
installment of Base Rent due, the [all amount of the Excess for such Expense Year, less the
amounts, if any, paid during such Expense Year as Estimated Excess (as that term 15 defined in
Section 4.4.2, below). The failore of Landlord to timely fumish the Statement for any Expense
Year shall not prejudice Landlond or Tenant from enforcing its rights under this Article 4. Even
though the applicable Lease Term has expired and Tenant has vacated the Premises, when the final
determmation 13 made of Tenant's Share of Direct Expenses for the Fxpense Year in which this
Lease terminates, if an Excess is present, Tenani shall immediately pay to Landlord such amount,
The provisions of this Section 4.4.1 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the
apphicable Lease Tearm.

442 Stateme ed enses.  In addition, Landlord shall
endeavar to give Tenant a y:ariy expeﬂsc z-.q'tlma.te statment {the ‘Estimate Statement") on or
before the last day of January following the end of sach Expense Year which shell set forth
Landlord's reasonable estimate {the "Estimate”) of whai the rotal amount of Operating Expenses
gnd Tax Expenses for the them-current Expense Year shall be and the estimated excess (the
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"Estimated Excess”) as calculated by comparing the Operating Expenses and Tax Expenses for
such Expense Year, which shall be based upon the Estimate, o the smount of Opersting Expenses
and Tax Expenses {or the Operating Base Year and Tax Dase Year, respectively. The failure of
Landlord 1o timely furnish the Estimate Statement for any Expense Year shall not prechide
Landlord from enforcing its nghts to collect any Estimated Excess under this Article 4, nor shall
Landlord be prohibited from revising any Estimate Statement or Estimated Excess theretofore
delivered 1o the extent necessary. Thereaflier, Tenant shall pay, with its next installment of Base
Rent due, a fraction of the Estimated Excess for the then-current Expense Year (reduced by any
amotmts paid pursuant to the Jast sentence of this Section 4.4.2). Such fraction shall have as its
numerator the number of months which have elapsed in such current Expense Year, including the
monih of such payment, and twelve {12) as its denominator. Until & new Estimate Statement is
furnished (which Landlord shall have the right to deliver to Tenant at any time), Tenani shall pay
monthly, with the monthly Baze Rent installments, an amount equal 1o one-twelfth (1/12) of the
total Estimated Excess sel forth in the previous Estimate Statement delivered by Landlord to
Tenant.

4.5

4.5.1 Tenant shall be linble for and shall pay prior to delinquency, taxes levied
against Tenant's equipment, furniture, fixtures and any other personal property located in or about
the Premises, [T any such taxes on Tenant's equipment, furniture, fixtures and any other personal
property are levied agoinst Landlord or Landlord's property or if the assessed value of Landlord®s
property is increased by the inchision therein of a value placed wpon such equipment, furmiture,
fixtures or any other personal property and if Landlond pays the taxes based upon such inereased
assessment, which Landlord shall have the night to do regardless of the validity thereof but only
under proper protest if requested by Tenant, Tenant shall upon demand repay to Landlord the taxes
so levied againsgt Landlord or the proportion of such taxes resuliing from such increase in the
assessment, as the case may be.

4.52 I the tenant improvements n the Premises, whether installed and/or pad
for by Landlord or Tenant and whether or not affixed o the real property so as to hecame a part
thereof, are assessed for real property tax purposes al a valnation higher than the valuation at which
temant improvements conforming o Landlord's "building standard” in other space in the Building
are assessed, then the Tax Expenses levied against Landlord or the property by reason of such
excess assessed valuation shall be deemed to be taxes levied against personal propenty of Tenant
and shall be governed by the provisions of Section 4.5.1, ahove,

4.5.3 Nowwithstanding any contrary provision hergin, Tenant shall pay prior to
deliquency any (i) rent fax or sales tax, service lax, transfer tax or value added tax, or any other
applicable tax on the rent or services herein or otherwise respecting this Lease, (i) laxes assessed
upon or with respect to the possession, leasing, operation, management, maintenance, alteration,
repair, use or oecupancy by Tenant of the Premises or any portion of the Project, including the
Project parking facilities; or (iii) taxes assessed upon this transaction or any document o which
Tenant is & pariy creating or transfierning an interest or an estate 10 the Premises.

4.6  Lamdlord's Books and Records. Within sixty (60) days afler receipt of a
Statement by Tenant, if Tenant disputes the smount of Direet Expenses set forth m the Statement,
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an independent certified public accountant (which accountant is a member of a nationally or
regionally recognized accounting finm and is not working on a contingency fee basis), designated
and paid for by Tenant, may, aficr reasonable notice to Landlord and a1 reasonable times, mspect
Landlord's records with respect to the Statement at Landlord’s offices; provided that Tenant is not
then in default under this Lease after notice and the expiration of any applicable cure periods and
Tenant has paid all amounts required to be paid under the applicable Estimate Statement and
Statemient, as the case may be. In connection with such inspection, Tenant and Tenant's agenis
must agree in advance 1o follow Landlord’s reasonable rules and procedures regarding inspections
of Landlord’s records, and shall execute a commercially reasonable confidentiality agreement
regarding such inspection. Tenant’s failure to dispute the amount of Direct Expenses set forth in
any Statement within sixty (60) days of Tenant's receipt of such Statement shall be desmed to be
Tenant’s approval of such Statement and Tenant, thereafier, waives the right or ability w dispute
the amounts set forth in such Statement. 1f afier such mspection, Tenant still disputes such Direct
BExpenses, Landlord and Tenant shall meet in order to resolve the dispute, If Landlord and Tenant
are unable W resolve the dispute, a determination as to the proper amount shall be made, a1
Tenant's expense, by an independent certified public accountant (the "Accountant”) selected by
Landiord and subject to Tenant’s reasonable approval; provided that if such determination by the
Accountant proves that Direct Expenses were overstated by more than five percent {5%), then the
cost of the Accountant and the cost of such determination shall be paid for by Landlord. If such
audit or review by the Accountant reveals that Landlord has overcharged or undercharged Tenant,
then withio tharty (30} days after the results of such sudit, Landlond shall reimburse Tenant (or
credit against Rent) the amount of the overcharge or Tenent shall pay the amount of the
undercharge, as applicable. Tenani hereby acknowledges that Tenant's sole right o inspect
Landlord’s books and records and to contest the amount of Direct Expenses payable by Tenant
shall be as set forth in this Section 4.6, and Tenant hereby waives any and all other rights pursuant
o Applicable Luws 1o inspect such books and records and’or o conlest the amount of Direct
Expenses pavable by Tenant. The righis to inspect Landlord's books and records set forth in this
Section 4.6 above are personal to the Original Tenant and any Permitted Transferee Assignee, and
may orly be exercised by the Original Tenant or any Permitted Transferee Assignee (and not any
other assignee, or any sublessee or other transferee of Original Tenant's interest in this Lease).

RTICI
USE OF PREMISFS

21  Permitted Use. Tenant shall use the Premises solely for the Permittesd Use set forth
in Section 7 of the Summary and Tenant shall nol use or permit the Premises or the Project to be
used for any other purpose or purposes whatsoever without the prior written consent of Landlord,
which may be withheld in Landlord's sole discretion.

5.2 Prohibited Uses. The uses prohibited under this Lease shall include, without
limitabon, nse of the Premises or & portion thereof for (1) offices of any agency or bureau of the
United States or any state or political subdivision thereof: (if) offices or agencies of any foreign
governmental or political subdivision thereof: (iii) offices of any health care professionals or
serviee organization providing services (o the pablic; (iv) schools or ofher treining fecilities which
are nol ancillary to corporale, executive or professional office use; (v) retail or restaurant uses; (vi)
communications firms such as mdto and/or television stations; or (vi) the sale, use, possession,
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cultivation and‘or distribution of manjuana (irrespective of whether or not permitted by Applicable
Lows), or the sale, use, possession, cultivation and/or distnbution of any other controlled
substanccs (other than the individual nsc and posscszion of prescription medication legally
preseribed by such individual's doctor). Tenant shall ned allow occupancy density of use of the
Premises which is greater than the average density of the other tenants of the Building. Tenant
further covenants and agrees that Tenant shall not use, or suffer or permit any person or persons
to use, the Premises or any part thereof for any use or purpose contrary to the provisions of the
Rules and Regulations set forth in Exhibit I, attached hereto (the "Rules and Regulations”), or
in viclation of any Applicable Laws, inchading, without limitation, any such Applicable Laws
relating (0 hazardons materials or substances, as those terms are defined by Applicable Laws.
Tenaut shall not do or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises which will in any way
damage the reputation of the Project or abstruct or interfere with the rights of other tenanis or
occupants of the Building, or injure or annoy them or use or allow the Premises to be used for sny
impreper, unlawful or objectionable purpose, nor shall Tenard cause, maintain or permit any
nuisance m., on or about the Premises. Tenani shall comply with all recorded covenants,
conditions, and restrictions now or hereafter affecting the Project; provided that the same shall not
(other than in & de minimis manner) (z) adversely affect Tenant's rights under this Lease,
() adversely affect Tenant's use of the Premises for the Permitted Use, or (¢) increase Tenant's
monezary obligations under this Lease.

ARTICLE 6

UTILITIES

.1 Standard Tenanl Services. Landlord shall provide the following services on all
days (unless otherwise stated below) during the applicable Lease Term.

6.1.1 Subject to limitations imposed by all governmental rules, regulations and
guidelines applicable thereto, Landlord shall provide heating and air conditioning ("HVAC")
when necessary for normal comiort for normal office use in the Premises from 8:00 AM. to 6:00
P.M. Monday through Friday, and on Satardays from 9:00 AM, to 1:00 P.M. (collectively, the
"Building Hours"), except for the date of observation of Mew Year's Day, Memorial Day,
Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, Christmas Day and, a1 Landlord's discretion,
ather locally or nationally recognized holidays (collectively, the "Holidays").

6.1.2  Landlord shall provide electnicity o the Premises via the existing Buillding
electncal systems (including adequate electrical wiring and facilities for connection to Tenant's
lighting fixtures and other equipment) for lighting and power suitable for normal general office
use m accordance with Applicable Laws. As part of Operating Expenses, Landlord shell replace
(as reasonably necessary) lamps, starters and ballasts for Building standard lighting fixtures within
the Premises, provided that Tenant shall bear the cost of replacement of lamps, starters and hallasts
for non-Building standard lighting fixtures within the Premises,

6.1.3 Landlord shall provide city water from the regular Building outlets for
drinking, lavatory and toilel purposes in the Building Common Areas,
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6.1.4 Landlord shall provide deily janitorisl services to the Premises Monday
through Friday, except the date of observation of the Holidays, in and about the Premises and
window washing services in a manner consistent with other Comparable Buildings.

6.1.5 Landlord shall provide nonexclusive, non-silended automatic passenger
elevator service during the Building Hours and shall have one elevator available at all other times,
except on the Holidays.

6.1.6 Landlord shall provide ponexclusive freight elevator service subject 1o
scheduoling as reasonably approved by Landlord.

6.1.7 Except in the event of an emergency or as otherwise specifically required
pursuand w0 Applicable Law or the terms of this Lease, Tenani shall be granted access o the
Premuses, the Bulding and the Bulding parking [acility twenty-Tour (24) hours per day, seven (7)
days per week, every day of the year, during the applicable Lease Term, subject to all Applicable
Laws, Landlord's reasonable access control procedures, the Rules and Regulations and the terms
of this Lease,

Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord at all times and abide by all regulations and
requirements that Landlord may reasonahly prescribe for the proper functioning and protection of
the HVAC, electrical. mechanical and plumbing systems. Tenant chall, at Tenant's sole cost and
expense, install and otherwise ensure that any kitchen or kitchenette area located in the Premises,
il any, is equipped with properly functioning Qoor drains and suto shut-ofT valves.

6.2  Overstandard Tenant Lse. Tenant shall not, withowt Landlord’s prior written
consent, use heal-generating machines, machines other than normal fractional horsepower office
machines, or eguipment or lighting other than Building standard lights in the Premises, which
machines, equipment and/or lighting arc non-general office use guantities and/or configurations
which may affect the temperamre atherwise maintained by the air conditioning system or increase
the water normally fumished for the Premises by Landlord pursuant to the terms of Section 6.1 of
this Lease. If such consent is given, Landlond shall have the right to install supplementary i
conditioning units or other facilities in the Premises, including supplementary or additional
metering devices, and the cost thereof, including the cost of installation, operation and
maintenance, increased wear and tear on existing equipmen! and other similar charges, shall be
paid by Tenant to Landlord upon billing by Landlord. If Tenant uses electricity in excess of 3.0
watls per usable square foot of the Premises of low voltage power (120/280 volis), caleulated on
an average monthly basis for Building Hours, or if Tenant uses water, heal or air conditioming in
exceas of that supplied by Landlord pursuant to Section 6.1 of this Lease, or if Tenam shall install
and/or operate in the Premises any equipment which shall have an electrical consumption greaier
than that of normal general office equipment, or which, comsistent with the practices of the
Iandlords of comparable first class office buildings located in the vicinity of the Building, are
considered to be high clectricity consumption equipment, Tenant shall pay o Landlond, within
thirty (30) days following billing with reasonable detail, the cost of such excess consumption, the
cost of the installation, operation, and maintenance of equipment which is installed in order to
supply such excess consumption, and the cost of the increased wear and tear on existing equipment
caused by such excess consumption; and Landlord may install devices to separately meter any
mcreased wse and in such event Tenant shall pay the increased cost directly to Landlord, on
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demand, at the rates charged by the public utility company furnishing the same, including the cost
of such additional metering devices, Tenant's use of clectricity shall never cxceed the capacity of
tho feeders to the Project or the risers or wiring installation, and subject to the terms of Section
29.32, helow, Tenant shall not install or wse or permit the installation or use of any compuler or
electronic data processing equipment in the Premises, without the prior written consent of
Landlord. If Tenant desires to use heat, ventilation or air conditioning during hours other than
those for which Landlord is obligated to supply such utilities pursuant to the terms of Section 6.1
ol 1his Lease, Tenant shall give Landlond such prior notice, if any, as Landlord shall from time to
time establish as appropriate, of Tenant's desired use in order 1o supply such wilities, and Landlord
shall supply such wutilitics to Tenant at such hourly cost to Tenant (which shall be treated as
Additonal Rent) as Landlord shall from time (o ime establish. Notwithstanding any provision to
the contrary comizined in this Lease, Tenant shall prompily pay o Landlord, Landlord’s standard
charge for any services provided to Tenant which Landlord is not specifically obligated to provide
lo Tenant pursuant to the terms of this Lease.

6.3 Interruption of Use. Tenant agrees that Landlord shall not be liable for damages,
by abatement of Rent or othervize, for failure to furnish or delay in fumiching any service
{including telephone and telecommunication services), or for any diminution in the quality or
guaniity thereof, when such fmlure or delay or diminution is occasioned, in whole or in part, by
breakage, repairs, replacements, or improvements, by any strike, lockout or other labor wouble, by
inability to secure electricity, gas, water, or other fuel at the Building or Project after reasonable
effort to do so, by any not or other dangerous condition, emergency, accident or casualty
whatsoever, by acl or defaull of Tenant ar other parties, or by any other cause; and such failures
or delays or diminution shall never be deemed 0 constituge an evietion er disturbance of Tenant's
use and possession of the Premises or relieve Tenant from paying Rent or performing any of its
obligations under this Lease. Furthermore, Landlord shall not be liable under any circumstances
for a loss of, or injury to, property or for injury to, or interference with, Tenant's business,
including, without limitation, loss of profits, however ccourring, through or mn connection with or
incidental to a failure 1o furnish any of the services or utilities as set forth in this Article 6. Landlord
may comply with volunary controls or guidelines promulgated by any governmental entity
relating to the use or conservation of energy, water, pas, light or electricity or the reduction of
automobile or other emissions without creating any liability of Landlord to Tenant under this
Lense, provided that the Premises are not thereby rendered untenantable,

6.4  Abatement of Rent. In the event that Tenant ig prevented from using, and does
not use, the Premises or any portion thersol, as a result of eny failere to provide services, utilities
or aceess 1o the Premises to the extent Landlord is obligated to provide the same under this Lease
[any such set of circumsiances to be known as an "Abatement Event”), then Tenani shall give
Landiord notce of such Abalement Event, and il such Abatement Evenf continues for five
(5) consecutive business days after Landlord's receipt of any such notice or (the "Eligibility
Peried"], then the Base Rent and Tenant's Shere of Direct Expenscs, shall be abated or reduced,
## the case may be, after the expimation of the Eligibility Peniod for such fime that Tenen confmues
tn be so prevented from using. and does not use, the Premises or a portion thereof, in the propartion
that the rentable area of the portion of the Premises that Tenant 18 prevented from usmg, and does
not uss, bears to the total rentable area of the Premises; provided, however, in the event that Tenamnt
is prevented from using, and does not use, a portion of the Premises for a period of time in excess
of the Eligibility Period and the remaining portion of the Premises is not suificient to allow Tenant
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to effectovely conduct its business therem, and 1f Tenant does not conduct its business from such
remaiving portion, then for such time after expiration of the Eligibility Period during which Tenant
is 50 prevented rom elfectively comlucting its busmess therein, the Buse Renl and Tenanl's Share
of Direct Expenses for the entire Premises shall be abated for such time as Tenant continues to be
so prevented from using, and does not use, the Premises. If, however, Tenant reoccupies any
partion of the Premises during such period, the Rent allocable 1o such reoccupied portion, based
on the proportion that the renteble area of such recccupied portion of the Premises bears to the
Iotal rentable area of the Premises, shall be payable by Tenant from the date Tenanl réoccupies
such pertion of the Premises. Such right 1o abate Base Rent and Tenant's Share of Direct Expenses
shall be Tenant's sole and exclusive remedy at law or i equity for an Abatement Event. To the
extent Tenant is entitled to abatement without regard to the Eligibility Peniod, because of an event
deseribed in Articles 11 or 13 of this Lease, then the Eligibility Period shall not be applicable.
Except us provided in this Section 6.4, nothing contained hercin shall be interpreted to mean that
Tenant is excused from paying Rent due hereunder.

ARTICLE 7
REPAIRS

Landlord shall maintain and keep m good repair and condition, the structural portions of
the Building, including the foundation, Noor/ceiling slabs, mof, eurtain wall, exterior glass and
mullions, columng, beams, shalts (including elevator shafis), stairs, parking sreas, stmowells
{excluding intermnal stairwells within lenants' premisex), clevator cabs, plazas, pavement,
sidewalks, curbs, entrances, landscaping, art work, sculptures, men's and women's public
washrooms, Building mechanical, electrical and telephone closets, and all common and public
arcas (collectively, "Building Structure”), the Base Building mechanical, electnical, life safety,
plumbing, sprinkler systems and HVAC systems and other building systems and equipmem which
were not constructed by, and are not for the exclusive use of, Tenant or Tenant Parties (as defined
in Section 10,1 below) (collectively, the "Buoilding Systems™), Nowwithstanding anvihing in this
Lease to the contrary, Tenant shall be required to repeir the Building Structure and/or the Building
Svstems 10 the extent required because of (i) Tenant's use of the Premises for other than normal
end customary business office operations, or (i) the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant
or the Tenant Parties, unless and to the extent such damage 15 covered by mmsurance carried or
required to be camed by Landlord pursuant (o Article 10 (such obligation to the extont applicable
1o Tenant as qualified and eonditionad will hereinafter be defined as the "BS/BS Exception").
Except as provided as part of Landlord's obligations set forth above or elsewhere in the Lease,
Tenant shall, ot Tenamt's own expense, pursuant (o the terms of this Lesse, including without
limitation Article 8 hereof, keep the non-structural portioms of the Premises, including all
improvements, fixtures and furnishings therein, and the floor or floars of the Building on which
the Premises are located, in good order, repair and condition at all times during the applicable
Lense Term  (bul such obligation shall nol elend (o the Building Struciure and the Building
Syslems, excepl pursuant o the BS/BS Exceplion). In addition, except as provided as pan of
Landlord's repair obligation sct forth above or elsewhere in this Lease, Tenant shall, at Tenant's
own expensa, but under the supervision and subject to the prior approval of Landlord, and within
any reasonable period of time specified by Landlord, pursuzant 1o the terms of this Lease, including
without limitation Aricle 8 hereol, promptly and adequately repair all damage to the Premises and
replace or repair all dameged, broken, or wom fixiwes and sppurtenances, except for damage
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caused by ordinary wear and lear or beyond the reasonable control of Tenant; provided however,
that, et Landlord's option, or if Tenant fails to make such repairs, Landlord may in accordance with
Article 27 below, but need not, make such repairs and replacements, and Tenant shall pay Landlord
an oversight fee egual o fve percent (5%) of the cost thereol and reimburse Landlord for
Landlord's actuzl, out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Landlord and arising from
Landlord's involvement with such repairs and replacements forthwith upon being balled for same.
Landlord may, but shall not be required 1o, enter the Premises at all reasonable times to make such
repairs, alterations, improvements or additions 1o the Premises or to the Project or to any equipment
located in the Project as Landlord shall reasonably desire or deem necessary or as Landlond may
be required to do by govemnmental or quasi-governmental suthority or court order or decree.
Tenant hereby waives any and all rights under and benefits of subsection 1 of Section 1932 and
Sections 1941 and 1942 of the California Civil Code or under any similar law, statute, or ondinanee
now or hereafter in effect.

ARTICLE &8

8.1 Landlord's Consent to Alterations. Tenant may not make any improvements,
alterations, additions or changes to the Premises or any mechanical, plumbing or HVAC facilities
of sysiems periaining to the Premises (collectively, the "Alterations") without first procuring the
poior written consent of Landlord to such Alterations, which consent shall be requested by Tenant
nivt less than twenty (200 days prior to the commencement thereof, and which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed by Landlord, provided it shall be deemed
reasonable for Landlord to withhold its consemt to any Alteration which affects the stwuctural
portions or the systems or squipment of the Building or & visible from the extenior of the Building.
Subject to the lerms of this Article B {including. without limitation, Landlord's prior written
approval), Landlord acknowledges that Tenant may modernize and update the hathrooms located
within the full floor portions of the Premiges (ie., the Suite 500 Premises and the Addutional
Premises) which work may melude the replacement of fixtures (i.e.. toilets, sinks, ew.). The
construclion of the initial improvements 1o the Premises shall be governed by the terms of the
Tenam Work Letter and not the terms of this Article 8. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contaned herein, Tenant may make cosmetic changes to the Premises, imcluding. without
limitaton, painting and installation of carpeting (the "Cosmetic Alterations"), without Landlord's
consent, provided that such allerations do not (1) affect the exterior appearance of the Building, (i)
alfeet the Base Building, (i) require any building permit, (iv) unreasonably interfere with any
other eccupant's normal and customary office operation, (v) fail to comply with Applicable Laws,
(vi) adversely affect the certificate of occupancy izsued for the Building, ar (vii) invelve the
expenditure of more than Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) in the aggregate during any
twelve (12) month period. Tenant shall give Landlord at least thirty (30) days prior writien nptice
of such Cosmetic Alterations, which notice shall be accompanied by reasonably adequate evidence
that such chanpes meet the critoria contained m this Section 8.1,

8.2  Mauner of Copstruction. Landlord may impose, as & condition of its consent 1o
mmy and all Allerations or repairs of the Premses or about the Premises, such requirements es
Landlord in i3 reasonable discretion may deem desirable, including, bul not limited o, the
requirsment that Tenant utilize for such purposes only contractors, subcontractors, materials,
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mechanics and materialmen selected by Tenant from a list provided and appreved by Landlord,
the requirement that upon Landlord's request, Tenant shall, at Tenant's expense, remove such
Alterations upon the expiration or any early termination of the applicable Lease Term, and the
requirement that all Alterations conform in tenms of guality and style o the Building's standards
established by Landlord {a current copy of which is attached hercto as Exhibit E and which may
be subject to reasonable change from time o time). [ such Alterations will invalve the use of or
disturb hazardous materials or substances existing in the Premises, Tenant shall comply with
Landlord's rules and regulations concerning such hazardous materials or substances. Landlord's
approval of the plans, specifications and working drawings for Tenaot's Alierations shall create no
responsbility or liability on the part of Landlord for their complefeness, desipn sufficiency, or
compliance with all Applicable Laws. Tenant shall construct such Alterations and perform such
repairs in a good nd workmanlike manner, in conformance with any and all Applicable Laws and
pursuant to a valid building permit, issued by the City of Beverly Hills, all in conformance with
Landlord's construction rules and regulations {a curtent copy of which is attached herelo as Exhibit
F and which may be reasonably revised from time to time). In the event Tenant performs any
Alterations n the Premises which require or give rise to governmentally required changes to the
Base Building, than Landlord shall, at Tenant's expense, make such changes o the Base Building,
The "Base Bullding” shall mean the Building Structure and the Building Systems. In performing
the work of any such Alterations, Tenani shall have the work performed in such manner so as not
to obstruct access to the Project or any portion thereof, by any other tenant of the Project, and 5o
as not 10 ohstruet the business of Landlord or other tenants in the Project. Tenant shall not use
{and upon notice from Landlord shall cense using) contractors, subcontractors, services, workmen,
labor, materials or equipment that, in Landlord's reasonable judgment, would disnrb lzbor
harmony with the workforce or trades engaged in performing other work, labor or services in or
about the Building or the Common Areas. In addition to Tenant's obligations under Article & of
this Lease, upon completion of any Alterations, Tenant agrees to cause a Notice of Completion to
be recorded in the office of the Recorder of the County of Los Angeles in sccondance with Section
8182 of the Civil Code of the State of California or any successor statule, and Tenant shall deliver
o the Project management office a reproducible copy of the "as built" drawings of the Alierations
as well as all permils, approvals and other documents issued by any governmental agency in
connection with the Alterations.

8.3  Payment for Improvements. [f payment is made directly to contraciors, Tenant
shall comply with Landlord's requirements for final lien releases and waivers pursuant to
Applicable Law in connection with Tenant's payment for work to contractors. Whether or nol
Tenant orders any work directly from Landlord, Tenznt shall pay to Landlornd an oversight fee
equal o five percent (5%) of the cost of such work and reimburse Landlord for Landlord's
reasonshle, actual, out-of-pocket cosis and expenses actually incurred in commection with
Landlord's review of such work.

g4 Construction Insurance. In addition to the requirements of Article 10 of this
Lease, in the event that Tenant makes any Alterations, prior to the commencement of such

Alterations, Tenant shall provide Landlord with evidence that Tenant carries "Builder's All Risk"
insurance in an amount reasonably approved by Landlord covering the construction of such
Alterations, and such other inswrance as Landlord may reasonably require, it being undersiood and
vgreed that all of such Alterations shall be insured by Tenant pursuant 1o Article 10 of this Leuse
immediately upon completion thereof. In addition, Landlord may, in its discretion, require Tenant
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Lo btz & lign and completion bond or some altemate form of secunty satisfactory 1o Landlord in
an amount sufficient to ensure the lien-free completion of such Allerations and naming Landlord
as 4 co-obligee.

8.5  Laondlord's Property. All Allesations, improvements, fixtures, equipment and/or
appurnenances which may be installed or placed in or about the Premises, from time to time, shall
be af the sole cost of Tenan and any permanently affixed Alterations, improvements, aquipment
and/or appurtenances shall be and become the property of Landlord, except that Tenant may
remove any movable fixtures and‘or equipment which Tenant can substantiate to Landlord have
not been paid for with any lenanf improvement allowance funds provided o Tenant by Landlord,
provided Tenant repairs any damage to the Premises and Building caused by such removal and
retums the affected portion of the Premises to the condition existing prior to the installation of
such Alterations. Furthermore, Landlord may, by writlen nolice to Tenant prior to the end of the
applicable Leuse Term, or given following any earlicr lermination of this Lease (or, a: the time
Landlord consents o any such Alterations 1f Tenant requests Landlord's decision with respect 1o
snch removal), require Tenant, at Tenant's expense, to remove any Alterations or improvements i
the Premises, and 1o repair any damage 1o the Premiges and Building caused by such removal and
return the affected portion of the Premises the condition existing prier to the installation of such
Alterstions. If Tenan! fails to complete such removal and/or to repair any damage caused by the
removal of any Alterations or improvements in the Premises, and retums the affected portion of
the Premises to the condition existing prior to the installation of such Alterations then atl
Landlord's option, either (A) Tenant shall be deemed to be holding over in the Premises and Rent
shall continue to acerue in accordance with the terms of Aricle 16, below, until such work shall
be completed, or (B) Landlord may do so and may charge the actal out-of-pocket cost thereaf to
Tenant. Tenant herehy prowects, defends, mdemnifies and holds Landlord harmless from any
liability, cost, obligation, expense or claim of lien in any manner to the extent relating to the
installation, placement, removal or financing of any such Alterations, improvements, fixtures
andfor equipment in, on or about the Premises by or on behalf of Tenant, which obligations of
Tenant shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

8.6 Befurbishment Allowanee. Tenant, subject to the terms of this Section 8.6 below,
shall be entitled to & one-time refurtashment allowance in the smount of $29,150.00 (i.e., $10.00
per rentable square food of the Swte 210 Premises) in the aggregaie (the "Refurbishment
Allowanee") for the costs relating to the design and construction of Tenant's refurbishmants, which
are permanently affixed to the Suite 210 Premises (the "Refurbishments"). In no event shall
Landlord be obligated to make disbursements pursuant to this Lease for costs that are unrelated to
the Reflwbishments nor for eny Refurbishments i e lotal smound which exceeds the
Refurmshment Allowance, Excepl as otherwise provided in this Section 8.6, Tenant (or Tenant's
contractor) shall perform any Refurbishments at its sole cost and expense and in aceondince with
the terms of this Article 8 (ipcluding, without limitation, following Landlord's prior written consent
and pursuant to plans approved by Landlord) and Article 9 below. Subject to the provisions of
this Section 8.6 ahove, following the completion of the Refurbishments. Landlord shall deliver a
check made payable to Tenant in payment for the applicable portion of the Refuhishment
Allowance, provided that (i) if applicable, Tenant's architect {or contractor) delivers to Landlord a
certificate, in a form reasonably acceptable to Landlord, certifying that the construction of the
Refurbishments has been completed, (ii) Tenant delivers to Landlord, if’ applicable, properly
executed unconditional mechame's hen releases in comphance with both Califorma Crvil Code
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Section 8134 and Section 5138, (1) Landlord has determined that no subsiandard work exists
which adversely affects the mechanical, electrical, plumbing, hesting, ventilating and air
conditioning, life-safety or other systems of the Building, the curtain wall of the Building, the
structure or exierior appeatance of the Building, or any other tenant's use of such ather tenamt's
leased premises in the Building, and {iv) Tenant delivers to Landlord all imvoices, marked as
having been paid, from all general contractors, subcontractors, laborers, materizlmen, and
suppliers used by Tenant for labor rendered and matenials delivered 1o the Suite 210 Premises in
connection with the Refurbishments. MNotwithstanding any provision to the cantrary in this Lease,
Tenant shall have the option to convert the amounnt of the Refirbishment Allowance, or any partion
thereof, imlo an additional tenant improvement sllowance to be applied to the Tensnt
Improvements (as defined in Section 2.1 of the Tenant Work Letter) in accordance with the lerms
of the Tenant Work Letier as if such amount were a part of the Tenant Improvement Allowance.
In the event Tenant desires to exercise such option, Tenant shall provide written notice thereof to
Landlord on or before the Allowance Deadline (as defined in Section 2.1 of the Tenant Work
Letter), which notice shall comain the amount of the Refurbishment Allowance that Tenant desires
1o ponvert into an additional tenant improvement allowance (the "Conversion Amount”). Upon
Landlord's receipt of such notice, (a) the amount of the Refurbishment Allowance shall be
decreased by the Conversion Amount, and (b} the Tenant Improvement Allowance (as defined in
Section 2,1 of the Tenamt Work Letter) shall be increased by the Conversion Amount. Any unused
portion of the Refurbishment Allowance remaining as of the Allowance Deadline shall remain
with Landlord and Tenant shall have no further right thereio,

ARTICLE 9
VEN, T LIENS

Tenant shall keep the Project and Premises free from any liens or encumbrances arising
out of the work performed, materials fumnished or obligations incurred by or on behalf of Tenant,
and shall protect, defend, indemnify and hold Landlerd harmless from and agamst mny claims,
liabilities, judgments or costs (including, without limitation, reasonable atomevs' fees and costs)
ansing out of same or m connection therewith, Tenant shall give Landlord notice at least fifieen
{15) days prior to the commencement of any such work on the Premises {or such additional time
as may be necessary under Applicable Laws) to afford Landlord the opportunity of posting and
recording appropriate notices of pon-responsibility. Tenant shall remove any such lien or
encumbrance by bond or otherwise within ten {10} days after notice by Landlord, and if Tenant
shall fail to do so, Lendlord may pay the amount nceessary to remove such hen or encumbrance,
withou being responsible for investigatimg the validity theveof. The amount so paid shall be
deemed Additional Rent under this Lease pavable upon demand, without limitation as to other
remedies available to Landlord under this Lease. Nothing contained in this Lease shall authorize
Tenant to do any act which shall subject Landlerd's title to the Building or Premises to any liens
or encumbrances whether ¢laimed by operation of law or expréss or implied contract. Any claim
to a lien or encumbrance upon the Building or Premises arising in connection with any such work
or respacting the Premises not performead by or at the request of Landlord shall be null end void,
or al Landlord's option shall attach only against Tenants interest in the Premises and shall in all
respects be subordinate 1o Landlord's title to the Project, Building and Premises.
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ARTICLE 10
INSURANCE

10,0 Indempification apd Waiver. Tenant hereby assumes all risk of damage o
property of injury to persons in, upon or about the Premises from any cause whatsoever and agrees

that Landlord. its members, partners, subpartners and their respective officers, direclors, agents,
servants, employees, and independent contractors (collectively, "Landlord Parties”) shall not be
Tiable for, and are hereby roleased from any responsibility for, any damage either io persem or
property or resulting from the loss of use thereof, which damage |3 sustained by Tenant or by ather
persons claimin,g through Tenant, except for personal injury or property damage claims o the
extent anising from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of any Landlord Parties. Tenant
shall indemnify, delend, protect, and hold harmless the Landlond Parties from any and all loss,
cogl, damege, expense and linbility (including without limitation court costs and reasonable
altornzys’ fees) incurred in connection with or arising from any canse in, on or ahout the Premises,
any violation of any Applicable Laws, including, without limitation, any environmental laws, any
acts, emissions or negligence of Tenamt or of any person claiming by, through or under Tenaal, or
of the contractors, agents, servants, employees, invitees, guests or licensees of Tenant or any such
peraon [eollectively, "Tenant Parties"), in, on or about the Project, or #ny injury or damage to the
person, property, or business of Tenant, ils employees, agents, contractors, imvitees, visitors, or
any other person entering upon the Premises under the express or implied invitation of Tenant
{whether such injury or damage oecurs in the Premises or in, on, or about the Projeci), or any
breach of e terms of this Lease, either pnor @, duning, or afler the expiraton of the applicable
Lease Term, provided that the terms of the foregoing indemnity shall not apply to the gross
neglipence or willful misconduct of any Landlord Parties. Should Landlord be named as a
defendant in any suil brought against Tenant in comnection wilth or arising ouwl of Tenant's
occupancy of the Premises, Tenant shall pay to Landlord its reasonable costs end expenses incurred
in such suit, including without limitation, its actual and reasonable professional fees such as
apprasers’, accountants’ and attomeys' fees. Further, Tenant's agreement to indemnify Landlord
pursuant to this Section 10.1 is not intended and shall not relieve any insurance carrier of its
obligations under policies required 1o be carried by Tenant pursuant o the provisions of this Lease,
to the extent such policies cover the matters subject to Tenant's indemmification obligations; nor
shall they supersede any inconsistent sgreement of the parties set forth in any other provision of
this Lease. The provisions of this Section 10.1 shall survive the expiration or snoner termination
of this Lease with respect to any claims or liability arising in connection with any event ocowring
prior o sech expiration or termination,

10.2 ; 9 A i ; Insurance. Tenmt
shall. at Tenant's expenne Dﬂmpl} wnJl all insurance cnmpan}r mquu::menls pertaining 1o the use
of the Premises. IF Tenant's conduct or use of the Premises causes any increase in (he premium
for such insurance policies then Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for any such increase.

113 Tenant's Insurance. Tenanl shall maintmn the following coverages in the
following amounts.

10.3.1 Commercial General Liaholity Insurance covering the insured against
claims of bedily injury, personal injury and property damage {incloding loss of use thereof) arising
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oul of Tenant's operations, and contractual liabilities (covering the performance by Tenant of its
indemnity agreements) incheding a Broad Form endorsement covering the insuring provisions of
this Lease and the performance by Tenant of the indemnity agreements set forth in Scction 10.1 of
{his Lense, for limits of liability not less than:

Bodily Injury and $5,000,000 each occumrence
Property Damage Liahility 55,000,000 anmual sggregate
Personal Injury Liabihty 85,000,000 gach occurrence

£5,000,000 annual aggregate
0% Insured's participation

10.3.2 Physical Damage Insumnce coverng (i) all office fumitwre, business and
trade fixtures, office equipment, free-standing cabinet work, movable partitions, merchandise and
all other items of Tenant's property on the Premises installed by. for, or at the expense of Tenant,
(ii) the Tenunt Improvements, and any other improvements which exist in the Premises as of the
Original Premises Commencement Dale or the Additional Premises Commencement Date
{excluding the Bese Building) (the "Original Improvements”), and (ii1) all other improvements,
alterations and additions to the Premises. Such insurance shall he written on an "all risks" of
physical loss or damage basis, for the full replacement cost value (subject to reasonable deductible
amounts) new without deduction for depreciation of the covered items and in amounts that meet
any co-insurance clauses of the policies ol msurance and shall include coverage for damage or
other loss caused by fire or other peril meluding, but not mited to, vandalism and malicious
mischief, theft, water damage of any type, including sprinkler leakage, bursting or stoppage of
pipes, and explosion, and providing business interruption coverage for a period of one year,

10,33 Warker's Compensation or other similar insurance pursuant 1o all applicahle
state and local statutes and regulations, and Employer's Liability with minimum limits of nol less
than $1,000,000 each accident/employec/disense,

10.3.4 Business Income Interruption for one (1) vear to reimburse Tenant for actual
direct or indirect loss of camings attributable to the risks outlined in Section 10.3.2 above.

104 Form of Policies. The minimum limits of policies of insurance required of Tenant
under this Lease shall in no event limit the lisbility of Tenant under this Lease. Such msurance
shall (i) name Landlord, Landiord's lender, and any other party the Landlord so specifies, as an
additional msured, including Landlord's managing agent, if any, (it) specifically cover the liability
assumed by Tenant under this Lease, including, but not limited to, Tenant's obligations under
Section 10.1 of this Lease; {ii1) be tssued by an insurance company having s rating of nod less than
A-X in Best's Insurance Guide or which is otherwize accepiable 1o Landlord and licensad to do
business in the State of Califorma; (iv) be primary insurance as to all claims thereunder and provide
that any insurance carried by Landlord is excess and is non-contributing with any insurance
requirement of Tenant; (v) be in form and content reasonably acceptable to Landlord; and (vi)
contain a cross-liability endorsement or severability of interest clause scceptable to Landlord.
Tenant shall provide Landlord at least thirty (30) days' (or ten {10) days' with respect to non-
payment of premium) prior writlen notice of any cancellation in coverage or reduction in coverage
below the limits required hereunder. Tenant shall deliver said policy ar policies or cerlificates
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thereof to Landlord an or before the Onginal Premises Commencement Date and at least twenty
(20) days before the expiration dates thereof. In the event Tenamt shall fail to procure such
ingurance, of to delver such policies or certificate, Landlord may. at its option, progure such
policies for the account of Tenant, and the rensonable cost thereof shall be paid (o Landlond within
five () days after delivery to Tenant of kills therefor.

10.5 Subrogation. Landlord and Tenant intend that their respeclive properly loss risks
shall be borne by reasonable insurance carriers (o the extent above provided, and Landlord and
Tenant hereby agree to look solely to, and seck recovery only from, their respective insurance
camers in the event of a property loss to the extent that such loss is the result of a risk insurable
under pulicies of property damage insurance. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained
i this Lease, the parties cach hereby waive all rights and claims sgainst each other for such losscs,
and waive all nghts of subrogation of their respective insurers, provided such waiver af
subrogation shall not affect the right 1o the insured 1o recover thereunder. The parties agree thai
their respective msurance policies are now, or shall be, endorsed such that the waiver of
subrogation shall not affect the right of the insured to recover thereunder, so leng us no matenal
additional premium ig charged therefor,

10,6  Additional Insurance Obligations. Landlord may reguire Tenant to obtain, at
Tenant's sole cost and expense, increased amounts of the insurance required to be carried by Tenant
pursuant to this Article 10 and such other reasonable types of insuwrance coverage and in such
reasonable amounts covering the Premises and Tenant's operations therein, 25 may be reasonahly
requested by Landlord, but Landlord ghall only be entitled to require such incressed amounts
and/or other coverages if they are not in excess of the amounts and types of insurance then being

required by landlords of the Comparable Buildings.
ARTICLE 11

E H N

1.1 Repair of DDamage to Premises by Landlord. Tenant shall promptly nonfy
Landlard of any damage to the Premises resulting from fire or any other casualty. If the Premises
or any Commen Areas serving or providing access lo the Premises shall be dumaged by fire or
other zasualty, Landlord shall promptly and diligently, subject to reasonable delays for insurance
adjustment or other matiers beyond Landlord's reasonable control, and subject to all other terms
of this Article 11, restore the Base Building and such Common Areas. Such restoration shall be
to substantially the same condition of the Base Building and the Common Areas prior to the
casualty, except for modifications required by zoning snd building codes and other Applicable
Laws or by the holder of @ morgage on the Building or Project or any other modifications to the
Common Arcas deemed desirable by Landlord, provided that access to the Premises and any
common restroomsa serving the Premises shall not he materially impaired. Lipon the occurrence of
any damage to the Premises, uvpon notice (the "Landlord Repair Notice") to Tenzmt from
Landlord, Tenant shall assign to Landlord {(or to any party designated by Landlord) all insurance
proceeds payable to Tenant under Tenant's insurance required under Section 10.3 of this Lease,
and Landlord shall repair any injury or damage to the Tenant mprovements and the Original
Improvements installed in the Premises and shall return such Tenant Improvements and Original
Improvements Lo their original condition; provided that if the cost of such repair by Landlord
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exceeds the amount of insurance proceeds received by Landlord from Tenant's insurance carrier,
as agsigned by Tenani, the cost of such repairs shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord prior to
Landlord's commencement of repair of the damage. In the cvent that Landlord docs not deliver
the Landlord Repair Notice within sixty (60) days following the date the casualty becomes known
to Landlord, Tenant shall, al i1s sole cost and expense, repair any injury or damage 1o the Tenant
Improvements and the Original Improvements installed in the Premises and shall retum such
Tenani Improvements and Orginal Improvements to their original condition. Whether or not
Landlord delivers a Landlord Repair Notice, prior 1o the commencement of eonstruction, Tenant
shall submil to Landlord, for Landlord's review and approval, all plans, specifications and working
drawings relating thereto, and Landlord shall select the contractors to perform such improvement
work, Landlord shail not be liable for any inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant or its visitors,
of injury to Tenant's business resulting in any way from such damepe or the repair thereol:
provided however, that if such fire or other casualty shall have damaged the Premises or Common
Areas necessary (0 Tenant's occupancy, Landiord shall allow Tenant a proportionate abatement of
Remt to the extent Landlord is reimbursed from the proceeds of remtal interruption imsurance
purchased by Landlord es part of Operating Expenses, during the time and to the extent the
Premises are unfit for cccupancy for the purposes permitted under this Lease, and not cccupied by
Tenant as a result thereof; provided, further, however, that if the damage or destruction is due to
the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant or any of its agents, employees, contractors,
invitees or guests, Tenant shall be responsible for any reasonable, applicable insurance deductible
[which shall be payable to Landlord upon demand) and there shall be no rent abatement. In the
event that Landlord shall not deliver the Landiond Repair Notice, Tenani's nght to reni abatement
pursuant 1o the preceding sentence shall terminate as of the date Tenant should have completed
repairs to the Premises assuming Tenant used reasonable due dilhigence in connection therewith.

112 Lan i Reps SR i rminate. Notwithstamding
the terms of Section 11.1 of l]us Lease, LundJurd may elect nul o rebuild and/or restore the
Premises, Building and/or Project, and instead terminate this Lease, by notifying Tenant in writing
(the "Termination Notice") of such termination within sixty (60) days after the date of discovery
of the damage, such notice to include a termination date giving Tenant ninety (90) days o vacale
the Premises, but Landlord may so elect only if the Building or Project shall be damaged by fire
or other casually or cause, whether or not the Premises are affected, and one or more of the
following conditions is present: (i} in Landlord's reasonable judgment based upon an estimate
{"Repair Estimate”) from a licensed architect or contractor reasonably selected by Landlocd,
repairs cannol reasonably be completed within two hundred seventy (270) days after the date of
discovery of the damage (when such repairs are made without the payment of overtime or other
premiums); (i1) the holder of any mortgage on the Building or Project or ground lessor with respect
to the Building or Project shall require that the insurance proceeds or any portion thersnd be used
ta retire the mortgage debt, or chall terminate the ground lease, as the case may be; (idi) the damage
is not fully covered (other than deductible amounts) by Landlord's actual policies; ar {iv) the
demage is material and occurs during the last twelve (12) months of the Lease Term, Landlord
shall provide the Repair Estimate to Teénant within sixty (60) days after the date of discovery of
the damage. If Landlord dozss not elect to terminate this Lease pursuant to Landlornd's termination
right as provided above and the Premises is damaged such that il s untenable or the Building is
damaged swch that Tenant is deprived of reasonable access to the Premises, and the Repair
Estimate indicates that the repairs cannot be completed within two hundred seventy (270) days
after the damage or destruction is discovered (when such repairs are made without the payment of
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averiome or other premiums), Tenent may, within thirty (30) days following Landlond's election
not to terminate this Lease, elect to terminate this Lease by wntten notice to Landlord effective as
of the dnte specified in the notice, which date shall not be less than thirty (30) days nor mora than
ninety (90) days after the date such notics is given by Tenant. In the event this Leass is terminated
in accordance with the terms of this Section 11,2, Tenant shall assign to Landlord (or to any party
designated by Landlord) all insurance proceeds payable o Tenant under Tenant's insuranee
required under items (i) and (i) of Section 10.3.2 of this Lease.

113 Waiver of Statutory Previsions. The provisions of this Lease, including this
Article 11, constituie an express agreement between Landlord and Tenant with respect o any and
all damage to, or destruction of, all or any part of the Premises, the Building or the Project, and
any Applicable Laws, including, without hmimtion, Sections 1932(2) and 1933(4) of the California
Civil Code, with respect o any rights or obligations concerning damage or destruction in the
absence of an express agreement between the parties, and any other stalute or regulation, now or
hereafler in effect, shall heve no application to this Lease or any damage or destruction to all or
any part of the Premises, the Building or the Project.

ARTICLE 12
NONWAIVER

Wo provision of this Lense shall be deemed waived by either party herefo unless expressly
watved in a writing signed thereby. The waiver by cither panty berete of any breach of any term,
covenant or condition herein contained shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subseguent
breach of the same or any ather term, covenani or condition herein contained. The suhgequent
acceprance of Rent hereunder by Landlord shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any preceding
breach by Tenant of any term, covenant or condition of this Lease, othar than the failure of Tenant
o pay the particular Rent so accepted, regardless of Landlord's knowledge of such preceding
breach at the time of acceptance of such Rent. No accepance of a lesser amount than the Rent
herein stipulated shall be deemed a waiver of Landlord's right 1o receive the full amount due, nor
shall any endorsement or statement on any check or payment or any letter accompanying such
check or payment be decmed an accord and sansfaction, and Landlord may sceept such check or
payment without prejudice to Landlord's right 1o recover the Rall amount due. No receipt of monies
by Landlord from Tenant atter the termination of this Lease shall in any way alter the length of the
applicable Lease Term or of Tenant's nght of possession hereunder, or after the giving of any
notice shall reinstate, continue or extend the applicable Lease Term or affect any notice given
Tenant prior to the receipl of such monies, it being agreed that after the service of notice or the
commencement of a suit, or after final judgment for possession of the Premises, Landlord may
receive and collect any Rent due, 2nd the payment of said Rent shall not waive or affect szid notice,
suit or judgment.

ARTICLE 13
N TION

1f the whole or any part of the Premises, Building or Project shall be taken by power of
eminent domain or condemned by any competent authority for any public or quasi-public use or

FIEALE S WA T30 WILSHRE BOLILEVARD
AR 1) =) Ja P hogn -Mr- [ e e |




purpose, or if any adjacent property or street shall be so taken or condemned, or reconfigured or
vacated by such aothority in such manner as o require the use, reconstruction or remodeling of
any part of the Frennses, Building or Project, or if Landlord shall grant a deed or other msirument
in liew of such taking by eminent domain or condemnation, Landlord shall have the option w
terminate this Lease effective as of the date possession is required 1o be surrendered o the
authonty. [f more than twenty-five percent (25%) of the rentable square feet of the Premises is
taken, or if access to the Premises 1s substantially impaired, in each case for a period in excess of
ome hundred twenty (1207 days, Tenant shall have the option to terminate this Lease effective as
of the date possession is required 1o be surrendered to the authority. Tenant shall not because of
such taking assert any claim against Landlord or the authority for any compensation because of
such taking and Landlord shall be entitled to the entire award or payment in connection therewith,
except thal Tenant shall have the nght 1o file any separate claom available to Tenant for any taking
of Tenant's personal property and fixtures belonging to Tenant and removable by Tenant upon
expiraion of the applicable Lease Term pursuant to the terms of this Lease, and for moving
expenses, 80 long as such claims do not diminish the award available to Landiord, its ground lessor
with respect to the Building or Project or its mortgagee, and such claim is payable separately to
Tenznt, All Rent shall be apportioned as of the date of such termination. Ifany part of the Premises
shall be taken, and this Lease shall not be so terminated, the Bent shall be proportionstely abated,
Tenant hereby waives any and all rights it might otherwise have pursuant w Section 1265.130 of
The Califormaa Code of Civil Procedure. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
this Artiele 13, in the event of a temporary taking of all or any partion of the Premuises for a period
of one hundred twenty (120) days or less, then this Lease shall not terminate but the Bese Rent and
the Additional Rent shall be abated for the peried of such taking in proportion to the mtio that the
amount of rentable square feet of the Premises taken béars 1o the tolal rendable squance feet of the
Premises. Landlord shall be entitled to receive the entire award made in connection with any such
temparary laking.

ARTICLE 14
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

14.1  Trapsfers. Tenant shall no, without the prior wiitlen consent of Landlord, assign,
morigage, pledge, hypothecate, encumber, or permil any lien 1o altach o, or otherwise transfer,
this Legse or any inlerest hereunder, permit any assignment, or other transfer of this Lease or any
interest hereunder by operation of law, sublet the Premises or any part thereof, or enter into any
license or concession agreements or otherwise permit the occupancy or use of the Premises or any
part thereof by any persons other than Tenant and its emplovees and contractors (all of the
foregoing are hereinafter sometimes referred to ndividually as o "Transfer” and collectively as
"Transfers” and any person to whom any Transfer 13 made or sought 1o be made 15 hereinaficr
sometimes referred to a8 a "Transferee™). If Tenant desires Landlord's consent to any Transfer,
Temant shall noily Landlond in writing, which ootice (Uhe "Traosfer Notiee') shell include (i) the
proposed effective date of the Transfer, which shall not be less than thirty (30) days nor more than
on¢ hundred eighty (180) days afier the date of delivery of the Transfer Notice, (i) a description
of the portion of the Premises to be transferred (the "Subject Space”), (iii) all of the material terms
of the proposed Transfer and the consideration therefor, including calculation of the Transfer
Premium (as that term 15 defined in Section 14.3 below) in conmection with such Transfer, the
name and addiess of the proposed Transferee, and an executed copy of all documentation
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effectuating the proposed Transfer, including all operative documents to evidence such Transfer
and all agreements incidental or related to such Transfer, provided that Landlord shall have the
right o peguire Tengnl o utilize Landlord's standard Transler documents in connection with the
documentation of Landlord*s consent to such Transfer, and provided further that the (ems of the
proposed Transfer shall provide that such proposed Transferee shall not be permitted to further
assign or sublaase its interest in the Subject Space and/or this Lease without Landlord's prior
written consent (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditionsd or delayed), and (iv) current
financial statements of the proposed Transferee certified by an officer, partner or owner thereof,
business credit of the proposed Transferee and any other mformation reasonably required by
Landlord which will rezsonably enable Landlord to determine the financial responsibility,
character. and reputation of the proposed Transferee, nature of such Transferee’s business and
proposed use of the Subject Space. Any Transfer made withowt Landlowd's prior wrilten consent
shall, at Landlord's option, be null, void and of no effect, and shall, at Landlord's cption, constitute
a defanlt by Tenant under this Lease. Whether or not Landlord consents to any proposed Trmansfer,
Tenant shall pay Landlord's review and processing fee up to $1.500.00 for each proposed Transfer,
as well as any reasonable professional fees (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’,
aceountants’, architects', engineers' and consultants’ fees) incurred by Landlord, not to exceed One
Thousand Five Hundred and No/100 Dollars ($1,500.00) per each proposed Transfer in the
ondinery courss of business, within thirty (30) days after written request by Landlord. Landlord
and Tenant hereby agree that, without limitation as to what is not "in the ordinary course of
business", a proposed Transfer shall be deemed not "in the ordinary course of business" if such
particular proposed Transfer involves the review of documentation by Landiord on more than two
(2) oczasions.

142  Landlord's Consent. Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold, condition o
delay its consent to gy proposed Transfer of the Subject Space o tbe Transferce an the terms
gpecified in the Transler Notice. Without limitation as 1o other reazonable grounds for wiathholding
consent. the parties hereby agrec that it shall be reasonable under this Lease and under any
Applicable Laws for Landlord to withhold consent to any proposed Transfer where one or more
of the following apply:

14.2.1 The Transferce is of a charzeler or reputation or engaged tn a business which
is not consistent with the quality of the Building or the Project, or would be a significantly less
prestigious occupant of the Building than Tenant;

1422 The Transferee intends to use the Subject Space for purposes which are not
permifted under this Lease;

1423 The Transferee is either a governmental agency or instrumentality thereol,

14.2.4 The Transferes is not a party of reasonable financial worth and/or financial
stability in light of the responsibilities 10 be undertaken in connection with the Transfer on the dale
consent is requested;

14.2.5 The proposed Transfer would cause a violation ol another leass for space in
the Project, or would give an occupant of the Project & right to cancel its lease;
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14.2.6 The terms of the proposed Transfer will allow the Transferee to exercise a
right of renewal, right of expansion, night of first offer, or other similar right held by Tenant (or
will allow the Transferee to occupy space leased by Tenant pursaant (o any such nighty

14.2.7 Either the proposed Transferee, or any person or entity which derectly or
indirectly, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the propesed Transferee (o
"Transferee Affiliate"), (i) occupies space in the Project at the time of the request for consent, or
(i) 15 nepotiating with Landlord (which for purposes of this item (ii) and (iii), below, shall be
evidenced by the transmittal of ane or more letters of intent, drafi proposals or lease documents by
the proposed Transferee or Transferee Affiliate to Landlord or Landlord to the proposed Transferee
or Transferee Affiliate) to lease space in the Project al such time, or (iii) has negotinted with
Landierd during the twelve {1 2)-month period immediately preceding the Transfer Notice: or

14.2.8 The Transferce does not intend to occupy the entire Premises and conduct
its busmess therefrom for a substantial portion of the term of the Transfer.

If Landlord consents to any Transfer pursuant to the terms of this Section 14.2 {and docs
not exercise any recapture rights Landlord may have under Section 14.4 of this Lasse). Tenant
may within six (6) months afler Landlord's consent, but not Jater than the expiration of said six-
month period, enter into such Transfer of the Premises or portion thereof, upon substamiially the
same terms and conditions as are set forth in the Transfer Notice furmished by Tenant to Landiord
pursuant to Section 14.1 of this Lease, provided that if there are any material changes in the terms
and conditions from those specified in the Transfer Notice (i) such that Landlord would initially
have been entitled 1o refuse its consent to such Transfer under this Section 14.2, or (ii) which
wiould cause the proposed Transfer to be more favorable to the Transferee than the terms set forth
in Tenant’s ongimal Transfer Notice, Tenant shafl again submit the Transfer to Landlord for its
approval and other action under this Article 14 (including Landlord’s right of recapture, if any,
under Section 14.4 ofthis Lease). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease, if Tenant
or any proposed Tramsleree claims that Landlord has unreasonably withheld or delayed its consent
under Section 14.2 or otherwisc has breached or acted unreasonably under this Article 14, their
sole remedies shall be a declaratory judgment and an injunction for the relief sought without any
monetery damages, and Tenant hereby waives all other remadies, including, withowt limitation,
any right at law or equily to termmale this Lease, on its own behalt and, to the extent permitted
under ell Applicable Laws, on behalf of the proposed Transferee. Tenant shall indemnify, defend
and hold harmless Landlord from any and all liability, losses, claims, damages, costs, expenses,
causes of action and proceedings involving any third party or parties (including without limitation
Tenant's proposed subtenant or assignee) who claim they were damaged by Landlord's wrongful
withholding or conditioning of Landlord's consent.

143 Transfer Premium. If Landlord consents lo a Transfer, as a condition thereto
which the parties hereby agree ia reasonable, Tenant shall pay to Landlond fifty percent [(50%) of
any Transfer Premium received by Tenant from such Transferes in any particular calendar month,
"Transfer Premium"” shall mean all rent, additional rent or other consideration payable by such
Transferee in connection with the Transfer in excess of the Rent and Additional Rent payable by
Tenant under this Lease during the term of the Transfer on a per rentable square foot basis if less
than all of the Premises iz transfemed, afler deducting the ressonable expenses incurred by Tenant
for (i) any changes, alterations and improvements to the Premises in connection with the Transfer,
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(ii} any free base rent reasonably provided to the Transferee in connection with the Transfer
{provided that such free rent shall be deducted only to the extent the same is included in the
calulation of total consideration payable by such Trnsferee), and (iii) amy brokerage
commissions in connection with the Transfer and (1v) legal fees reasonably mcurred in connection
with the Transfer. "Transfer Preminm”® shall also inchede, but not be limited to, key money,
bomus money or other cash consideration paid by Transferce to Tenant i connection with such
Transfer, and any payment in excess of fair market value for services rendered by Tenant w
Transferee or for assets, fixtures, inventory, equipment, or furniture transferred by Tenanl o
Transferee in connection with such Transfer.

144 Landlord's Option s to Subjeci Space. Notwithswnding anything to the conirary
contamed i this Article 14, Landlord shall have the option, by giving writien notice 0 Tenant
within thirty (30) days after receipt of any Transfer Notice, 1o recaphure the Subject Space for the
remainder of the applicable Lease Term in the event Tenant contemplates a Transfer to which,
together with all prior Transfers then remaining in effect, would cause seventy-five percent (75%)
or more of the Premises 1o be Transferred. Such recapture nolice shall cancel and terminate this
Lease with respect to the Subject Space and the prior Transfers as of the date stated in the Transfer
Notice as the effective date of the proposed Transfer (or at Landlord's aption, shall cause the
Tmansfer 1o be made 1o Landlord or its agent, in which case the parties shall execute the Transfer
documentation prompily thereafter). In the event of a recapture by Landlord, if this Lease shall be
canceled with respect (o less than the entire Premises, the Renl reserved herein shail be prorated
on the basis of the mumber of rentable square feet retained by Tenani in proportion ta the number
of rentable square feet contained in the Premises, and thiz Lease as so amended shall continue
thereafier in full force and effect. and upon request of either party, the parties shall execule written
confirmation of the same. If Landlord declines, or fuils o elect in a timely manner o recapture
the Subject Space (including the prior Transfers) under this Seetion 14.4, then, provided Landlord
has eonsented to the proposed Transfer, Tenant shall be entitled to proceed to transfer the Subject
Spece to the proposed Transferee, subject 1o provisions of this Article 14.

14.5  Effect of Transfer. If Landlord consents to a Trangfer, (i) the terms and conditions
of this Lease shall in no way be deemed to have been waived or modified, (ii) such conseni shall
not be deemed consent 1o any further Trensfer by either Tenant or a Transferce, (i) Tenant shall
deliver to Landlord, promptly afler execution, an onginal executed copy of all documentation
partaining to the Transler in form reasonably acceptable o Landlord, (iv) Tenant shall fumish
upon Landlord's request a complete statement, cerfified by en ndependent certified public
accountant, or Tenant's chief firancial officer, setting forth in detail the computation of any
Transfer Premium Tenant has derived and shall derive from such Transfer, and (v) no Transfer
relating 1o this Lease or agrecment entered into with respeet therete, whether with or without
Landlord's consent, shall relieve Tenant or any guarantor of the Lease from any liability under this
Lease. mcluding, without limitatien, in connection with the Subject Space. Landlord or its
nuthurized representatives shall have (e right at all reasonable times o audit the books, records
and papers of Tenant relating (o any Transfer, and shall have the right to make copies thereof, 1f
the Transfer Premiom respecting any Transfer shall be found understated, Tenami shall, within
thirty {301) days afler demand, pay the deficiency, and if understaied by more than five percent
[5%), Tenant shall pay Landlord's costs of such audit.

A3 QWL 970 WILSRIREBOLULEVARD
L1 T b 2o bty | B B ] -~ [Pl Boravila e |




14.6  Additional Transfers. For purposes of this Lease, the term “Transfer” shall also
inzlude (i) if Tenant 18 a parmership, the withdrawal or change, voluntary, involuntary or by
operation of law, of fifly percent (50%%) or more of the partners, or transfer of iy percent (50%)
or more of partnership interests, within & twelve (12)y-month period, or the dissolution of the
parinership without immediate reconstitution thereof, and (i) if Tenant iz a clossly held
corporstion (i.e , whose stock is not publicly held and not traded through an exchange or over the
counter), (A) the dissolution, merger, consolidation or other reorganization of Tenant or (B) the
sale or other transfer of an aggrepate of fifty percent (50%) or more of the voling shares of Tenant
(other than w immediate family members by reason of gifi or death), within a twelve {12)-month
period, or (C) the sale, mongage, hypothecation or pledge of an ageregate of fifty percent (S0%)
or more of the value of the unencumbered assets of Tenant within a twalve (12)-month period.

14.7  Occurrence of Defanlt. Anv Transter hereunder shall be subordinate and subject
to the provisions of this Lease, and if this Lease shall be terminated during the lerm of any Transfer,
Landlord shall have the right to: (i) treat such Transfer as cancelled and repossess the Subject
Space by any lawful means, or (i1) require that such Transferee attorn to and recognize Landlosd
as its landlord under any such Transfer. 1f Tenan: shall be in monetary or material non-monetary
defaultunder this Lease, Landlord is heveby imevocably authorized, as Tenant's agent and attormney-
in-fact, to direct any Transferes to make all payments under or in connection with the Transfer
directly to Landlord (which Landlord shall apply towards Tenant's obligations under this Lease)
urnlil such default is cured. Such Transferee shall rely on any represeniation by Landlord that
Tenant is in defaull hereunder, without any need for confirmation thereofl by Tenant. Upon any
assignment, the assignee shall assume in writing all obligarions and covenants of Tenant thercafter
in be parformed or ohserved under this Lease. No collection or accepiance of rent by Landlord
from any Transferee shall be deemed a waiver of any provision of this Article 14 or the approval
of any Transteree or a release of Tenant from any obligation under this Lease, whether theretofors
or thereafter accruing. In no eveat shall Landlord's enforcement of aoy provision of this Lease
against any Transferee be deemed a waiver of Landlord's right to enforee any term of this Lease
against Tenant or any other person. [f Tenant's obligations hereunder have been pusranteed,
Landlord's consent to any Transfer shall not be effective unless the guarantor also consents to such
Transfer,

148 Deemed Consent Transfers. Notwithstanding anything 1o the contrary contained

in thiz Lease, (A) an assignment or subletting of all or a portion of the Premises to an affiliate of
Tenant {an entity which is controlled by, controls, or is under common control with, Tenanl as of
the date of this Lease), (B) a sale of corporate shares of capital stock in Tenant in connection with
an initial public offering of Tenant's stock on a nationally-recognized stock exchange, (C) an
assignment of the Lease to an entity which acquires all or substantially all of the stock or assets of
Tenant, or (1) an assignment of the Lease to an entity which is the resulting entity of a merger or
consolidation of Tenant during the Lease Term, shall not be deemed a Transfer requiring
Landlord's consent under this Article 14 (any such assignee or sublessee deseribed in items (A)
through (D) of this Section 14.8 bereinafler referred to as o "Permitted Transferee”), provided
that (i) Tenant notifies Landlord 2t least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of any such
assignment or sublease and promptly supplies Landlord with any documents or information
reasonably requested by Landlord regarding such Transfer or Permitted Transferce as sef forth
above, (i) Tenant is not in defamlt, beyond the applicable notice and cure period, and such
assignment or sublease i3 not a subterfuge by Tenant to avoid its obligations under this Lease,
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(i) such Permitted Transferee shall be of a character and reputation consistent with the quality of
the Building, (iv) such Permitted Transferee shall have a tangible net worth (not ircluding
goodwill a3 an psset) computed in sccordonee with generally aceepted aceounting principles ("Net
Worth") al least equal o the greater of (1) the Net Worth of Onginal Tenant on the date of (hes
Least, and (2) the Net Waorth of Tenant on the day immediately preceding the effective date of
such assipnment or sublease, (v) no assignment or sublease relating 1o this Lease, whether with or
without Landlord's consent, shall relieve Tenant from any liability under this Lease, and (vi) the
Liability of such Permitted Transferee under either an assignment or sublease shall be joint and
severil with Tenanl, An assignes of Tenant's entire interest in this Lease who qualifies as a
Permitted Transferce may also be referred to herein as a "Permitted Tramsferee Assignee"
"Control,” as used in this Section 14.8, shall mean the ownership, directly or indirectly, of more
than fifly percent (50%) of the voting securities of, or possession ol the right & vote, in the ordinary
direction of its affairs, of more than fifiy percent (50%) of the voting interest in, any persan or
entity.

ARTICLE 15

SURRENDER OF PREMISES; OWNERSHIP AND

REMOVAL OF TRADE FIXTURES

151 Burm emises. Mo szel or thing done by either pany or any ageni or
emplovee of either party during the applicable Lease Term shall be deemed o constitute an
acceptance by either party of a surrender of the Premises unless such intent is specifically
acknowledged a writing signed by both parties. The delivery of keys to the Premises to Landlord
or any agent or employee of Landlord shall nol constitule a surrender of the Premises or effect a
termination of this Lease, whether or not the keys sre thereafter retamed by Landlord, and
nodwithstanding such delivery Tenant shall be entitled to the return of such keys al any reasonahle
time opon request until this Lease shall have heen properly terminated. The valuntary or other
surrender of this Lease by Tenant, whether accepled by Landlord or not, or & mutual termination
hereof, shall not work & merger, and at the option of Landlord shall operate as an assignment o
Landlord of all subleases or subtenancies affecting the Premises or terminate any or all such
sublessees or sublenancies,

152 Removal and Restoration, Upon the expiration of the applicable Lease Term, or

upon any earhier iemmnation of this Lease, Tenant shall. subject to the provisions of this Amicle
15, quit and surrender possession of the Premises © Landlord in as good order and condition as
when Tenant 100k possession and as thereafier improved by Landlord andfor Tenant, reasonable
wear and tear, casualty and condemnation, and repairs which are specifically made the
responsibility of Landlord hereunder excepted. Upon such expiration or termination, Tenant shall,
without expense to Landlord, remove or cause (o be removed (rom the Premises all debris and
rubbigh, and such items of fumiture, equipment, business snd trade fixtures, free standing cabinst
work, movable pariitions, cahhng mstalled at or by the request of Tenant that 15 not contained m
protestive conduil or metal raceway and other articles of personal property cwned by Tenant or
mstalled or placed by Tenant at its expense in the Premises, and such similar articles of any other
persans claiming under Tenant, as Landlord may, n s sole diseretion, require (o be removed, and
Tenant shall repair at itz own expense all damage to the Premises and Buslding resulting from such
removal. Tenant shall also comply with its removal and restoration obligations set forth in Sections
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B.5 and 29.32 of thas Lease (with respect o Allerations and Lines) and Section 2.3 of the Tenant
Waork Letter (with respect to Above Standard Tenant Improvements) upon the expiration or earlier
termination of thiz Lease.

CLE 16

HOLDING OVER

IF Tenant holds over after the expiration of the appheable Lease Term or carher termination
thereof, such tenancy shall be a tenancy at sufferance, and shall not constitute a renewal hereof or
an extension for any further term, and in such case Rent shall be payable st a monthly rte equal
{0 the product of 150% of the Rent applicable during the last rental period of the applicable Lease
Term under this Lesge, Such tenancy shall be subject o every other applicable term, covenant and
agreement contained hercim. For purposes of this Ariicle 16, a holding over shall mclude (i)
Tenant's remaining in the Premises atter the expiration or earlier termination of the applicable
Lease Temm, and/or (i) Tenant's failure to timely comply with the removal and restoration
provisions set forth in Scetions 8.5, 13.2 and 2932 of this Lease and Section 2.3 of the Tenant
Wark Letter. Nothing contained m this Article 16 shall be construed as consent by Landlord to
any holding over by Tenant, and Landlord expressly reserves the right to require Tenant to
surrender possession of the Premises (0 Landlord as provided in this Lease upon the expiration or
other termination of this Lease. If Tenant holds over without Landlord's express written consent,
and tenders payment of rent for any period beyond the expiration of the applicable Lease Term by
way of check (whether directly to Landlerd, its agents, or to a lock box) or wire transfer, Tenant
acknowledges and agrees that the cashing of such check or acceptance of such wire shall be
considered inadvertent and not be construed as creating & month-to-month lenancy, provided
Landlord refunds such payment 1o Tenant prompily upon leaming that such check has been cashed
or wire iransfer reccived. The provisions of this Aricle 16 shall not be decmed o limit or
constimte a waiver of any other nghts or remedies of Landlord provided herein or at law. If Tenant
fails 1o surrender the Premises upon the termination or expiration of this Lease, in additicn to any
other liabilitics to Landlord aceruing therefrom, Tenant shall protect, defend, indemnify and hold
Landlord hammless from all loss, cosls (including reasonable aitorneys' fees) and liability resulting
from such failure, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any claims made by
any succeeding tenant founded upon such failure to surrender and any lost profits o Landlord
resulting therefrom. Tenant agrees that any proceedings necessary to recover possession of the
Premises, whether before or after expiration of the appliczble Lease Term, shall be considered an
action to enforce the terms of this Lease for purposes of the awarding of any attorney’s fees in
connection therewith,

ARTICLE 17
ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES

Within ten {10) business days following a request i wrting by Landlord, Tenant shall
execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landlord an estoppel certificate, which, as submitted by
Landlord, shall be substantially in the form of Exhibit G. attached hereto (or such other form as
may be required by any prospective mortgagee or purchaser of the Project, or any portion thereof),
indicatmg therein any exceptions therelo (hal may exist al thel (ime, and shall also contain any
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other information reasonably requested by Landlord or Landlord's current or piospective
marigagee. Any such certificate may be relied upon by any current or prospective morgagee or
purchaser of all or any portion of the Project. Tenant hall execute and deliver whatever other
instruments may be reasonably required for such purposes. At any time during the applicable
Lease Term, Landlord may require Tenant, and 1o the extent applicable, any guarantor(s), to
provide Landlord with a current audited financial statement and avdited financial statements of the
twa [2) years prior to the current finaneial statement yvear. Such statements shall be delivered by
Tenant and such guarantor(s) o Landlord within fifieen (15) days after Landlord's written request
therefior and be prepared in aceordance with generally accepted accounting principles and, if such
is the normal practice of Tenant or such guarantor(s), shall be audited by an independent certified
public accountanl with copies of the audilors stalement, refllecting Tenant's or such guaranion(s)’,
as applicable, then-current financial condition in such form and detail as Landlord may reasonably
regqugat, The failure of Tenant and any such guaranton(sz) o tmely execote, scknowledge and
deliver such estoppel certificate or other instruments shall constitute an acceptance of the Premises
and an ecknowledgment by Tenant and such guarantor(s) that statements included in the estoppel
certificate are true and correct, without exception,

ARTICLE 18
SUBORDINATION

This Lease shall be subject and subordinate to all present and future ground or underlying
leases of the Building or Project and to the lien of any mortgage, trust deed or other encumbrances
now or hereafter in force against the Building or Project or any parl thereof, if any, and o all
renewals, extensions, modiGeetions, consolidations and replacements thereof, and to all advances
made or hereafter to be made upon the secarity of such moripapges ortrust deeds, unless the holders
of such morigages, trust deeds or other encumhbrances, or the lessors under such ground lease or
underiying leases, require in writing that this Lease be supenior thereto. Tenant covenants and
agress in the event any proceedings are brought for the foreclosure of any such mortgage or deed
in liew thereaf (or if any ground lease is terminated), 1o artomn, without any deductions or set-offs
whatsoever, 1o the lienhelder or purchaser or any successors thereto upon any such foreclosure
sale or deed in lieu thereof {or to the pround lessor), if so requested 10 do so by such purchaser or
lienholder or gronnd lessor, and W recognize such purchaser or lienholder or ground lessor as the
lessor under this Lease, provided such licnholder or purchaser or ground lessor shall agrec o acoept
this Lease and not disturb Tenant's eceupaney, so long as Tenant bmely pays the rent and observes
and performs the terms, covenanis and conditions of this Lease to be ohserved and pesformed by
Tepant, Landlord's interest herein may be assigned as security at any time to any lienholder.
Tenant shall, within five (5) days of request by Landlord, execule such further instruments or
assurances as Landlord may reasonably deem necessary to evidence or confirm the subordination
of superionty of this Lease to any such morgages, trust deeds, ground leases or underlying leases
(which may include, without limitation, a subordination, non-disturbance and ailomment
agreement on Landlord's lender's standard form, duly executed and acknowledged by Tenant).
Tenant waives the provisions of any current or fislure statute, rule or law which may give or purport
to give Tenant any right or election to terminate or otherwise adversely affect this Lease and the
oblipations of the Tenant hereunder in the event of any foreclosure proceeding or sale.
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ARTICLE 19

DEFAULTS: REMEDIES

19.1  Events of Default. The occurrence ol any of the following shall constitute a default
of this Lease hy Tenant:

19.1.1 Any failure by Tenant to pay any Rent or any other charge required to be
patid under this Lease, or any parl thereof, where such failuwe 15 nol cured within theee (3) days
after Notice that such amount 1s past duc; or

19.1.2 Except where a specific time period is otherwise sei forth for Tenant's
performance in this Lease, in which event the failure to perform by Tenant within such time period
shall be a defaull by Tenant under this Scetion 19.1.2, any failure by Tenant o observe or perform
any other provision, covenant or condition of this Lease to be observed or performad by Tenant
where such failure continues for fifteen (15) days after written nitice thereof from Landlord to
Tenant; provided that i the nature of such default is such that the same cannol reasonably be cured
within & fifteen (157 day period, Tenant shall not be decmed to be in default if it diligently
commences such cure within such penod and thereafter diligently proceeds to rectify and cure
such default, but in no event exceeding a peniod of time in excess of sixty (601 days afler written
notice thereof from Landlord 1o Tenant; or

19.1.3 To the extenl permitted by Applicable Laws, a general assignment by
Tenant or any guarantor of this Lease for the benefit of ereditors, or the taking of any corporate
action in furtherance of bankmupley or dissolution whether or not there exists any proceeding under
an insolvency or bankruptey law, or the Gling by or against Tenant or any guatantor of any
peoceeding under an insolveney or bankruptey law, unless in the case of a proceeding filed against
Tenant or any guarantor the same is dismissed within sixty (60) days, or the appointment of &
trustes or receiver 1o take possession of all or substantially 2l of the assets of Tenant or any
guaramor, unless possession is reatored 1o Tenant or such guaranior within thirty (30) days, or any
execution or other judicially authorized seizure of all or substantially all of Tenant’s assets located
upon the Mremises or of Tenant's interest in this Lease, unless such seizure (s discharged within
thirty (30) days; or

19.1.4 Abandonment (pursuant to Applicable Law) of the Premises by Tenant; or

19.1.5 The failure by Tenant 1o observe or perfonm according to the provisions of
Articles 5, 14, 1 7or 18 of this Lease where such feilure continucs for more than three (3) busimess
days afier notice from Landlord; or

19.1.6 Tenznt's failure to oceupy the Additional Premuses within thirty (30)
husiness days afler the applicable Additional Premises Comimencement Date,

The notice periods provided herein are in lien of, and not in addition 1o, any notice periods
provided by Applicable Laws.

192  Remedies Upon Default. Upon the occurence of any event of default by Tenant,
Landlord shall have, in addition to any other remedies available 1o Landlord at law or in equity (all
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of which remedies shall be distinet, separate and cumulative), the option [0 pUrsie any one or more
of the following remedies, each and all of which shall be cumulative and nonexclusive, without
any totice or demand whatsocver,

19.2.1 Terminate this Lease, in which event Tenant shall immediately surrender
the Premises to Landlord, and if Tenant fails to do so, Landlord may, without prejudice to any
other remedy which it may have for possession or amearages in reni, enfer upon and take
pussession of the Premises and expel or remove Tenant and any other person who may be
occupying the Premises or any part therenf, without being liable for prosecution or any claim or
damages therefor; and Landlord may recover from Tenant the following:

(1) The worth at the ime of sward of any unpaid rent which
has been earned at the time of such termination; plus

(i}  Theworth at the ime of award of the amount by which the
unpaid rent which would have been earned after termination until (he time of award exceeds the
amount of such rental loss thal Tenanl proves could have been reasonably avoided; plus

(iii)  The worth at the time of award of the amount by which the
unpaid rent for the balance of the applicable Lease Term after the time of award exceeds the
amount of such rental loss that Tenant proves could be reasonably avoided; plus

(v}  Any other amount necessary to compensate Landiord for
all the detniment proximately caused by Tenant's fihire lo perform its obligations under his Lease
or which in the erdinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom, specifically including
bul not hmited to, brokersge commissions and adverbsing expenses incurmred, expenses of
remodeling the Premises or any portion thereof for a new tenant, whether for the same or a different
use, and any special concessiens made to obtain a new tenant; and

(v} At Lendlord's election, such other amounts in addition to
ar in heu of the forepoing &5 may be permitted from time to time by Applicable Laws,

The termn "rent” as used in this Section 19.2 shall be deemed to be and lo mean all sums of
every nature required to be paid by Tenant pursuant to the terms of this Lease, whether to Landlord
or to others. As used in Paragraphs 19.2.1(1) and (i), above, the "warth at the time of award”
shall be computed by allowing interest at the rate set forth in Article 25 of this Lease, but in no
case greater than the maximum emount of such interest permitted by Applicable Laws, As used
n Pamagraph 19.2.1(iii) above, the "worth at the time of award" shall be computed by discounting
such emount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco at the time of award
plus one percent (1%).

19.2.2 Landlord shiell have the remedy deseribed m Calhifomia Crvil Code Seclion
1951 .4 {lessor may continue lease in effect after lessee's breach and sbandonment and recover rent
as it beeomes doe, if lessee has the right 1o sublet or assign, subject only to reasonable limitations).
Accordingly, it Landlord does not elect 1o terminate this Lease on account of any defaull by
Tenant, Landlord may, from time to time, without tenninating this Lease, enforce all of its rights
and remedies under this Lease, including the right 1o recover all rent as it beeomes due.
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18,23 Landlord shall at all times have the rights and remedies {(which shall be
curmulative with each other and eumulative and i addition to those nghts and remedies available
under Sections 19.2.1 and 19.2.2, above, or any Applicable Laws of other provision of this Lease),
without pricr demand or notice except as required by Applicable Laws, to seek any declaratory,
mjunctive or other equitable relief, and specifically enforce this Lease, or restrain or enjoin a
violation or breach of any provision hereof.

193  Subleases of Tenant. 1f Landlord elects to terminate this Lease on account of any
default by Tenant, as set forth in this Article 19, Landlord shall have the right to terminate any and
all subleases, licenses, concessions or other consensual arrangements for possession entered into
by Tenant and affecting the Premises or may, in Landlord's sole discretion, suceeed to Tenant's
mteres! in such subleases, licenses, concessions or armangements, In the event of Landlord®s
election to succeed to Tenant's imterest in any such subleases, licenses, concessions or
arrangements, Tenant shall, as of the date of notice by Landlord of such election, have no further
right o or interest in the rent or other considemtion receivable thereunder,

194 Form of Pavment After Default. Following the occurrence of an event of default
by Temant, Landlord shall have the right 1o require that any or all subsequent amounts paid by
Tenant to Landlord hereunder, whether to cure the default in guestion or otherwise, be paid in the
form of cash, money order, cashier's or certified check drawn on an mstitution sceeptable to
Landlord, or by other means approved by Landlord, notwithstanding any prior practice of
accepting payments in any different form.

195  Efforts to Relet. Mo re-eniry or repossession, repairs, maintenance, changes,
alterations and additions, reletting, appointment of a receiver to protect Landlond's interests
hereunder, or any other action or omission by Landlord zhall be construed as an election by
Landlord to terminate this Lease or Tenant's right to possession, or to aceept a surrender of the
Premises, nor shall same operate 1o release Tenant in whole or in part from any of Tenant's
obligations hereunder, unless express wnlten notice of such intention ix sent by Landlord to
Tenant. Tenant hereby irrevocably waives any right otherwise available under any Applicable
Laws o redeem or reinstate this Lease.

ARTICLE 20
COVENANT OF QUIET ENJ(]VME."HT

Landlord covenants that Tenant, on paying the Rent. charges for services and other
payments herein reserved and on keeping, observing and performing all the other temms, covenants,
conditions, provisions and agreements herein containgd on the part of Tenanl to be kept, vbserved
and performed, shall, during the applicable Lease Term, peaceably and quietly have, hold and
enjoy the Prerizes suhject io the terms, covenants, conditions, provisions and agreements hereaf
without interference by any persons lawfilly claiming by or through Landlord.
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ARTICLE 21

SECURITY DEPOSIT

Landlord and Tenant acknowledge and agree that, in accordance with the Pror Lease,
Landlord is currently holding a security deposit equal to Forty-Five Thousand Eighty-Four and
26100 Dollars ($45,084.26) (the "Existing Security Deposit"), as security for the faithful
performance by Tenant of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Prior Lease. Concurrent with
Tenant's execution of this Lease, Tenant shall deposit with Landlord an amount equal to Seventy-
Three Thousand Nine Hundred Ninety-Seven and 27/100 Dollars (§73,997.27) which shall be held
by Lamdlond with the Existing Security Deposil as security for the faithful performance 3y Tenant
of all of its obligations under this Lease (ogether with the Existing Security Deposit, collectively,
the "Security Deposit")which shall be equal to the amount set forth in Section ¥ of the Summary.
If Tenant defaults with respect 1o any provisions of this Lease, including, but not limited to, the
provisions relating (o the payment of Reni, the removal of property and the repair of resultam
damage, Landlord may, without notice 1o Tenant, but shall not be required to apply all or any part
of the Security Deposil for the payment of any Rent or any other sum in default and Tenant shall,
upon demand therefor, restore the Secunity Depasit to its origmal amount. Any unapplisd portion
of the Security Deposit shall be retumed to Tenant, or, at Landlord®s option, to the last assignee of
Tenant's interest hereunder, within sixty (60) days following the expiration of the final Lease Term.
Tenant shall not be entitled to any imterest on the Securily Deposit. Tenant hereby imevocably
waives and relinguishes any and all nghts, benefits, or protections, if any, Tenant now has, or in
the fimure may have, under Section 195(.7 of the California Civil Code, any successor siatue, and
all other provisions of law, now or hereafter in effect, including, but not limited to, any provision
of law which (i) establishes the time frame by which a lendlord must refund & security deposit
under a lease, or (1) provides that a lendlord may claim from a securily deposit only those sums
reasonahly necessary to remedy defaulis in the paymeni of rent, to repair damage caused by a
tenant, or 1o clean the subject premises. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that (A) any statutory
time framies for the retum of a security deposit are superseded by the express period identified in
this Article 21, above, and (B} rather than be so limited, Landlord may claim from the Security
Depaosit (=) any and all sums expressly wentifed m this Ariele 21, above, and () any additional
surns reasomahly necessary to compensate Landlord for any and all losses or damages caused by
Tenant's default of this Lease, including, but not limited to, all damages or rent due upon
lermnination of (his Lease pursuant to Section 1951.2 of the Califormia Civil Code.

ARTICLE 22

INTENTIONALLY OMITIED
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ARTICLE 23
SIGNS

23,1  Full Floors. Subject to Landlord's prior written approval. in its sole discretion, and
providad all signs are in keeping with the quality, design and style of the Building and Project,
Tenant, if the Premises comprise an entire floor of the Building, at its sole cost and expense, may
install identification signage anywhere in the Premises including in the elevator lobby of the
Premises, provided that such signs must not be visible from the exterior of the Building,

232  Multi-T loars. [f other tenants occupy space on the floor on which the
Premises is located, Tenant's identifying signage shall be provided by Landlord, al Tenant's cost,
and such signage shall be comparable to that used by Landlord for other similar floors in the
Building and shall comply with Landlord's Balding standard signage program.

233 [ 1 s, Any signs, notices, logos, piclures, names
or advertisements wh:ph ure J:ml.uilul li.ud f.hul ha'ue not been separately approved by Landlord may
be removed without notice by Landlord at the sole expense of Tenant. Tenant may not install any
signs on the extertor or roof of the Project or the Common Aress. Any signs, window coverings,
or blinds (even i the same are located behind the Landlord-approved window coverings for the
Building), or other items visible from the exterior of the Premises or Building, shall be subject to
the prior approval of Landlord, in its sole discretion.

234  Building Directory. At Landlord's sole cost, Tenant shall have the right to one (1)
strip for each 1,000 rentable square feet of the Premizes on the Building directory, to display
Tenant s nome und location in the Building, snd the names of Tenant's principal emplovees,

ARTICLE2:$
COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

Tenant shall not do anything or suffer anything to be done in or about the Premises or the
Froject which will in any way conflict with any federal, state, county or municipal law, statute,
ordinance or other governmental rule, regulation or requirement now in force or which may
hereafler be enacted or promulgated, including, without limitation, any such laws, stalules,
ordinances, rules, regulations or requirements relating lo hazardous materials or substances, as
those torms are defined by such applicable laws, statutes, ordinences, mules, regulations or
requirements now or hereafter in affect (collectively, "Applicable Laws"). Al its sole cost and
expense, Tenant shall prompily comply with all such Applicable Laws which relate to {I) Tenant's
use of the Premises, (II) the Original Improvements, the Alterations or the Tenant [mprovements,
or (111 the Baze Building and Common Areas, bul as to the Base Building and Commion Areas,
only 1o the extent such obligations are triggered by the Onginal Improvements, Alterations or
Tenant Improvements, or Tenant's specific manner of use of the Premises (as opposed to mere
general office use). Should any standard or regulation now or hereaftar be imposed on Landlond
or Tepent by a state, fideral or local governmental body charged with the establislment, regulation
and enforcement of occupational, health or safety standards {or employers, employees, landlords
or tenanis, then Tenant agrees, at i3 sole cost and expense, (o comply with such standards or
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reguletions, Tenant shall be responsible, at its sole cost and expense, 1o make all alierations 1o the
Premises as are tequired to comply with Appliceble Laws. The judgment of any court of
competent jurisdiction or the admizsion of Tenam In any judiclal action, regardless of whether
Landlard is a party thereto, that Tenant has violated any of said povernmental measures, shall be
conclesive of that fact as between Landlord and Tenant. Landlord shall comply with all Applicable
Laws relating to the Base Building and Common Areas, provided that compliance with such
Apphcable Laws is not the responsibility of Tenant under this Lease, and provided further that
Landlord's failure to comply therewith would prohibit Tenant from obtaining or maintaining &
certificate of occupancy for the Premises (or its legal equivalent), or woold unreasonably and
materially affoct the safety of Tenant's employees or create a significant health hazard for Tenant's
employees. Landlord shall be permitted 1o include in Operating Expenses any costs or expenses
imcurred by Landlord under this Armicle 24 1o the exient consizient with the terms of Section 4.2.5
ahave.

For purposcs of Scction 1938(a) of the California Civil Code, Landlord hereby discloses
to Tenant, and Tenant hereby acknowledges, that the Premises have nol undergone mspection by
aCertified Access Specialist (CASp). As required by Section 1938(e) of the California Cwil Code,
Landlord hereby states as [ollows: "A Certified Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject
premises and determine whether the subject premises comply with all of the applicable
construction-related accessibility standards under state law. Although state law does not require a
CASp inspection of the subject premises, the commercial property owner or lessor may not
prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp inspection of the subject premises for the
oecupancy or potential oecupancy of the lessee or tenant, if requested by the lesses or tenant. The
parties shall mutually agree on the amangements for the time and mannee of the CASp inspection,
the payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs necessary to
correct violations of construction-related accessibility standards within the premises.” In
furtherance of the foregoing, Landlord and Tenant hereby agree as follows: (a) any CASp
inspection requested by Tenant shall be conducted, al Tenant's sole cost and expense, by a CASp
designated by Landlord; and (b) pursuant 1o Article 24 above, Tenant, at its sole cost and expense,
shall be responsible for making any improvements, alterations, modiRcations and/or repairs within
the Premises to correct violations of comstruction-related aceessibility standards disclosed by such
CASp inspection; and, if anything done by or for Tenant in its use or occupancy of the Premises
shall require any improvements, alterations, modifications and/or repairs to the Project (vutside
the Prermses) to correct vinlations of construction-related eccessibihty standards disclosed by such
CASp inspection, then Tenant shall, at Landlord's option, either (i) perform such improvements,
alterations, modifications andfor repairs a1 Tenant's sole cost and expense, or (ii) reimburse
Landlord upon demand, as Additional Rent, for the out-of-pocket cost to Landlord of performing
such mmprovements, alleralions, modifications and'or repairs.

ARTICLE 25
LATE CHARGES

If any installment of Rent or any other sum due from Tenant shall not be received by
Landlord or Landlord's designee within five (5) days after said amount i3 due, then Tenant shall
pay to Landlord a late charge equal to five percent (5%) of the overdue amount plos any attomeys’'
fees incurred by Landlord by reason of Tenant's failure to pay Rent andior other charges when due
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hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing. Tenant shall be entitled to notice upon the expiration
of a five {5) day cure period prior to imposition of any late charge under this Article 25 one (1)
time par twelve (12) month period; after such weitten potice has been provided 1w Tenant in o
twehve (12) month period, Tenant shall not be entitled 1o any further notice prior to imposition of
a late charge under this Article 25 in such twelve (12) momth period. The late charge shall be
deemed Additonal Rent and the nght to require 1t shall be m addition to all of Landlord's other
rights and remedies hereunder or at law and shall not be construed as liquidated damages or as
limiting Landlord's remedies in any manner. In addition to the late charge described above, any
Rent or other smounis owing hereunder which are not paid within ten (10} days after the date they
are due shall bear interest from the date when due until paid al & rate ("Interest Rate") per anmum
equal to the lesser of (1) the annual "Bank Prime Loan" rate cited 1n the Federal Reserve Statistical
Release Publication H. 15 (or such other comparable index as Landlord and Tenant shall reasonably
agree upon if such rate ceases to be published) plus four (4) percentage points, and (ii) the highest
rate permitted by Applicable Laws.,

ARTICLE 26
LANDLORD'S RIGHT TO CURE DEFAULT: PAYMENTS BY TENANT

26.1 Landlord's Cure. All covenanis and agreements lo be kept or performed by
Tenant under this Lease shall be performed by Tenant at Tenant's sole cost and expense and
withour any reduction of Rent, except to the extent, if any, otherwise expressly provided herein.
IT Tenant shall fuil to perform eny obligation under this Lease, and such failure shall continue in
excess of the time allowed under Section 19.1.2, above, unless a specific time period is otherwise
stated in this Lease, Landlord may, but shall not be obligated to, make any such payment or
perform any such act on Tenant's part without waiving its rights based upon any default of Tenuni
and without releasing Tenant om any obligations hereunder.

262  Tepant's Reimbursement. Excepl as may be specifically provided to the contrary
in this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon delivery by Landlord to Tenant of statements
therefor: (i) sums equal to expenditures reasonably made and obligations incurred by Landlord in
connection with the remedying by Landlord of Tenant's defaults pursuant to the provisions of
Section 26.1; (ii) sums equal to all losses, costs, liabilities, damages and expenses referred to in
Aricle 10 of this Lease; and (1) sums equal 1o all expenditures reasonably made and oblhigations
incurred by Landlord in collecting or attempting to collect the Rent or in enforcing or attempting
to enforce any rights of Landlord under this Lesse or pursuant to Applicable Laws, including,
without limitation, all out-of-pocket legal fees and other reasonable amounts so eapended.
Tensnt's obligations under this Section 26.2 shall survive the expiration or sooner termination of
the applicable Lease Term.

TIC

ENTRY BY LANDLORD

Landlord reserves the right at all reasonable times and upon no less than twenty-four (24)
hours' prior notice (which may be verbal) to Tenant (except in the case of an emergency) to enter
the Premises o (i) mspect them; (i) show the Premises to prospective purchasers, mortgagees or
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tenants, or o current or prospective morigagees, ground or underlying lessors or msurers; (1) post
notices of nonresponsibility; or (iv) alter, improve or repair the Pramises or the Building, or for
stivetwal alterations, repairs o improvements (o the Building or the Building's systems and
equipment, provided that Landlord shall use commercially reasouable efforts to perferm any such
eniries in 8 monner designed to minimize disruplion (o Tenant's use and oceupaney of the Premiscs.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 27, Landlord may enter the
Premises at any time to (A) perform routine services required of Landlord, including janitorial
service; {B] take possession due to any breach of this Lease in the manner provided herein; and
(C) as permitted by this Lease, perform any covenanis of Tenant which Tenant fails to perform.
Landlord may make any such entries without the abatement of Rent and shall take such reasonable
steps as required to accomplish the stated purposes. Tenant hereby waives any claims for damages
ar for any injuries or inconvenience to or interference with Tenant's business. lost profits, any loss
af oecupancy or quiet enjoyment of the Premises, and any other loss occasioned thereby, For each
of the above purposes, Landlord shall at all times have a key with which to unlock all the doors in
the Premises, excluding Tenant's vaults, safes and special security arcas designated in advance by
Tenant. In an emergency, Landlord shall have the right in accordance with Applicahle Law, 1o
use any reasonable means that Landlord may deem proper to open the doors in and 1o the Premises,
Amny eniry inlo the Premises by Landlord in the manser hereinbefore deseribed shall nol be deemed
to be a foreible or unlawful entry into, or a detainer of, the Premises, or an actual or constructive
eviction of Tenant from any portion of the Premizes. No pravision of this Lease shall be construed
as obligating Landlord to perform any repairs, alterations or decorations excepl as otherwise
cxpressly agreed o be performed by Landlord herein.

ARTICLE 28
TENANT PARKING

28.1  Tenant Parking FPasses. Tenant shall have the nght {but not the obligation) to rent
from Landlord, commencing on (i) the Original Premises Commencement Date, up to the amount
and type of parking passes st forth in Section 9 of the Summary alloeated to the Onginal Premises,
provided that Tenant shall have the obligation to remt from Landlord, the Original Premises Must-
Take Passes set forth in Section ¥ of the Summary, and (ii) the Additional Premises
Commencement Date, up to the amount and type of parking passes set forth in Section 9 of the
Summary allocated to the Additional Premises, provided that Tenant shall have the obligation to
rent from Landlord, the Additicnal Premises Must-Take Passes set forth in Secuon 9 of the
Summary, all cn a monthly basis throughout the applicable Lease Term pertaining to such
allocation, which parking passes shall penain to the Project parking facilities serving the Project.
Tenant may change the number of parking passes rented pursuant to this Article 28 upon thiny
{30) days prior written notice to Landlord, provided that in no event shall Tenant be entitled to rent
more than gmount and type of parking passes allotted o Tenant as set forth in Section 9 of the
Summary, Tenant shall pay 1o Landlord for automobile parking passes on a monthly basis the
prevailing ratc charged from time to time at the location of such parking passes which rate includes
any taxes imposed by any goverrmeantal authority in connection with the renting of such parking
passes by Tenant or the use of the Project parking facilities by Tenant. Tenant's cominued right o
use the parking passes is conditicned wpon Tenant abiding by all rules and regulations which are
prescribed from time to time for the orderly operation and use of the Project parking facilities
where the parking passes are located, including any sticker or ather identification system
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estahlished by Landlord, Tenant's cooperation in seeing that Tenant's employees and visitors also
comply with such reasonable rules and repulations and Tenant oot being in default under this Lease
bevond applicable notice and cure periods expressly sel forlh in this Lease,

282 Other Terms. Landlord specifically reserves the right to change the size,
confignration, design, lavout and all other aspeets of the Project parking facilities at any time and
Tenant acknowledges and agrees that Landlord may, without incurring any liability to Tenant and
without any abatement of Rent under this Lease, from time 1o ime, temporarily close-off or restrict
access to the Project parking facilities for purposes of penmitting or facilitating any such
construction, alteration or improvements, Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
couse any such work 1o be conducted in a manner designed to minimize inconvenience to the
Tenani Parties, Landlord may delegate its responsibilities hereunder to a parking operator in which
case such parking operator shall have ail the rights of control attributed hereby to the Landlord.
The parking passes rented by Tenant pursuant to this Article 28 are provided to Tenant solely for
use by Tenant's own personnel and such passes may not be transferred, assigned, subleased or
otherwise alienated by Tenant without Landlord's prior approval. Tenant may validate visitor
parking by such method or methods as the Landlord may establish, at the validation rate from time
to time generally applicable o visitor parking.

28.3 Parking Procedures. The parking passes initally will not be separately idents fied;
however Lundlord reserves the right in its sole and good Fith discretion w separately identify by
signs or other markings (he area to which Tenant's parking passes relate. Landlord shall have no
abligation 1o monitor the use of such parking facilities, nor shall Landlord be responsible for any
loss or damage fo any vehicle or other property or for any injury to any person. Tenant's parking
passes shall be used only for parking of automebiles no larger than full size passenger automobiles,
sport wility vehieles or pick-up trucks only during the hours that Tenant and/or its personnel are
conducting business operations from the Premises; provided, however, oceasional overnight
parking associated with Tenant's or its personnel’s conduct of business from the Premises shall be
permitted, subject to Tenant's and/or its personnel's compliance with Landlord's rules related 10
such overnight parking. Tenant shall comply with all reasonable rules snd regulations which may
be adopted by Landlord from time (o time with respect to parking and/or the parking facilities
servicing the Project. Tenanl shall noi at any time use more parking spaces than the number of
parking passes allocated to Tenant or park its vehicles or the vehicles of others in any poantion of
the Project parking facilities not designated by Landlord as a non-exclusive parking area. Tenant
shall not have the exclusive right 1o use any specific parking space. If Landlord granis to any other
tenant the exclusive right to use any panticular parking space(s), Tenont shall not use such spaces.
All trucks {other than pick-up trucks) and delivery vehicles shall be (i) parked at the loading dock
of the Building, (ii) loaded and unloaded in a manner which does not imerfere with the businesses
of other oecupants of the Project, and (iii) permitted fo remain on the Project only so long as is
reasonably necessary to complete loading and enleading. In the event Landlord elects in its sole
and good faith dissreton or ts required by any Applicable Laws (o lmit or conwol parking, whether
by validation of parking tickets or any other method of assessment, Tenant agrees to panlicipate in
such vahdation or assessment program under such reasomable rules and regulations as are from
time 1o lime established by Landlord.
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ARTICLE 29
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
291 Terms: Captions. The words "Landlord” and "Tenant” 25 used herein shall include
the plural as well as the singular. The necessary grammatical changes required to make the
previsions hereof apply either to corporations or partnerships or individuals, men or women, as
the case may require, shall in all cases be assumed as though in each case fully expressed. The

caplions of Aricles and Sections are for convenience only and shall not be deemed 1o himit,
construe, affect or alter the meaning of such Aricles and Sections.

19.2  Binding Effect. Subject to all oller provisions of this Lease, esch of the covenanis,
conditions and provisions of this Lease shall extend to and shall, as the case may require, bind or
inure to the henefit not only of Landlord and of Tenam, but also of their respective heirs, personal
representatives, successors or assigns, provided this clavse shall nol permit any assignment by
Tenunl contrary to the provisions of Article 14 of this Lease.

201 No Air Rights. Mo rights to any view or to light or air over any property, whether
belonging w0 Landlord or any other person, are granted 1o Tenant by this Lease. If at any time any
windows of the Premises are temporanly darkened or the light or view therefrom is obstructed by
reason of any repairs, improvements, maintenance or cleaning in or about the Project, the same
shall be without liability to Lendlord and withowt sny reduction or diminution of Tenant's
ohligations under this Lease.

29.4 Modification of Lease. Should any current or prospective mortgagee or ground
lessor for the Building or Project require a modi fication of this Lease, which modification wall nol
cause an increased cost or expense o Tenant or in any other way materially and adversely change
the rights and obligations of Tenant hereunder. then and in such event, Tenant agrees that this
Lease may be so modified and agrees 10 execute whatever commercially reasonable documems
are reasonably required therefor and to deliver the same to Landlord within fifieen (15) days
following a request therefor, At the request of Landlord or sny morigagee or pround lessor, Tenant
agrees to execute a commercially reasomable short form of Leéase and deliver the same to Landiord
within fifteen (15) days following the request therefor,

29.5  Transfer of Landlord's Interest. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord has the
right 1o transfer all or any portion of its interest in the Project or Building and in this Lease, and

Tenant agrees thal m the event of any such transfer, Landlord shall automatically be released from
all liability under this Lease arismg from and after the date of such transfer and Tenant agrees (o
look solely to such transferee for the performance of Landlord's obligations hereunder anising after
the dete of transfer, provided thai such fransferee shall have fully assumed and agreed 1o be liahle
for all abligations of this Lease to be performed by Landlord from and after the date of such
transfer, including the return of any Secunty Deposit, and Tepant shall attomn to such transferee.
Tenant further acknowledges that Landlord may assign its interest in this Lease o 8 morgage
lender as additional security and agrees that such an assignment shall not release Landlord from
its ohligations hereunder and thal Tenant chall continue to look to Landlord for the performance
of its obligations hereunder.
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29.6  Prohibition Apainst Recording. Except as provided in Section 29,4 of this Lease,
neither this Lease, nor any memorandum, affidavit or other writing with respect thereto, shall be

recorded by T'enant or by anyone acting through, under or on behalf of Tenant.

29.7 Landlord's Title. Landlord's title is and always shall be peramount to the title of
Tenant. Nothing berein contuined shall empower Tenant to do any act which can, shall or may
encumber the title of Landlord,

298 Relationship of Partles. Mothing contained in this Lease shall be deemed or
construed by the parties hereto or by any third party to create the relationship of pnncipal and
agent, partnership, joint venturer or any association between Landlord and Tenant.

209 Application of Payments. Landlord shall have the rght to apply payments
received from Tenant pursuant 1o this Lease, regardless of Tenant's designation of such payments,
{0 satisfy any obligations of Tenant hereunder, in such order and amounts as Landlond, in its sole
discretion, may elect,

2010 Time of Essence. Time 15 of the essence with respect to the performance of every
provision of this Lease in which time of performance is a factor,

2911 Partial Invalidity. 1T any term, provision or condition contained in this Lewse shall,
1o any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease, or the application of such
term, provision or condition to persons or circumstances other than those with respect to which it
is invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and cach and every other lerm, provision
and condition of this Lease shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent possible permitted
by Apphicable Laws.

20,12 No Warranty, In executing and delivering this Lease, Tenant hos not relied on
any representations, ineluding, but not limited o, any represeniation as to the amount of &ny item
compriging Additional Rent or the amount of the Additional Rent in the aggregate or that Landlord
is furnishing the same services to other tenants, at all, on the same level or on the same basis, or
any wermanty or any staterment of Landlord which 15 not set forth herein or in one or more of the
exhibits attached hereto.

29.13 La pation; Mutual i 3 ntial Damages. The
hability of Landlord or the Landlord Parties to Tenant for any default by Landlord under this Lease
or ansing in connection herewith or with Landlord's operation, management, leasing, repait,
renovalion, alterstion or any other matter relating w the Project or the Premises shall be limited
solely and exclusively to an amount which is equal to the interest of Landlord in the Building,
provided that in no event shall such hability extend to any sales er insurince proceeds recerved by
Landlord or the Landlord Parties in connection with the Project, Building or Premises. Neither
Landlord, nor any of the Landlord Parties shall have any personal liability therefor, and Tenant
hereby expressly waives und releases such personal liability on behalf of ilsell and all persons
claiming by, through or under Tenant. The limitations of liability contained in this Section 29.13
shall inure 1o the benefit of Landlord's and the Landlord Parties’ present and future members,
partners, beneficiaries, officers, directors, trustees, shareholdars, agents and employees, and their
respective partners, heirs, successors and assigns. Under no circumstances shall any Landlond
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Parties have any liability for the performance of Landlord's obligations under this Lease.
MNotwithstanding any contrary provision herein, neither Landlord nor the Landlord Pariies shall be
liable under any circumstances for injury or damage to, or interference with, Tenant's business,
including but not limited to, loss of profits, loss of rents ar other revenues, loss of business
opportunity, loss of goodwill or loss of use, in ench case, however occurring, Similarly, excepl
with respect to Tenant’s violations of the provisions of this Lease regarding Hazardous Materials,
Alteratons and Tenant's holding over in the Premises following the expiration or sooner
termination of this Lease, Tenant shall not be liable under any circumstances for injury or damage
to, or interference with. Landlord’s business, including, but not limited 1o, loss of profits, loss of
revenses (nol including, however, loss of rents), loss of business opportunity, loss of goodwill or
logs of use, in each case, however oceurnng,.

20.14 Entire Agreement, It is understood and acknowledged that there are no oml
agreements between the parties hereto affecting this Lease and this Lease constitules the panties’
entire agreement with respect to the leasing of the Premises and supersedes and cancels any and
all previcus negotiations, arrangements, brochures, agreements and understandings, if any,
between the parties hereto or displayed by Landlord 1o Tenant with respect to the subject matter
thereof, and none thercof shall be used to interpret or construe this Lease. None of the terms,
coverants, conditions or provisions of this Lease can be modified, deleted or added to excepl in
writing signed by the parties hereto,

29.15 Right to Leaye. Landlord reserves the sbsolute right w efTect such other wenancies
in the Project as Landlord in the exercise of its sole business judgment shall determine o best
promate the interests of the Building or Project. Tenant docs not rely on the [aet, nor does Landlord
represent, that any specific tenant or type or number of tenanis shall, during the applicable Lease
Term, occupy any space in the Building or Project.

29.16 Force Majeure. Any prevention, delay or stoppage due to sinkes, lockouts, labor
dispwies, acis of God, acts of war, lerrorist acts, inahility to obtain services, labor, or materials or
reasonahle substitutes therefor, povernmental actions, civil eommotions, fireor other casualty, and
other cuuses beyond the reasonable control of the party obligated to perform, except with respect
o the obligations imposed with regard 1o Rent and other charges 1o be paid by Tenant pursuant to
this Lease and except as to Tenant's obligations under Articles 5 and 24 of this Leage (collectively,
a"Force Majeure”), notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, shall excuse
the performance of such party for a period equal to any such prevention, delay or stoppage and,
therefore, if this Leuse specifies a time period for perfornmsnee of an obligation of either party, that
time period shall be extended by the period of any delay in such party's performance caused by a
Force Majeure.

29,17 Waiver of Redemption by Tenant. Tenant hereby watves, for Tenant and for all
thise claiming under Tenant, any and all rights now or hereafter existing o redeem by order or
Judgment af any court or by any legal process or writ, Tenant's right of oceupancy of the Premises
after any termination of this Lease.

2918 Motices. All notices, demands, smtements, dessgnations, spprovals  or other
communications (collectively, "Notices") given or required to be given by either parly Lo the other
hereunder or by Applicable Laws shall be in writing, shall be (A) delivered by a nationally
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recopnized overmight courier, or (B) delivered personally.  Any Notice shall be sent, transmitted,
or delivered, as the case may be, to Tenant at the appropriate address set forth in Section 10 of the
Summary, or fo such other place as Tenant may from tme to time designale n a Notice to
Landlord, or 1o Landlord at the addresses set forth below, or to such other places as Landlord may
from time to time designate in a Notice to Tenant, Any Notice will be deemed given (1) the date
the overnight courier delivery is made, or {ii) the date personal delivery is made or attempted 1o
be made, I Tenant is notified of the identity and address of Landlord's montgagee or ground or
underlying lessor, Tenant shall give to such morigagee or ground or underlying lessor written
notice of any default by Landlord under the terms of this Lzase by a method permitied under (A)
ar (B} above, and such morigagee or ground or underlying lessor shall be given a reasonable
opporunity to cure such default prior to Tenant's exercising any remedy available 1o Tenant. As
of the date of this Lease, any Notices to Tenant and Landlord must be sent, transmitted, or
delivered, as the case may be, to the addresses set forth m Sections 10 and 11, respectively, of the
Snmmary.

29,19 Joint and Several. Ifthere is more than one Tenant, the obligations imposed upon
Tenant under this Lease shall be joint and several.

2920 Authority; Tenant Representation. Landiord and Tenant hercby represent and
warranls thal such entity is a duly formed and existing entity qualified to do business 1n Califorma

and thal each person signing this Lease on behalf of such entity has full right and suthority to
execuic and deliver this Lease. Tenant shall, within ten (10 days wfier written request by Landlord,
deliver 10 Landlord sansfactory evidence of such authority and upon demand by Landbord, also
deliver 10 Landlord satisfactory evidence of (i) good standing in Tenant's state of formation and
{i1) qualification to do business in California. Tenant hereby represents to Landlord that neither
Tenan! nor any members, parters, subpartners, parent organization, affiliate or subsidiary, or their
respective officers, directors, contractors, agents, servants, employees, invitees or licensees
{collectively, "Tenant Individuals™). 1o Tenant's current actual knowledge, appears on any of the
following lists {collectively, "Government Lists') maintained by the United States government:

29.20.1The two (2] lists maintained by the United States Depariment of Commerce
{Denied Persons and Entities; the Denied Persons list can be found at
Tatpe:iwwow bis. doc_govimdex. phpthe-denied-persons-his;; the Entity List can be found at
luttpadfwww bis doc.govientities/defaoll.hlm);

29.20).2The list maintained by the United States Department of Treasury (Specially
Designated  MNationals and  Blocked  Persoms, which can be found  at
b dwoww. tressniry, mvviresource-center'sanetions S DM- List Papes'delau it aspa );

29.20.3The two (2) lists maintained by the United States Department of State
{ Terron st Ovpemieations and Debarred Parties; the State Departiment List of Tervorisis can be found
at hitps:weww.state povdifetlsfother’des’ | 23085 him: the List of Debarmred Parties can be found
at hupSwarw. pmddie. siate. pov/icompliance/debar. iiml): and

29204 Any other list of termorists, termorist organizations or narcotics traffickers
mamtzined pursuant (o any of the niles and regulations of the Office of Foreign Assets Control,
United States Department of Treasury, or by any other government or agency thereaf.
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Should any Tenanl Individuals appear on any Government Lists at any time during the
applicable Lease Term, Landlord shall be entitled to termmate this Lease by written notice to
Tenant effective as of the date specified in such notice.

2921 Attorneys' Fees. In the event that either Landlord or Tenant shounld bring suit for
the possession of the Premises, for the recovery of any swm due under this Lease, or because of
the breach of any provision of thiz Lesse or for any other relief against the othor, then all costs and
expenses, including reasonahle attomeys', expens' and arbitrators’ fees and costs, incurmed by the
prevailing party therein shall be paid by the other party, which obligation on the part of the other
party shall be deemed to have acerued on the date of the commencement of such action and shall
he enforceahle whether or not the action is prosecuted o judgment.

2022 Governing Law: WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY. This Lease shall be construed
and enforeed in accordance with (he laws of the State of California. [N ANY ACTION OR

PROCEEDING ARISING HEREFROM, LANDLORD AND TENANT HEREBY CONSENT
TO () THE JURISDICTION OF ANY COMPETENT COURT WITHIN THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, (II) SERVICE OF PROCESS BY ANY MEANS AUTHORIZED BY
CALIFORNIA LAW, AND (III) IN THE INTEREST OF SAVING TIME AND EXPENSE,
TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM
BROUGHT BY EITHER OF THE PARTIES HERETO AGAINST THE OTHER OR THEIR
SUCCESSORS IN RESPECT OF ANY MATTER ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION
WITH THIS LEASE, THE RELATIONSHIP OF LANDLORD AND TENANT, TENANTS USE
OR OCCUPANCY OF THE PREMISES, ANDVOR ANY CLAIM FOR INJURY OR DAMAGE,
OR ANY EMERGENCY OR STATUTORY REMEDY. IN THE EVENT LANDLORD
COMMENCES ANY SUMMARY PROCEEDINGS OR ACTION FOR NONPAYMENT OF
BASE RENT OR ADDITIONAL RENT. TENANT SHALL NOT INTERPOSE ANY
COUNTERCLAIM OF ANY NATURE OR DESCRIPTION (UNLESS SUCH
COUNTERCLAIM SHALL BE MANDATORY) IN ARNY SUCH PROCEEDING OR ACTION,
BUT SHALL BE RELEGATED TO AN INDEPENDENT ACTION AT LAW.

29.23 Submission of Lease. Submission of this instrument for examination or signature
by Tenant does not constitute a reservation of, aption for or option to lease, and it is nol effective
a3 a lease or otherwise until execution and delivery by both Lundlord and Tenznt.

2024 Brokers. Landlord and Tenant hereby warrant to each other that they have had no
denlings with any real estate broker or agent in connection with the negotiation of this Lease,
excepting only the real estate brokers or agents specified in Section 12 of the Summary (the

"Brokers"), and that they know of no other real estate broker or agent who 15 entitled o a
commission in connection with this Leage. Each party agrees 1o indemnify and defend the other
party against and hold the other party harmless from any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities,
lawsuits, judgments, costs and expenses (ineluding without limitation reasonable attorneys' foes)
with respect 1o amy leasing commission or equivalent compensation alleged to be owing on account
of any dealings with any real estate broker or ageni, other than the Brokers, occurring by, through,
or under the indemnitying pary.

2925 Independent Covenants, This Lease shall be construed as though the covenants
herein between Landlord and Temant are independent and not dependent and Tenant hereby
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expressly waives the benefit of any statute to the contrary and agrees that if Landlord fails to
perform its obligations set forth herein, Tenant shall not be entitled to make any repairs or perform
any sets hereunder @t Landlond's expense or o any setoll of the Rent or other smounis owing
hereunder against Landlord.

2926 Project or Boilding Name and Signage. Landlord shall have the right at any Hme
to change the name of the Project or Building and to install, affix and maintain any and all signs

on the exterior and on the interior of the Project or Building as Landlord may, in Landlord's sole
discretion, desire. Tenant shall not use the name of the Project or Building or use pictures or
illustrations of the Project or Building in advertising or other publicity or for any purpese other
than as the address of the business to be conducted by Tenant i the Premises, without the prior
written consem of Landlord.

2027 Counte 5. This Lease may be executed in counterparts with the same effect
as if bouh parties hereto had executed the same document. Both counterparts shall be construed
together and shall constitute a single lease,

20,28 Confidentiality. Tenant acknowledges that the content of this Lease and any
refated documents are confidential information. Tenant shall keep such confidential information
strictly confidential and shall not disclose such confidential information to any person or entity
other than Tenant's fnancial, legal, advisors, agents, employees, and space planning consuliants
who need 1o know such information in connection with Tenant's interest in this Lease, provided
that Tenant shall be liable for a breach of the terms of this Section 29.2K by any of the foregoing
persons or enfitics.

2939 Transportation Management. Tenant shall comply with all present or future
governrmentally mandated programs intended to manege parking, transportation or traffic in and
around the Building, sand in conneclion therewith, Tenant shall take responsible action for the
transportation planning and management of all employees located at the Premises by working
directly with Landlord, any governmental transportation management orgamzation or any other
transportation-related commitiees or entities,

2930 Building Renovations, It is specifically undersiood and agreed that Landlord has
made no representation or warranty to Tenant and has no obligation and has made no promises to
alter. remodel, improve, renovate, repair or decorate the Premises, Building, or any pan thereol
and that no represenintions respecting the condition of the Premises or the Building have been
made by Landlord (o Tenant excepl as specifically set forth herein or in the Tenant Work Letter.
However, Tenant hereby acknowledges that Landlord is currently renovating or may during the
applicable Lease Term renovate, improve, aller, or modify (callectively, the "Renovations") the
Project, the Building and/or the Premises including without limitation the parking structure,
common areas, systems and equipment, roof, and structural portions of the same which
Renovations may include, withow limitation, (i) installing sprinklers in the Building Common
Areas and tenant spaces, (i) modifying the Common Areas and tenant spaces to comply with
Appliceble Laws, including regulations relating to the physically disabled, seismic conditions, and
building satety and security, and (iii) installing new floar covering, lighting, and wall coverings in
the Common Areas, and in connection with any Renovations, Landlord may, among other things,
ercot scaffolding or ofher necessary structures in the Bujldmg. limut or eliminate sccess o portions
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of the Project, including portions of the common areas, or perform waork in the Building, which
work may create noise, dust or leave debris in the Building. Tenant herchy agrees that such
Renovations and Landlord's actions in connsction with such Renovations shall in no way constitule
a constructive eviction of Tenant nor entitle Tenant to any abatement of Rent. Landlord shall have
no responsibility or for any reason be lisble 10 Tenant for any divect or indirect mury lo or
interfzrence with Tenanl's busingss arising from the Renovations, nor shall Tenant be entitled to
any compensation or damages from Landlord for loss of the use of the whole or any part of the
Premises or of Tenant's personal property or improvements resulting from the Renovations or
Landlord's actions in connection with such Renovations, or for any inconvenience or annoyance
oceasioned by such Renovations or Landlord's actions. Landlord agrees to use commercially
reasnnable efforts to perform any such Renovations in a manner designed to minimize disruption
to Tenant's use and ocoupancy of the Premises for the Permuited Use.

2931 No Violation. Tenani hereby warranis and represents that neither its execution of
nor performance under this Lease shall cause Tenant to be in violation of any agreement,
instrument, contract, law, rule or regnlation by which Tenant is bound, and Tenant shall proteet,
defend, indemnify and hold Landlord harnless against any claims, demands, losses, damages,
liabilities, costs and expenses, meluding, without imitation, reasonable attomeys” fees and costs,
arising from Tenant's breach of this warranty and representation.

2832 LI e and Computer Lines. Tenmanl may install, maintain, replace,
remaove Or USe any communications or computer wires and cables (collectively, the "Lines™) at the
Praject in or serving the Premises, provided that (i) Tenant shall obtain Landlord's prior written
comsent, use a qualified contractor reasonably approved in writing by Landlord, and comply with
all of the other provisions of Asticles 7 and 8 of this Lease, (i) an acceptable number of spare
Lines and space for additional Lines shall be maintained for existing and future oceupants of the
Project, as determined in Landiord's reasonable opinion, (iii) the Lines therefor (including riser
cables) shall be appropriately insulated to prevent excessive electromagnetic fields or radiation,
and shall be surrounded by a protective conduil reasonably acceptable to Landlord, (iv) any new
or existing Lines servicing the Premises shall comply with all Applicable Laws, (v) as a condition
to permitting the installation of new Lines, Landlord may require thet Tenant remove existing
Lines located in or serving the Premises and repair any damage in comnection with such removal,
and (vi) Tenant shall pay all costs in connection therewith, including any fees charged by Landlord
for Tenant's use of the Building's telecommunications capacity in excess of Tenant's pro rata share
thercof. Landlord reserves the right, upon notice to Teneni prior to the expiration or carlicr
termination of thiz Lease, to require that Tenonl, 8l Tenant's sole cost and expense, Temove any
Lines installed by or on behalf of Tenant located in or serving the Premises prior to the expiration
or earlier termination of this Lease. In the event that Tenant fails to complete such removal andfor
fails to repair any damage coused by the removal of any Lines, Landlord may do so and may charge
the cost thereof to Tenant. In addition, Landlord reserves the right (o require that Tenant remove
any Lines located in or serving the Premises which are installed by or on behalf of Tenant in
violation of these provisions, or which are at any time in violation of any Applicable Laws or
represent a damgerous or poentially dangerous condition,

2033 Intentionally Omitted.
29.34 Office and Communications Services
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20341 The Provider, Landlord has advised Tenant that certain office and
communications services may be offered to tenants of the Building by a concessionsire under
contract o Landlord ("Provider”). Tenant shall be permiited to coniract with Provider for the
provision ol any or all of such services on such terms and conditions as Tenant and Provider may

agree,

29.34.2 Other Terms. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that: (i) Landlord
has made no warranty or representation to Tenant with respect to the availability of any such
services, or the quality, reliability or suitability thereof; (i) the Provider is not acting as the agent
or representative of Landlord in the provision of such services, and Landlord shall have no liability
or responsibility for any failure or inadeguacy of such services, or any equipment or facilities used
m the furmishing thereof, or any act or omission of Provider, or is agenis, emplovees,
representatives, officers or contractors; (i) Landlord shall have no responsibality or liabality for
the installation, alteration, repair. maintenance, furnishing, operation, adjustment or removal of
any such services, equipment or facilities; and (iv) any contract or other agreement between Tenant
and Provider shall be independent of this Lease, the obligations of Tenant hereunder, and the rights
of Landlord hereunder, and, without limiting the foregoing, ne default or failure of Provider with
respect to any such services, equipment or facilities, or under any contract or agresment relating
thereto, shall have any effect on this Lease or give to Tenant any offset or defense to the full and
timely performance of its obligations hereunder, or entitle Tenant to any abatement of rent or
additional rent or any other payment required W be made by Tenant hereunder, or constitule any
accrual or constructive eviction of Tenant, or otherwise give rise 1o any other claim of any nature
againsi Landlord.

3935 The Other Improvements. If portions of the Project or property adjacent to the
Project (collectively, the "Other Improvements") are cwned by an entity other than Landlord,
Landlond, a1 118 option, may enter mio an agreement with the owner or owners of any or all of the
Other Improvements to provide (i) for reciprocal rights of access and/or use of the Project and the
Other Improvements, (ii) for the common management, opemtion, maintenance, improvement
and/or repunr of all or any portion of the Project and the Other Inprovements, (iii) for the allocation
af a portion of the Direet Expenses tn the Other Improvements and the aperating expenses and
taxes for the Other Improvements to the Direct Expenses, and (iv) for the use or improvement of
the Onher Improvements and/or the Project in connection with the impraovement, construction,
and/or excavation of the Other Improvements and/or the Project, Nothing contained herein shall
be deemed or construed to limil or otherwise affect Landlord's night o convey all or any portion
of the Project or any other of Landlord's rights deseribed in this Lease.

2936 Rensonableness, Except for (1) matters for which there 15 a standard of consent or
discretion specifically set forth in this Lease, (i) matters which could have an adverse effect on
the Base Building, or which could affect the exterior sppearance of the Building, or (iii) matters
coverad hy Article 4 (Additional Rent), Article 10 (Insurance}, or Article 19 (Defaulis; Remedies)
of this Lease (callectively, the "Excepted Matters"), any time the consent of Landlord or Tenant
is required under this Lease, such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delaved, and, except with regard to the Excepted Matters, whenever this Lease grants Landlord or
Tenant the right to lake action, exercise discretion, esteblish rules and regulations or make an
allocation or other determination, Landlord and Tenant shall act reasanably and in good faith.
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29.37 Termination of Prior Lease. Upon the Onginal Premises Commencement Date,
the Prior Lease shall automatically terminate and be of no forther force or effect and Landlord and
Tenunt shall e relieved of thweir respective obligations under the Frior Lease, except for those
obligations set forth in the Prior Lease which (i) specifically survive the expiration or earlier
termination of the Pnior Lease (including, without limitation, the payment by Tenant of all amounts
owed by Tenant under the Prior Lease prior to the Original Premises Commencement Datg), and/or
(ii) pertain to any period prior to the Original Premises Commencement Date,

[SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE]
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N WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have caused this Lease to be exceuted the
day and date first above writien,

"Landlord":

DUESENBERG INVESTMENT COMPANY, LLC,
a California limited liability company

By TOPA PROPERTY GROUP, INC.,
a California corporation,
as Agent for Landlord

-

B
Name: Chri c-‘-"t.to
Its: Cro
Date: II/z,s'/za{ff
"Tenant":
FAT BRANDS ‘,
& Delaware coppd]
By i
w A. Wiedethorn®
Mame
Its e
ILLLLTFTY
\‘“ 7
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2 2017 =
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EXHIBIT B

9720 WILSHIRE
TENANT WORK LETTER

This Tenant Work Letter shall set forth the terms and conditions relating to the construction
of the Premises. This Tenant Work Letter is essentially organized chronologically and eddresses
the issues of the construction of the tenamt improvements in the Suite 300 Premuses and the
Additonal Premises, in sequence, as such issues will arse during the actual construction of the
Suite 300 Premises and the Additional Premuses. Al references in this Tenam Work Letier 1o
Articles or Sections of “this Lease” shall mean the relevant portions of Aricles 1 through 29 of
the Amended and Restated Office Lease to which this Tenant Work Letter is attsched as Exhibit B
and of which this Tenant Work Letter forms a part, all references in this Tenant Work Letter (o the
"Premises” shall mean the Swite 500 Premmiges and the Additionsl Premises, and all references in
this Tenant Work Letter to Sections of "this Tenant Waork Letter” shall mean the relevant portion
of Sections 1 through 8 of this Tenant Work Letter.

SECTION 1

LATE DELIVERY REMEDY

The Additional Premises shall be delivered to Tenant on the Delivery Date and Tenant
shall accept the Addivional Premises from Landlord, in its presently existing “as is” condition. 17
the Delivery Date for the Additional Premises fails to ecour on or before August 31, 2020, which
date shall be extended on a day-for-day basis to the extent of delays caused by any acts or
omissions of Tenant and‘or Tenant's Agents (a3 that term is defined in Section 4.1.2 of this Tenant
Work Letter) (including, without limitation, Tenant's failure o timely provide any approval or
conscnt required herein), and or eny cvents of Foree Majcure (as extended, the "Outside Delivery
Date"), then, Tenant’s sole remedy Tor such failure at law and in equity shall be o receive one (1)
day of Base Rent sbutemnent for the Additional Premises for euch day following the Outside
Delivery Date until such Delivery Daie ocours. Any such Base Reni abatement shall be applied
following the expiration of the Base Renl Abalement Period until exhausted.  Any such per day
Base Rent abatement amount hereunder shall be calculated by dividing the annualized Base Reni
with respect to the Additional Premises that otherwise would be due during the first (17) twehve
{12) months of the Addittopnal Premises Lease Term (without considering the Base Rent
Abatement) by 365 (i.e., $1,397.61 per day).

SECTION 2
TENANT IMPROVEMENTS

2.1 Tenant Improvement Allowanee. Tenant shall be entitled to a one-time tenant
improvernent allowance (the "Tenant Improvemeat Allowance") in the amount of 184 470.00
{i.e., $15.00 per rentable square foot of the Premises) for the costs relating 1o the initial design and
construction of Tenant's improvements, which are pennanently affixed to the Premises (the
"Tenant Improvements”). In addition 1o the Tenant Improvement Allowance, Tenant shall be
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entitled to a space planning allowance (the "Space Planning Allowance") in an amount up to
Fifteen Cents (£0.15) per rentable square foot of the Premizes (i.e., $1,844.70) toward the cosis
meurred by Tenant for the Final Space Plan {as defined in Section 1.2 below). In no event shall
Landlord be obligated to make dishursements pursuant 1o this Tenant Work Letter in a total amount
which excesds the Tenant Improvement Allowance and/or the Space Planning Allowanee, as
applicable. Any unused portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance and/or the Space Planming
Allowance remaining as of the date that 15 twelve (12} months following the Additional Premises
Commencement Date (the "Allowance Deadline”), shall remain with Landlord and Tenant shall
have no further right thereto.

2.2 Disbursement of the Tenant Improvement Allowance,

1.2.! Tenant Improvement Allowance Items. Except as otherwise st forth in
this Tenant Work Letter, the Tenant Improvement Allowance shall be disbursed by Landlord only
for the following ilems and costs (eollectively the "Tenant Improvement Allowance ltems™):

2.2.1.1 Payment of the fees of the Architect and the Engineers (as those
terms are defined in Section 3.1 of this Tenanmt Work Letter), which fees shall, notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in this Tenant Work Letter, not cxceed an aggregate amount
equal to $5.00 per rentable square foot of the Premises, and paymeni of the fees incurred by, and
the cost of documents and materials supplied by, Landlond and Landlord's consmltants in
connection with the preparation snd review of the Construction Drawings (ns that term is defined
in Section 3. ] of this Tenant Work Letter);

2.1.1.2 The payment of plan check, permit and license fees relating to
constuetion of the Tenant Improvements;

2.2.1.3 The cost of construction of the Tenant Improvements, including,
without limitation, testing and inspection cosis, freight elevator usage, hoisting and trash removal
costs, and contractors' fees and general conditions;

2.2.1.4 The cost of any changes in the Base Building when such changes
are required by the Construction Drawings (including if such changes are due to the fact that such
work is prepared on an unoccupied basis), such cast to include all direct architectural and/or
engineerimg [ees and expenses incurred in conneetion therewith,

2.2.1.5 The cost of any changes to the Construction Drawings or Tenant
Improvements required by all applicable building codes (the "Code™);

2.2.1.6 Intentionally Omitted;
2.2.1.7 Sales and use taxes; and

2.2.1.8 All other costs to be expended by Landloed in connection with the
construction of the Tenant Improvements.

222 Disburseme Tenant Improvement Allowance  Dunng the
construgtion of the Tenant Improvements, Landlord shall make monthly disbursements of the
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Tenant Improvement Allowance for Tenani Improvement Allowance Items for the benefit of
Tenant and shall authorize the release of mones for the benefil of Tenant as follows.

2.2.2.1 Monthly Disbursements. On or before the day of cach calendar
mionth, as determined by Landlord, during the construction of the Tenant Improvements (or such
other date as Landlord may designate), Tenant shall deliver to Landlord: (i) 8 request for payment
to Tenant , in a form(s) to be provided by Landlord (which may include, without linutation, AlA
form G702, ALA form G703 and/or such other forms and schedules as may be required by
Landlord), showing, on a line-item hasis, the schedule, by trade, of percentage of completion of
the Tenant Improvements in the Premises, detailing the portion of the work completed and the
portion nol completed, and such other detwils of construction &3 Landlord may reguire; (i) invoices
from all of Tenant's Agents, and from the Architect and the Engineers for labor rendered with
respeel to, and materials delivered to, the Premises; (iii) executed unconditional mechanic's lien
releases from all of Tenant's Agents, the Architect and the Engineers which shall comply with the
appropriate provisions, as reasonably determined by Lendlord, of California Civil Code
Sections 8132, 8134, 8136, and 8138, as applicable; and (iv) all other nformation masonably
requested by Landlord (which may inclede, without limitanon, & subordination, non-disturbance
and attornment agreement on Landlord’s lender's standard form, duly executed and acknow ledged
by Tesant, aud any other documents or items reasonably required by Landlord's lender). Tenant's
request for payment shall be deemed Tenant's accepiance and approval of the work furnished
and/or the materials supplied as sed forih in Tenant's payment request. Thereafier, Landlord shall
deliver a check o Tenant made payable to Tenant in payment of the lesser of: {A) the amounis so
requesied by Tenant, as set forth in this Section 2.2.2.1, above, less a ten percent {10%) retention
(the aggregate amount of such retentions to be known as the "Final Retention"), and (B) the
balance of any remaining available partion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance (not including
the Final Retention), provided that Landlord does not dispute any request for payment based on
nom-campliance of any work with the Approved Working Drawings (as that temm is defined in
Section 3.4 below), or due to any substandard work, or for any other reason. Landlord's payment
of such amounts shall not be deemed Landlord's approval or acceptance of the work furnished or
materials supplied as set forth in Tenaol's payment request.

2222 Final Retention. Subject to the provisions of this Tenam Work
Letter, a check for the Final Retention payable to Tenant shall he delivered by Landlord 1o Tenant
following the completion of construction of the Premises, provided that (i) Tenant delivers to
Landlord properly executed mechanics lien releases in compliance with both California Civil Code
Section 8134 and Section 8138, (i) Landlord has determined that no substandard work exists
which adversely affects the mechanical, elecwical, plumbing, heating, ventilating and air
conditioning, life-safety or other systems of the Building, the curtain wall of the Building, the
structure or exterior appearance of the Building, or any other tenant’s use of such other tenant's
leaser] premises in the Building, (i) Architect delivers o Landlord a certificate, in a form
reasonably acceprable to Landlord, certifying that the construztion of the Tenant Improvements in
the Premises has heen substantially completed, (iv) Tenant delivers to Landlord a true and correct
copy of the final and unconditional certificate of occupancy or, if appropriate, temporary certificate
of occapancy, where applicable and required for Jegal occupancy, for the Premises, 1ssued without
resiriction by the appropriste govermmental suthority having jurisdiction over the Premises, (v)
Tenant is then in oceupancy or possession of the Premises, has accepted the Premises and is paying
rent urder this Lease (subject to any rent abatement right expressly set forth in this Lease] without
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offset, credit or defense, and all work o be performed by Landlord under this Tenant Work Letter
shall have been completed and accepted by Tenant, and (vi) Tenant shall have duly executed and
delivered 1o Landlord a tenant estoppel centificate in the form of Exhibit G attached to this Lease
or suzh other form ressonably satisfactory to Landlord and Landlord's lender, if applicable,
werifying, imfer alia. the satisfaction of the conditions n (v) abowve,

2223 0Other Terms. Landlord shall only be obligated 10 make
disbursements from the Tenant Improvement Allowanes 1o (he extent ¢osts are incurred by Tenamt
for Tenant Improvement Allowance Items. All Tenant Improvement Allowance Items for which
the Tenant Improvernent Allowance has been made available shall be deemed Landlond's property
under the terms of this Lease.

23 Removal of Above Standard Tenant Improvements. "Above Standard Tenant
Impravements” shall mean any Tenant Improvements that Landlord desires to be removed from
the Premiscs om or before the expiration ar earlier termination of this Lease. If 5o directed by
Landlord prior to the end of the Lease Term (which for purposes of this Tenant Work Letter shall
mean and refer (o the Lease Term with respect to the Additional Premises and the Suite 500
Premises), Tenant, st its sole cost and expense, shall remove from the Pramises any Above
Standard Tenant Improvements designaled by Landlord, and shall replace such designated Above
Standard Tenant Improvements to be removed with Building standard tenant improvements. Such
removal and replacement of Above Standard Tenant Improvements shall be performed prompily
and shall be completed by Tenant on or before the end of the Lense Torm il notice of mmoval is
given at least thinty (30 days prior to the end of the Lease Term, and if Tenand fails 1o remove
and‘or replace any Above Stendard Tenant Improvements, Landlord may do so and Tenant shall
reimburse Landlord for the cost of such removal and‘or replacement.

SECTION 3
CONSTRUCTION DRAWINGS

il inm wings. Tenanl shall retain the
architect/space plamnmr s:]a:lod hy Tmml. [lh: “Arl:'.lﬂtect“} a-uh]m to Landlord's pror wnillen
approval, to prepare the Constmiction Drawings. Tenant shall retain the engineering consultants
designated by Landlord (the "Engineers”) 1o prepare all plans and engineering working drawings
relating (o the strucural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, HVAC, lifesafety, and sprinkler work
in the Premises, which work is not part of the Base Building. The plans and drawings to be
prepared by Architect and the Engineers hereunder shall be known collectively as the
"Construction Drawings." All Construction Drawings shall comply with the drawing formar and
specifications us determined by Landlord, and shall be subject to Landlord's approval. Tenant and
Architeet shall verily, in the field, the dimensions and conditions as shown on the relevant portions
of the Base Building plans, and Tenant and Architest shall be salely responsible for the same, and
Landlord shall have no responsibility in connection therewith. Landlord's review of the
Construction Drrawings as set forth in this Section 3, shall be for its sole purpose and shall not
imply Landlord's review of the same, or obligate Landlord to review the same, for quality, design,
Code compliance or other like matters, Accordingly, netwithstanding that any Construction
Dirawings are reviewed by Landlord or its space planner, architect, engineers and consultants, snd
notwithstanding any advice or assistance which may be rendered to Tenant by Landlord or
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Landlord's space planner, architect, engineers, and consultants, Landlord shall have no Liability
whatsoever in connection therewith and shall not be respensible for any omissions or errors
comtatned in the Construction Drawings, and Tenant's waiver and indemnity set forth in this Lease
shall specifically apply to the Construction Dimawings.

32  Fioal Space Plag. Tenant shall supply Landlord with four (4) copies signed by
Tenant of its final space plan for the Premises before any architectural working drawings or
enginesring drawings have been commenced. The final space plan (the "Final Space Plan”) shall
include a layout and designation of all offices, rooms and other partitioning, their intended use,
and equipment to be contzined therein. Landlord may request clanfication or more specific
drawings for special use items not included in the Final Space Plan. Landlord shall advise Tenant
within five (5) business days after Landlord's receipt of the Final Space Plan for the Premises if
the same is unsatisfactory or incomplete in any respect. If Tenant is so advised, Tenant shall
prompily cause the Final Space Plan to be revised o comest any deficiencies or other matters
Landlord may reasonably require.

33 Final Working Drawings. Afier the Final Space Plan has been approved by
Landlord, Tenant shall supply the Engineers with a complete listing of standard and non-standard
eguipmenl and specifications, including, without limitation, B.T.U. calculations, electrical
requirements and special electrical receptacle requirements for the Premises, 10 enable the
Engineers and the Architect to complete the Final Working Drawings (as that term is defined
below) in the manner as set forth below. Upon the approval of the Final Space Plan by Landlord
and Tenant, Tenant shall promptly cause the Architect and the Engineers to complete the
architectural and engineering drawings for the Premises, and Architect shall compile a fully
coerdinated set of architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical and plumbing working drawings
in & form which is complete w allow subcontractors (o bid on the work and 1w obtain all applicable
permits {collectively, the "Final Working Drawings") and shall submit the same to Landlord for
Landlord's approval. Tenant shall supply Landlord with four (4) copies signed by Tenant of such
Final Working Drawings. Landlond shall advise Tenant witlin ten (10) business dayvs afler
Landlord's receipt of the Final Working Drawings for the Premiscs if the same 15 unsatisfactory or
incomplete in any respect. If Tenant is so advised, Tenant shall immediately revise the Final
Working Drawings in accordance with such review and any dizapproval of Landlord in connection
therewith. In addition, if the Final Working Drawings or any amendment thereof or supplement
thereto shall reguire alterations in the Base Building (as contrasted with the Tenant Improvements),
and il Landlord in its sole and exclusive discretion agrees 1o any such alterations, and notifies
Tenant of the need and cost for such alterations, then Tenant shall pay the cost of such required
changes upon receipt of hills therefor. Tenant shall pay all direct architectural and/or engineering
fees in connection therewith, plus a percentage of the cost of such work sufficient to compensate
Landlord for all overhead, genersl conditions, fees and other costs and expenses ansing from
Landlord’s involvement with such work.

34 Approved Working Drawings The Final Working Drawings shall be approved
by Landlord (the "Approved Working Drawings") prior to the commencement of construction
of the Premises by Tenant. Adter approval by Landlord of the Final Working Drawings, Tenant
may submit the same to the appropriate municipal authorities for all applicable building permits,
Tenant hereby agrees that neither Landiord nor Landlond's consultants shall be responsible for
obtaining any building permit or certificate of occupancy for the Premises and that ohaining the
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same shall be Tenant's responsibility; provided, however, thet Landlord shall cooperate with
Tenant in executing permil applications and performing other ministenial acts reasonably necessary
1o ennble Tenant to obtin any such permit or certificate of occupmmey. No changes, modifications
or alierations in the Approved Working Drawings may be made without the prior written consent
of Landlord, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld.

SECTION 4

TONOF TH MNANT IMP

41 Tenant's Selection of Contractors.

4.1.1 The Contractor. Tenant shall retain, subject to Landlord's pror written
approval, which approval may be withheld m Landlord's sole and abaohite discretion, 2 general

contractor ("Contractor”) to construct the Tenant Improvements.

4.1.2 Tenant's Agents All subcontractors, laborers, materialmen, and supplicrs
used by Tenant (such subcontraciors, laborers, malenalmen, and supphiors, and the Contractor o
ke known collectively as "Tenant's Agents") must be approved in writing by Landlord, which
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, provided that Tenant shall be requinad to
employ Landlord's designated subcontractor for all fire life-safety work performed in connection
with the construction of the Tenanl Improvements. If Landlord does not approve any of Tenant's
proposed subeontractors, laborers, materialmen or suppliers, Tenant shall submit other proposed
subcemtractors, laborers, materialmen or suppliers for Landlord's written approval.

42 st n ol Tenant Lm 5
4.2.1 Construction Contract; Cost Budpet. Frior to Tenant's execution of the

construction contract and general conditions with Contractor (the "Contract"), Tepant shall
submit the Contract to Landlerd for its approval, which approval shall not be unressonably
withheld or delayed. Prior to the commencement of the construction of the Tenant Improvements,
and after Tenant has accepted all bids for the Tenant limprovements, Tenant shall provide Landlord
with a detailed breakdown, by trade, of the final costs 1o be incurred or which have been incurred,
as set forth more particularly in Sections 2.2.1.1 through 2.2.1.8, above, in connection with the
design and construction of the Tenant Improvements to be performed by or at the direction of
Tenznt or the Contractor, which cogts form a basis for the amount of the Contract (the "Final
Costs™). Prior to the commencement of construction of the Tenant kmprovements, Tenant shall
supply Landlord with cash in an amount (the "Over-Allowance Amount") equal to the difference
between the amount of the Final Costs and the amount of the Tenant Improvement Allowance (less
any portion thereof already disbursed by Landlord, or in the process of being disbursed by
Landlord, on or before the commencement of construction of the Tenant Improvements). The
Over-Allowance Amount shall be disbursed by Landlord prior to the disbursement of any of the
then remaining portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance, and such disbursement shall be
pursuant (o the same procedure as the Tenant Improvement Allowance. In the event thai, after the
Final Costs have been delivered by Tenant to Landlord, the costs relating to the design and
construction of the Tenant Improvements shall chanpe, any additional costs necessary to such
design and construction in excess of the Final Costs, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord

EXHIBIT B

SO0 ] AR LA I8 WOLSEIE 1O AR
T S P e O - ot Brssirts foc




immediately as an addition to the Over-Allowance Amount or st Landlord's cption, Tenant shall
make payments for such additional costs out of its own funds, but Tenant shall continue o provide
Landlord with the documents described in Sections 2.2.2.1 (i), {l]} {1di) and (iv) of this Tenant
Work Letter, above, for Landlord's approval, prior to Tensnt paving such costs,

422 Tenant's Agents

4.2.2 1 Landlord I
v W Temant's and Tenant's Agﬂnls ulnal.rm.-lmn 1.1I' lhc Tenamt Impmvemf.nts
shall comply with I;hn: following: (1) the Temant Improvements shall be consiructed in sirict
accordance with the Approved Working Drawings; (1) Tenant's Agents shall submit schedules of
all work relating to the Tenant’s Improvements to Contractor and Contractor shall, within five
(5) buziness days of receipl thereof, inform Tenant's Agents of any changes which are necessary
thereto, and Tenant's Agents shall adhere 1o such corrected schedule; and (i) Tenant shall ahide
by all ules made by Landlord's Building manager with respect to the use of freight, loading dock
and service elevalors, storage of materials, coordination of work with the contraetors of other
tenants, and any other matter in connection with this Tenant Work Letter, including, without
limitation, the construction of the Tenant Improvements. Tenant shall not use (and upon notice
from Landlord shall cease using) contractors, subcontractors, services, workmen, labor, materials
or equipment that, in Landiord's reasonable judgment, would disturb labor harmony with the
waorkforee or trades 1o be engaged in performing other work, labor or services in or aboul the
Buildiug or the Commaon Areas,

4.2.2.2 Indempity, Tenant's indemmity of Landlord as set forth in this
Lease shall also apply with respect to any and all costs, losses, damages, injuries and Liabilities
related in any way 1o any act or omission of Tenant or Tenant's Agenls, or anyone directly or
indirecily emploved by any of them, or in connection with Tenant's non-payment of any amount
ariging out of the Tenanl Improvements and/or Tenant's disapproval of all or any portion of any
request for payment. Such indemnity by Tenant, as set forth in this Lease, shall also apply with
respect to any and all costs, losses, damages, injunes and hiabilities related in any way to Landlord's
performance of any ministerial acts reasonably necessary (i) to permil Tenanl to complele the
Tenam Improvements, and (1) to enable Tenanl to obtain any building permit or certficate of
occupancy for the Premises.

4223 Requirements of Tenant's Agents. Each of Tenant's Agents shall
guaraniee to Tenant and for the benefit of Landlord that the portion of the Tenant lmprovements
for which it is responsible shall be free [rom any defects in workmanship and materials for a period
of not Jess than one (1) year from the date of completion thereof. Each of Tenant's Apents shall
be responsible for the replacement or repair, without additional charge, of all work done or
furnished in accordance with its contract that shall become defective within one (1) year after the
later 1o oceur of (i) completion of the work performed by such contractor or subcontragtors and
(ii) the Additional Premises Commencement Date.  The cormrection of such work shall include,
without additional charge, all additional expenses and damages incurred in connection with such
removal or replacement of all or any part of the Tenant Improvements, and/or the Building and/or
eommon areas that may be damaped or disturbed thereby. All such warranties or guarmlees as o
materials or workmanship of or with respect to the Tenant Improvements shall be contained in the
Contraet or subcontract and shall be written such that such guarantees or warranties shall inure 10
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the henefit of hoth Landlord and Tenant, as their respective intérests may appear, and can be
directly enforced by either. Tenant covenants to give to Landlord any assignment or other
assurances which may be necessary to effect such right of direct enforcement.

4.2.2 4 Insurance uirements.

42241 General Coverages. All of Tenant's Agents shall
carry worker's compensation insurance covering &ll of their respective employees, and shall also
carry public Hability insurance, including property damage, all with limits, in form and with
companies as are required to be carried by Tenant as set forth in this Lease.

42242 Special Coverages. Tenant shall carry "Builder's
All Risk” insurance in an amount approved by Landiord covering the construction of the Tenant

Improvements, and such other insurance as Landlord may require, it being understood and agreed
that the Tenznt Improvements shall be insured by Tenant pursuant to this Lease immedialely upon
completion thereol, Such insurance shall be in amounts and shall include such extended coverage
eadorsements as may be reasonably required by Landlord including, bul not limited to, the
requirement that all of Tenant's Agents shall carry excess lability and Produects and Completed
Oiperation Coverage insurance, each in amounts not less than $500,000 per incident, 1,000,000
in aggregate, and in form and with companies as are required to be camied by Tenant as set forth
in this Lease.

42243 General Terms — Certificales for all msurance
carried pursuant to this Section 4.2.2.4 shail be delivered to Landlord before the commencement
of construction of the Tenant Improvements and before the Contractor's equipment is moved onio
the siie. All such policies of insurance must contain a provision thal the company writing said
policy will give Landiord thirty (30) days prior written notice of any cancellation or lapse of the
effective date or any reduction in the amounts of such insurance. In the event that the Tenant
Improvements are damaged by any cause during the course of the construction thereof, Tenant
shall immediately repair the same at Tenant's sole cost and expense. Tenant's Agents shall
maintain all of the foregoing insurance coverage in force uniil the Tenant Improvements are fully
completed and accepted by Landlord, except for any Products and Completed Operation Coverape
insuranee required by Landlord, which is to be maintained for ten (10) years following completion
of the work and aceepiance by Landlord and Tenant, All policies carried under this Section 4.2.2.4
shall insure Landlord and Tenant, as their interests may appear, as ‘well as Contractor and Tenant's
Agents.  All insurance, except Workers' Compensation, maintained by Tenant's Agents shall
preclude subrogation claims by the insurer against anyone insured thereunder. Such insurance
shall provide that it is primary msurance as respects the owner and that any other msurance
maintained by owner is excess and noncontributing with the insurance required hereunder. The
requirements for the foregoing insurance shall not derogate from the provisions for
indemmnification of Landlord by Tenant under Section 4.2.2.2 of this Tenant Work Letter. Landlord
may, in its discretion, require Terant to obtain a lien and completion bond or some alternate form
of security satisfactory to Landlord in an amount suflicient o ensure the lien-free completion of
the Tenant Improvements and naming Landlord as a co-obhigee.

423 Governmental Compliance. The Tenant Improvements shall comply in
all respects with the following: (i) the Code and other Applicable Laws, as each may apply
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according to the rulings of the controlling public official, agent or other person; (ii) applicable
standards of the Amerncen Insurance Association (formerly, the National Board of Fire
Underwriters) and the National Electrical Code; and (iii) building material manufacturer’s
specifications.

4.2.4 lmspection by Landlord. Subject o Article 27 of this Lease, Landlord
shall have the right to nspect the Tenanl Improvemenis at all times, provided however, thal
Landleed's failure to inspect the Tenant Improvements shall in no event constitute & waiver of any
of Landlord's rights hereunder nor shall Landlord’s inspection of the Tenant Improvements
constitite Landlord's approval of the same. Should Landlord disapprove any pertion of the Tenant
Improvements, Landlord shall notify Tenant in writing of such disapproval and shall specify the
items disapproved. Any defects or deviations in, and/or disapproval by Landlord of, the Tenant
Improvements shall be rectified by Tenant at no expense to Landlord, provided however, that in
the event Landlord determines that a defect or deviation exisis or disapproves of any matter in
connection with any portion of the Tenant Improvements and such defect, deviation or matter
might adversely affect the mechanical, electrical, plumbing, heating, ventilating and air
conditioning or life-safety syslems of the Building, the structure or exterior appearance of the
Building or any other tenant's use of such other tenant's leased premises, Landlord may, take such
action as Landlord deems necessary, at Tenant's expense and without incurmring any liability on
Landlord's part, 1o correct any such defect, deviation and/or matter, including, without limitation,
causing the cessation of performance of the construction of the Tenant Improvemenits until such
nme as the defect, deviation and/or matter is comected o Landlord's satisfaction.

425 Meetings. Commencing upon the execution of this Lease, Tenant shall hold
meetings ot a reasonable time and frequency, with the Architeel and the Contractor regarding the
progress of the preparation of Comstruction Drawings and the construction of the Tenant
Improvements, which meetings shall be held at a loeation reasonably approved by Landlord, and
Landlord and/or its agents shall receive prior notice of, and shall have the right to attend, all such
meetings, and, upon Landlord's request, certain of Tenant's Agents shall attend such meetings. One
such meeting ench month shall include the review of Contractor's current request for payment.

4.3 Naotice of Completion; Copy of Record Set of Plans. Within ten (10) days after

completion of construction of the Tenant Improvements, Tenant shall cause a Motice of
Completion to be recorded in the office of the Recorder of the county in which the Building is
located in accordance with Section 8182 of the Civil Code of the State of California or any
suceessor statute, and shall furmish a copy thereof to Landiord upon such recordation, 1F Tenant
fails to do so, Landlord may execute and file the same on behalf of Tenant as Tenant's agent for
such purpose, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, At the conclusion of construction, (i} Tenant shall
cause the Architect and Contractor (A) to update the Approved Working Drawings as necessary
to reflect all changes made to the Approved Working Drawings during the course of construction,
(B) to certify to the best of their knowledge thal the "record-sel" of as-built drawings are true and
comect, which certification shall survive the expiration or termination of this Lease, and (C) 10
deliver to Landlord two (2) sets of copies of such record set of drawings within minety (M) days
following issuance of a centificate of occupancy for the Premises. and (i) Tenant shall deliver to
Landlozd & copy of all warranties, guaranties, and operating manuals mnd information relating to
the improvements, equipment, and systems in the Premises,
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SECTION 5
MISCELLANEOUS

51  Temant's Representative. Tenant has designated Andrew Wiederhorn as its sole
representative with respect to the matters set forth in this Tenant Work Letter, who shall have full
autharity and responsibility to act on behalf of the Tenant as required in this Tenant Work Letier,

52  Landlord's Representative. Landlord has designated Randy Lawrence as
"Project Manager” who shall heve full suthority and responsibility 1o act on behalf of Landlond
s required by this Tenant Work Letter. Landlord shall not be responsible for any statement,
representation or agreement made between Tenant and the Contractor or any subconteactor. It is
hereby expressly acknowledged by Tenant that such Contractor is not Landlord's agent and has no
authority whatsoever o enter into agreements on Landlord's behalf or otherwise bind Landlord.
The Project Manager will fumish Tenant Landlord's approvals or disapprovals of all documents lo
be prepared by Tenant pursuant to this Tenant Work Letter and changes thereto.

53  Iime of the Essence in This Tenant Work Letter. Unless otherwise indicated,
all references herein to a "number of days” shall mean and refer o calendar days. If any item
requining approval 18 tmely disapproved by Landlord, the procedure for preparation of the
document and approval thereof shall be repeated until the documend is approved by Landlord.

54  Tepant's Leasc Default. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained
mn this Lease, if an event of default as descnbed in the Lease or thas Tenant Work Letter has
oceurted al any time on or before the Substantial Completion of the Premises, then (1) in addition
to all ofher rights and remedies granted to Landlord pursuant to this Lease, Landlord shall have
the right to withhold payment of all or any portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance andfor
Landlord may cause Contractor to cease the construction of the Premises (in which case, Tenant
shall be responsible for any delay in the substantial completion of the Premises caused by such
work stoppage), and (i) all other obligations of Landlord under the terms of this Tenant Work
Letier shall be forgiven until such time as such default is cured pursnant to the terms of this Lease
{in which case, Tenant shull be responsible for sny deluy in the substambnl completion of the
Premises caused by such inaction by Landlord).

55  Parking and Services The Contracior, the Architect, and Tenant's Agents
{collectively, the "Permitted Users") shall receive, free of charge, unreserved parking passes (or
parking validations in lieu of parking passes) for parking in the Project parking facility in sufficient
quantity for the use by the Permilied Users during, and only in connection with, the design and
construction of the Tenant Improvements, and/or Tenant’s relocation to the Additional Premises.
Additienally, during the period of construction of the Tenant Improvements, neither Tenant, the
Contractor, the Architeet or Tenant's Agents shall be charged for, directly or indirectly, restrooms,
water, electnicity during Building Hours, HYAC usage during Building Hours, elevator usage
during Building Hours, or freight elevator usage during Building Hours.
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EXHIBITC

9720 WILSHIRE
NOTICE OF LEASE TERM DATES

Ree Amended and Resmred Office Lease daed , 20__ berween
i ("Landlord”), and
P ("Tenant")
concerning Suite on floor(s) of the office building located at
: , California,

Ladies and Gentlemen:

In accordance with the Amended and Restaied Office Leasc (the "Leasc™), we wish to
advise you and/or continm as follows:

1. The Lease Term shall commence on or has commenced on _fora
term af ending on :

2. Rent commenced [0 accrue on in the amount of

3. If the Lease Commencement Date 15 other than the first day of the month, the first

billing will contain a pro rata adjustment. Bach billing thereafter, with the
exception of the final billing, shall be for the full samount of the monthly installment
&8 provided for in the Lease,

4. Your rent checks should be made payable tw0 at

B The exact rnumber of remtable square feel within the Premises is
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f. Tenant's Share as adjusted based upon the exact number of rentable square feet
within the Premises is .

"Landlord™:
a
By:
Its:
Agreed to and Accepted
as of 20
"Tenant":
a
By:
Ts:
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EXHIBITD
9720 WILSHIRE

RULES AND REGULATIONS

Tenant zhall faithfully observe and comply with the following Rules and Regulations.
Landlord shall not be responsible to Tenant for the nonperformance of any of said Rules and
Regulations by or otherwise with respeci to the acts or omissions of any other tenants or occupants
of the Project. In the event of any conflict between the Rules and Regulations and the other
provisions of this Lease, the latter shall control.

L. Tenant shall not alter any lock or install any new or additional locks or bolts on any
doors of windows of the Premises without obtainng Landlord's prier wiitten consent. Tenant shall
bear the cost of any lock changes or reprirs requared by Tenant, Two kevs will be furnished by
Landlord for the Premises, and any additicnal keys required by Tenant must be obtained from
Landlord at a reasonable eost 1o be established by Landlord. Upon the t2rmination of this Lease,
Tenant shall return (0 Landlord all keys of stores, offices, and 1oilet rooms, either furnished 1o, or
otherwise procured by, Tenant and in the event of the loss of keys so furnished, Tenant shall pay
o Landlord the cost of replacing same or of changing the lock or locks opencd by such Inst key i
Landlord shall deem it necessary 1o make such chanpes.

F All doors opening 1o public cotridors shall be kept closed at all tmes except for

normal ingress and egress to the Premises.

[ Landlord reserves the right to close and keep locked all entrance and exit doors of
the Building during such hours as are customary for comparable buildings in the vicimty of the
Building. Tenant, its employees and agents must be sure that the doors (o the Building are securely
closed and locked when leaving the Premises if it is after the normal hours of business for the
Bualding. Any lenant, its employees, agents or any other persons entering or leaving the Building
at any time when it is so locked, or any time when it is considered 1o be afier normal business
hours [or the Building, may be reguired o sign (he Building register. Access (o the Building may
be refused unless the persun seeking aceess has proper identification or has a previously arranged
pass for access o the Building, Landlord will fumish passes o persons for whom Tenanl requests
same in writing. Tenant shall be responsible for all persons for whom Tenant requests passes and
shall be liable 1o Landlord for all acts of such persons. The Landlord and his agents shall in no
case be liable for damages for any emor with regard to the admission to or exclusion from the
Building of any person. In ease of invasion, mob, riot, public excitement, or other commotion,
Landlord reserves the right to prevent access to the Building or the Project during the continuance
thereal by any means it deems appropriate for the safety and protection of life and property.

4, No furniture, freight or equipment of any kind shall be brought inte the Building
without prior notice 1o Landlord. All moving activily into or out of the Building shall be scheduled
with Landlord and done only at such time and in such manner a5 Landlord desigmates. Landbord
shall have the right to preseribe the weight, size and position of all safes and other heavy property
brought into the Bulding and also the times and manner of maving the same in and ot of the
Building. Safes und other heavy objects shall, if considered necessary by Landlord, stand on
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supports of such thickness as is necessary 1o properly disiribute the weight. Landlord will not be
responsible for loss of or damage to any such safe or property in any case. Any damage to any
part of the Building, its contents, pccupants or visitors by moving or maintaining any such sofe or
other property shall be the sole responsibility and expense of Tenant.

5 No furniture, packages, supplies, equipment or merchandise will be received in the
Building or camied up or down in the elevators, except between such hours, in suck specific
elevalor and by such personnel as shall be designated by Landlord.

. The requirements of Tenant will be attended to only upon application at the
management office for the Project or at such office location designated by Landlord. Employees
of Landlord shall not perform any work or do anything outside their regular duties unless under
special instructions from Landlond.

T No sign, advertisement, notice or handbill shall be exhibited, distributed, painted
or affixed by Tenant on any part of the Premises or the Building without the prior written consent
of the Landlord. Tenant shall nos disturb, sohc, peddle, or canvass any occupant of the Prmect
and shall cooperate with Landlord and its agents of Landlord to prevent same.

8, The toilet rooms, urinals, wash bowls and other apparatus shall not be used for any
purpase other than that for which they were constructed, and no foreign substance of any kind
whatsoever shall be thrown therein. The expense of any breakage, stoppage or damage resulting
from the violation of this rule shall be bome by the lenant who, or whase servants, employees,
agenls, visitors or licensees shall have cansed same.

9, Tenant shall not overload the [oor of the Premises, nor mark, drive nails or screws,
or drill into the partitions, woodwork or drywall or in any way deface the Premises or any pari
thereof withoot Landlord's prior written consent,

10, Except for vending machines intended for the sole use of Tenant's employees and
invitees, no vending machine or machines other than fractional horsepower office machines shall
be installed, maintmined or operated upon the Premises without the written consent of Landlord.

11. Tenant shall not use or keep in or on the Premises, the Building, or the Project any
kerosene, gasoline, explosive material, corrosive material, matenal capable of emittmg toxic
fumes, or other inflammable or combustible fluid chemical, substitute or material, Tenant zhall
provide material safety data sheets for any hazardous materials used or kept on the Premises.

1& Tenant shall not without the prier written consent of Landlord vse any method of
heating or air conditioning other than that supplied by Landlord.

13. Tenant shall not use, keep or permit to be used or kept, any foul or noxious gas or
substance in or on the Premises, or permil or allow the Premises to be oceupied or used in o mamner
offensive or ohjectionable to Landlord or other occupants of the Project by reason of nodse, odors,
or vibrations. or interfere with other tenants or those having business therein, whether by the use
of any musical instrument, radio, phonograph, or in any other way., Tenant shall pot throw
anything out of doors, windows or skylights or down passagewava.
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14, Tenant shall not bring into or keep within the Project, the Building or the Premises
any ammals, birds, aquariumes, firearms or, excepl m areas designated by Landlord, hizycles or
other vehicles (other than awtomobiles in the parking areas).

15.  No cooking shall be done or permitied on the Premises, nor shall the Premises be
nged for the storage of merchandise, for lodging or for any improper, objectionable or tmmoral
purposes,  MNotwithstanding the foregoing, Underwriters' laboratory-approved equipment and
microwave ovens may be used in the Premises for henting food and brewing coffee, tea, hot
chocolate and similar beverages for employees and visilors, provided that such use is in aceordance
with all Applicable Laws.

16.  The Premises shall not be used for manufacturing or for the storage of merchandise
except as such siormge may be incidental to (he use of the Premises provided for in the Summary.
Tenant shall not occupy or permil any portion of the Premises to be oceupied as an olfce lor a
messenper-iype operation or dispatch office, public stenographer or typist, or for the manufacture
or saleof liquor, narcotics, or tobacco in any form, or 23 a medical office, or as a barber or manicure
shop, o as an employment bureau without the express prior written consent of Landlord. Tenunt
shall not engage or pay any employees on the Premises except those actually working for such
tenant on the Premises nor advertise for laborers gving an addmess at the Premises.

17.  Landlord reserves the nght to exclude or expel from the Project any person who, in
the judgment of Landlord, is intoxicated or under the influence of liquor or drugs, or who shall in
any menner do any act in violation of any of these Rules and Regulations,

1.  Tenant, its employess and agents shall not lotter in or on the entrances, corridors,
sidewalks, lobbies, courts, halls, stairweys, elevators, vestibules or any Common Areas for the
purpose of smoking tobaceo products or for any other purpose, nor in any way ohstruct such areas,
and shall use them only as a means of ingress and egress for the Premises. Smoking”, as used
herein, shall be deemed to include the use of e-cigarenies, smokeless cigarettes and other similar
products. All rules and regulations set forth in this Exhibit D applicable to smoking also apply to
the use ol e-cigaretles, smokeless cigarettes ard other similar produets.

19, Tenant shall not waste electricity, water or air conditioning and agrees to cooperate
fully with Landlord to ensure the most effective operation of the Building's heating and air
conditioning system, and shall refrain from attempting to adjust any controls, Tenant shall
participate in recycling programs undertaken by Landlord.

20 Tenani shall store all its trash and parbage within the interior of the Premises No
material shall be placed in the trash boxes or receptacles if such material is of such nature that it
may nct be disposed of in the ordinery and customary manner of removing and disposing of trash
and garbage in Los Angeles, Califormia without violation of any Appliceble Laws governing such
dispossl.  All trush, garbage and refuse disposal shall be made only through entry-ways and
elevators provided for such purposes at such times as Landlond shall designate. [f the Premises is
or becemes infested with vermin as a resuli of the use or any misuse or neglect of the Premises by
Tenant, its agents, servants, employees, contractors, visitors or licensees, Tenant shall forthwith,
at Tenant's expense, cause the Premises to be exterminated from time to time to the satisfaction of
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Landlord and shall employ such licensed exterminators as shall be approved in writing in advance
by Landlord.

21,  Tenant shall comply with all safety, fire protection and evacuation procedures and
regulations established by Landlord or any governmental agency.

22, Any persons cmployed by Tenant to do janitonial work shall be subject o the prior
written approval of Landlord, and while in the Building and outside of the Premises, shall be
subject to and under the control and direction of the Building manager (but not as av agent or
servant of such manager or of Landlord), and Tenant shall be responsible for all acts of such
PErsons.

23, Noawnings or other projection shall be attached to the outside walls of the Building
without the prior writlen consent of Landlord, and no cunaing, blinds, shades or screens shall be
attached to or hung in, or used in connection with, any window or door of the Premises other than
Landlord standard drapes. All electrical ceiling fixtures hung in the Premises or spaces along the
perimeter of the Building must be Auorescent and/or of a quality, type, design and a warm while
bulb color approved in advance in writing by Landlord. Nerther the interior nor exterior of any
windows shall be coated or otherwise sunscreened without the prior written consent of Landlord.
Tenant shall be responsible for any damage {0 the window film on the exlerior windows of the
Premizes and shall promptly repair any such damage at Tenant's sole cost and expense.  Tenant
shall keep its window coverings closed during any peried of the day when the sun is shining
directiy on the windows of the Premises. Prior to leaving the Premises for the day, Tenant shall
draw or lower window coverings and extinguish all lights. Tenant shall sbide by Landlord's
regulations concemning the opening and closing of window coverings which are attached o the
windows in the Premises, if any. which have a view of any interior portion of the Building or
Building Common Areag.

24, The sashes, sash doors, skylights, windows, and doors that reflect or admit light
and amr into the halls, passageways or other public places in the Building shall not be covered or
obstructed by Tenant, nor shall any bottles, parcels or other articles be placed on the windowsills.

25, Tenant must comply with requesis by the Landlord concerning the informing of
their empleyees of items of importance to the Landlord.

26.  Tenant must comply with all appliceble "NO-SMOKING" or similar ordinances,
I Tenant is required under the ordinance to adopt a written smoking policy, a copy of said policy
shall be on file in the office of the Buailding.

27.  Tenant hereby acknowledges thai Landlord shall have no obligation o provide
guard service or other security measures for the benefit of the Premises, the Building or the Project,
Tenant hereby assumes all responsibility for the protection of Tenant and il8 agents, employees,
contractors, invitees and guests, and the property thereof, from acts of third parties, incloding
keeping doors locked and other means of entry to the Premises closed, whether or not Landlord,
al its option, elects Lo provide secunty protection for the Project or any portion thereof, Tenant
further assumes the msk that any safety and security deviees, services and programs which
Landlard elects, in 1ls sole discretion, to provide may not be effective, or may malfimction or be
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cireumvented by an unauthorized third party, and Tenant shall, i addition to its other insurance
obligations under this Lease, obtain its own insurance coverage o the extent Tenant desires
protection against losses related o such occurrences. Tenant shall cooperate in any reasomable
safety or security program developed by Landlord or required by Applicable Laws.

28.  All office equipment of any electrical or mechanical pature shall be placed by
Tenant it the Premises in settings approved by Landlord, 1o ahsorb or prevent any vibeation, noise

and annoyance.

29, Tenant shall nol use in any space or in lhe public halls of the Building, any hand
trucks except those equipped with rubber tires and rubber side guards.

M. Mo auction, liguidation, fire sale, going-out-of-business or bankmpicy sale shall be
conducted in the Premises without the prior written consent of Landlord.

31. Mo tenant shall use or permit the use of any portion of the Premises for living
quarters, sleeping apartments or lodging rooms.

32, Tenant shall not purchase spring water, towels, janitorial or maintenance or other
similar services from any company or persons not approved by Landlord. Landlond shall approve
a sufficient number of sources of such services to provide Tenant with a reasonable selection, but
only in such instances and to such extent as Landlord in its judgment shall consider consistent with
the security and proper operation of the Building.

33, Tenant shall mstall and maintain, al Tenanl's sole cosl and expense, an adequate,
visithly marked and properly operational fire extinguisher next to any duplicating or photocopying
machines or similar heat producing equipment, which may or may not contain combustible
materiil, in the Premises.

Landlord reserves the right at any time to change or rescind any one or more of these Rules
and Regulations, or to make such ather and further reasemable Rules and Regulations as in
Landlord's judgment may from time to time be necessary for the management, safety, care and
cleanliness of the Premises, Building, the Common Areas and the Project, and for the preservalion
of good order therein, as well as for the convenicnce of other occupants and tenants therem.
Landlord may waive any one or more of these Rules and Regulations for the benefit of any
particular lenants, but no such waiver hy Landlord shall be construed as a waiver of such Rules
and Regulations in favor of any other tenant, nor prevent Landlord from thereafter enforcing any
such Rules or Regulations against ary or all tenants of the Project. Tenant shall be deemed 1o
have read these Rules and Regulations and i have agreed to abide by them as a condition of its
occupancy of the Premises,
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EXHIBITE
9720 WILSHIRE

MINIMUM BUILDING STANDARDS FOR TENANT IMPROVEMENTS

1. Floor Cov

Tenant Space

Carpet — Parcraft — Broadloom —pd 02 (Best foot forward, Night Moves, Sturt
Your Stuff, Color Your World, Headlines 11, Famous Last Words 11, Twist &
Shout IT)
Modular — Infinite Wisdom Collection
Broadloom — Encore (Sabre, Windswept)
VCT - Armstrong — Excelon
Base -~ Burke - Rubber Base

11 ical Ceili

Donn Fine Lind Grid with Ultima Tile

111, Window Covering

Window Covering = Headrails 3 ' inch Space, Anodized with 3 ¥z Inch Flat
Perforated White Vertical Vanes

LV, Electrical

All Kitchen Appliances need a separale circuit.

All wiring entening o leaving tenanis space shall be in conduit.

All floor or deck penetrations shall be in conduit from point to point, no open
wiring and penctrations shall be properly scaled with a 2 hour rated approved
sealant.

V. Doors/Hardware

A8 WA

RS -ONTA |- | 3 1ichech

Door Manufaeturer - VT Industnes, nc,
Veneer - White Qalk

Cut - Rift Cuot, Open Grain

Grade — A Grade Controlled Wood
Finish 20% Sheen Satin Clear

Frame - Aluminum

0 WIRER AN LY ARD
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Tenant Locksets — SL9453L06A626 Schlage Mortise Lockset Satin Chrome
SLO010LOAAG26 Schlage Passage Latchset Satin Chrome

Keyway — 6 Pin “C" Schlage

Cloger— LCN P4041 Tripac Aluminum (Fire Rated) 4526D Finish
SLO010L0GAA26 Schlage Passage Latchset Satin Chrome
Keyway — 6 pin “C” Schlage

Auto Flush Bolt - DCI #4942

Coordinator - [vey #COR 52

ABH Universal Coondinator - #3780

Astaga C - Pemko #355CV

Threshold — Pemko #271A

DCT - Dust Proof Strike - #80

Hagar Floor Stop - #241R

Note: All hardware to be US26D

V1. Cabinetry

Upper and Base Cabinetry — Plastic laminate over medium density particleboard
at all exposed surfaces. Shelving to be Melamine or equal or all surfaces, Interior
cabinet and shelving eolor to be whit unless plans denote differently. Cabinet
exposed surfaces to be Standard Wilsonart, Nevmar, or Formica colors 1o be
selected by Tenant.

Countertops — Plastie laminate over medium density particleboard at all exposed
surfaces with 4" backsplash and self~edge. Backsplash shall be covered at all sink
locations. *Standard Wislonart, Nevmar, or Formica colors 1o be selected by
Tenant,

VIL Plumbing

E i EREL

Sink Just — 19X19 SBW Stmnless Steel Sinks, single compartment or squnvalent
1o meet ADA requirements

Faucets = Delta #1 100 — Or equivalent to meet ADA requirements

Garbage Disposal — ISE#333 or equivalent

Angle Stops under sink and Branch Lines to be Copper

Water Heating Element — Insta-Hot with 1.0 gallon per minute inline flow control,
277 vaolt

All kitchens o have floor drwin with trap poimer

Any appliance that requires water supply shall have fleor drmm installed vnder or
near wilh trap primer

All water supply lines to appliances and sinks, etc ghall have an automatic shutaff
device installed. (Flood Siop)

All appliances and devices water supply lincs shall be installed in copper tubing.
NO PLASTIC PIPING IS ALLOWED.
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Landlord reserves the right to substitute any of the above-described materials with those of
a similar quality and Tenant may substitute any of the above-described materials with
those of similar gquality, as reasonably approved by Landlord. Should Tenant desire to
upgrade any of the items above, written notice must be given to Landlord for approval.
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EXHIBIT F
9710 WILSHIRE

C TRUCTION R/ REGULATIONS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Standard Building Hours of Operation:  Monday through Friday, 8:00a.m. to 6 p.m.,
Saturday 2:00 a.m. 1 1:00 p.m., excluding holidays, Contractors may start earlier.
Contractor(s) shall advise Building Engineer of work schedule.

Standard Building HVAC Hours of Operation: Monday through Friday, 8:00 am. to 6
p.m., Saturday 9:00 am. w 1:00 p.m.

Conziruetion Trsh Bing/Dumpsters:  Delivery time and placement of disposal frash bins,
if allowed, shall he coordmated with, and approved by Building Management. 1t is the
respansibility of the General Contractor to make sure the bin‘dempster is emptied often
and the ares around the disposal bin kept clean and free of constructian debris.

Tenant Areas: Patios, walkways and landscape areas are for the exclusive use of the
tenants and their clients, net construction personnel. Contractors may take breaks within
the confines of the space they are performing working or off-site only.

5, TAPE OR C RS WED ON THE JOB
SITE.

SMOKING IS NOT PERMITTED ON THE JOBSITE,

PARKING

All contractors, subcontractors, vendors, etc. may park in any of the available parking
spaces located in the parking facility of the Building, in coordination with Building
management. They may not, however, park in shorl term parking and/or block the
entrancesexits of the building. Construction velcles parking illegally, within the project.
will be ticketed and'or towed at their expense.

CONSTRUCTION RULES & REGULATIONS

BRI M LA

A gertificate of insurance (see attached sample) must be provided 1o Property
Management prior to commencement of work. If a certificate has not been provided, all
work will be prohibited until certificate has been received.

All work should be done in strict conflonmance with the approved construction plans and

specifications. All changes end/or alterations to approved drawings shall be resubmitted
to ownership for written approval.
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3. All work shall be performed in stricl accordance with applicable city, county, stale and
federal laws, regulations and codes.

4. The General Contractor shall schedule a walk of the commoen areas with the Property
Manager or Engineer prior 1o construction commencsment,

5. Public comridor finishes (carpet, wall covering, dooge and frames) shall be protected
during construction by the use of paper, plastic and/or masomite. Damage (o the finishes
shall be repaired by Buildmg Management and charged to the General Contractor as
NECEARATY,

6. Smoke detectors in the construction area and adjoining common areas shall be protected
al the beginning and retumed 1o normal service at the end of each workday by the
General Contractor.

7. Any and all excessively noisy operations, including but not limited to core drilling,
concrete cutting, grinding, jack hammenng, carpet eck sinp installation, power driven
fasteners shot to floar or ceiling shall be performed prior to 8 a.m. and/or after 6 p.m.
NO EXCEPTIONS

8. MNeither Ownership nor Building Management aceepts any liability Tor lost or stolen
malerials and/or wols.

4. I is the responsibility of the General Contractor to make sure that the premises is kept
clean on a daily basis. Trash and debris should be removed from the jobsite daily and
the site lefi in broom clean condition.

10. Cabinetry, millwork, doors, stc. shall be fimshed off-site when possible. Odoriterous
malenials that cause a strong odor must be done between the hours of Saturday after 2:00
pom. and Sunday before 12 noon. Building Management may request a Material Safety
Data Shest (MSDS) for use of sech materials. The contractor must schedule sl such
work with the Building Management at least 48 hours in advance.

1

—

. Unless otherwise specified, only a “Building Approved Contractor” may be used for
work affecting HYAC, electrical, plumbing, fire sprinkler, life safety and/or air balance.
The list of subcontractors may be obtained through Building Management,

12. A building engineer shall be present during a fire sprinkler drain/fill or fire life safety test
is being performed.  Building Management shall be nolified in writing at least 24 hours
in advance of the scheduled work.

Lad

13, Waork that requires entry into another tenant's space must be scheduled through Building
Management. Management will contact the tenant and obtain their approval beferchand.

Any such work will need to be performed at that tenant’s convenience,
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14. No materials, tools, carts, ete. shall be stored in any stmrwell, public corridor, electrical

or mechanical rooms at any time,

15. Building Management reserves the right to inspect the job site at any time and to onder
work 1o be stopped immediately, i it is deemed to be in violation of the Building

Construciion Rules.

16. Final construction clean up shall include the fallowing:

Remove all construction debris.
Clean all interior glass.
Clean light fixtures.

e faap

g Vacuum carpet.

Clean, repair and/or rework all mini blinds existing and new,
Clean interior and exterior of new and existing cabinetry.
Wipe down doors, frames and hardware.

17. Within thres (3) weeks of job completion a close out package containing the following

should be sent to building management:

a. Mechanical and Electnical as-bulis
k. Architectural as-bults.
¢, Permit drawings for al] trades,

QWNER INFORMATION

Duesenberg Inv Company

Topa Peoperty Group, Inc.

1800 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 650

Los Angeles, CA 90067-4216

Phone! 3107°203-9199  Fax: 310/286-1817

BUILDING MANAGEMENT
Topa Property Group, Inc,

1B00 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 650
Los Angeles, CA 90067

Contacts:
Britton Rose, Senior Property Manager
Dan Glick, Chief Engineer
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EXHIBIT G
9720 WILSHIRE
FORM OF TENANT'S ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE
The undersigned as Tenant under that certain Amended and Restated Office Lease (the

"Lease") made and entered into as of » 20 _ by and between ns
Landlord, and the undersigned as Tenant, for Premises on the floor(s) of the
office building located m ' . Califomia }

certifies, as of the date hereof, as lollows:

l. Attached hereto as Exhibit A 15 a true and comrect copy of the Lease and all
amendments and modifications thereto, The documents contained in Exhibit A represent the entire
agreement between the parties as o the Premises.

2 The undersigned currently occupies the Premises described in the Lease, the Lease
Term commenced on , and the Lease Term expires on , and the

undersigned has no option to terminate or cance] the Lease or to purchase all or any part of the
Premises, the Building and/or the Project.

3. Base Rent hecame pavahle on

4. The Lease 15 in full foree and effect and has not been modified, supplemented or
amended in any way excepl as provided in Exhibit A,

S Tenant has not transfemred, assigned, or sublet any portion of the Premises nos
entered into any license or concession agreements with respect thereto except as follows:

a. Tenant shall not modify the documents contained in Exhibit A without the
pnor wntten consent of Landlord's morigagee.

i All menthly installmenis of Base Rent, all Additional Rent and all monthly
installments of estimated Additional Rent have been paid when due Ihmugh . The
current monthly installment of Base Rent 15 §

B To the undersigned's actual knowledge, all conditions of the Lease 10 be performed
by Landlord necessary to the enforceability of the Lease have been satisfied and Landlord 15 not
in default thercunder. In addition, the undersigned has not delivered any notice 10 Landlord
regarding a default by Landlord thereunder.
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9. No rental has been paid more than thirty (30) days in advance and no securty has
been deposited with Landlord except gs provided i the Lease,

10.  Tothe nndersigned's acial knowledge, there are no existing defenses or offsets, or
claims or any basis for a claim, that the undersigned has against Landlord.

11.  If Tenant is & corporation, limited liability company or partnership, cach individual
executing this Estoppel Certificate on behalf of Tenant hereby represents and warrants that Tenant
is a duly formed and existing entity qualified to do business in California and that Tenant has full
right and authority to execute and deliver this Estoppel Certificate and that each person signing on
behal{ of Tenant is authorized to do so.

12, There are no actions pending against the undersigned under the bankrupley or
similar laws of the Uniled States or any state.

13.  Other than in compliance with all applicable laws and incidemal to the ordinary
courss of the use of the Premises, the undersigned has not used or stored any hazardous substances
in the Premises,

14. To the undersigneds asctual knowledge, all lenanl improvement work o be
performed by Landlord under the Lease has been completed in accordance with the Leage and has
been accepied by the undersigned and all reimbursements and allowances due to the undersigned
under the Lease in connection with any tenant improvement! work have been paid in full.

The undersigned acknowledges that this Estoppel Certificate may be deliverad o Landlord
oF to A prospective mortgagee or prospective purchaser, and acknowledges that said prospective
marigagee or prospective purchaser will be relying upon the statements contained herein in making
the leaa or scquiring the property of which the Premises are & part and that receipt by it of this
ceriificate is a condition of making such loan or acquirnng such propeny.

Executed at on the day of 20,

*Tenani™:

a

By:
[ts:

By:
Its:
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Name of Subsidiary

Fatburger North America, Inc.

Buffalo’s Franchise Concepts, Inc.
Ponderosa Franchising Company

Bonanza Restaurant Company

Ponderosa International Development, Inc.
Puerto Rico Ponderosa, Inc.

Hurricane AMT, LLC

Yalla Mediterranean Franchising Company, LLC
Yalla Acquisition, LLC

EB Franchises, LLC

FAT Brands Royalty I, LLC

Significant Subsidiaries

EXHIBIT 21.1




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Andrew A. Wiederhorn, Chief Executive Officer of FAT Brands Inc. certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of FAT Brands Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: April 27, 2020

/s/ Andrew A. Wiederhorn

Andrew A. Wiederhorn
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Rebecca D. Hershinger, Chief Financial Officer of FAT Brands Inc. certify that:
1. T have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of FAT Brands Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: April 27, 2020

/s/ Rebecca D. Hershinger

Rebecca D. Hershinger
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies, in accordance with 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in their
capacity as an officer of FAT Brands Inc., that, to their knowledge, the Annual Report of FAT Brands Inc. on Form 10-K for the period ended December 29, 2019
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in such report fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operation of the company.

April 27,2020 By /s/ Andrew A. Wiederhorn
Andrew A. Wiederhorn
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Olfficer)

April 27,2020 By /s/ Rebecca D. Hershinger

Rebecca D. Hershinger
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to FAT Brands Inc. and will be retained by FAT Brands Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.




